An Investigation of Placental Glutamine and Glutamate Transport in Normal Pregnancy and Fetal Growth Restriction

A thesis submitted to the University of Manchester for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Faculty of Biology, Medicine and Health

2018

Kirsty R. McIntyre

School of Medical Sciences

Contents

List of figures	7
List of tables	10
Abbreviations	11
Abstract	14
Lay abstract .	15
Declaration.	16
Disclaimer	16
Copyright statement	17
Publications arising from this work	18
Acknowledgements	19
Dedication	19
Chapter 1 Introduction	20
1.1 Overview	
1.2 Fetal growth restriction	
1.3 Overview of the placenta in normal human pregnancy	
1.3.1 Placental development	
1.3.2 Placental structure at term	
1.3.3 The placenta in FGR	
14 Animal models of human preonancy	30
1.4.1 Sheep.	
142 Non-human primate	30
143 Guinea nig	31
1 4 4 Rodent models of human pregnancy: mice and rats	31
1.5 Structure and function of the mouse placenta	34
1.6 Placental nutrient transport.	
1.6.1 Amino acid transport	37
1.7 Glutamine and olutamate are essential for fetal development and orowth	
1.7.1 Placental transport of glutamine	41
1.7.1.1 System A	
1712 System N	43
1.7.1.3 System L	
1.7.2 Placental transport of glutamate	
1.7.2.1 System X _{1.0}	
1.8 Regulation of amino acid transport	
1.8.1 Substrate availability	45
1.8.2 Endocrine function and oxygen availability	
1.8.3 mTOR signaling pathway	50
1.9 Evidence of placental adaptation relative to placental size	52
1.10 Placental nutrient transport in FGR.	56
1.10.1 Placental transport studies: FGR and the human placenta	56
1.10.2 Placental transport studies: experimental animal models of FGR	58
1.11 Genetic knockout mouse models of human pregnancy complications	59
1.11.1 The placental-specific <i>Igf2</i> knockout mouse (P0)	60
1.12 Metabolomics: a holistic approach to understanding FGR	62
1.13 Summary	65
1.14 Hypothesis and aims	66
Chaptan 2 Mathada	1
Chapter 2 Methods	
2.1 Sinares in numan placental assue	
2.1.1 Source of chemicals	
2.1.2 Inclusion and exclusion criteria	0/
2.1.3 Collection of blood samples and placental tissue	0/

2.1.4	Dissection of placentas and banking	67
2.1.5	Blood processing and banking	69
2.1.5	5.1 Measurement of glutamine and glutamate transporter activity in placental	
villo	us tissue	69
2.1.	5.2 Method validation	69
2.1.5	5.3 Experimental preparation	71
2.1.5	5.4 Measurement of amino acid uptake	71
2.1.5	5.5 Protein assay	72
2.1.5	5.6 Calculation of amino acid uptake	73
2.1.5	5.7 Statistical analysis	73
2.2 Stud	lies in mouse models of human pregnancy	74
2.2.1	Animal husbandry	74
2.2.2	Unidirectional maternofetal clearance of ¹⁴ C-glutamine and ¹⁴ C-glutamate	74
2.2.3	Maternal plasma ¹⁴ C disappearance curve	75
2.2.4	Calculation of unidirectional maternofetal clearance of ¹⁴ C-glutamine and ¹⁴ C-	
glutam	ate	76
2.2.5	Statistical analysis	76
2.2.6	Determination of fetal sex and genotype	76
2.2.7	Fetal weight distribution curves	78
2.3 Wes	tern blotting	78
2.3.1	Processing of human placental tissue for Western blotting	78
2.3.	1.1 Membrane-enriched placental villous homogenates from human placentas	3 78
2.3.2	Collection of mouse placental tissue for Western blotting	79
2.3.2	2.1 Membrane-enriched whole placental homogenates from mouse placentas	79
2.3.3	Reagents and gels	79
2.3.4	Gel electrophoresis and transfer	81
2.3.5	Densitometry and statistical analysis	83
2.4 Mol	ecular biology techniques	83
2.4.1	Extraction of total RNA from human placental villous tissue	83
2.4.2	Quantification of RNA by Nanodrop	83
2.4.3	Generation of cDNA (reverse transcription)	83
2.4.4	Quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR) of mRNA	84
2.4.5	Determination of suitable housekeeping genes for villous tissue and statistical	
analysi	S	84
2.5 Gas	chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS)	88
2.5.1	Sample collection	88
2.5.2	Extraction of small molecules from plasma samples for analysis by GC-MS	88
2.5.3	Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS)	89
2.5.4	Data processing	90
2.5.5	Data analysis	90
Chapter 3	Investigation of maternofetal transfer of glutamine and glutamate relat	ive
to placenta	l size and sex of the fetus in wild-type mice	91
- 3.1 Intr	oduction	91
3.1.1	Hypotheses	94
3.1.2	Aims	94
3.2 Met	hods	95
3.2.1	Unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K _{mf}) of ¹⁴ C-glutamine and ¹⁴ C-glutama	te 95
3.2.2	Western blotting	96
3.2.3	Statistical analysis	96
3.2.4	Experimental flowchart	97
3.3 Rest	ults	98
3.3.1	Placental and fetal measures from the lightest and heaviest placentas in a litter	c 98
3.3.2	Unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) of ¹⁴ C-glutamine and ¹⁴ C-glutama	te
		. 102
3.3.3	Effect of fetal sex on placental and fetal weight	. 105
		~

3.3.4	Unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K _{mf}) of ¹⁴ C-glutamine and ¹⁴ C-glutama	ite in
female	versus male littermates in WT mice	108
3.3.5	Expression of transporter proteins important for the transport of glutamine	and
glutama	ate in lightest versus heaviest placentas of WT mice	110
3.4 Disc	ussion	113
3.4.1	Placental and fetal measures from the lightest and heaviest placentas in a WT	•
mouse	htter	114
3.4.2 clearan	Investigating the effect of placental weight on unidirectional maternofetal ce (K $_{-}$) of ¹⁴ C-slutamine and ¹⁴ C-slutamate	116
3 4 3	Expression of amino acid transporters in the lightest and heaviest placentas	119
344	Investigating the effect of sex on unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_)	of
¹⁴ C-olui	tamine and 14 C-glutamate	122
345	Methodological considerations	124
346	Summary	125
Chapter 4	Activity and expression of glutamine and glutamate transporters in	
placental vi	llous fragments in normal human pregnancy	127
4.1 Intro	duction	127
4.1.1	Hypotheses	129
4.1.2	Aims	129
4.2 Meth	bods	129
4.2.1	Method validation: measurement of glutamine and glutamate transporter act	vity
in place	ental villous fragments	129
4.2.2	Glutamine and glutamate transporter activity in placental villous fragments fragments	rom
pregnat	ncies with a normal outcome	130
4.2.2	2.1 Glutamine and glutamate transporter activity in relation to fetal and place	ental
meas	sures	131
4.2.2	2.2 Effect of sex on glutamine and glutamate transporter activity	132
4.2.3	Western blotting of membrane-enriched whole placental homogenates	132
4.2.4	Statistical analysis	133
4.3 Resu	lts	133
4.3.1	Method validation: measurement of glutamine and glutamate transporter acti	vitv
in place	ental villous fragments	
4 3 2	Transporter-mediated amino acid uptake is not related to placental weight or	
birth w	right	
433	Effect of sex on transporter mediated amino acid uptake	137
434	Placental expression of amino acid transport proteins is not affected by sex	138
A A Disc	usion	141
4 1 1	Measurement of dutamine and dutamate uptake into placental villous fragm	ente
t initia	l rato	142
	The activity of system A , glutaming and glutamate transporters is not related	142
4.4.2	The activity of system A, glutannic and glutannate transporters is not related	142
placent	al Weight of Difth Weight	143
4.4.2	2 Dialental weight	143
4.4.2	2.2 Birth weight and fetal:placental weight ratio	145
4.4.3	Adaptation of glutamine and glutamate transport in the mouse compared to	
human	placenta	146
4.4.4	Sex specific differences in activity, but not expression, of placental glutamine	and
glutama	ate transporters	147
4.4.5	Placental glutamine and glutamate transporter protein expression according	. 0.
sex of t	the tetus	149
4.4.6	Summary	150
Chapter 5	Glutamine and glutamate transfer (clearance) across the Iof2P0 place	nta:
a mouse mo	odel of fetal growth restriction	151
5.1 Intro	oduction	151
5.1.1	Hypotheses	
	/1	

 5.2 Methods 5.2.1 Unidirectional maternofetal clearance of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate 5.2.2 Western blotting 5.2.3 Statistical analysis 5.2.4 Experimental flowchart 5.3 Results 5.3.1 Placental and fetal measures: P0 versus WT 5.3.2 Unidirectional maternofetal clearance of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate 	<i>154</i> 154 156 156 156 <i>157</i>
 5.2.1 Unidirectional maternofetal clearance of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate 5.2.2 Western blotting 5.2.3 Statistical analysis	154 156 156 156 <i>157</i>
 5.2.2 Western blotting 5.2.3 Statistical analysis	156 156 156 <i>157</i>
 5.2.3 Statistical analysis	156 156 <i>157</i>
 5.2.4 Experimental flowchart 5.3 Results	156 <i>157</i>
 5.3 Results 5.3.1 Placental and fetal measures: P0 versus WT 5.3.2 Unidirectional maternofetal clearance of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate 	157
 5.3.1 Placental and fetal measures: P0 versus WT 5.3.2 Unidirectional maternofetal clearance of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate 	
5.3.2 Unidirectional maternofetal clearance of ¹⁴ C-glutamine and ¹⁴ C-glutamate	157
	159
5.3.3 Expression of amino acid transporter proteins in P0 versus WT placentas	161
5.4 Discussion	164
5.4.1 Placental and fetal weights: P0 versus WT	165
5.4.2 Methodological considerations	165
5.4.3 Unidirectional maternofetal clearance in a mouse model of FGR	167
5.4.3.1 Unidirectional maternotetal clearance of ¹⁴ C-glutamine	167
5.4.3.2 Unidirectional maternotetal clearance of ¹⁴ C-glutamate	168
5.4.4 Unidirectional maternotetal clearance of "C-glutamine and "C-glutamate in	1.40
normal (W1) small placentas and FGR (P0) placentas	168
5.4.5 Expression of amino acid transporters in P0 and W1 placentas	1 / 1
5.4.6 Summary	1 / 1
Chapter 6 Assessment of placental glutamine and glutamate transporter activity,)
expression and amino acid levels in FGR and normal pregnancies	173
6.1 Introduction	173
6.1.1 Hypotheses	176
6.1.2 Aims	1 /6
6.2 Methods	176
6.2.1 Glutamine and glutamate transporter activity in placental villous tragments fi	176
FGR and normal (AGA) pregnancies	170
6.2.3 Quantification of gene expression (gPCR) of glutamine transporters	170
6.2.4 High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC)	170
6.2.5 Gas chromatography mass spectrometry (GC MS)	180
6.2.6 Statistical analysis	181
6 3 Results	182
6.3.1 Glutamine and glutamate transporter activity in placental villous fragments fr	rom
FGR and normal (AGA) pregnancies	182
6.3.2 Confounding factors that may influence glutamine and glutamate transporter	C
activity	184
6.3.3 Total amino acid availability for transfer to the fetus in placentas from norma	al
(AGA) pregnancy and FGR	185
6.3.4 Expression of amino acid transport proteins is higher in FGR compared with	h
normal (AGA) pregnancy	186
6.3.5 Placental expression of mRNA for amino acid transporters is different in nor	rmal
pregnancy (AGA) and FGR	189
6.3.6 Amino acid concentrations in maternal venous and fetal (umbilical) venous a	ınd
	190
arterial plasma in normal (AGA) and FGR pregnancy	-
arterial plasma in normal (AGA) and FGR pregnancy6.3.7 Investigating the relationship between glutamine and glutamate uptake into t	he
 arterial plasma in normal (AGA) and FGR pregnancy 6.3.7 Investigating the relationship between glutamine and glutamate uptake into t placenta and plasma concentration of these amino acids in mother and fetus (UmV a 	he and
arterial plasma in normal (AGA) and FGR pregnancy 6.3.7 Investigating the relationship between glutamine and glutamate uptake into t placenta and plasma concentration of these amino acids in mother and fetus (UmV a UmA) in normal pregnancy and in FGR	he and 194
 arterial plasma in normal (AGA) and FGR pregnancy 6.3.7 Investigating the relationship between glutamine and glutamate uptake into t placenta and plasma concentration of these amino acids in mother and fetus (UmV a UmA) in normal pregnancy and in FGR 6.3.8 Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) of UmV and UmA plasma 	he and 194 .a
 arterial plasma in normal (AGA) and FGR pregnancy	he and 194 195
 arterial plasma in normal (AGA) and FGR pregnancy	he and 194 195 <i>199</i>

6.4.2 Transporter-mediated glutamine uptake is lower in FGR compared with n	ormal
pregnancies	200
6.4.3 Confounding variables that may influence transporter-mediated uptake	203
6.4.4 Total amino acid availability for transfer to the fetus is lower for placentas	from
FGR compared with normal (AGA) pregnancy	204
6.4.5 Expression of key glutamine and glutamate transport proteins is altered in	
placentas from FGR compared with normal (AGA) pregnancy	204
6.4.6 Glutamine, glutamic acid and alanine concentrations in maternal venous, I	JmV
and UmA plasma of FGR and normal birth weight (AGA) infants	207
6.4.7 Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) of umbilical venous an	d
arterial plasma samples from AGA and FGR pregnancies	210
6.4.8 Summary	214
	016
Chapter / General discussion	216
7.1 Main findings	
7.2 Addressing differences between mouse and human	
7.3 Potential mechanisms driving changes in amino acid transport in mouse and human	219
7.4 Measuring plasma levels of amino acids and metabolites	222
7.5 Methodological considerations and limitations	224
7.6 Clinical context	226
7.7 Main findings of the study	226
7.8 Future directions	227
Chapter 8 References	230
Chapter 8 References Chapter 9 Appendix	230 249
Chapter 8 References Chapter 9 Appendix 9.1 Amino acid uptake in Na ⁺ -free conditions	230 249 249
Chapter 8 References Chapter 9 Appendix 9.1 Amino acid uptake in Na ⁺ -free conditions 9.2 LAT2 antibody optimisation	230 249 249 250
Chapter 8 References Chapter 9 Appendix 9.1 Amino acid uptake in Na ⁺ -free conditions 9.2 LAT2 antibody optimisation 9.3 Protein expression in placentas from male and female normal birth weight (AGA) infants v	230 249 249 250 versus
Chapter 8 References. Chapter 9 Appendix. 9.1 Amino acid uptake in Na ⁺ -free conditions. 9.2 LAT2 antibody optimisation. 9.3 Protein expression in placentas from male and female normal birth weight (AGA) infants v 1 ⁴ C-glutamine or ¹⁴ C-glutamate uptake at 90 min in the same placentas.	230 249 250 ersus 251
Chapter 8 References Chapter 9 Appendix 9.1 Amino acid uptake in Na ⁺ -free conditions 9.2 LAT2 antibody optimisation 9.3 Protein expression in placentas from male and female normal birth weight (AGA) infants v ¹⁴ C-glutamine or ¹⁴ C-glutamate uptake at 90 min in the same placentas 9.4 Amino acid uptake by placentas from normal (AGA) pregnancies and FGR split according	230 249 250 ersus 251 g to sex
 Chapter 8 References. Chapter 9 Appendix. 9.1 Amino acid uptake in Na⁺-free conditions. 9.2 LAT2 antibody optimisation. 9.3 Protein expression in placentas from male and female normal birth weight (AGA) infants v ¹⁴C-glutamine or ¹⁴C-glutamate uptake at 90 min in the same placentas. 9.4 Amino acid uptake by placentas from normal (AGA) pregnancies and FGR split according 	230 249 250 ersus 251 g to sex 252
Chapter 8 References. Chapter 9 Appendix. 9.1 Amino acid uptake in Na ⁺ -free conditions. 9.2 LAT2 antibody optimisation. 9.3 Protein expression in placentas from male and female normal birth weight (AGA) infants v ¹⁴ C-glutamine or ¹⁴ C-glutamate uptake at 90 min in the same placentas. 9.4 Amino acid uptake by placentas from normal (AGA) pregnancies and FGR split according 9.5 Potential confounders of amino acid uptake by placentas from FGR infants	230 249 250 ersus 251 g to sex 252 253
Chapter 8 References. Chapter 9 Appendix. 9.1 Amino acid uptake in Na ⁺ -free conditions. 9.2 LAT2 antibody optimisation. 9.3 Protein expression in placentas from male and female normal birth weight (AGA) infants v ¹⁴ C-glutamine or ¹⁴ C-glutamate uptake at 90 min in the same placentas. 9.4 Amino acid uptake by placentas from normal (AGA) pregnancies and FGR split according 9.5 Potential confounders of amino acid uptake by placentas from FGR infants 9.6 Amino acid concentrations in maternal venous and fetal (umbilical) venous and arterial plas	230 249 250 ersus 251 g to sex 252 253 ma in
Chapter 8 References Chapter 9 Appendix 9.1 Amino acid uptake in Na ⁺ -free conditions 9.2 LAT2 antibody optimisation 9.3 Protein expression in placentas from male and female normal birth weight (AGA) infants v ¹⁴ C-glutamine or ¹⁴ C-glutamate uptake at 90 min in the same placentas 9.4 Amino acid uptake by placentas from normal (AGA) pregnancies and FGR split according 9.5 Potential confounders of amino acid uptake by placentas from FGR infants 9.6 Amino acid concentrations in maternal venous and fetal (umbilical) venous and arterial plass AGA and FGR pregnancies AGA	230 249 250 ersus 251 g to sex 252 253 ma in 254
Chapter 8 References Chapter 9 Appendix 9.1 Amino acid uptake in Na ⁺ -free conditions 9.2 LAT2 antibody optimisation 9.3 Protein expression in placentas from male and female normal birth weight (AGA) infants v ¹⁴ C-glutamine or ¹⁴ C-glutamate uptake at 90 min in the same placentas 9.4 Amino acid uptake by placentas from normal (AGA) pregnancies and FGR split according 9.5 Potential confounders of amino acid uptake by placentas from FGR infants 9.6 Amino acid concentrations in maternal venous and fetal (umbilical) venous and arterial plass AGA and FGR pregnancies 9.7 9.7 GC-MS data tables	230 249 250 ersus 251 g to sex 252 253 ma in 254 255
Chapter 8 References 9.1 Amino acid uptake in Na ⁺ -free conditions 9.2 LAT2 antibody optimisation 9.3 Protein expression in placentas from male and female normal birth weight (AGA) infants v ¹⁴ C-glutamine or ¹⁴ C-glutamate uptake at 90 min in the same placentas 9.4 Amino acid uptake by placentas from normal (AGA) pregnancies and FGR split according 9.5 Potential confounders of amino acid uptake by placentas from FGR infants 9.6 Amino acid concentrations in maternal venous and fetal (umbilical) venous and arterial plass AGA and FGR pregnancies 9.7 9.7 GC-MS data tables 9.8 ¹⁴ C-glutamine, ¹⁴ C-glutamate and ¹⁴ C-MeAIB uptake by placentas from growth restricted (230 249 250 250 250 251 g to sex 252 253 ma in 254 255 FGR)
Chapter 8 References. Chapter 9 Appendix. 9.1 Amino acid uptake in Na ⁺ -free conditions. 9.2 LAT2 antibody optimisation. 9.3 Protein expression in placentas from male and female normal birth weight (AGA) infants v ¹⁴ C-glutamine or ¹⁴ C-glutamate uptake at 90 min in the same placentas. 9.4 Amino acid uptake by placentas from normal (AGA) pregnancies and FGR split according	230 249 250 ersus 251 g to sex 252 253 ma in 254 255 FGR) retween
 Chapter 8 References. Chapter 9 Appendix. 9.1 Amino acid uptake in Na⁺-free conditions. 9.2 LAT2 antibody optimisation. 9.3 Protein expression in placentas from male and female normal birth weight (AGA) infants v ¹⁴C-glutamine or ¹⁴C-glutamate uptake at 90 min in the same placentas. 9.4 Amino acid uptake by placentas from normal (AGA) pregnancies and FGR split according 9.5 Potential confounders of amino acid uptake by placentas from FGR infants . 9.6 Amino acid concentrations in maternal venous and fetal (umbilical) venous and arterial plass AGA and FGR pregnancies. 9.8 ¹⁴C-glutamate and ¹⁴C-MeAIB uptake by placentas from growth restricted (babies is significantly lower compared with infants with a normal birth weight, defined as an IBR b 20th-80th centiles 	230 249 250 ersus 251 g to sex 253 ma in 254 255 FGR) petween 257
 Chapter 8 References. Chapter 9 Appendix. 9.1 Amino acid uptake in Na⁺-free conditions. 9.2 LAT2 antibody optimisation. 9.3 Protein expression in placentas from male and female normal birth weight (AGA) infants v ¹⁴C-glutamine or ¹⁴C-glutamate uptake at 90 min in the same placentas. 9.4 Amino acid uptake by placentas from normal (AGA) pregnancies and FGR split according 9.5 Potential confounders of amino acid uptake by placentas from FGR infants . 9.6 Amino acid concentrations in maternal venous and fetal (umbilical) venous and arterial plass. AGA and FGR pregnancies. 9.7 GC-MS data tables. 9.8 ¹⁴C-glutamine, ¹⁴C-glutamate and ¹⁴C-MeAIB uptake by placentas from growth restricted (babies is significantly lower compared with infants with a normal birth weight, defined as an IBR b 20th-80th centiles. 9.9 Protein expression in placentas from normal hirth weight (ACA) and ECP infants appendix. 	230 249 250 250 250 251 g to sex 252 253 ma in 254 255 FGR) petween 257
 Chapter 8 References. Chapter 9 Appendix. 9.1 Amino acid uptake in Na⁺-free conditions. 9.2 LAT2 antibody optimisation. 9.3 Protein expression in placentas from male and female normal birth weight (AGA) infants v ¹⁴C-glutamine or ¹⁴C-glutamate uptake at 90 min in the same placentas. 9.4 Amino acid uptake by placentas from normal (AGA) pregnancies and FGR split according 9.5 Potential confounders of amino acid uptake by placentas from FGR infants. 9.6 Amino acid concentrations in maternal venous and fetal (umbilical) venous and arterial plass. 9.7 GC-MS data tables. 9.8 ¹⁴C-glutamine, ¹⁴C-glutamate and ¹⁴C-MeAIB uptake by placentas from growth restricted (babies is significantly lower compared with infants with a normal birth weight, defined as an IBR b 20th-80th centiles. 9.9 Protein expression in placentas from normal birth weight (AGA) and FGR infants versus glutamine or ¹⁴C-glutamate uptake at 90 min in the same blacentas. 	230 249 250 ersus 251 g to sex 252 253 ma in 254 255 FGR) petween 257 ¹⁴ C- 258
 Chapter 8 References. Chapter 9 Appendix. 9.1 Amino acid uptake in Na⁺-free conditions. 9.2 LAT2 antibody optimisation. 9.3 Protein expression in placentas from male and female normal birth weight (AGA) infants v ¹⁴C-glutamine or ¹⁴C-glutamate uptake at 90 min in the same placentas. 9.4 Amino acid uptake by placentas from normal (AGA) pregnancies and FGR split according. 9.5 Potential confounders of amino acid uptake by placentas from FGR infants . 9.6 Amino acid concentrations in maternal venous and fetal (umbilical) venous and arterial plass. 9.7 GC-MS data tables. 9.8 ¹⁴C-glutamine, ¹⁴C-glutamate and ¹⁴C-MeAIB uptake by placentas from growth restricted (babies is significantly lower compared with infants with a normal birth weight, defined as an IBR b 20th-80th centiles 9.9 Protein expression in placentas from normal birth weight (AGA) and FGR infants versus glutamine or ¹⁴C-glutamate uptake at 90 min in the same placentas. 	230 249 250 ersus 251 g to sex 252 253 ma in 254 255 FGR) petween 257 ¹⁴ C- 258
 Chapter 8 References. Chapter 9 Appendix. 9.1 Amino acid uptake in Na⁺-free conditions. 9.2 LAT2 antibody optimisation. 9.3 Protein expression in placentas from male and female normal birth weight (AGA) infants v ¹⁴C-glutamine or ¹⁴C-glutamate uptake at 90 min in the same placentas. 9.4 Amino acid uptake by placentas from normal (AGA) pregnancies and FGR split according 9.5 Potential confounders of amino acid uptake by placentas from FGR infants 9.6 Amino acid concentrations in maternal venous and fetal (umbilical) venous and arterial plass AGA and FGR pregnancies. 9.7 GC-MS data tables. 9.8 ¹⁴C-glutamine, ¹⁴C-glutamate and ¹⁴C-MeAIB uptake by placentas from growth restricted (babies is significantly lower compared with infants with a normal birth weight, defined as an IBR l 20th-80th centiles. 9.9 Protein expression in placentas from normal birth weight (AGA) and FGR infants versus glutamine or ¹⁴C-glutamate uptake at 90 min in the same placentas. 9.10 Concentration of amino acids in the UmV of FGR and normal birth weight (AGA) infa 	230 249 250 ersus 251 g to sex 253 ma in 254 255 FGR) petween 257 ¹⁴ C- 258 nts as
 Chapter 8 References. 9.1 Amino acid uptake in Na⁺-free conditions 9.2 LAT2 antibody optimisation. 9.3 Protein expression in placentas from male and female normal birth weight (AGA) infants v ¹⁴C-glutamine or ¹⁴C-glutamate uptake at 90 min in the same placentas. 9.4 Amino acid uptake by placentas from normal (AGA) pregnancies and FGR split according 9.5 Potential confounders of amino acid uptake by placentas from FGR infants. 9.6 Amino acid concentrations in maternal venous and fetal (umbilical) venous and arterial plass AGA and FGR pregnancies. 9.7 GC-MS data tables. 9.8 ¹⁴C-glutamine, ¹⁴C-glutamate and ¹⁴C-MeAIB uptake by placentas from growth restricted (babies is significantly lower compared with infants with a normal birth weight, defined as an IBR b 20th-80th centiles 9.9 Protein expression in placentas from normal birth weight (AGA) and FGR infants versus glutamine or ¹⁴C-glutamate uptake at 90 min in the same placentas 9.10 Concentration of amino acids in the UmV of FGR and normal birth weight (AGA) infa measured by HPLC. 	230 249 250 ersus 250 ersus 251 g to sex 252 253 ma in 254 255 FGR) petween 257 ¹⁴ C- 258 nts as 259 250

Word count: 88,692

List of figures

Figure 1: Blastocyst implantation and early placental development	24
Figure 2: Gross morphology of the term human placenta	26
Figure 3: Human placental structure at term depicting the chorionic villi	27
Figure 4 Umbilical (UmA) and uterine artery (UtA) Doppler waveforms in normal pregnan	cy
and pregnancy complications	29
Figure 5: Diagram illustrating the anatomy of the mouse and human placenta	35
Figure 6: Mechanisms of transfer of nutrients across the microvillous membrane (MVM) at	nd
basal membrane (BM) of the syncytiotrophoblast.	37
Figure 7: Birth weight and placental weight percentiles of male infants by gestational age (2	2-
42 weeks)	39
Figure 8 Schematic diagram illustrating glutamine (Gln) and glutamate (Glu) levels in the	
maternal and fetal compartments, and exchange between the placenta and fetal liver	41
Figure 9: Localisation of glutamine and glutamate transporter systems in the human placen	tal
syncytiotrophoblast	
Figure 10: mTOR signaling nathway	
Figure 11: Birth weight versus trimmed placental weight in a normal birth weight (AGA)	
cohort at term (37-42 weeks)	52
Figure 12: From genome to metabolome	<u>52</u> 62
Figure 13: Standardised placental tissue sampling protocol	
Figure 14: Diagram of placental villous fragments prepared for measurement of amino acid	1. 00 1
untake	71
Figure 15: Diagrammatic representation of method to measure amino acid uptake into	/ 1
placental villous fragments	72
Figure 16: Schematic of unidirectional maternofetal clearance experiments	72
Figure 17: Representative standard curve (1) amplification plot (2) and dissociation curve (75 (3)
for SLC38A1	9) 97
Eigene 19: Maternal alagma disana anterna anterna	\0
Figure 10. Experimental flowshert illustrating use of animals in experiments	90
Figure 19. Experimental nowchart mustrating use of animals in experiments	90
Figure 20. Placental and retai measures from the lightest and neaviest placentas in w 1 mice	2 al 100
E15.5 and E16.5	100
Figure 21 whole fitter placental and fetal weights at E15.5 and E16.5	101
Figure 22: Fetal weight distribution curves and mean fetal weight centiles in WT mice	10Z
Figure 25: Relationship between placental weight and fetal weight in w1 mice at E15.5 and	1
E18.5	102
Figure 24: Unidirectional maternotetal clearance/transfer of C-glutamine and C-glutama	ite
in lightest versus heaviest placentas of W1 mice	104
Figure 25: Placental and tetal measures in W1 mice in relation to sex of the fetus	106
Figure 26 Placental and fetal weights at E15.5 and E18.5 of male and female fetuses	107
Figure 2/: Unidirectional maternotetal clearance/transfer of "C-glutamine and "C-glutama	ite
(male versus temale)	109
Figure 28: Representative blots illustrating expression of glutamate and glutamine transport	ter
proteins	112
Figure 29: Expression of glutamine and glutamate transporter proteins at E15.5 and E18.5	113
Figure 30 Experimental flowchart	131
Figure 31 Optimisation of placental amino acid uptake experiment	135
Figure 32 Relationship between placental weight and birth weight from normal birth weight	t
(AGA) infants	136
Figure 33: Na ⁺ - free, control and transporter-mediated amino acid uptake in placentas of	
normal birth weight (AGA) infants	136
Figure 34: Relationship between transporter-mediated amino acid uptake and fetal and	
placental measures	137

Figure 35: Transporter-mediated amino acid uptake in placentas of male and female inf	ants
Figure 36: Representative Western blots showing glutamine and glutamate transporter p expression in membrane-enriched placental samples of male and female infants Figure 37: Effect of infant sex on expression of glutamine and glutamate transporter pr	190 protein 140
in membrane-enriched placental samples	141
Figure 38: Birth weight versus MeAIB uptake at 90min according to sex	1/18
Figure 30. Infl weight versus weight uptake at Johnn according to sex	140
Figure 40 Maternal plasma disappearance curve	152
Figure 40 Maternal plasma disappearance curve	155
Figure 42 D0 placentes and fetuace weigh less than WT littermates	137
Figure 42 P0 placental and fetuses weigh less than w1 littlefinates	130 5 - 150
Figure 45 Placental weight versus retail weight of P0 and W1 retuses at E15.5 and E18.	2 139 150
Figure 44 Fetal weight distribution curves for P0 and W1 mice	159
Figure 45 Maternotetal transfer of "C-glutamine and "C-glutamate	160
Figure 46 Representative blots illustrating expression of glutamate and glutamine transporteins	orter
Figure 47 Expression of glutamate and glutamine transporter proteins at E15.5 and E1	8.5.164
Figure 48: Relationship between placental weight and birth weight from AGA and FGE	192
Figure 49: ¹⁴ C-glutamine uptake was significantly lower in placentas from FGR versus r	normal
(AGA) pregnancies	183
Figure 50: ¹⁴ C-glutamine uptake correlates with ¹⁴ C-glutamate and ¹⁴ C-MeAIB uptake	184
Figure 51 ¹⁴ C-glutamine uptake was significantly lower in placentas from female versus placentas in EGR	male 185
Figure 52: Amino acid availability at 90 min	186
Figure 53: Representative blots illustrating expression of glutamate and glutamine trans	norter
proteins	188
Figure 54: Expression of glutamine and glutamate transporter proteins: AGA versus E	GR 189
Figure 55: Gene expression of glutamine transporters: AGA versus FGR	190
Figure 56 HPLC method validation	190
Figure 57 Glutamine, glutamic acid and alapine concentration in maternal venous. UmV	V and
UmA plasma in normal pregnancy (AGA) and FGR	192
Figure 58 The concentration of glutamine, glutamic acid and alapine in matched sample	
drawn from the maternal-UmV and UmV-UmA in normal pregnancy (AGA) and	-s I EGR
drawn nonn die maternai-oniv, and oniv-onin in nonnai pregnancy (non) and	103
Figure 50 Maternovanous and vanoartarial amino acid differences	193
Figure 57 Maternovenous and venoarteriar ammo acid differences	174 V and
Lum A plasma variance actual and alatime concentration in maternal venous, On v	v and 105
E (1 D) E (D) E) E) E (D) E) E) E (D) E) E) E) E (D) E)	195 A.C. A)
Figure of Principal components analysis (PCA) visualisation of samples from normal (A	1GA)
and FGK infants (overlear)	190
Figure 62: Heat map of \log_2 ratio fold change data	199
Figure 63 Altered metabolites associated with FGR	
Figure 64 Relationship between amino acid uptake in Na'-free buffer and fetal and place	cental
measures	249
Figure 65 Optimisation of LAT2 antibody	250
Figure 66 Transporter protein expression in placentas from male and female normal bin	rth
weight (AGA) infants plotted against ¹⁴ C-glutamine or ¹⁴ C-glutamate uptake at 90 the same placentas	min in 251
Figure 67 Comparison of transporter-mediated amino acid uptake in placentas from po	231 irmal
(AGA) preopancies and EGR	250
Figure 68: Amino acid untake according to smoking status	252
Figure 69: Gestational age does not affect amino acid uptake	255
Figure 70 Transporter mediated uptake by placentas from ECR (IRR $\leq 5^{\text{th}}$ contile) and	255 AGA
(IBR 20 th -80 th centile) infants	257
(IDIC 20 00 Certific) infanto	251

Figure 71 Transporter protein expression in placentas from normal birth weight (AGA) and
FGR infants plotted against ¹⁴ C-glutamine or ¹⁴ C-glutamate uptake at 90 min in the same
placentas
Figure 72 Concentration of amino acids in the UmV of FGR and normal birth weight (AGA)
infants as measured by HPLC
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

List of tables

Table 1: Characteristics required to calculate individualised birth weight centile	22
Table 2: Consensus-based definition for early and late-onset FGR in the absence of congen	iital
anomalies	23
Table 3: Animal models of human pregnancy	33
Table 4 Amino acid transporters in the placenta	
Table 5: Methods used to measure transport of substrates $e \alpha$ amino acids by the human	
nlacenta	47
Table 6: A summary of metabolomic studies that have analysed maternal and umbilical core	d I
plasma in cases of subortimal fetal growth	а 64
Table 7: 10% neutral buffered formalin (NBF)	-0 - 60
Table 8: Serial dilution of boying serum albumin (BSA) to prepare standards for Bio Rad	. 07
protein assay	73
Table 9: Response and primers used (per DCR reaction) for the identification of male/famel	
fotuces within W/T (C57RL/G) littors and Ist2 D0 ^{+/-} and W/T fotuces within D0 littors	1C 77
Table 10: DCP and conditions for determination of fotal several construct (male /famele	. / /
fotuces within W/T (C57RI /GI) littors and Ist2 D0 ^{+/-} and W/T fotuces within D0 littors)	70
Table 11. Western blotting reasonts	. / 0
Table 11: Western Diolung reagents	00 00
Table 12: Experimental conditions for western blotting	02 07
Table 15: Primer sequences for qPCK genes of interest and housekeeping genes	80
Table 14: Internal standard components of isotopically labelled metabolites	88
Table 15: Placental weight, fetal weight, F:P ratio and fetal biometric measurements from th	ne
lightest and heaviest placentas in a W1 mouse litter at E15.5 and E18.5	101
Table 16: Unidirectional maternotetal clearance of "C-glutamine and "C-glutamate	105
Table 17: Placental weight, tetal weight and tetal biometric measurements from male and	
female fetuses in a WT mouse litter at E15.5 and E18.5	107
Table 18: Unidirectional maternofetal clearance of ¹⁴ C-glutamine and ¹⁴ C-glutamate in relati	ion
to sex of the fetus	110
Table 19 Demographics relating to placentas from normal birth weight (AGA) infants	132
Table 20: Demographics for placentas from male and female infants	133
Table 21 Average placental weight, fetal weight and fetal weight:placental weight (F:P) ratio)
from P0 and WT placentas in a litter at E15.5 and E18.5	159
Table 22 Unidirectional maternofetal clearance of ¹⁴ C-glutamine and ¹⁴ C-glutamate	161
Table 23 Comparison of placental weight, fetal weight, fetal:placental weight ratio, and	
measures of maternofetal transfer of glutamine and glutamate in WT (lightest versus	
heaviest placentas: Chapter 3) and P0 (paired P0 versus WT fetuses) mice	170
Table 24: Demographics relating to placentas from normal (AGA) and FGR pregnancies	178
Table 25: Demographics relating to maternal venous, and UmV and UmA plasma samples	
drawn from normal (AGA) and FGR infants subsequently analysed by HPLC	180
Table 26 Samples analysed by HPLC	180
Table 27: Demographics relating to UmV and UmA blood samples drawn from normal	
(AGA) and FGR infants subsequently analysed by GC-MS	181
Table 28 Summary of key findings from experiments evaluating gene expression, protein	
expression, and transporter-mediated uptake	205
Table 29 Amino acid concentrations in maternal venous and umbilical venous and arterial	
plasma from AGA and FGR pregnancies	254
Table 30 GC-MS data table (continued overleaf)	255

Abbreviations

-RT	No reverse transcriptase
¹⁴ C	Carbon-14
¹ H NMR	Proton nuclear magnetic resonance
11β-HSD2	11β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase 2
4EBP	4E-binding protein
AAR	Amino acid response
AARE	Amino acid response element
AGA	Appropriate for gestational age
akg	α-ketoglutarate
Akt	Protein kinase B
ASC	Alanine serine cysteine-preferring
Asp	Aspartate
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BCAA	Branched chain amino acids
BCH	2-Amino-2-norbornanecarboxylic acid
BCKA	Branched chain α -keto acids
BM	Basal membrane
BMI	Body mass index
bp	Base pairs
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
BW:PW ratio	Birth weight:placental weight ratio
CaCl ₂	Calcium chloride
cDNA	Complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
COMT	Catechol-O-methyl transferase
СТ	Cycle threshold
dH_20	Distilled water
DHEAS	Dehydroepiandrosterone-3-sulphate
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagles medium
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dNTP	Deoxynucleotide triphosphate
dpm	Disintegrations per minute
DTT	Dithiothreitol
Е	Embryonic day
EAAT	Excitatory amino acid transporter
eIF4E	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E
ELCS	Elective caesarean section
EMCS	Emergency caesarean section
eNOS	Endothelial nitric oxide synthase
F:P ratio	Fetal:placental weight ratio
FGR	Fetal growth restriction
GABA	γ-amino butyric acid
GC-MS	Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry
GLAST	GLutamate ASpartate Transporter
Gln	Glutamine
Glu	Glutamate
GSK3	Glycogen synthase kinase 3
H^{+}	Hydrogen
	-

HEPES	4-(2-Hydroxyethyl)piperazine-1-ethanesulfonicacid,N-(2-
	Hydroxyethyl)piperazine-N'-(2-ethanesulfonic acid)
His	Histidine
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
I.U.	International units
IBR	Individualised birth weight ratio
ICM	Inner cell mass
IGF/Igf	Insulin-like growth factor
IL	Interleukin
IPYS	Intraplacental volk sac
IOR	Interquartile range
IUGR	Intrauterine growth restriction
K^+	Potassium
KCl	Potassium chloride
K	Unidirectional maternofetal clearance
КОН	Potassium hydroxide
LAT	Light subunits of Amino acid Transporters
LBW	Low birth weight
LC-MS	Liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry
MCT	Monocarboxylate transporters
MeAIB	Monocarboxylace transporters Methylaminoisobutyric acid
MoCl.	Magnesium chloride
miR	microRNA
MR	Magnetic resonance
MSTFA	N-methyl-N-(trimethylsilyl)trifluoroacetamide
mTOR	Mechanistic target of rapamycin
mTOR	Mechanistic target of rapamycin complex
MVM	Microvillous membrane
Na ⁺	Sodium
INA NaCl	Sodium chlorida
NaOH NaOH	Sodium budrovide
NBE	Noutral hydroxide
NDI [,] NLI	Ammonia
NIIIE	$Nie^+/L^+ over a second s$
NTIL	Non human primate
NHP	Notional Health Service
NITC	Na templete control
NUD	Normal vasinal delivery
NVD O	Owween
O_2	Organia anion transportar
	Organic anion transporting polypoptide
D×S	Dermoshility X surface area product
P^3	Permeability × surface area product
DDC	Phosphatidyiniositoi 5-kinase
PDS DCA	Priosphate burrered saline
rCA DCD	Principal components analysis
PUN	Polymerase cham reaction
ГДУГ DIC	Protococ inhibitor of -late il
	Protease inhibitor cocktail
	Protein Kinase U
PMCA	Plasma membrane calcium A I Pase

pO ₂	Partial pressure of oxygen
PTHrP	Parathyroid hormone related peptide
PW:BW ratio	Placental weight:birth weight ratio
QC	Quality control
qRT-PCR	Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
rpm	Revolutions per minute
RT	Room temperature
S6K	S6 kinase
SD	Standard deviation
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate
SE	Standard error
SEM	Standard error of the mean
Ser	Serine
SGA	Small for gestational age
SGK1	Serum glucocorticoid-regulated protein kinase 1
SNAT	Sodium-coupled Neutral Amino acid Transporter
SUMO	Small ubiquitin-like modifier
TauT	Taurine transporter
TBP	TATA-box binding protein
TCA cycle	Tricarboxylic acid cycle
TEMED	Tetramethylethylenediamine
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor
TRIZMA	Tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane
UmA	Umbilical artery
UmV	Umbilical vein
UtA	Uterine artery
UV	Ultraviolet
VLBW	Very low birth weight
WΤ	Wild-type
YWHAZ	Tyrosine 3-monooxygenase/tryptophan 5-monooxygenase
	activation protein zeta

Abstract

A healthy pregnancy depends upon the delivery of amino acids and other essential nutrients to the fetus via the placenta. Placental dysfunction is a major cause of fetal growth restriction (FGR), which is characterised by poor growth *in utero* and most often defined as an individualised birth weight ratio (IBR) of $<5^{th}$ centile. Growth restricted babies are at increased risk of stillbirth, postnatal complications and disease in adulthood. There is an unmet need for efficacious treatment options, the development of which would be aided by improved understanding of the relationship between placental nutrient delivery and fetal growth.

The amino acids glutamine and glutamate are vital for metabolic processes and fetal growth, and are intrinsically linked by interorgan metabolism in the placenta and fetal liver. Studies in normal pregnancy (in women and wild-type (WT) mice) have shown that in the small placenta of a normally grown fetus there is up-regulation (adaptation) of transport of the non-metabolisable amino acid analogue methylaminoisobutyric acid (MeAIB) (per g placenta). This thesis tested the hypothesis that the small, normal placenta up-regulates glutamine and glutamate transport and that in FGR this relationship is disrupted and/or absent.

Unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) of glutamine and glutamate was assessed in normal (WT) mouse pregnancy at embryonic day (E)15.5 and E18.5 (term=E19-20). A method to assess transporter-mediated uptake of glutamine and glutamate by human placental villous fragments *in vitro* was also developed. In normal WT pregnancy, K_{mf} of glutamine and glutamate was significantly higher in the lightest placentas towards term (E18.5), which reinforces the importance of glutamine and glutamate in ensuring appropriate fetal growth is maintained. Contrary to the literature, there was no relationship between placental weight or birth weight and transporter-mediated uptake of glutamine or glutamate in placentas from normal birth weight infants in human pregnancy. However, placentas from male infants had significantly higher glutamine/glutamate uptake compared with females but this was not associated with changes in transporter expression.

Placental transport capacity was next investigated in the Igf2P0 (P0) knockout mouse, a wellcharacterised model of FGR. K_{mf} of glutamine and glutamate was higher across P0 versus WT placentas at E15.5. At E18.5 K_{mf} of glutamine remained significantly higher whereas K_{mf} of glutamate was similar between groups. This finding is surprising and suggests that the P0 placenta attempts to adapt to meet fetal nutrient demands. In human FGR where a small dysfunctional placenta is observed, transporter-mediated glutamine uptake was reduced in comparison with normal pregnancy. Glutamate uptake was no different between groups. In contrast, expression of key glutamine and glutamate transporters was significantly higher in FGR, indicating a potential role of post-translational modifications in amino acid transporter activity. Amino acid concentrations in the maternal vein, umbilical vein (UmV) and artery (UmA) were quantified by high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), and the abundance of small molecule metabolites in UmV and UmA of normal birth weight and FGR infants measured using gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS). Glutamine and glutamate concentrations in the maternal circulation were unaltered between normal pregnancy and FGR but glutamate concentration in the UmA was higher in FGR. Levels of lactic acid, pyruvic acid, urea, and others were differentially altered in the UmV and UmA of FGR infants.

In summary, glutamine and glutamate uptake into human placental villous fragments was unrelated to fetal or placental measures, but was influenced by the sex of the fetus. Conversely there is evidence to indicate that K_{mf} of glutamine/glutamate adapts according to placental size in WT mice and that the P0 mouse model of FGR may attempt to modulate its transport capacity in a bid to maintain appropriate fetal growth. HPLC and GC-MS uncovered distinct metabolic changes in FGR compared with normal human pregnancy. Furthermore, glutamine uptake was reduced in FGR despite increased transporter abundance, which suggests that post-translational modifications and/or signaling pathways modify amino acid transporter activity in this pathology. This thesis provides the foundation for future research to investigate the underlying mechanisms that may drive these changes.

Lay abstract

The placenta is the organ responsible for the delivery of nutrients and oxygen from mother to baby during pregnancy. Problems with the placenta can cause reductions in the baby's growth (fetal growth restriction; FGR). This affects between 5-10% of all pregnancies in the UK. These small babies are at an increased risk of stillbirth (the death of a baby before birth) and often have very small placentas too. There are currently no treatment options available for FGR infants, except for premature delivery. To enable the development of strategies to diagnose and treat FGR, we first must improve our understanding of how the placenta delivers nutrients to the baby in normal pregnancy and cases of FGR.

Amino acids are a group of nutrients that join together to make up proteins. Glutamine and glutamate are two amino acids that are essential for the growth and development of the baby. Previous research in human placentas and placentas of normal (wild-type; WT) mice has shown that the size of the placenta is inversely related to the transport of a synthetic amino acid called methylaminoisobutyric acid (MeAIB). This means that a smaller placenta will transport more amino acid relative to a larger placenta, presumably to ensure appropriate growth of the baby. This thesis examined whether this is also true of the amino acids glutamate in normal pregnancies, and whether this relationship is lost or altered in FGR.

In WT mice, the transport of glutamine and glutamate from the maternal to the fetal circulation was compared between the lightest and heaviest placenta in a litter at two points in pregnancy (embryonic (E) day 15.5 and E18.5, term is E19-20). In support of previous findings, transport was higher for the lightest placentas in a litter at E18.5. Conversely, the transport of glutamine and glutamate into small sections of human placentas from normal pregnancies was not related to the size (weight) of the placenta. However, in normal human pregnancy, the transport of glutamine and glutamate into placentas from male babies was higher compared to those from female infants.

These experiments were repeated using human placentas from FGR infants and FGR was modelled in mice using the *Igf2P0* (P0) mouse that has mixed litters of normal weight (WT) pups and growth restricted (P0) pups. In the P0 mouse glutamine and glutamate transport was higher earlier in pregnancy (E15.5). The day before term (E18.5) transport of glutamine was still higher for P0 compared with WT placentas, yet increased delivery of glutamine to the P0 fetus was insufficient to support normal growth. Human placentas from FGR infants were significantly smaller than those from normal pregnancies, and they were also unable to transport as much glutamine. The abundance of transporters responsible for the transport of glutamine was higher for FGR placentas, which suggests that there is another, as yet unknown, mechanism responsible for this difference.

Finally, blood samples were collected from the maternal vein, and the vein and artery of the umbilical cord upon delivery of a normal birth weight or FGR infant. The levels of amino acids and small molecules called metabolites were measured in these samples (metabolites were measured in the umbilical vein and artery only) and compared between normal pregnancy and FGR. In FGR levels of glutamate were higher in the umbilical artery compared with normal pregnancy. There were also differences in the levels of metabolites such as lactic acid, pyruvic acid and urea in the umbilical vein and artery of FGR infants, which may indicate altered placental and/or fetal metabolism.

In summary, this thesis has shown that there is no relationship between the weight of the placenta and glutamine or glutamate transport in normal human pregnancy, but there are differences according to the sex of the fetus. In WT mice there is evidence that the function of the placenta is related to placental size, and that the P0 mouse model of FGR attempts to support fetal growth by increasing glutamine transport. In human FGR the transport of glutamine is reduced, and there are specific differences in the levels of amino acids and metabolites between normal pregnancy and WT. These findings should be used as a basis for future experiments which should explore the mechanisms that cause these differences.

Declaration

I declare that no portion of the work referred to in this thesis has been submitted in support of an application for another degree or qualification of this or any other university of other institute of learning.

Disclaimer

- All of the work described in this thesis was carried out by myself except for the following:
 - Chapter 4: The Western blot experiments were conducted by Ms Kirsty Vincent under my supervision and guidance, for her undergraduate (BSc) project, University of Manchester
 - Chapter 6: The quantification of amino acid concentrations by high performance liquid chromatography was conducted by the Willink Biochemical Genetics Laboratory, Royal Manchester Children's Hospital, Manchester
 - Chapter 6: The data extraction and analysis of plasma samples by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry was performed with the technical assistance of Ms Stephanie Church, University of Manchester

Copyright statement

- (i) The author of this thesis (including any appendices and/or schedules to this thesis) owns certain copyright or related rights in it (the "Copyright") and he has given The University of Manchester certain rights to use such Copyright, including for administrative purposes.
- (ii) Copies of this thesis, either in full or in extracts and whether in hard or electronic copy, may be made only in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 (as amended) and regulations issued under it or, where appropriate, in accordance with licensing agreements which the University has from time to time. This page must form part of any such copies made.
- (iii) The ownership of certain Copyright, patents, designs, trademarks and other intellectual property (the "Intellectual Property") and any reproductions of copyright works in the thesis, for example graphs and tables ("Reproductions"), which may be described in this thesis, may not be owned by the author and may be owned by third parties. Such Intellectual Property and Reproductions cannot and must not be made available for use without the prior written permission of the owner(s) of the relevant Intellectual Property and/or Reproductions.
- (iv) Further information on the conditions under which disclosure, publication and commercialisation of this thesis, the Copyright and any Intellectual Property and/or Reproductions described in it may take place is available in the University IP Policy (see <u>http://documents.manchester.ac.uk/DocuInfo.aspx?DocID=24420</u>), in any relevant Thesis restriction declarations deposited in the University Library, The University Library's regulations (see <u>http://www.library.manchester.ac.uk/about/regulations/</u>) and in The University's policy on Presentation of Theses.

Publications arising from this work

Abstracts

<u>McIntyre K</u>, Hayward C, Sibley, C, Greenwood, S, Dilworth M (2018) Disparity between placental glutamine and glutamate transporter activity and expression in fetal growth restriction *Reproductive Sciences* 25, 227A

McIntyre K, Vincent K, Hayward C, Sibley, C, Greenwood, S, Dilworth M (2017) Activity, but not expression, of placental amino acid transporters specific for glutamine and glutamate is related to fetal sex *Placenta* 57, 249

McIntyre K, Vincent K, Hayward C, Sibley, C, Greenwood, S, Dilworth M (2017) Glutamine and glutamate transport into the placenta is related to fetal sex *BJOG* 124, e264-e278

<u>McIntyre K</u>, Hayward C, Sibley, C, Greenwood, S, Dilworth M (2016) Glutamate transfer (clearance) by the placenta adapts according to placental size in mice in late gestation *Pediatric Research* 80, 619–625

<u>McIntyre K</u>, Hayward C, Sibley, C, Greenwood, S, Dilworth M (2016) Placental transfer (clearance) of glutamine is dependent upon placental size in mice *Placenta* 45, 130

Acknowledgements

I'd like to thank Prof Mick Rae and Dr Charlotte Chalmers for first getting me excited about developmental biology. Your support and encouragement during my undergraduate degree, and in the years since, gave me the confidence to pursue this PhD.

My supervisors Dr Mark Dilworth and Dr Susan Greenwood have provided enormous help and guidance throughout my PhD. Thank you for taking a shot on the girl skyping in from Australia, and for the many hours you spent with me in the BSU early on a Saturday morning, or late at night in the isotopes lab. Thanks must also go to Dr Richard Unwin for your supervision and advice with my metabolomics work, and for reminding me that everything will be fine in the end. My advisor Dr Lynda Harris gave me valuable help and support when I needed it most, thank you for always being in my corner.

I would especially like to thank the women who donated placentas and bloods for my studies, this work would be nowhere without them! Many thanks to Dr Mark Wareing for coordinating the biobank and my numerous requests each week, and to Jess Morecroft for doing a great job consenting women to my study. To those who supported me in the lab, especially Steph Church and Dr Bo Baker, thank you. I'd also like to thank the technical support that I received from the Biological Sciences Unit.

I am indebted to my funders, the Medical Research Council, who have made it possible for me to dedicate years of my life to this research, to travel to international conferences and to also take time out for a placement and to visit new labs. Many thanks to the Doctoral Academy for always being there to answer my questions, and for listening to my ideas, especially James Power, Izzy Darbyshire, Joy Stewart and Dr Sarah Peters. Thanks also to Dr Rachel Cowen, Dee-Ann Johnson and Leanne Adamson for helping me develop as an educator and science communicator, and to Prof Judy Williams for all the cups of tea and biscuits, they really did help.

I have made wonderful friends during my time in Manchester. I'd like to thank to my fellow highly-functioning procrastinators at Have You Heard?, and my pals from Pint of Science, 3MT, the MRC cohort and Sidbury for providing me with laughs and a healthy dose of perspective. I never thought that I would find a group of friends as excited by food as I am and am looking forward to many years of travelling wine club! Special thanks to my cheerleaders Dr Grace Whitaker and Dr Donna Littlewood. Grace, you helped me find humour in the PhD hole and believed that one day I would clamber out of it! Donna, thank you for offering me your office space when I needed it, and for giving me permission to stop.

Thank you to my close and extended family, to Elspeth, Lauren, James and Faye for keeping me grounded and to my Mum and Dad for keeping my spirits up, listening to my endless ramblings on the phone and for being on hand to proofread anything I sent you.

To Mike, the past two years have been the hardest of my life for many reasons. Thank you for standing by me, for feeding me, for dragging me out on adventures and for believing that I was capable of completing this.

Dedicated to Jack McIntyre and Malcolm Clements.

1.1 Overview

Normal fetal growth relies upon adequate supply of nutrients via the placenta. Nutrients must be transferred from the maternal circulation into the transporting epithelium of the placenta, the syncytiotrophoblast, where they may either be metabolised to support the metabolic requirements of the placenta or transferred across to the fetal circulation. Failure of the fetus to accrue adequate nutrients during gestation is likely to lead to insufficient fetal growth (fetal growth restriction, FGR). In the UK, FGR affects between 5-10% of pregnancies and is commonly defined as an individualised birth weight ratio (IBR) below the 5th centile. The aetiology of FGR is broad and encompasses a range of maternal and environmental factors; however the majority of cases are believed to be caused by placental dysfunction. Despite the significant medical, societal and economic burden of FGR, there are currently no therapeutic options available. To address this need, a better understanding of the relationship between placental nutrient provision to the fetus and fetal growth is required.

Amino acids are essential for placental and fetal metabolism, biosynthetic pathways and protein anabolism. Two amino acids whose provision is vital for adequate fetal growth and development are glutamine and glutamate. Glutamine is transferred across the placenta at the highest rate of all amino acids. Glutamine and glutamate are of particular interest as their transfer and metabolism are intrinsically linked; interconversion of the two amino acids occurs both in the placenta and fetal liver.

In normal pregnancy (in both women and wild-type (WT) mice), data from several studies suggest that the nutrient transport capacity of the placenta adapts, relative to its size, to support normal fetal growth. If this is a key mechanism to ensure fetal growth in normal pregnancy, failure of this adaptation may underpin cases of FGR. The evidence base for placental adaptation according to placental size is currently stronger for mice than for humans and thus is worthy of further exploration in women. The relationship between placental size (weight) and glutamine and glutamate uptake into the human placenta, or maternofetal clearance of these important amino acids across the mouse placenta, has never been investigated previously.

The main objectives of this project are a) to understand the relationship between placental size (weight) in normal pregnancy and glutamine and glutamate uptake/maternofetal transfer into/across the human and mouse placenta, respectively, b) to assess whether placental glutamine and glutamate transporter activity and expression are altered in human FGR or in an established mouse model of FGR and c) to compare the concentration of amino acids and

metabolites in maternal and fetal umbilical (artery and vein) plasma in normal pregnancies and FGR.

1.2 Fetal growth restriction

Fetal growth restriction (FGR), the failure of the fetus to reach its genetic growth potential, affects between 5-10% of pregnancies in the UK (ONS, 2015). FGR is the strongest risk factor for stillbirth (Gardosi *et al.*, 2013), and for UK births in 2016 placental dysfunction was attributed as a cause of 28.8% of stillbirths (Draper *et al.*, 2018). Stillbirths are a significant economic and societal burden. The stillbirth-related economic costs to the National Health Service (NHS) are estimated to be £13.6 million annually (Campbell *et al.*, 2018). A study by Gardosi *et al.* (2013) reported that the overall stillbirth rate for UK pregnancies was 4.2 per 1000 births but that this rate increased significantly to 16.7 when FGR was present. To examine this further, the stillbirth rate in the presence of FGR can be split according to whether FGR was detected *in utero.* The stillbirth rate was 19.8 per 1000 births for undetected cases versus 9.7 per 1000 births of cases detected antenatally. Furthermore, being born small confers an increased risk of disease in both neonatal life (e.g. developmental delay, cerebral palsy) and in adulthood (metabolic syndrome embracing obesity, type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease) (Barker, 2004; Thornton *et al.*, 2004; Veen *et al.*, 1991).

Placental dysfunction accounts for the majority of FGR cases (Mifsud and Sebire, 2014), but this placental dysfunction is likely to present with a myriad of underlying causal mechanisms of which reduced fetal growth is the end result. Established risk factors for FGR include maternal smoking and alcohol consumption (Audette and Kingdom, 2018; Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists, 2013). The aetiology of FGR is broad and encompasses a range of genetic (e.g. congenital abnormalities), disease (such as pre-eclampsia) and environmental factors. However, many FGR cases are classified as idiopathic because the reasons for placental dysfunction are not fully understood (Audette and Kingdom, 2018; Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists, 2013).

Broadly, FGR phenotypes are classed either as early- (<32 weeks gestation, ~20-30% of cases) or late-onset (>32 weeks, 70%) (Audette and Kingdom, 2018). Early-onset growth restriction is often symmetrical i.e. overall growth (length, head and abdominal circumference) is reduced proportionally. Infants with late-onset FGR however tend to have a proportionally large head circumference but reduced abdominal circumference compared with appropriately grown infants. This 'brain sparing' phenotype is thought to prioritise brain development (Hindmarsh *et al.*, 2002) at the expense of the growth of abdominal organs such as the liver. Indeed, in fetal sheep, experimental reduction of uterine blood flow by 50% causes preferential redistribution of oxygen to the brain and heart (Jensen *et al.*, 1991).

FGR is diagnosed in the clinic by estimating fetal weight, growth trajectory and fetal parameters such as abdominal and head circumference using serial ultrasonography. Accurate estimation of fetal weight using ultrasound is challenging; in a systematic review by Dudley (2005) the 95% confidence interval exceeded 14% of birth weight across all studies analysed. However, some progress in the field has been made to improve accurate detection of FGR via specialised clinics (Kingdom *et al.*, 2018) and alternative scanning methods such as magnetic resonance imaging (Ingram *et al.*, 2017). The diagnosis and placental phenotypes of FGR are discussed in more detail in section 1.3.3.

Current definitions of FGR are inconsistent. Individualised growth charts have replaced arbitrary birth weight cut offs (previously 2.5 kg was the cutoff used to define low birth weight) (Chiswick, 1985) by including a mixture of maternal and fetal characteristics to calculate individualised birth weight ratio (IBR) (Table 1). This approach has been employed in an attempt to stratify infants that are pathologically small (FGR), from those constitutionally small for gestational age (SGA) infants that do not require intervention, usually defined as an IBR <10th centile. Infants with an IBR of between 10^{th} -90th centile are considered to be of normal size or appropriate for gestational age (AGA). FGR is routinely defined as an IBR below the 5th centile; however a universally accepted clinical threshold (i.e. below the 3rd, 5th or 10th centile +/- the presence of additional indications) does not exist (Unterscheider *et al.*, 2014).

Internationally, different customised standards to calculate IBR are used. In our centre, IBR is calculated using the GROW centile calculator that is based on a UK population (<u>https://www.gestation.net</u>). Elsewhere, INTERGROWTH-21st has been implemented; however the effectiveness of this standard in detecting SGA infants has recently been questioned (Francis *et al.*, 2018; Pritchard, 2018). Whether there is an added benefit of customised (IBR) compared with population growth charts has also been contested (Carberry *et al.*, 2014; Iliodromiti *et al.*, 2017; Stock and Myers, 2017).

Maternal characteristics	Fetal characteristics	
Height	Gestational age	
Weight*	Birth weight	
Parity	Sex	
Ethnicity		

Table 1: Characteristics required to calculate individualised birth weight centile

*At initial booking appointment (approximately 12 weeks of gestation). Information collated from <u>https://www.gestation.net</u> (Gardosi, 2015).

A recent study applied the Delphi method to reach a consensus on the definition of FGR. Through multiple rounds of questionnaires, a panel of 56 international experts was surveyed until a consensus was reached. The consensus-based definitions for early- and late-onset FGR are shown in Table 2. The clinical diagnosis and placental phenotypes of FGR are discussed in greater depth in section 1.3.3. For the purpose of this thesis, FGR is defined as an IBR of $<5^{\text{th}}$ centile as data collection began in 2014; before the publication of the Delphi procedure study (Gordijn *et al.*, 2016).

Early FGR:	Late FGR:	
GA < 32 weeks, in absence of congenital anomalies	GA \geq 32 weeks, in absence of congenital anomalies	
AC/EFW < 3 rd centile or UA-AEDF	AC/EFW < 3 rd centile	
O r	O r at least two out of three of the following	
1. AC/EFW < 10^{th} centile combined with	1. AC/EFW < 10 th centile	
2. UtA-PI > 95^{th} centile and/or	2. AC/EFW crossing centiles > 2 quartiles on growth centiles*	
3. UA-PI > 95^{th} centile	3. CPR < 5 th centile or UA-PI > 95 th centile	

Table 2: Consensus-based definition for early and late-onset FGR in the absence of congenital anomalies

*Growth centiles are non-customised centiles. AC: fetal abdominal circumference, AEDF: absent end-diastolic flow, CPR: cerebroplacental ratio, EFW: estimated fetal weight, GA: gestational age, PI: pulsatility index, UA: umbilical artery, UtA: uterine artery. Reproduced from (Gordijn *et al.*, 2016).

FGR is a significant societal and economic burden (Campbell *et al.*, 2018; Cantwell *et al.*, 2011; Heazell *et al.*, 2016) yet there are currently no approved pharmacological treatment options available (Fisk and Atun, 2008). Current pathways for management of FGR advise early delivery of babies at immediate risk of *in utero* demise (Fisk and Atun, 2008; Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists, 2013). Being born preterm also carries significant associated risks such as cerebral palsy (Thornton *et al.*, 2004), which underlies the drive to develop effective treatment options for these babies.

The focus of this thesis is to determine the relationship between placental amino acid (glutamine and glutamate) uptake, a determinant of amino acid provision to the fetus, and placental size in babies appropriately grown for gestational age (AGA) and to examine how this relationship is altered in cases of FGR. Understanding of the physiology and mechanisms that underpin normal and perturbed fetal growth, as seen in FGR, is essential to address the clinical need for novel treatments to treat placental dysfunction and thus reduce the incidence of FGR and stillbirth.

1.3 Overview of the placenta in normal human pregnancy

1.3.1 Placental development

Development of the human haemochorial placenta is multi-staged and must be tightly controlled in order to support fetal growth and development. The established placenta functions as a conduit of nutrient exchange, as a producer of hormones to support pregnancy and as an immunological barrier (Nelson, 2015). Placental development begins following the attachment, and subsequent invasion, of the blastocyst into the decidua of the uterine wall at

around 7 days post-fertilisation. The blastocyst consists of an inner cell mass (ICM) that will ultimately form the developing embryo/fetus and a layer of trophectoderm cells that go on to form the placenta. Following invasion, the trophectoderm cells differentiate into an outer layer of multinucleate syncytiotrophoblast cells, supported by an inner layer of proliferating mononuclear cytotophoblast cells (Figure 1) (Georgiades *et al.*, 2002). This syncytiotrophoblast layer next invades the uterine wall. Within the sycytiotrophoblast layer cavities called lacunae form which are the precursors of the intervillous space (Aplin, 1991; Enders and Blankenship, 1999). Uterine gland secretions (histotroph) are a vital nutrient source for the conceptus during the first trimester, before the establishment of maternal blood flow to the intervillous space of the placenta around 12 weeks of gestation (Filant and Spencer, 2014; Rampersad *et al.*, 2011).



Figure 1: Blastocyst implantation and early placental development

A. The blastocyst consists of an outer trophectoderm layer and inner cell mass (ICM). B. Invasion of the endometrial epithelium occurs approximately 7 days post-fertilisation. C. Multinucleate proliferating syncytiotrophoblast precede the development of chorionic villi and are supported by an inner monolayer of cytotrophoblast cells. Lacunae (cavities filled with maternal blood) are the precursors of the intervillous space. Figure adapted from <u>https://legacy.owensboro.kctcs.edu/gcaplan/anat2/notes/APIINotes2%20human %20development2.htm</u> Accessed 25th June 2018 (Marieb, 2000).

Next, cytotrophoblast cells migrate, forming villous projections that extend towards the maternal basal plate. By the third week of gestation tertiary villi have formed consisting of an outer monolayer of syncytiotrophoblast, invaded by an inner layer of cytotrophoblast cells and vascularised with fetal capillaries (Huppertz, 2008). These tertiary villi will eventually form the site of nutrient exchange (Georgiades *et al.*, 2002). Villi that become attached to the basal plate are called anchoring villi.

A subset of cytotrophoblast cells differentiate to become extravillous trophoblast cells that invade the maternal spiral arteries, remodelling the coiled vessels to become wider, high flow, low resistance vessels. Extravillous trophoblast cells also form intra-arterial plugs to prevent maternal blood flow to the intervillous space until around the 12th week of gestation (Filant and Spencer, 2014; Rampersad *et al.*, 2011).

1.3.2 Placental structure at term

The mature placenta is discoidal and weighs approximately 520 g at term (trimmed of membranes and umbilical cord) (Hayward *et al.*, 2016). At the macroscopic level, the maternal side of the placenta (basal plate) consists of highly vascularised cotyledons (clustered branches of the villous network) surrounded by deep invaginations of tissue called septae (Figure 2). On the maternal side is the chorionic membrane and on the fetal side is the amnion which fills with amniotic fluid to ultimately surround the developing fetus within the amniotic sac (Rampersad *et al.*, 2011). The umbilical cord inserts into the chorionic plate (fetal side) of the placenta and consists of an umbilical vein (delivers oxygenated blood to the fetus) and two umbilical arteries (carrying deoxygenated blood) surrounded by gelatinous Wharton's jelly.



Figure 2: Gross morphology of the term human placenta

The fetal side (chorionic plate) of the placenta is the site of insertion of the umbilical cord. The basal plate (maternal side) of the placenta consists of a cotyledonary network, the site of nutrient exchange. Figure from (Rampersad *et al.*, 2011).

Placental development ensues as the outer chorionic sac develops chorionic villi, microvillous projections of fetal trophoblast cells that extend toward the maternal basal plate (Figure 3) (Aplin, 1991; Rampersad et al., 2011). The exterior villous surface constitutes a bilayer of trophoblastic cells derived from trophoblastic proliferation, fusion and subsequent loss of plasma membranes to form a highly specialised multinucleated syncytium (Enders, 1965b). A monolayer of syncytiotrophoblast is in direct contact with maternal blood, and is the site of nutrient and gas exchange between mother and fetus, supported by an inner layer of mononuclear cytotrophoblasts (Georgiades et al., 2002). The syncytiotrophoblast has an apical maternal-facing microvillous plasma membrane (MVM) and a fetal-facing basal plasma membrane (BM) and is proximal to the fetal capillary endothelium (Desforges and Sibley, 2010). Together, the syncytiotrophoblast and fetal endothelium constitute the placental exchange barrier. Placental stability is supported throughout pregnancy by anchoring villi that branch out to initiate contact with the uterine decidua and are subsequently encapsulated by fibrinoid material (Enders, 1989; Enders and Blankenship, 1999) The syncytiotrophoblast is maintained and renewed by the systematic replacement of the syncytiotrophoblast layer by the incorporation of mononucleate cytotrophoblasts (Aplin, 1991; Mayhew, 2014). Maintenance of the syncytiotrophoblast, by cellular turnover, is key to normal pregnancy and is abnormal in FGR.



Figure 3: Human placental structure at term depicting the chorionic villi

The fetus is connected to the placenta via the umbilical cord, which has two umbilical arteries and one umbilical vein. Chorionic villi (the villous tree) project from the fetal portion of the placenta. At term the villi are surrounded by a multinucleate syncytiotrophoblast layer and are bathed in maternal blood (intervillous space). Figure is from http://www.zo.utexas.edu/faculty/sjasper/images/46.17.jpg Accessed 25th June 2018.

1.3.3 The placenta in FGR

Both early- and late-onset FGR is associated with a small placenta for gestational age (Mifsud and Sebire, 2014; Silver, 2018). The small placenta in FGR is associated with abnormal angiogenesis/vasculogenesis and development of the placental villous tree (Burton *et al.*, 2009; Mayhew *et al.*, 2004), and abnormal regulation of placental vessel tone which collectively contribute to raised feto-placental vascular resistance and inadequate blood flow between placenta and fetus; this is evident clinically by abnormal umbilical artery (UmA) Doppler waveforms (Baschat, 2011; Giles *et al.*, 1985). Altered villous morphology is accompanied by dysregulated renewal of the syncytiotrophoblast by cellular turnover (Huppertz *et al.*, 2002; Huppertz *et al.*, 2006) and altered nutrient transporter activity and expression in syncytiotrophoblast (Aiko *et al.*, 2014; Glazier *et al.*, 1997; Jansson *et al.*, 1998; Mahendran *et al.*, 1993; Shibata *et al.*, 2008) (discussed further in section 1.10).

The origin of FGR is not clear but it is proposed to arise from failure of the extravillous trophoblasts to adequately invade and remodel the spiral arteries in the first trimester (Baschat, 2011; Bower *et al.*, 1993). Instead of conversion to low resistance high flow vessels, the arteries retain tone, which reduces blood flow and therefore the delivery of oxygen to the intervillous space; the raised vascular resistance can be detected clinically by abnormal uterine artery (UtA) Doppler waveforms. As the spiral arteries retain some contractile ability, the pattern of blood flow to the placenta is altered leading to ischaemia-reperfusion injury (Burton and Jauniaux, 2004; Hung *et al.*, 2001). The consequent hypoxia, inflammation, oxidative and

nitrative stress arising from inadequate and dysregulated blood flow to the intervillous space is thought to underlie abnormal placental vascular development and dysregulated syncytiotrophoblast turnover (Burton and Jauniaux, 2018; Scifres and Nelson, 2009).

Doppler velocimetry scanning is used in the clinic to detect abnormal umbilical and/or uterine blood flow-velocity waveforms which indicate functional and/or structural vascular defects that collectively increase resistance to flow in FGR (Bower *et al.*, 1993). UtA Doppler measurements allow the assessment of blood flow abnormalities within the uteroplacental circulation, a proxy of the quality of the physiological remodelling of the uterine spiral arteries (Figure 4). Though not routinely measured in the clinic, women with three or more minor risk factors for FGR, such as maternal smoking, age >35 years and body mass index (BMI) >30 kg/m², are referred for UtA Doppler velocimetry as a screening tool at 20-24 weeks of gestation (Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists, 2013).

UmA Doppler, which measures blood flow velocity from the fetus back towards the placenta (Savasan *et al.*, 2014) is measured if fetal growth trajectory is identified as abnormal. Earlyonset FGR typically presents with an abnormal UmA Doppler waveform (Figure 4). Due to the early gestational age in these cases, serial monitoring can guide expectant management of the pregnancy (Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists, 2013). In late-onset FGR, fetal growth rate falls towards term and typically presents with normal UmA Dopplers (Whitehead *et al.*, 2016). This fall in fetal growth rate can be detected in the clinic by growth scans or by measuring middle cerebral artery Doppler or fetal heart rate monitoring (Baschat, 2011), but often FGR is only confirmed by determining IBR post-delivery.

FGR is therefore a consequence of a number of differing placental phenotypes (Sibley *et al.*, 2005) and categorising them according to early or late-onset FGR is over simplistic. Rather, it is likely to be a sliding scale with placental pathologies, such as abnormal Doppler waveform indices and nutrient transfer defects, overlapping and contributing both early- and late-onset FGR (Mifsud and Sebire, 2014).



Figure 4 Umbilical (UmA) and uterine artery (UtA) Doppler waveforms in normal pregnancy and pregnancy complications

Normal UmA waveform at 24 weeks gestation (Å). In FGR pregnancies, where the fetal villous vascular tree is abnormal, the UmA Doppler index is increased (C) (i.e. the minimum diastolic velocity, the trough in the waveform, is reduced). Abnormalities can also lead to absent (B) or reversed (D) end diastolic velocity. The UtA waveform shows blood flow-velocity in the maternal vessels supplying the placenta. In normal pregnancy there is an early diastolic notch and a high ratio between the systolic (peak) and diastolic (trough) of the velocity of the UtA waveform at 14 weeks (E). By 24 weeks in normal pregnancy (F) the notch and high pulsatility are lost. This transformation will not happen if trophoblast invasion into the spiral arteries is inadequate, as seen in some cases of FGR. Adapted from (Baschat, 2011)

1.4 Animal models of human pregnancy

Many animal species have been used as models to enhance our understanding of human pregnancy such as the rat, mouse, guinea pig, sheep and non-human primate. Animal models can be useful to examine the effects of specific interventions on pregnancy outcome and placental function and, with regards to the focus of this thesis, can be used to measure placental nutrient transport *in vivo*. Placentation is species-specific thus there is no perfect animal model for human placental development and function, and selection of an appropriate model is dependent upon the research question. Several animal models of human pregnancy are considered in the section herein.

1.4.1 Sheep

Sheep are used as a model for human pregnancy since they deliver precocious lambs of a similar size to human babies at term. However, sheep have disadvantages as a model of human placentation since the sheep placenta is structurally distinct. Unlike the human placenta, the sheep placenta is not invasive, rather the fetal membranes (cotyledons) attach to caruncles present in the sheep uterus to form individual placentomes (Filant and Spencer, 2014). The diffusional passive permeability of hydrophilic molecules across the placenta is dependent upon placental surface area and barrier thickness and can be measured as permeability × surface area product (P×S) (Sibley and Boyd, 1988). The P×S of the epitheliochorial sheep placenta is much lower than that of humans and rodents (Knobil and Neill, 2006; Sibley and Boyd, 1988), which does not make it an ideal model for nutrient transport studies. Sheep are used widely for cardiovascular and hypoxia research in pregnancy (Allison *et al.*, 2016). FGR can be experimentally induced in the sheep by over-nourishment in adolescence or following hyperthermic exposure during gestation (Wallace *et al.*, 2005).

1.4.2 Non-human primate

Non-human primates (NHP), such as the baboon and rhesus macaque are used in medical research, predominantly in the United States. The NHP placenta superficially invades in comparison to the human placenta but it is similar in that it is haemomonochorial in structure (Grigsby, 2016). NHPs have been used to investigate the spread of Zika virus (Kublin and Whitney, 2018), and there is a well-established maternal nutrient restriction model of FGR in the baboon (Kavitha *et al.*, 2014; Pantham *et al.*, 2015; Pantham *et al.*, 2016). The use of NHPs in medical research is controversial, expensive and as such represents a very small proportion of scientific procedures involving animals in the UK (0.16% in 2005 – 4,652 procedures carried out on 3,115 animals) (The Royal Academy of Medical Sciences, 2006).

1.4.3 Guinea pig

The guinea pig has been used as a model of human placental nutrient transport and FGR (Jansson and Persson, 1990; Kind *et al.*, 2005). Like humans, guinea pigs have a haemomonochorial placenta (Enders, 1965a) that invades deep into the uterine arteries (Clausen *et al.*, 2003), but they also have a subplacenta (Rodrigues *et al.*, 2006), for which there is no functional equivalent in humans (Carter, 2007). In common with rats and mice, but unlike humans, guinea pigs also retain a functional yolk sac until term (Carter, 2007).

1.4.4 Rodent models of human pregnancy: mice and rats

Rodents are commonly used in pregnancy research and have the practical advantage of a short gestational period (mice 19-21 days; rats 21-24 days) and large litter sizes (Dilworth and Sibley, 2013). This allows relatively quick data collection and matched analyses between littermates within the same maternal environment, increasing statistical power. However, this is at odds with the longer gestational length and propensity towards singleton pregnancy in humans.

In common with humans, the mouse and rat placenta are haemochorial, such that the syncytiotrophoblast is in direct contact with maternal blood (Dilworth and Sibley, 2013). However, in contrast to the haemomonochorial (single layered) human placenta the murine placenta has three layers and is therefore haemotrichorial. Despite this structural difference, the P×S of the mouse, rat and human placenta is within the same order of magnitude (Knobil and Neill, 2006; Sibley and Boyd, 1988). A method is available to isolate pure vesicles of layer II of the rat and mouse placenta (discussed in more detail in section 1.10.2) (Kusinski *et al.*, 2010), which is akin to the maternal-facing MVM of the human placenta (Glazier and Sibley, 2006).

Pregnant rats are a well-established animal model of human pregnancy (Winterhager and Gellhaus, 2017). Like the mouse, the rat placenta is haemotrichorial, but unlike the mouse there is deep trophoblast invasion and remodelling of the spiral arteries (Soares *et al.*, 2012). There is also potential to draw multiple blood samples from the dam due to the larger blood volume in the rat in comparison to the mouse (NC3RS, 2014b). However, genetic modifications remain difficult in this species and are outweighed by those available in the mouse (Jacob *et al.*, 2010). Technological advances and the sequencing of the mouse genome have led to the production of genetic knockout and transgenic mice, which will likely increase with the recent advent of CRISPR-Cas9 techniques (Kherraf *et al.*, 2018). Several well-characterised genetic knockout mouse strains now exist to model pregnancy complications in humans (section 1.11).

The mouse was chosen as an appropriate animal model to address the aims of this thesis following appraisal of the relative costs and benefits of available animal models outlined in Table 3. Primarily mice were chosen due to their haemochorial placental structure, and the

knowledge that the localisation and activity of amino acid transporters studied to date resembles that in the human placenta (Enders, 1965; Georgiades *et al.*, 2002; Jansson *et al.*, 2002; Kusinski *et al.*, 2010; Takata and Hirano, 1997). For example, GLUT1 glucose transporter is expressed on the placental plasma membranes of mice and women (Constância *et al.*, 2005). Activity of the system A amino acid transporter, which is responsible for the transport of small neutral amino acids such as glutamine, is also similar between vesicles of the mouse and human placenta (per g placenta) (Kusinski *et al.*, 2010). However activity of system β , which transports taurine, is lower in the mouse placenta (Kusinski *et al.*, 2010), which highlights a need to directly compare other nutrient transporter systems to fully evaluate the similarities and differences between the two species.

Animal models of poor pregnancy outcome can be broadly characterised as surgical, genetic or environmental (e.g. dietary intervention). A genetic knockout mouse model of FGR was utilised in the current study for comparison with human late-onset FGR and is fully appraised with other mouse models of FGR in section 1.11. The similarities and differences between the mouse and human placenta are appraised in greater depth in the sections that follow.

	Mouse	Rat	Guinea pig	Sheep	Non-human primate
Gestation (days)	19-21	21-24	59-72	~152	~180
Litter size	Multiple, 6-12	Multiple, 10-14	Multiple, 2-5	Singleton/twins	Singleton/twins
Genetic manipulation	Relatively easy	Moderately difficult	Difficult	Difficult	Difficult
<i>In utero</i> development	Altricial	Altricial	Precocial	Precocial	Precocial
Placentation	Haemotrichorial	Haemotrichorial	Haemomonochorial (a subplacenta also exists)	Epitheliochorial (placentomes)	Haemomonochorial
Placental transfer (versus human)	Similar for some solutes	Similar for some solutes	Not well described	Less permeable to solutes	Similar

 Table 3: Animal models of human pregnancy

 Common animal models of human pregnancy and their advantages/disadvantages. Data collated from (Carter, 2007; Jansson *et al.*, 2006; Knobil and Neill, 2006; Sferruzzi-Perri and Camm, 2016)

1.5 Structure and function of the mouse placenta

Both the human and the mouse placenta are haemochorial as the outer trophoblast layer of the mature placenta is directly bathed in maternal blood (Enders, 1965a; Watson and Cross, 2005). Mouse gestation lasts between 19-21 days, with dams giving birth to altricial young at term. Thus a number of 'fetal' developmental processes (e.g. nephrogenesis) continue postnatally. In contrast, term for human pregnancy is 259 days and women give birth to more developed (precocial) offspring (Carter, 2007).

Placental development in the mouse begins following the establishment of a blastocyst at approximately embryonic day (E) 3.5 (Cross et al., 1994). At the time of implantation (around E4.5) trophectoderm cells that surround the ICM proliferate and differentiate into the extraembryonic ectoderm and the ectoplacental cone. Trophoblast invasion is shallower in mice compared with women (Carter, 2007). Post-implantation, giant cells derived from the ectoplacental cone surround the conceptus. Next the extra-embryonic ectoderm forms the chorionic epithelium and meets the allantois at E8.5 to form the chorioallantois (Cross et al., 1994; Rossant and Cross, 2001). The fetal portion of the mouse placenta consists of two major and structurally distinct zones: the outer junctional zone, primarily associated with endocrine function, and the inner labyrinthine zone, which is the major site of nutrient exchange in the mouse placenta (Enders and Blankenship, 1999; Malassine et al., 2003). The syncytiotrophoblast of the mouse placenta, evident in the labyrinth zone, consists of three layers: discontinuous (trophoblast giant cell) layer I, syncytial layer II and fetal facing layer III (Figure 5). Thus, the mouse placenta is defined as haemotrichorial in comparison with the human haemomonochorial placenta (Enders, 1965a). Layer II of the labyrinthine zone is thought to be akin to the human syncytiotrophoblast MVM: both stain positively with alkaline phosphatase and transporter proteins such as the GLUT1 glucose transporter have been localised to this layer (Enders, 1965a; Georgiades et al., 2002; Jansson et al., 2002; Takata and Hirano, 1997). Similarly, layer III has been compared to the human syncytiotrophoblast BM, although this has yet to be definitively confirmed due to difficulties facing layer III isolation and characterisation in the mouse (Dilworth and Sibley, 2013). These additional layers in the mouse placenta are not thought to have a major impact on passive permeability due to the similarities in P×S versus human (Knobil and Neill, 2006; Sibley and Boyd, 1988).

Another difference between mouse and human is that the intraplacental yolk sac (IPYS), exclusive to rodents, is thought to play a role in nutrient transport until term. Proteins important for calcium transport such as calbindin- D_{9k} have been localized to the IPYS (Kovacs *et al.*, 2002). In a key study reported by Croy *et al.* (2015) the vitelline artery, which supplies the IPYS, was ligated at various gestational ages to investigate the role of the IPYS in supporting fetal growth. Ligation at E12.5 or E13.5 was embryonically lethal whereas 43% of

fetuses survived to E17.5 when the artery was ligated at E14.5. Whilst all fetuses survived ligation at E15.5 and E16.5, they were growth restricted indicating that the IPYS contributes to normal fetal growth until term.



Figure 5: Diagram illustrating the anatomy of the mouse and human placenta

a The labyrinthine layer of the mouse placenta (inset) has three layers (labelled I, II and III, yellow boxes) **b** The chorionic villi of the human placenta are bathed directly in maternal blood. Inset shows a cross-section through a villous. Figure adapted from (Rossant and Cross, 2001).

Genetic knockout and transgenic mice afford the capacity to study the effects of specific genes on placental function and pregnancy outcome. It is also now possible to target the knockout (deletion) of genes within specific tissues. In the field of pregnancy research this provides the exciting opportunity to determine the relative contribution of the fetus or placenta to pregnancy outcomes. The use of mice alongside human studies may facilitate further understanding of the physiology both in normal human pregnancy and in pregnancy pathologies. In addition, mice provide an *in vivo* model in which to test the effectiveness and safety of therapeutic interventions for complications of pregnancy (Dilworth and Sibley, 2013).

1.6 Placental nutrient transport

Exchange of nutrients and respiratory gases between mother and fetus occurs via the placenta during pregnancy. As introduced above, in the human placenta the MVM and BM represent the maternal and fetal-facing barriers of the syncytiotrophoblast. As such, any solutes destined for maternofetal transfer must enter the syncytiotrophoblast cytoplasm from the maternal circulation via the MVM and exit via the BM before finally breaching the fetal capillary endothelium to enter the fetal circulation (Lager and Powell, 2012). There are a number of

different mechanisms by which nutrient exchange across the placental MVM and BM is mediated. These include diffusion, facilitated diffusion, active transport, exchange and cotransport (Figure 6). Endocytosis/exocytosis and paracellular routes also exist (reviewed by Desforges and Sibley, 2010). Diffusion across the syncytiotrophoblast is dependent upon molecular size, charge, solubility and concentration gradient. Oxygen and other respiratory gases diffuse across the syncytiotrophoblast, a process which is blood flow limited: net maternofetal transfer relies upon a concentration gradient down which diffusion occurs (Desforges and Sibley, 2010).

Specific carriers and channels exist on the MVM and BM of the syncytiotrophoblast to mediate the transport of ions, amino acids and other nutrients e.g. glucose and calcium. Ion transport is important for maintenance of electrochemical gradients to support other transport processes such as sodium (Na⁺)-co transport. Na⁺/K⁺/ATPase, present on the MVM and BM (Johansson et al., 2000), actively exchanges Na⁺ for potassium (K⁺), using ATP as an energy source (Clarson et al., 1996). This action creates a Na⁺ gradient across the trophoblast cell membrane (low intracellular Na⁺ and high intracellular K⁺) (Greenwood et al., 1996) thus facilitating the accumulation of nutrients, via Na⁺-dependent mechanisms, required for fetal growth. The Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger (NHE) is localised predominantly to the MVM (10-fold greater expression than the BM). NHE couples Na⁺influx (into the syncytiotrophoblast) with H⁺ efflux creating a transmembrane Na⁺ gradient that is exploited by a number of amino acid transporters (Desforges and Sibley, 2010; Johansson et al., 2002). In FGR, NHE activity is reduced (Johansson et al., 2002) which could alter the acid-base status of the syncytiotrophoblast causing the cytosolic pH to become acidic. Activity of Na⁺/K⁺/ATPase is also reduced in FGR (Johansson et al., 2003) which likely leads to dysfunctional provision of nutrients to the fetus that utilise Na⁺-dependent transporters. Indeed, experimental inhibition of $Na^+/K^+/ATP$ with ouabain inhibits uptake of the non-metabolisable analogue methylaminoisobutyric acid (MeAIB) via Na⁺-dependent system A in placental villous tissue fragments (Shibata et al., 2006).

Glucose is transferred across the placenta by facilitated diffusion, via glucose-specific GLUT transporters (GLUT1, GLUT3 and GLUT4), and is an important energy source for the fetus. GLUT3 and GLUT4 expression is low towards term indicating that GLUT1 (localised to the MVM and BM) is the primary isoform responsible for glucose transport in late pregnancy (Ericsson *et al.*, 2005). Nutrients such as calcium pass from maternal to fetal blood via both diffusional (ion channels) and active transport processes, using ATP as an energy source, and require buffering within the syncytiotrophoblast by calcium binding proteins including those of the calbindin family (Bond *et al.*, 2008; Glazier *et al.*, 1992). Many amino acids utilise ion gradients to mediate their transfer (e.g. system A and N-mediated glutamine and system X_{AG} -
mediated glutamate transport utilise a Na⁺ gradient) (Desforges and Sibley, 2010; Lager and Powell, 2012). This thesis focuses on transport of the amino acids glutamine and glutamate; therefore the following sections shall consider placental amino acid transport, including regulatory processes, in further detail.



Figure 6: Mechanisms of transfer of nutrients across the microvillous membrane (MVM) and basal membrane (BM) of the syncytiotrophoblast.

Nutrients and gases are transferred across the transporting epithelium of the placenta, the syncytiotrophoblast, via mechanisms such as simple diffusion (7) and facilitated diffusion (2) (e.g. glucose via GLUT transporter proteins). Transporter-mediated mechanisms include co-transport (3) (e.g. system A amino acid transporter, responsible in part for glutamine transport), exchange (4) and active transport (5). Paracellular (6) and endocytosis/exocytosis (1) routes also exist.

1.6.1 Amino acid transport

Several amino acid transporter systems analogous to those present in other epithelia have been characterised in the placenta (syncytiotrophoblast) and localised to either the MVM, BM or both. In normal pregnancy, the concentration of most amino acids in fetal plasma is higher than in maternal plasma (Cetin *et al.*, 1996; Neerhof and Thaete, 2008). Maternofetal amino acid transfer therefore operates against a concentration gradient. Broadly, amino acid transporters are classified according to whether they are Na⁺-dependent or Na⁺-independent (Desforges and Sibley, 2010). Na⁺-dependent transporter systems harness the energy of the electrochemical gradient generated by Na⁺/K⁺/ATPase. Amino acid transporters are further characterised as co-transporters, exchangers or accumulative transporters (Table 4) (Cleal and Lewis, 2008; Lager and Powell, 2012).

Gene name (protein)	System and	Substrates	Localisation
	mechanism		
SLC38A1 (SNAT1)	Δ	Gln , Ala, Asn, Cys, His, Ser, MeAIB	
SLC38A2 (SNAT2)	Ω Nat dependent	Ala, Asn, Cys, Gln , Gly, His, Pro Ser,	mRNA, activity and
	Na' dependent	MeAIB	protein on MVM, BM
SLC38A4 (SNAT4)	cotransport	Ala, Asn, Cys, Gly, Ser, Thr, MeAIB	•
SLC7A10 (asc1)	asc	Gly, Ala, Pro, Ser, Thr, Cys, Met,	mRNA, no activity on
	Exchanger	Leu, Iso, Val, Phe, His	BM
SLC1A4 (ASCT1)	ASC	Ala, Ser, Cys, Thr	mPNA activity on
SLC1A5 (ASCT2)	Na ⁺ dependent	Ala, Cys, Gln , Ser, Thr, Asn	
	exchanger		DIVI
SLC7A9 (bo ^{,+} AT)	bo,+	Arg, His, Lys, Phe, Tyr, Trp, Thr,	
	Exchanger,	Met, Val, Iso, Leu, His	mRNA, activity
	Requires rBAT		inconclusive
	(SLC3A1)		
SLC7A1 (CAT1)			mPNA activity on
SLC7A2 (CAT2B)	y+	Are His Inc	MVM and BM CAT1
SLC7A3P (CAT3)	Uniporter	Arg, mis, Lys	MVM and DM, CATT
SLC7A4 (CAT4)	-		protein on BM
SLC7A5 (LAT1)	L	(Gln) His, Met, Leu, Iso, Val, Phe,	
	Na ⁺	Tyr, Trp, Thr, BCH	mRNA, LAT2 activity
SLC7A8 (LAT2)	independent	Ala, Ser, Cys, Thr, Asn, Gln, His,	on MVM, LAT1
	exchanger	Met, Leu, Iso, Val, Phe, Tyr, Trp	activity on BM, both
	Requires		proteins on MVM and
	CD98/4F2hc		BM
	(SLC2A2)		
SLC43A1 (LAT3)	Facilitated	Leu, Iso, Val, Phe, Met, BCH	mRNA, activity and
SLC43A2 (LAT4)	diffusion		protein on BM
SLC38A3 (SNAT3)	Ν	Gln, His, Ala, Asn	
SLC38A5 (SNAT5)	Na+/AA	Gln, His, Asn, Ser	mRNA; activity and
	cotransport H ⁺		protein on MVM
	antiport		
SLC16A10 (TAT1)	TAT1	Phe, Trp, Tyr, Ala, Leu	mRNA activity and
	Facilitated		protein on BM
	diffusion		protein on DM
SLC6A6 (TauT)	TauT; Na+/Cl-	β-Ala; Tau	mRNA, activity and
	dependent		protein on MVM, also
	cotransport		on BM
SLC1A1 (EAAT3)	X _{AG} -;	Asp, Glu	
SLC1A2 (EAAT2)	$3Na^{+}/1H^{+}/A$	Asp, Glu	mRNA; activity on
SLC1A3 (EAAT1)	А	Asp, Glu	MVM and BM,
	cotransport/1		protein also expressed
	K ⁺ exchange		
SLC7A6 (y+LAT2)	y+L; Na	Lys, Arg, Gln, His, Met, Leu	mRNA: activity on
SLC7A7 (y+LAT1)	dependent	Lys, Arg, Gln , His, Met, Leu, Ala,	MVM and BM
	exchange	Cys	

Table 4 Amino acid transporters in the placenta

Amino acid transporter systems on the MVM and BM of the placenta. Amino acids are listed using their three letter abbreviation. Adapted from (Cleal *et al.*, 2011; Cleal *et al.*, 2018; Cleal and Lewis, 2008; Desforges *et al.*, 2009; Jansson, 2001)

The fetus grows at a faster rate than the placenta in the third trimester (Figure 7) such that birth weight:placental weight (BW:PW) ratio steadily increases as gestation progresses, or if expressed as PW:BW ratio, decreases from an average of 0.41 at 23-24 weeks to 0.19 at 39-40 weeks (Haavaldsen *et al.*, 2013). Thus, towards term there is an increase in the abundance and activity of transporters (per g placenta) relative to first trimester, in order to meet fetal nutrient demand and maintain appropriate fetal growth (e.g. system A, important for the transport of

small neutral amino acids including glutamine, and plasma membrane calcium ATPase (PMCA), responsible for efflux of calcium from syncytiotrophoblast to fetus across the BM) (Desforges *et al.*, 2009; Mahendran *et al.*, 1994; Strid and Powell, 2000).



Figure 7: Birth weight and placental weight percentiles of male infants by gestational age (22-42 weeks) The rate of increase in placental weight between 22 and 42 weeks gestation is far exceeded by the rate of fetal growth over the same time period. The placenta must therefore increase its capacity (per g) to supply nutrients to the fetus to support the gain in fetal weight towards term. Figure adapted from (Macdonald *et al.*, 2014)

1.7 Glutamine and glutamate are essential for fetal development and growth

Glutamine is a non-essential amino acid that is termed conditionally essential in pregnancy due to its requirements for fetal growth that exceed dietary intake (Parimi and Kalhan, 2007). Glutamine is transported to the fetal plasma by the placenta at one of the highest rates of all amino acids (Battaglia, 2000). Many essential cell processes such as nucleotide synthesis, pH homeostasis and gluconeogenesis require glutamine (Pochini et al., 2014). In most tissues glutamine is the most abundant extracellular amino acid in vivo (concentrations range between 0.2-0.8 mM extracellular and 2-20 mM intracellular), and glutamate the most abundant intracellular amino acid (2-20 mM; see Figure 8 for concentrations in the placenta) (Parimi and Kalhan, 2007; Pochini et al., 2014). Glutamate is a precursor of glutamine and other molecules such as γ -amino butyric acid (GABA), glutathione and 2-oxoglutarate. Glutamate is also a neurotransmitter (Olsen and Sonnewald, 2015) and fetal plasma levels need to be carefully controlled during the development of the fetal brain since high levels of glutamate are neurotoxic (Tian et al., 2012). It has been demonstrated in several species (sheep, pig, nonhuman primate, human) (Battaglia, 2002; Day et al., 2013; Pitkin et al., 1979; Self et al., 2004; Vaughn et al., 1995) that there is very little net glutamate transfer from maternal to fetal blood across the placenta.

Glutamine is transported across the MVM of the syncytiotrophoblast by systems A, L and N (Table 4); systems A and L also mediate uptake from the fetal blood across the BM

(Desforges and Sibley, 2010; Johnson and Smith, 1988). Although important in other tissues, system y^+L does not contribute to glutamine uptake into the placenta (Hill *et al.*, 2014). Glutamate transport from maternal and fetal blood into the placental syncytiotrophoblast is mediated by system X_{AG} transporters expressed on the MVM and BM (Hill *et al.*, 2014; Novak *et al.*, 2001) (Table 4). Recent studies have shown that glutamate that has been taken up from the maternal or the fetal circulation can be rapidly exchanged for organic anions such as dehydroepiandrosterone-3-sulphate (DHEAS) via OAT4 and OATP2B1 transporters (see section 1.7.2) (Lofthouse *et al.*, 2015).

Glutamate that accumulates in the placenta is primarily utilised for metabolism (Day *et al.*, 2013; Holzman *et al.*, 1979; Schneider *et al.*, 1979). Previous research in the sheep, pig and guinea pig placenta have indicated that the placenta synthesises glutamine from glutamate (Bloxam *et al.*, 1981; Chung *et al.*, 1998; Self *et al.*, 2004). Early studies in the pregnant rhesus monkey infused radiolabelled glutamate into the maternal circulation and sequentially sampled fetal and maternal plasma to assess placental glutamate transport and metabolism. Stegink *et al.* (1975) demonstrated that the majority of glutamate infused into maternal circulation (69-88%) remained associated with the radiolabel, whereas in fetal plasma the radiolabelled glutamate evident. Studies in the perfused human placenta have indicated that as well as glutamate, glutamate is also metabolised to other metabolites such as such as α -ketoglutarate, for entry to the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle, and proline (Day *et al.*, 2013).

During pregnancy, recycling of glutamine and glutamate occurs between the placenta and fetal liver (Figure 8). Whilst there is net release of glutamine from the placenta to the maternal circulation (Self *et al.*, 2004), which is perhaps a strategy to deliver nitrogen generated by placental metabolic processes to the mother, amide nitrogen is also delivered to the fetal liver in the form of glutamine where it is converted to glutamate instead of entering gluconeogenesis as occurs postnatally (Vaughn *et al.*, 1995). Studies in sheep have shown that approximately 45% of glutamine available in fetal plasma is deaminated to glutamate by the fetal liver (Moores *et al.*, 1994; Vaughn *et al.*, 1995). Metabolism of glutamine and glutamate is predominantly mediated by the action of the enzymes glutaminase and glutamine from glutamate and ammonia, respectively. Fetal hepatic efflux of glutamate is directly correlated with glutamine influx (Vaughn *et al.*, 1995); 80-90% of this glutamate is taken up by the placenta by high affinity system X_{AG} . transporters on the placental BM (Battaglia, 2000; Noorlander *et al.*, 2004; Schneider *et al.*, 1979). A proportion of glutamate (approximately 6%) taken up from fetal plasma is re-converted to glutamine by the placenta (Figure 8) (Moores *et al.*).

al., 1994). The fetal requirement for glutamate is therefore met by conversion of glutamine in the fetal liver, and not by transfer across the placenta from maternal blood (Day *et al.*, 2013). Impaired provision of glutamine, because of reduced uptake across the MVM of the syncytiotrophoblast, could not only impact fetal levels of glutamine, but also fetal glutamate concentration due to decreased conversion in the fetal liver. Likewise, any reduction in glutamate uptake into the syncytiotrophoblast (from maternal blood) could ultimately impact on levels of glutamate in the fetus, since this would limit conversion to glutamine within the syncytiotrophoblast thereby lowering glutamine delivery to the fetus for subsequent conversion to glutamate in the liver.



Figure 8 Schematic diagram illustrating glutamine (Gln) and glutamate (Glu) levels in the maternal and fetal compartments, and exchange between the placenta and fetal liver

Glutamine (Gln) is transported into the placenta from maternal blood and effluxes to the fetus via the umbilical vein. Gln is either utilised by the fetus or metabolised in the fetal liver (45%) to glutamate (Glu). 80-90% of Glu made by the fetal liver is transported back into the placenta; 6% of this Glu is metabolised back to Gln which is then either transported back to the fetus or into maternal circulation (see text for details). Glu and Gln levels in the placenta, maternal vein and umbilical vein and artery are from previously published studies (Camelo *et al.*, 2004; Cetin *et al.*, 2005; Holm *et al.*, 2017; Philipps *et al.*, 1978; Steingrimsdóttir *et al.*, 1993). Ranges of the concentrations reported are shown. TCA: tricarboxylic acid; BCAA: branched chain amino acids; BCKA: branched chain α -keto acids; akg: α -ketoglutarate; NH₃: ammonia. Enzymes are written in italics.

1.7.1 Placental transport of glutamine

Glutamine is transported across the plasma membranes of the syncytiotrophoblast by several transport systems that have overlapping specificity for glutamine but distinct modes of transport (Pochini *et al.*, 2014). Glutamine has pleiotropic effects, which may explain why it is a substrate of several transporter families. Glutamine transport across the syncytiotrophoblast

is mediated by the Na⁺-dependent systems A and N, and Na⁺-independent system L (Table 4). Glutamine is also a substrate of systems y⁺L and ASC (Cariappa *et al.*, 2003; Cleal and Lewis, 2008). However, the contribution of system y⁺L in mediating glutamine transfer across the MVM is negligible (Hill *et al.*, 2014). The Na⁺-dependent system ASC (alanine, serine, cysteinepreferring) has two isoforms ASCT1 (slc1a4) and ASCT2 (slc1a5). ASCT2 plays a critical role in cell growth by supporting exchanger transporters (e.g. LAT1) and is known to be highly expressed by cancerous cells (Reynolds *et al.*, 2014; Tennant *et al.*, 2009). Glutamine is a substrate for ASCT2 which is predominantly localised to the BM of the syncytiotrophoblast (Hoeltzli and Smith, 1989; Johnson and Smith, 1988) but has been identified by immunohistochemistry on the MVM (Aiko *et al.*, 2014). However, functional studies of isolated MVM and BM vesicles have reported system ASC activity on the BM only (Hoeltzli and Smith, 1989). The current study will consider transporter-mediated uptake across the MVM of the human placenta, rather than maternofetal transfer, thus system ASC will not be discussed in depth here. System A, N and L, which are known to contribute to glutamine transport across the MVM are considered in detail in the following subsections.

1.7.1.1 System A

The *SLC38* gene family consists of 11 membrane transporters, of which the most renowned are classified within systems A and N (section 1.7.1.2). System A was first identified in 1965 (Christensen *et al.*, 1965) as a transporter for alanine that could be competitively inhibited by the non-metabolisable specific analogue methylaminoisobutyric acid (MeAIB) (Pochini *et al.*, 2014). System A is Na⁺-dependent and mediates amino acid uptake against a concentration gradient by utilising the energy of Na⁺/K⁺/ATPase. The system A family consists of three isoforms, gene (protein): slc38a1 (Sodium-coupled Neutral Amino acid Transporter (SNAT)1), slc38a2 (SNAT2) and slc38a4 (SNAT4) (Mackenzie and Erickson, 2004). All three isoforms have been localised to both the MVM and BM of the placental syncytiotrophoblast (Figure 9) although they are highly polarised to the MVM (Cleal and Lewis, 2008). System A transports small, zwitterionic, neutral amino acids with short, unbranched side chains (Desforges *et al.*, 2009).

The transporter proteins SNAT1 and SNAT2 are ubiquitous and are functionally similar (Desforges *et al.*, 2009; Pochini *et al.*, 2014). SNAT4 has been identified in the placentas of humans (Desforges *et al.*, 2006), rats (Novak *et al.*, 2006) and mice (Mizuno *et al.*, 2002; Smith *et al.*, 2003), having previously been thought to be liver-specific. SNAT4 activity and protein expression on the MVM is greater in first trimester placenta compared to term (approximately 70% and 33%, respectively) (Desforges *et al.*, 2009). However, SNAT4 is not considered to be a transporter of glutamine (Bröer, 2014). System A has been studied extensively in the

placenta, predominantly due to the utility of the specific non-metabolisable analogue MeAIB. There is substantial evidence indicating that placental system A activity is reduced in FGR and this is discussed in more detail later (section 1.10).



Figure 9: Localisation of glutamine and glutamate transporter systems in the human placental syncytiotrophoblast

Systems A, L and N mediate glutamine uptake from the maternal (MVM) and fetal (BM) circulations. Glutamine is also released into the maternal and fetal circulations via systems L (MVM and BM) and N (MVM only). Glutamate uptake into the placenta is mediated via system X_{AG} . Glutamate is not thought to be released into the fetal circulation via system X_{AG} . transporters rather it is converted to glutamine or other metabolites. OAT4 and OATP2B1 are thought to play a role in glutamate efflux, via exchange organic anions e.g. DHEAS, see text for details.

1.7.1.2 System N

System N is Na⁺-dependent and can be discriminated from system A by the participation of protons in exchange (Na⁺-cotransport/H⁺-antiport), a narrower substrate specificity (histidine, glutamine and asparagine) and that MeAIB is not a substrate (Bröer, 2002; Jansson, 2001; Novak and Beveridge, 1997). The isoform slc38a5 (SNAT5) exists on the MVM of the syncytiotrophoblast only (Figure 9) (Day *et al.*, 2013; Jansson, 2001). System N remains relatively understudied within the placenta.

1.7.1.3 System L

System L belongs to the *SLC7* family and consists of two isoforms: Light subunits of Amino acid Transporters (LAT)1 (slc7a5) and LAT2 (slc7a8). LAT1 and LAT2 require the presence of the ubiquitously expressed heavy chain CD98 (slc3a2, also known as 4F2hc) to be shuttled

to the plasma membrane and for their functionality (Wagner *et al.*, 2001). The light chains (LAT1 or LAT2) are primarily bound to CD98 by disulphide bonds (Pochini *et al.*, 2014). System L is Na⁺-independent, operates via exchange and exists on both the MVM and BM (Figure 9) (Regnault *et al.*, 2002), thus this system may mediate transplacental amino acid transport (Jansson, 2001). LAT1 and LAT2 have broad substrate specificity, transporting amino acids with bulky side chains such as leucine (Jansson, 2001) and are expressed on both the MVM and the BM (Cleal *et al.*, 2018). LAT2 has greater specificity for glutamine than LAT1 (Pochini *et al.*, 2014). The function of LAT1 and LAT2 is important to maintain the amino acid pool within the cell (del Amo *et al.*, 2008). Originally, activity of LAT2 was thought to predominate on the fetal-facing BM (del Amo *et al.*, 2008; Kudo and Boyd, 2001; Verrey, 2003) to contribute mainly to cell efflux. However more recent studies have shown that activity on the BM is consistent with the LAT1 isoform (Cleal *et al.*, 2011). The two system L isoforms are Na⁺-independent exchangers and thus activity of unidirectional co-transporters (such as system A and N) is required for system L to be functional (Verrey, 2003).

1.7.2 Placental transport of glutamate

Glutamate uptake into the syncytiotrophoblast is mediated by system X_{AG} which is localised to both the MVM and BM (Figure 9). System X_{AG} is the only transporter system known to mediate glutamate uptake from the maternal circulation.

The organic anion transporter OAT4 (slc22a11) and organic anion transporting polypeptide OATP2B1 (slco2b1) are expressed on the BM of the syncytiotrophoblast where they mediate placental uptake of xenobiotics and dehydroepiandrosterone-3-sulphate (DHEAS) essential for placental oestrogen synthesis (Lofthouse *et al.*, 2015; Walker *et al.*, 2017). There is recent evidence to indicate that glutamate efflux via OAT4 and OATP2B1 is coupled with placental uptake of endogenous substrates (e.g. DHEAS) and xenobiotics, prior to re-uptake by system X_{AG} on the BM (Lofthouse *et al.*, 2015). Since the current project will investigate transporter-mediated uptake across the MVM of the human placenta only, system X_{AG} will be considered in further detail in the next section.

1.7.2.1 System X_{AG-}

System X_{AG} transporters are Na⁺-dependent co-transporters (3Na⁺ and 1H⁺-cotransport/1K⁺-antiport) and belong to the *SLC1* gene family. There are five system X_{AG} isoforms (Excitatory Amino Acid Transporters, EAATs) of which EAAT1 (slc1a3), EAAT2 (slc1a2) and EAAT3 (slc1a1) have been localised to the placenta (Noorlander *et al.*, 2004). The nomenclature in rats and mice is as follows: GLAST (EAAT1), GLT (EAAT2) and EAAC1 (EAAT3) (Beart and O'Shea, 2007); for simplicity the transporters will be referred to as EAAT1, EAAT2 and EAAT3 throughout this thesis. EAAT1 and EAAT2 are localised to the MVM of the syncytiotrophoblast throughout gestation. EAAT3 is localised to the syncytiotrophoblast until approximately 8 weeks gestation and towards term EAAT3 is localised to the fetal endothelium (Noorlander *et al.*, 2004).

1.8 Regulation of amino acid transport

Placental amino acid transport is regulated in response to endocrine and metabolic signalling, as well as nutrient and oxygen availability (Vaughan *et al.*, 2017). This section will summarise these regulatory factors, as well as the intracellular signalling pathway mTOR (mechanistic target of rapamycin) which has been proposed to be a key regulator of amino acid transport activity in the placenta.

1.8.1 Substrate availability

The *in vitro* experimental methods introduced in this section are described in full in Table 5. There is evidence in placenta (Jones et al., 2006; Parrott et al., 2007) and other tissues (Bode, 2001; Pochini et al., 2014) for substrate regulation of system A and L, respectively. In villous explants derived from human placentas at term, system A activity is increased in the absence of the system A substrates glutamine, glycine and serine, i.e. system A transporter activity is inversely related to substrate availability (Parrott et al., 2007). Furthermore, Parrott et al. (2007) found that the increase in system A was dose-dependent, relative to decreasing concentrations of system A amino acid substrates. Cytotrophoblast cells cultured in leucine-deplete medium have increased system A activity (Roos et al., 2006). In a choriocarcinoma cell line (BeWo cells) cultured in media without non-essential amino acids, system A activity was significantly higher compared with those cultured in amino acid-replete media. This functional adaptation is associated with mechanistic changes: the SNAT2 isoform of system A transporter (of which glutamine is a substrate) is translocated to the plasma membrane after 30 min exposure and slc38a2 gene expression is increased after three hours (Jones et al., 2006). Activity and mRNA expression of taurine transporter (TauT) is decreased in response to exposure of JAR (human placental choriocarcinoma) cells to taurine, a conditionally essential amino acid during pregnancy (Aerts and Van Assche, 2002; Jayanthi et al., 1995). Collectively these studies suggest that the placenta can adapt in terms of its functional capacity (i.e. system A amino acid transporter activity, important for glutamine transport), which may be a strategy to maintain appropriate fetal growth during short-term perturbations in amino acid availability. Whilst these data suggest substrate regulation of glutamine transporter systems in the placenta (namely system A) there is little known regarding the regulation of system X_{AG}, of which glutamate is a substrate, in the placenta. In other tissue types, system X_{AG} activity is regulated by amino acid availability; amino acid deprivation of a renal epithelial cell line NBL-I leads to an increase in Na⁺-dependent aspartate uptake. This effect is lost with the addition of cycloheximide indicating that increased aspartate uptake is dependent upon protein synthesis; however EAAT3 mRNA transcript levels initially fall after amino acid deprivation indicating that initial changes are at the post-transcriptional level (Plakidou-Dymock and McGivan, 1993).

Chronic reductions in amino acid availability induced experimentally in animals via maternal calorie or protein restriction, leads to reduced fetal growth. In rats fed an isocaloric proteindeplete diet, activity of amino acid transporters important for glutamine (system A, L and y⁺L, on the maternal-facing membrane) and glutamate transport (system X_{AG} , on the fetal-facing membrane) is reduced (Malandro *et al.*, 1996; Vaughan *et al.*, 2017). Furthermore, reductions in placental system A transport in rats and baboons fed a low protein diet precede the development of fetal growth restriction (Jansson *et al.*, 2006). This is supported by a further study showing that fetal growth is reduced when system A is blocked pharmacologically (by MeAIB infusion) in rats (Cramer et al 2002). Taken together, these data provide compelling evidence that reduced system A amino acid transport is a cause of FGR, rather than a consequence, in these experimental circumstances.

	MVM/BM vesicles	Primary cytotrophoblast cells	Placental villous tissue fragments	Placental perfusion	Stable isotope
Principle	Pure isolates of the placental syncytiotrophoblast MVM or BM. Can be used to study uptake of substrates across a defined plasma membrane under defined conditions.	Cytotrophoblast cells isolated from placentas after delivery and maintained in culture. Can be treated with potential regulators to assess nutrient transporter activity and expression.	Small (1-2mm ³) fragments of placental villi excised post- delivery. Can be used to study uptake or efflux of substrates, such as amino acids.	A whole cotyledon of the placenta is perfused from the fetal (arterial and venous) and maternal circulations to investigate the transfer of nutrients between these circulations.	Stable isotope tracers (e.g. 1-13C) are infused into the maternal circulation during pregnancy to assess fetal uptake of substrates.
Benefits	Essential to identify localisation of transporter proteins (i.e. to the MVM or BM). Enables determination of transporter kinetics.	Isolated from primary tissue (i.e. from a specific individual, not a cell line). Pure population of trophoblast, which differentiates to form a multinucleated cell resembling syncytiotrophoblast.	Tissue architecture and associated cell signalling mechanisms/driving forces are maintained. Can maintain in culture to examine effect of regulators on transporter activity/expression in the longer term.	Villous architecture and intervillous space maintained. Ability to investigate the transport mechanisms on the BM: villous tissue fragments and cytotrophoblast cells do not give access to this membrane.	Provides insight into the transport of substrates, and placental and fetal metabolism <i>in vivo</i> .
Disadvantages	Vesicles lack tissue integrity, intracellular signalling mechanisms and associated driving forces.	Whole tissue architecture is not maintained, cell-cell communication is lost and the cells do not polarise or proliferate in culture.	It is only possible to measure placental uptake, i.e. transfer across the MVM, using this method. Non-specific diffusion must be controlled for. Fragments contain many cell types.	Difficult, time-consuming technique with high failure rate due to damage/tears of placenta post-partum.	Tracer has to be infused into the mother. Maximum of two fetal samples can be collected.

Table 5: Methods used to measure transport of substrates e.g. amino acids by the human placenta The benefits and disadvantages of the different methods used to assess placental transport of substrates are summarised above. Abbreviations: MVM, microvillous membrane; BM, Basal

membrane. Data from references within text and (Cetin, 2001; Greenwood and Sibley, 2006; Huang et al., 2016; Nye et al., 2018).

Based on the substrate regulation experiments in vitro, and the studies described in animals above, it is possible that maternal plasma amino acid concentrations could regulate placental transporter activity. Also, fetal umbilical arterial (UmA) plasma amino acid levels could regulate transporters on the BM to influence uptake into the syncytiotrophoblast from the fetal side, in turn influencing intracellular amino acid levels which could regulate transporters on the MVM. Fetal amino acid concentrations are higher than in maternal circulation in normal pregnancy (Cetin et al., 1996; Neerhof and Thaete, 2008). In rodent models and in cases of FGR in humans, maternal plasma amino acid concentrations are higher than in normal pregnancy (Cetin et al., 1996; Jansson et al., 2006; Malandro et al., 1996). However, previous studies have indicated that glutamine concentrations are reduced in the umbilical vein (UmV) compared with normal pregnancy (Cetin et al., 1996; Ivorra et al., 2012). Glutamine concentration is lower in the UmV in FGR, and glutamate concentration is lower in the UmA (Alexandre-Gouabau et al., 2013). Amino acid concentrations in maternal and fetal compartments and studies of small molecule metabolites (metabolomics) are discussed in greater depth in section 1.12. There is a paucity of data from investigations of amino acid concentrations in maternal and fetal (UmV and UmA) plasma in a well-defined population of normal pregnancy and FGR. It would also be valuable to relate amino acid concentrations in the maternal and fetal compartments to placental function i.e. amino acid uptake (transporter activity) in the same women to identify/understand the relationships between these variables in normal pregnancy and how they are affected in FGR.

1.8.2 Endocrine function and oxygen availability

Endocrine signals such as insulin, insulin-like growth factor (IGF)1 and IGF2, and adiposederived cytokines (adipokines) are known modulators of fetal growth (Qiao *et al.*, 2016; Sferruzzi-Perri *et al.*, 2013). Levels of insulin and IGF1 in the maternal circulation are positively correlated with birth weight (Luo *et al.*, 2012). Although IGF1 does not cross the placenta in physiologically relevant amounts (Sferruzzi-Perri *et al.*, 2007), IGF1 concentrations in the UmV are also correlated with birth weight (Hawkes *et al.*, 2018; Ong *et al.*, 2000; Wiznitzer *et al.*, 1998), whereas IGF2 is weakly associated (Hawkes *et al.*, 2018). However an inverse relationship between IGF1 and birth weight has also been reported (Wang *et al.*, 1991). Insulin and IGF1 stimulate system A activity (Jansson *et al.*, 2003; Karl *et al.*, 1992; Vaughan *et al.*, 2017) via the transmembrane tyrosine kinases insulin receptor and IGF type 1 receptor. Abundance of IGF type 1 receptor, and components of the mTOR signalling pathway P13K and Akt (see section 1.8.3), which act to increase amino acid transporter translation and trafficking to the plasma membrane, are decreased in FGR, suggestive of a role for placental insulin signalling in fetal growth (Vaughan *et al.*, 2017). IGFs may also act via paracrine mechanisms since *Igf1* and *Igf2* genes are expressed within the placenta (Fowden, 2003; Sferruzzi-Perri et al., 2011). A study of IGF2-null mice determined that IGF2 is required to maintain expression of the glutamate transporters EAAT1, EAAT2, and EAAT3 (Matthews et al., 1999). Targeted knockout of specific *Igf* genes and their transcripts negatively impacts fetal growth and have been well-described in mice (discussed in detail in section 1.11.1 and Chapter 5) (Constância *et al.*, 2002).

In adulthood, pro-inflammatory (e.g. leptin, and tumour necrosis factor (TNF)- α) and antiinflammatory (e.g. adiponectin) adipokines are secreted from white adipose tissue (Nakamura *et al.*, 2014). Circulating leptin levels are known to be elevated in obesity (Havel *et al.*, 1996), a population more likely to have both large for gestational age (Brett *et al.*, 2016; Ferraro *et al.*, 2012) and FGR babies (Tessier *et al.*, 2013). Experimentally, it has been demonstrated that system A activity increases in a dose-dependent manner when human placental villous fragments are exposed to leptin (Jansson *et al.*, 2003). Conversely, adiponectin is negatively correlated with birth weight (Jansson *et al.*, 2008), and in trophoblast cells cultured in the presence of adiponectin, both system A activity and expression of two of the key transporters for this system (SNAT1 and SNAT2 isoforms) are reduced (Jones *et al.*, 2010).

Oxygen availability also influences fetal growth *in utero*. Low partial pressure of oxygen (pO_2) i.e. at high altitude (generally defined as above 2500 m) (Moore *et al.*, 2011) is associated with low birth weight infants (Julian, 2011). Birth weight decreases with increasing altitude yet communities that have lived at high altitude for multiple generations (such as Tibetans and Andeans) appear better adapted than those who have moved to high altitude comparatively recently where fetal growth is compromised (e.g. Europeans and Han Chinese) (Moore *et al.*, 2011). Hypoxia and oxidative stress induced *in vitro* by 1% and 3% oxygen culture conditions inhibits system A activity in cytotrophoblast cells by 82% and 37%, respectively (Nelson *et al.*, 2003) but does not affect activity of system ASC or system L.

Inadequate remodelling of the maternal spiral arteries post-implantation can lead to reduced placental perfusion, low oxygen levels within the intervillous space, and ischaemia-reperfusion injury. This phenotype of placental dysfunction is known to contribute to severe early-onset FGR (Lyall *et al.*, 2013). In mice differential changes are observed following exposure to 13% and 10% inspired oxygen (equivalent to approximately 3700m and 5800m altitude, respectively) (Higgins *et al.*, 2016). At 13% oxygen morphological and functional changes are evident within the placenta including increased surface area for exchange and increased maternofetal clearance of glucose towards term. Fetal growth of mice exposed to 13% oxygen is slightly reduced (~5%) compared with normoxic conditions (21% oxygen), whereas mice exposed to 10% oxygen have severely growth restricted pups with placentas that failed to adapt, demonstrating increased barrier thickness and reduced maternofetal MeAIB clearance

towards term, as observed in human FGR (Higgins *et al.*, 2016). These findings represent an environmental challenge (10% oxygen) whereby the placenta is unable to functionally and/or morphologically adapt to support adequate fetal growth, and thus severe growth restriction is the end result.

1.8.3 mTOR signaling pathway

The mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR) signalling pathway acts as a nutrient sensor, exerting downstream effects according to relative availability of nutrients. mTOR is a serine/threonine kinase which exerts its effect via the phosphorylation of downstream targets. There are two mTOR complexes: mTORC1 and mTORC2 which are associated with the regulatory accessory proteins raptor and rictor, respectively (Alessi *et al.*, 2009). When activated, mTORC1 phosphorylates ribosomal S6 kinase (S6K1 and 2) and eukaryotic initiation factor 4E-binding protein (4EBP1 and 2). mTORC2 phosphorylates Akt (also known as protein kinase B), protein kinase C (PKC) and serum glucocorticoid-regulated protein kinase 1 (SGK1) (Figure 10) (Alessi *et al.*, 2009; Vaughan *et al.*, 2017).

Amino acids and growth factors (such as IGFs) are some of the signals known to stimulate mTORC1 activity (Zheng *et al.*, 2014). mTORC1 is suppressed during periods of low ATP availability (Alessi *et al.*, 2009). mTOR positively regulates the amino acid transporter systems A and L, of which glutamine is a substrate, via the phosphorylation of target proteins as described herein (Jansson *et al.*, 2012).

mTORC1 inhibits the NEDD4-2 complex via SGK1 (Figure 10), which acts to ubiquitinate targets for degradation by the proteasome. This action prevents NEDD4-2 from binding to target transporter proteins thereby enhancing transporter abundance, stability, and activity in epithelial membranes (Alessi *et al.*, 2009). Of specific relevance to the work in this thesis, the inhibitory action of mTORC1 on NEDD4-2 inhibits degradation of MVM-bound amino acid transporters SNAT2 and LAT1, which contribute to glutamine transport (Chen *et al.*, 2015; Rosario *et al.*, 2013). SNAT2 and LAT1 abundance in the MVM of human primary trophoblast cells, but not whole cell lysates, is reduced following silencing of raptor and rictor, resulting in inhibition of mTORC1 and 2 respectively (Rosario *et al.*, 2013). This indicates that reduced mTOR signalling inhibits the trafficking of amino acid transporters (systems A and L, known to contribute to glutamine transport) to the plasma membrane. Another target protein of mTORC1 is 4EBP1, an inhibitor of eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E (eIF4E). When phosphorylated, 4EBP1 dissociates from eIF4E to stimulate protein translation (Alessi *et al.*, 2009). Conversely, mTORC2 activity is not sensitive to regulation by nutrients or energy availability, instead it is controlled by P13K (phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase) (Alessi *et al.*, 2009).

Recent evidence suggests that mTOR operates as a nutrient sensor and, in the context of the placenta, placental nutrient sensing may act to modulate cell metabolism, growth factor signalling, and subsequent nutrient availability (Jansson *et al.*, 2012). Inhibition of the mTOR pathway via rapamycin causes reduced leucine transport (via system L, of which glutamine is a substrate) in human placental villous fragments (Roos *et al.*, 2007). Amino acid transporter activity (system A, L, glutamine transporters and TauT, taurine transporter) has also been shown to be reduced, but protein expression unaltered, in the same conditions (Roos *et al.*, 2009). That protein expression was unchanged when mTOR was experimentally inhibited suggests that regulation of transporters via this pathway occurs at the post-translational stage. mTOR is activated and positively correlated with birth weight in the placentas of obese

women giving birth to large babies (Jansson *et al.*, 2013). In the same study cohort, system A amino acid transporter activity and SNAT2 isoform expression were positively correlated with birth weight. The authors of this study suggested that the mTOR signalling pathway may be a positive regulator of amino acid transporter activity and expression in this population (Jansson *et al.*, 2013). Consistent with this, in FGR mTORC1 activity is decreased in tandem with increased NEDD4-2 abundance (Chen *et al.*, 2015; Roos *et al.*, 2007), implicating this pathway in reduced placental amino acid transport in FGR. In the same way, rodents and primates on a protein restricted diet have reduced mTORC1 activity (Kavitha *et al.*, 2014; Rosario *et al.*, 2011).





The mTOR pathway is a nutrient-sensing pathway that can be stimulated by signals such as amino acids and growth factors. When activated, the downstream effects of mTORC1 depicted above, include inhibition of NEDD4-2 thereby reducing the ubiquitination and degradation by the proteasome of amino acid transporters such as LAT1 and SNAT2 known to transport glutamine.

There is ample evidence that mTOR, via mTORC1 in particular, may impact amino acid transporter function, including placental amino acid transport systems for which glutamine is a substrate (systems A and L). However, there are no studies that have investigated whether the mTOR pathway regulates the activity/expression of the glutamine transporter system N or the glutamate transporter system X_{AG} in the placenta.

In summary, many factors (substrate and oxygen availability, endocrine function, and mTOR pathway) regulate the function of placental amino acid transporters such as system A and L, for which glutamine is a substrate. It is probable that glutamine transport will also be regulated by these same factors but this remains to be investigated. There are very little data on the regulation of system X_{AG} in the placenta (of which glutamate is a substrate) and again, this remains to be investigated in the placenta in normal pregnancy and FGR.

1.9 Evidence of placental adaptation relative to placental size

Placental adaptation comprises alterations in placental development (e.g. morphological changes) or function (e.g. changes in nutrient transport) that occur to meet fetal nutritional requirements. These changes are likely to alter placental efficiency, as evidenced by a change in the fetal:placental weight (F:P) ratio. Fetal demand for nutrients alters as gestation progresses. Towards term when fetal nutrient demand is at its peak, fetal weight (grams) per gram placental weight is relatively higher than earlier in gestation (Figure 7).

To optimise fetal growth, the delivery of nutrients to the fetus via the placenta must be sufficient to meet this demand. There is a strong relationship between placental and fetal weight in normal pregnancy (i.e. pregnancy resulting in delivery of an infant appropriately grown for gestational age; AGA) as shown in Figure 11; this implies that in FGR a small placenta could underlie the suboptimal fetal growth, if functional adaptation was insufficient to compensate for small placental size.



Figure 11: Birth weight versus trimmed placental weight in a normal birth weight (AGA) cohort at term (37-42 weeks) Figure from (Hayward *et al.*, 2016)

Nutrient delivery to the fetus is influenced by placental morphology, particularly the surface area of the transporting epithelium (syncytiotrophoblast), and the diffusional distance between maternal and fetal circulations. The abundance, localisation and activity of transporters are key determinants of amino acid transfer, and other nutrients that rely upon plasma membrane transport mechanisms (Fowden *et al.*, 2009; Sferruzzi-Perri and Camm, 2016). Changes in any of these variables can significantly alter nutrient delivery to the fetus. Studies in WT mice show that relative to its size, the placenta undergoes both morphological, e.g. placental barrier thickness, and functional adaptations, such as maternofetal clearance of solutes, in order to achieve optimal fetal growth (Coan *et al.*, 2008). This section will outline the evidence to support placental adaptation, with a particular focus on adaptation of amino acid transport capacity in relation to placental size.

There is robust evidence in WT mice that system A amino acid transport adapts according to placental size. The system A amino acid transporter has affinity for small neutral amino acids, including glutamine (Table 4). System A activity can be quantified experimentally using the non-metabolisable synthetic analogue methylaminoisobutyric acid (MeAIB). In this way, Coan *et al.* (2008) compared unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{ml}) of MeAIB between the lightest and heaviest placentas in a single WT (C57BL/6J) mouse litter. At both embryonic day (E) 16 and E19 (term E19-20), K_{mf} of MeAIB was significantly higher (per mg placenta) across the lightest compared with the heaviest placentas in a litter but the magnitude of this difference was greater at E19. At E19 raised K_{mf} of MeAIB in the lightest placentas was accompanied by increased expression of the gene slc38a2 (which codes for the SNAT2 isoform of system A). K_{mf} of glucose and inulin were no different between lightest and heaviest placentas at either gestation, in spite of increased GLUT1 glucose transporter (slc2a1) in the lightest placentas at E19, indicating that adaptation is not universal (Coan *et al.*, 2008).

In the study by Coan *et al.* (2008) there was evidence for morphological adaptation at E16 with a relative increase in the labyrinthine zone, important for nutrient exchange, of the lightest placentas at the expense of the junctional zone. Placental morphology was similar between the lightest and heaviest placentas towards term (E19), which suggests that these adaptations, in mice at least, are primarily morphological earlier in gestation and functional towards term. In a similar study, Hayward *et al.*, (2017) reported that K_{mf} of calcium was higher across the lightest versus heaviest placentas in a WT litter at E18.5, which coincided with increased placental calbindin- D_{9K} expression, a calcium binding protein required for calcium transfer, and normalised fetal calcium content following reduced content earlier in gestation (E16.5). The sex of the fetus is important to investigate in these studies since the lightest placentas more often belong to female fetuses, and the heaviest to males. The findings of Hayward *et al.* (2017) were independent of the sex of the fetus and the effect for calcium was still apparent. The effect of sex was not reported by Coan *et al.* (2008).

Taken together, these studies provide evidence of placental adaptation in terms of functional and/or morphological changes to support appropriate fetal growth in a litter of normally grown (WT) fetuses. Potential environmental challenges, and the placental and fetal morphological and/or functional adaptations that such challenges can induce are summarised in section 1.10.2. Glutamine is a substrate of the system A transporter and whilst there is clear evidence to support up-regulation of this amino acid transport system in small, normal placentas in WT mice, other transport systems important for glutamine (systems L and N) and glutamate transport (system X_{AG}) have not yet been assessed.

In contrast to the mouse, there are limited data to support functional adaptations of the human placenta. A study by Godfrey et al. (1998) quantified system A activity in MVM vesicles isolated from human placentas of normal pregnancy outcome (inclusion criteria: infants without congenital abnormalities born after 36 weeks gestation, mean birth weight 3395 g; individualised charts were not used). MVM vesicles are formed from pure isolated preparations of syncytiotrophoblast MVM and have been used extensively to evaluate transporter-mediated substrate uptake (Glazier and Sibley, 2006). An overview of the in vitro methods used to assess transporter activity in the normal and FGR placenta is provided in Table 5. Godfrey et al. (1998) found that system A activity was highest in MVM vesicles from placentas of the smallest babies, and that it was inversely correlated with fetal abdominal circumference at birth. Furthermore, Na⁺-independent MeAIB (purportedly representative of non-specific diffusional uptake) was also inversely related to placental weight. Others have reported both no relationship (Harrington et al., 1999), and a positive relationship (Jansson et al., 2013) between placental MVM system A activity and birth weight. There are some important differences between these three studies. Jansson et al. (2013) included women with high BMI (range 18.5-44.9 kg/m²) who gave birth to larger infants; birth weight was positively related to BMI. It is possible that the inclusion of infants with a birth weight >4000 g skewed these data. It must also be acknowledged that the definition of 'normal birth weight' was different between the studies of Godfrey et al. (1998) and Harrington et al. (1999). Harrington et al. (1999) defined 'normal' according to IBR using individualised growth charts rather than birth weight per se, as used by Godfrey et al. (1998). Taken together, these conflicting findings highlight the unmet need for placental amino acid uptake (transporter activity) to be assessed in relation to placental size in a well-defined normal pregnancy population. This is important to establish because should placental adaptation in response to small size be a key mechanism to ensure appropriate fetal growth in normal pregnancy, it could be that failure of this adaptation may underpin cases of FGR.

Placental efficiency can be estimated as the grams of fetus produced per gram placenta (trimmed placental weight; i.e. with membranes and the umbilical cord removed). A proxy for placental efficiency is the fetal:placental weight ratio (F:P ratio). In mice the lightest placenta in a litter has a higher F:P ratio than the heaviest, i.e. lightest placentas are said to be more efficient (Coan *et al.*, 2008; Hayward *et al.*, 2017). Coan *et al.* (2008) reported a positive correlation between placental weight and birth weight at E16 but not towards term (E19) in normally grown (WT) mice. This signifies that the functional and morphological adaptations evident by E19, and discussed above, compensate for variations in placental weight and means that placental size is not a determinant of fetal weight/growth near term.

Whilst there is substantial evidence to support a positive relationship between placental system A activity and F:P ratio in mice, there is a paucity of evidence to support adaptation (in terms of nutrient transport) in a normal (AGA) human population. In a recent review (Hayward *et al.*, 2016), data relating system A activity from previously published studies (Ditchfield *et al.*, 2010; Hayward *et al.*, 2012; Lean *et al.*, 2014) was positively correlated with placental weight but not with birth weight or birth weight:placental weight ratio (BW:PW ratio, akin to F:P ratio). However this correlation was largely skewed by pregnancies at the extremes of normal placental weight (those with placental weight $<10^{\text{th}}$ and $>90^{\text{th}}$ centile).

The hypothesis for the current study is that, as in mice, the small human placenta of a normal birth weight (AGA) baby is more efficient and therefore there is increased nutrient transport per g placenta weight and, by current means used to estimate placental efficiency, a high BW:PW ratio. The findings of Hayward *et al.* (2016) differ from Godfrey *et al.* (1998), reporting a positive, and not an inverse, relationship between system A uptake and placental weight in humans. This might have been caused by the different analyses (correlations versus binned weight groups) or techniques used (MVM vesicles versus placental villous fragments). The benefits and disadvantages of methods used to measure transport by the human placenta are presented in Table 5.

In summary, there is evidence that increased activity of system A compensates for small placental size in normally grown WT mice as determined by clearance measurements of the non-metabolisable analogue MeAIB. This has important implications for the clearance of the naturally occurring substrates of system A, which include glutamine. However, glutamine/glutamate clearance (K_{mf}) has not been measured in relation to placental size in mice and there are relatively few studies of placental nutrient adaptation according to placental size in women. In mice the mechanism underlying this adaptation is not well understood. The next section will examine nutrient transport in FGR, covering both *in vitro* studies of human placental tissue and *in vivo* nutritional and experimental manipulations, and their effect on placental function, in animal models.

1.10 Placental nutrient transport in FGR

FGR is a phenotypic endpoint of a heterogeneous disease. The underlying causes of FGR are diverse and include congenital abnormalities and placental dysfunction, which may lead to inadequate placental perfusion and/or insufficient nutrient transport to the fetus (Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists, 2013). Infants who are small at birth are at an increased risk of morbidities such as developmental delay and cerebral palsy, and are also susceptible to metabolic programming of disease such as type 2 diabetes in later life (Barker, 2004; Thornton *et al.*, 2004; Veen *et al.*, 1991). Yet no treatment for FGR, aside from the decision to deliver the fetus, currently exists (Fisk and Atun, 2008). This thesis will focus on understanding placental nutrient transport in normal pregnancies, and in pregnancies complicated by FGR in which no known cause is apparent other than suspected placental dysfunction (idiopathic FGR). Here, the existing literature on placental nutrient transfer in FGR versus normal pregnancy in both humans and animal models is summarised.

1.10.1 Placental transport studies: FGR and the human placenta

Numerous studies have examined the morphology and function of placentas collected from pregnancies where the infant was growth restricted. The definition of FGR remains opaque which means that inclusion criteria vary from study to study, making comparisons between studies challenging. An IBR $<5^{th}$ centile is a commonly used definition in research studies. A recent Delphi consensus study defined late-onset FGR (the focus of the current study) as >32 weeks gestation and an abdominal circumference or estimated fetal weight $<3^{rd}$ centile, or two out of three of the following: abdominal circumference/estimated fetal weight $<10^{th}$ centile, abdominal circumference/estimated fetal weight $<10^{th}$ centile, abdominal circumference/estimated fetal weight $<10^{th}$ centile, or growth centiles, or cerebroplacental ratio $<5^{th}$ centile/UmA pulsatility index (assessed using Doppler velocimetry) $>95^{th}$ centile (Table 2) (Gordijn *et al.*, 2016). In this section, the existing literature on placental transport in relation to poor fetal growth (FGR) will be discussed, with reference to the definition of FGR used in each study.

System A amino acid transporter activity (of which glutamine is a substrate), assessed by MeAIB uptake into MVM vesicles, is lower in FGR (defined as $<10^{\text{th}}$ centile of birth weights) compared with normal (AGA) placentas, and is related to the severity of FGR, as determined by UmA Doppler velocimetry and fetal heart rate monitoring immediately before caesarean section (Glazier *et al.*, 1997). In this study, differences between FGR and normal were only present when umbilical blood flow was abnormal (UmA pulsatility index) in the FGR group (+/- abnormal fetal heart rate). However, the gestational age range in this study (28-40 weeks) is a potential confounding factor: 13/16 FGR babies, but only 4/10 AGA babies were delivered before 36 weeks.

System A activity is also reduced in placentas from small for gestational age (SGA) infants (birth weight $<10^{th}$ centile) compared with AGA, but not when maternal pre-eclampsia coexists (Mahendran *et al.*, 1993; Shibata *et al.*, 2008). Activity of the amino acid transporter system L (also important for glutamine transport) is reduced in FGR, as evidenced by reduced leucine uptake across both the MVM and the BM of placentas from FGR versus normal birth weight (AGA) infants (Jansson *et al.*, 1998). Contrary to expectations given reduced activity, Aiko *et al.* (2014) has shown that expression of proteins important for system L transport (LAT1 isoform and the associated heavy chain, CD98) as detected by immunohistochemistry, is increased in FGR. This suggests that plasma membrane abundance of system L transporter proteins (LAT1) in FGR may not be directly related to transporter activity as measured by uptake across the syncytiotrophoblast plasma membrane. As a substrate of system A and L, it appears reasonable to hypothesise that glutamine uptake by the placental syncytiotrophoblast is likely to be reduced in FGR, which would have implications not only for fetal glutamine, but also glutamate, provision.

Techniques such as high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) enable quantification of amino acid concentrations in maternal and fetal (UmV and UmA) blood. The concentration of several amino acids in maternal plasma, including system A substrates alanine and histidine, is raised in FGR versus normal pregnancies. Yet FGR pregnancies ($<10^{th}$ centile of birth weights) are associated with reduced amino acid concentrations in the UmV (thus the fetal-maternal difference is lower) which is suggestive of a dysfunctional placenta (Cetin *et al.*, 1996). Amino acid concentrations in normal pregnancy are significantly higher in the intervillous space than in maternal plasma in normal ($\sim186\%$) and preterm deliveries, and levels in the UmV more akin to the levels recorded in the intervillous space than maternal plasma (Camelo *et al.*, 2004; Camelo *et al.*, 2007). The concentration of glutamine in the UmV has been shown to be lower in low birth weight infants ($<10^{th}$ centile) (Ivorra *et al.*, 2012) indicating that the provision of glutamine to the fetus may be compromised in these pregnancies.

In a study by Holm *et al.* (2017), maternal (radial artery and uterine vein) and fetal (UmV and UmA) vessels were sampled *in vivo*, at the time of caesarean section, to calculate arteriovenous differences of amino acid concentrations across the placenta in normal (AGA) pregnancies (using liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry, LC-MS). The study reported fetal uptake (positive venoarterial difference) of 14 amino acids (including glutamine), and fetal release (negative venoarterial difference) of glutamic acid (glutamate). Maternal artery and UmV concentrations were correlated for all amino acids except tryptophan, indicating that there is a relationship between maternal amino acid concentrations and the delivery of amino acids to the fetus via the placenta. A direct comparison between amino acid concentrations in maternal

and fetal (UmV and UmA) plasma in normal pregnancy and FGR would be beneficial to link to (dys)regulation of amino acid transport in FGR.

1.10.2 Placental transport studies: experimental animal models of FGR

Human placental villous tissue fragments are useful to assess transporter-mediated uptake across the maternal-facing membrane (MVM) of the syncytiotrophoblast. A limitation of this technique, however, is that release into the fetal circulation (i.e. across the BM of the syncytiotrophoblast) cannot be measured (see Table 5). In animals such as the mouse however, the unidirectional maternofetal clearance (here referred to as K_{mf}) of substrates can be quantified following injection of a radiolabelled substrate into a maternal vein and subsequent measurement of the amount of radioisotope in individual fetuses, accounting for the amount of radiolabel in maternal plasma. Unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) of substrates such as MeAIB and calcium has been assessed in genetic knockout models of FGR (discussed further in section 1.11.1).

There are three major approaches in which to induce FGR in animals. These are via dietary interventions, surgical interventions and/or the production of genetically modified/knockout models. These types of models are not exclusive and there may be overlap. Such models have been used to investigate factors thought to contribute to FGR such as hypoxia, nutrient insufficiency and small placental size. By exposing animals to these insults under controlled conditions, it is possible to gain a comprehensive insight into the mechanisms underpinning the observed FGR. The most compelling evidence to support suboptimal nutrient transfer as a cause, rather than result, of FGR has come from studies in animals. In rats fed a protein-restricted diet, a reduction in system A amino acid transporter activity precedes the onset of FGR (Jansson *et al.*, 2006). Pharmacologically blocking system A transporter activity (via MeAIB infusion) also reduces fetal growth in rats and is associated with both reduced system A (glutamine transporter) and, unexpectedly, system X_{AG} . (glutamate transporter) activity and EAAT1, EAAT2, EAAT3 and EAAT4 protein expression (Cramer *et al.*, 2002).

In the protein-restricted rat the activity of transporter systems important for amino acid transfer, assessed by preparation of apical and basal membrane vesicles, are reduced on both the maternal-facing (system A) and fetal-facing membrane (system A and X_{AG} , systems important for glutamine and glutamate transport, respectively) (Malandro *et al.*, 1996). Pregnant baboons fed a calorie-restricted diet (70% of normal nutrient intake) have growth restricted offspring with small placentas which exhibit reduced system A and L activity (in isolated MVM vesicles), as well as reduced protein expression of isoforms which mediate system A and L transport (SNAT2, LAT1, LAT2) (Kavitha *et al.*, 2014; Pantham *et al.*, 2015).

The sheep placenta is comprised of individual placental units, or cotyledons, which attach to caruncles present in the sheep uterus to form placentomes. Removal of caruncles prior to pregnancy results in reduced placental growth and subsequently growth restricted offspring (Owens *et al.*, 1987). However, relative to control animals, carunclectomised placentas support more fetus per gram, and have higher unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) of the non-metabolisable glucose analogue 3-0-methy-D-glucose per gram placenta (Owens *et al.*, 1989).

Animal models can provide valuable insight into the underlying mechanisms of placental insufficiency, via the manipulation of environmental factors such as oxygen levels and maternal diet. There are also several genetic knockout models of FGR that have been well characterised. These will be discussed in the next section.

1.11 Genetic knockout mouse models of human pregnancy complications

Placental dysfunction accounts for the majority of cases of FGR. Phenotypic abnormalities associated with FGR include abnormal morphology and/or reduced placental size, suboptimal invasion or vascular structure/regulation, as evidenced by blood flow abnormalities, and abnormal syncytiotrophoblast morphology, turnover and transporter function (Sibley *et al.*, 2005). These phenotypes often co-exist but the primary focus of this thesis is syncytiotrophoblast function, and specifically placental transport of the amino acids glutamine and glutamate. This section will briefly introduce three commonly used genetic knockout mouse models of FGR and other pregnancy complications such as pre-eclampsia, before focusing on the chosen model for the current study, the *Igf2* P0 knockout mouse.

The endothelial nitric oxide synthase knockout (eNOS^{-/-}) mouse is a well-characterised model of FGR associated with vascular dysfunction, hypertension (Hefler *et al.*, 2001) and reduced uteroplacental blood flow (Stanley *et al.*, 2015). In common with human late-onset FGR, eNOS^{-/-} offspring are growth restricted towards term and their placentas demonstrate reduced system A activity (Kusinski *et al.*, 2012).

The enzyme catechol-O-methyl transferase contributes to 17β -oestradiol to 2- and 4methoxyestradiol16 metabolism (Stanley *et al.*, 2015). The catechol-O-methyl transferase knockout (COMT^{-/-}) mouse exhibits a phenotype which mimics pre-eclampsia in humans, such as maternal hypertension and proteinuria towards term (Kanasaki *et al.*, 2008). This model also presents with FGR and abnormal UmA Doppler waveforms (Stanley *et al.*, 2012). The COMT^{-/-} mouse is an inappropriate model for the current study due to the pre-eclamptic phenotype.

The placental-specific *Igf2* knockout mouse (P0), is a well-characterised model of late-onset FGR without vascular defects (Kusinski *et al.*, 2011). The P0 mouse is a model more akin to late-onset FGR (offspring are growth restricted by term) than the eNOS^{-/-} mouse that exhibits

trophoblast dysfunction (reduced system A transport) (Kusinski *et al.*, 2012) but also has a vascular phenotype (Hefler *et al.*, 2001). The P0 mouse has therefore been chosen as an appropriate model of FGR for consideration in the current study and will be discussed further in the section that follows (section 1.11.1).

1.11.1 The placental-specific *Igf2* knockout mouse (P0)

IGF2 plays an important role as a fetal growth hormone during pregnancy. *Igf2* is an imprinted gene, in mice only the paternal allele is expressed (Angiolini *et al.*, 2006; Sferruzzi-Perri, 2018). Under- or over-expression of *Igf2* in humans is associated with Silver-Russell and Beckwith Weidemann syndrome respectively, which include fetal under/overgrowth as one of their symptoms (Burton and Fowden, 2012). During pregnancy, *Igf2* is expressed both in the placenta and the fetus. Complete knockout of *Igf2* from both placental and fetal tissues (*Igf2*-null) leads to severe growth restriction and conceptus loss (Constância *et al.*, 2005). Conversely, over-expression of *Igf2*, achieved via the deletion of the H19 gene which ordinarily imposes a regulatory effect upon *Igf2* expression, results in increased fetal and placental weight and reductions in amino acid and glucose transfer (Angiolini *et al.*, 2011).

Mating wild-type (C57BL/6J) female mice with males heterozygote for the targeted deletion of a placental-specific promoter (P0) of *Igf2 (Igf2P0* knockout mice, hereafter referred to as P0) produces mixed litters of WT and P0 offspring (Constância *et al.*, 2002). P0 mice are growth restricted at term; more than 90% of P0 fetuses fall below the 5th centile of WT weights at E18.5, as per clinical-type classification of FGR (Dilworth *et al.*, 2011). Additionally, towards term, P0 fetuses demonstrate asymmetric growth, the head-sparing phenotype typical of lateonset FGR. A reduction in placental weight precedes reduced fetal growth in the P0 mouse, which suggests that placental dysfunction is a root cause of suboptimal growth in this model. Mid-gestation (E15.5), placentas from P0 mice have higher system A activity (as determined by maternofetal clearance of MeAIB) compared with WT littermates, an apparent adaptation to maintain appropriate fetal growth. This adaptation is not maintained towards term, thus fetal growth restriction ensues (Constância *et al.*, 2002; Kusinski *et al.*, 2011). In comparison, K_{mf} of MeAIB is similar for *Igf2*-null versus WT mice at E15.5 but by E18.5 K_{mf} of MeAIB is significantly lower across *Igf2*-null placentas; *Igf2*-null fetuses are severely growth restricted as a result.

In support of adaptation seen in the P0 mouse, compensatory adaptation has also been reported in the 11 β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase 2 knockout (11 β -HSD2⁻/⁻) mouse in response to reduced placental size (Wyrwoll *et al.*, 2009). 11 β -HSD2 is responsible for the inactivation and regulation of glucocorticoids (e.g. corticosterone) and is highly expressed in the fetal brain and placenta (Wyrwoll *et al.*, 2011). At E15, 11 β -HSD2^{-/-} mice have similar fetal

weights versus 11β -HSD2⁺/⁺, in conjunction with increased K_{mf} of MeAIB and slc38a2 (SNAT2) gene expression. By E18 this adaptation in K_{mf} of MeAIB and slc38a2 expression is lost, placental and fetal weights of 11β -HSD2^{-/-} mice are reduced and K_{mf} of glucose and slc2a3 (GLUT3) expression are also reduced (Wyrwoll *et al.*, 2009).

The placental phenotype of the P0 mouse has been well characterised. As well as functional differences, the placentas of these animals are also structurally abnormal: the syncytiotrophoblast barrier thickness between maternal and fetal circulations is increased but surface area available for exchange is reduced, akin to human FGR (Mayhew *et al.*, 2003). This is indicative of reduced permeability in P0 mouse placentas, as assessment of the transfer of the radiolabelled solutes mannitol, EDTA and inulin has confirmed (Sibley *et al.*, 2004).

Despite indications that the P0 placenta is functionally and structurally unable to support a fetus of appropriate weight, there is evidence to suggest that, in terms of some nutrient transport systems, the P0 placenta adapts to suboptimal maternofetal nutrient supply in an attempt to optimise fetal growth. Calcium is required to meet the demands of the rapidly mineralizing fetal skeleton during the last third of pregnancy (Kovacs and Kronenberg, 1997). Transport of calcium across the placental BM, against a concentration gradient, is mediated by plasma membrane calcium ATPase (PMCA). In humans, FGR is associated with decreased calcium deposition and bone mineralisation (Namgung et al., 1993). However, PMCA activity is increased in placentas from FGR pregnancies, despite a decrease in protein expression (Strid et al., 2003). P0 fetuses have lower calcium content (determined in dried ash content) at E17. By E19 fetal calcium content is normalised in tandem with an increase in K_{mf} of calcium (similar between groups at E17) (Dilworth et al., 2010). This suggests that the placenta has the capacity to adapt according to specific fetal needs/gestational requirements. Parathyroid hormone related peptide (PTHrP), an activator of PMCA (Strid et al., 2002) has been proposed as a candidate signal that may elicit these changes in calcium acquisition. In humans, PTHrP is increased in umbilical cord (UmV) blood from FGR pregnancies (Strid et al., 2003).

The current literature indicates that the small placenta in the P0 mouse model of FGR fails to sufficiently adapt amino acid (system A) transport towards the end of pregnancy, resulting in FGR (Constância *et al.*, 2002; Kusinski *et al.*, 2011). This contrasts with the adaptation observed in the small but normal WT placenta (Coan *et al.*, 2008) and suggests that the underlying pathology of the small P0 placenta results in a failure of this adaptation, at least with respect to the system A amino acid transporter. This implies that the provision of other substrates of system A (such as glutamine) is also likely to be compromised near term and contribute to the observed FGR in the P0 mouse. Unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) of neither glutamine nor glutamate, amino acids essential for fetal growth and development, has been studied in the P0 mouse.

Whilst it is important to understand how placental amino acid transport compares in normal and FGR pregnancies, more complex untargeted methods offer a whole system perspective as is introduced in the section that follows.

1.12 Metabolomics: a holistic approach to understanding FGR

Metabolomics is the study of small molecule metabolites and as such this technique provides a functional readout of metabolic aspects of cell function and can link mechanism to phenotype (Figure 12). Untargeted, holistic metabolomic techniques can typically measure hundreds to thousands of metabolites, offering the potential to detect unexpected changes in biological samples. There are various techniques used to identify metabolites; typically a biological sample is extracted in a solvent and then separated based on metabolite mass and chromatographic retention – important for metabolites of similar (identical) mass.



Figure 12: From genome to metabolome

The genetic material of an organism (genome) contains the material for the functional RNA, protein or metabolite product. The relationship is not strictly linear – metabolites for example can interact and influence the proteome. Figure from (Horgan *et al.*, 2009).

Metabolomics can be applied in pregnancy to investigate the metabolomic profile in various tissues and fluids including amniotic fluid, the placenta, vaginal secretions, urine of pregnant women and neonates, plasma of pregnant women and cord blood (Fanos *et al.*, 2013). A summary of the current literature of metabolomic profiles of maternal plasma and/or cord blood in FGR/SGA pregnancies can be found in Table 6.

Metabolomics holds promise to improve the diagnosis of FGR alongside existing techniques (e.g. ultrasonography to assess fetal biometry) (Gaccioli *et al.*, 2017; Horgan *et al.*, 2009). Indeed, potential novel biomarkers for pre-eclampsia and SGA have been identified by metabolomics (Horgan *et al.*, 2011; Kenny *et al.*, 2010). A study by Horgan *et al.* (2011) identified 19 metabolites in maternal plasma that may predict SGA. Furthermore, metabolomic profiling of normal pregnancies may provide a useful comparator for growth restricted pregnancies. In a study profiling normal pregnancy across gestation, Orczyk-Pawilowicz *et al.* (2016) identified a metabolic switch between the 2nd and 3rd trimester in both maternal plasma and amniotic fluid.

Low birth weight (LBW) and growth restricted (FGR) infants appear to have altered metabolomic cord blood profiles compared with normal birth weight infants (Favretto *et al.*, 2012; Ivorra *et al.*, 2012; Tea *et al.*, 2012), although specific profiles appear to be dependent upon gestational age at delivery and clinical subset (i.e. presence of abnormal UmA Doppler waveforms, for example) (Sanz-Cortés *et al.*, 2013). Of significance to the current study, glutamine and glutamate levels are perturbed in very low birth weight (VLBW, <1500 g) neonates born preterm (<32 weeks gestation) compared to full term infants (>37 weeks gestation). Glutamate levels are significantly lower in the UmA of VLBW infants, and the umbilical venous-arterial gradient for glutamine is positive, indicating increased fetal uptake of this amino acid (Alexandre-Gouabau *et al.*, 2013). However, a major limitation when comparing these data is the lack of consensus regarding definition of FGR, and the inclusion/exclusion criteria for case and controls (Table 6) highlighting the need for a systematic evaluation of the metabolomic profile of a well-defined FGR population.

Metabolomics of plasma of pregnant women					
Author	Population	Technique	Main Findings		
Horgan et al.,	Pregnant women who subsequently delivered an SGA baby	LC-MS	Differences in 19 metabolites identified which included		
2011	(<10th centile) versus AGA (10th-90th centile) were sampled		sphingolipids, phospholipids, carnitines, and fatty acids.		
	during first trimester between 14-16 weeks gestation.		Metabolomic profiles may help to predict SGA.		
Metabolomics of cord blood					
Author	Population	Technique	Main Findings		
Alexandre-	VLBW (<32 weeks gestation and/or a birth weight <1500 g)	LC-MS	Differences in carnitines, which indicates enhanced short- and		
Gouabau et al.,	versus control (AGA, >37 weeks gestation).		medium chain fatty acid β -oxidation in VLBW class. VLBW		
2013			neonates had dysregulated glutamate-glutamine shuttling.		
Favretto et al.,	IUGR (<10th centile) versus AGA (10th-90th centile).	LC-MS	Differences in 22 metabolites identified. Significant differences in		
2012			phenylalanine, tryptophan, and methionine according to class.		
Horgan <i>et al</i> .,	Umbilical venous plasma from SGA (<10th centile) and AGA	LC-MS	Differences in 19 metabolites identified which included		
2011	babies (10 th -90 th centile)		sphingolipids, phospholipids, carnitines, and fatty acids.		
Ivorra <i>et al.</i> ,	LBW (<10 th centile) versus control (75 th -90 th centile)	¹ H NMR	Differences in 7 metabolites identified. LBW versus control had		
2012			lower levels of choline, proline, glutamine, alanine and glucose, and		
			higher levels of phenylalanine and citrulline.		
Sanz-Cortés et	Early IUGR (<10 th centile, abnormal UmA Doppler, <35	¹ H NMR	There is no unique metabolic profile for IUGR but changes exist		
<i>al.</i> , 2013	weeks gestation) versus matched AGA; and late IUGR (<10 th		within clinical subsets.		
	centile, normal UmA Doppler, >35 weeks gestation) versus				
	matched AGA				
Tea et al., 2012	VLBW (<32 weeks gestation and/or a birth weight <1500 g)	¹ H NMR	Metabolites vary on gestational age at delivery.		
	versus control (full-term >37 weeks gestation)				

 Table 6: A summary of metabolomic studies that have analysed maternal and umbilical cord plasma in cases of suboptimal fetal growth.

 Criteria set by the researchers are included under the 'Population' heading. Alexandre-Gouabau *et al.* (2013) and Tea *et al.* (2012) sampled from UmV and UmA. All other studies in cord blood assessed UmV only. Abbreviations: ¹H NMR, proton nuclear magnetic resonance; AGA, appropriate for gestational age; IUGR, intrauterine growth restriction; LBW, low birth weight; LC-MS, liquid chromatography mass spectrometry; SGA, small for gestational age; UmA, umbilical artery; UmV, umbilical vein; VLBW, very low birth weight.

1.13 Summary

Allocation of nutrients to the growing fetus via placental transport mechanisms is essential for appropriate fetal growth. Approximately 5-10% of fetuses fail to achieve their genetic growth potential (ONS, 2015) based on a definition of IBR $<5^{th}$ centile, predominantly due to placental dysfunction (Mifsud and Sebire, 2014). These growth restricted (FGR) infants are at an increased risk of stillbirth and neonatal morbidity (Cantwell *et al.*, 2011; Gardosi *et al.*, 2014), and an increased risk of disease extends into adulthood (Barker *et al.*, 1990; McIntire *et al.*, 1999). Abnormal syncytiotrophoblast function contributes significantly to the pathogenesis of idiopathic late-onset FGR. Despite this, there are no therapies for FGR (Fisk and Atun, 2008). A major reason for this is that there is an incomplete understanding of the fundamental physiological processes underpinning FGR and indeed normal fetal growth.

Amino acids are essential to support numerous functions, including but not limited to, nucleotide synthesis, protein anabolism and pH homeostasis (Pochini *et al.*, 2014). Glutamine is a conditionally essential amino acid during pregnancy due to fetal demand exceeding dietary intake (Parimi and Kalhan, 2007), and is transported into fetal plasma at one of the highest rates of all amino acids during pregnancy (Battaglia, 2000). Glutamate is a precursor of glutamine; recycling of glutamine and glutamate between the placenta and fetal liver is an essential process during pregnancy to meet fetal nutrient and placental/fetal metabolic requirements (Moores *et al.*, 1994; Vaughn *et al.*, 1995).

Previous work has established that MeAIB transfer, a substrate of the system A transporter which also transports glutamine, is up-regulated in small placentas (per g) of normally grown mouse fetuses consistent with adaptation of nutrient transporters in relation to small placental size in this species (Coan et al., 2008). Furthermore, in a mouse model of late-onset FGR (P0 knockout mouse) which demonstrates reduced placental size, nutrient transfer (MeAIB, reflective of system A activity) is initially higher in P0 versus WT littermates, per g placenta, but this adaptation fails towards term and growth restriction ensues (Constância et al., 2002). There is some evidence of adaptation according to placental size (weight) in humans (Godfrey et al., 1998) but data are relatively lacking. Thus there is an unmet need to assess the relationship between placental glutamine and glutamate uptake/transfer and placental size (weight) in a well-defined population of normal (AGA) and late-onset FGR in humans and mice. Furthermore, it is important that measures of placental function (nutrient uptake/transfer) are related to amino acid concentrations in the maternal and fetal (UmV and UmA) to understand the relationship between these compartments. Untargeted, holistic analyses such as metabolomics offer the potential to investigate the dynamic metabolite profile in an unbiased manner. Only by understanding these fundamental physiological processes can

we maximise our potential to identify novel therapeutic targets and devise strategies with which to treat FGR.

1.14 Hypothesis and aims

The hypotheses for this thesis are:

- 1. In normal pregnancy, glutamine and glutamate uptake (humans) and clearance (mice) adapts according to placental size, thus ensuring appropriate fetal supply of nutrients in a relatively small but normal placenta.
- 2. In FGR, these placental adaptations fail to occur, thus contributing to reduced fetal growth.

The major aims of this study were:

- To determine whether unidirectional maternofetal clearance of, and expression of key transporters for, glutamine and glutamate is different between the lightest and heaviest placentas of a WT (C57BL/6J) mouse litter. To assess whether any of these measures were affected by sex of the fetus.
- 2. To assess the relationship between transporter-mediated glutamine and glutamate uptake and placental and fetal measures (placental weight, birth weight, F:P ratio, sex of the fetus) in normal pregnancy in women.
- 3. To determine whether unidirectional maternofetal clearance of, and expression of key transporters for, glutamine and glutamate is altered in the placental-specific *Igf2* (P0) knockout mouse model of FGR.
- 4. To determine whether transporter-mediated glutamine and glutamate uptake is altered in human FGR.
- To relate measures of glutamine and glutamate uptake with concentrations of amino acids in maternal and (fetal) umbilical cord plasma in normal and FGR pregnancies in women.

2.1 Studies in human placental tissue

2.1.1 Source of chemicals

Unless otherwise stated, all chemicals were from Sigma Aldrich Ltd, Dorset, UK.

2.1.2 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Inclusion criteria for this study were as follows: maternal age >18<40 years and a body mass index (BMI) >19<30 kg/m² at first antenatal appointment. Women were not approached if there was evidence of congenital abnormalities, pre-eclampsia, hypertension, or pre-gestational or gestational diabetes. The demographics of those included in each arm of the study are stated in Chapters 4 and 6. Informed consent (Ethics number 15/NW/0829) for placenta, maternal blood and/or umbilical cord blood was obtained before delivery of the baby and placenta.

2.1.3 Collection of blood samples and placental tissue

All blood samples were collected into vacutainers which were either coated with lithium heparin (BD vacutainer®; BD, Plymouth, UK) or contained lithium heparin beads (S-monovette®, Sarstedt, Leicester, UK; disparity due to change in protocol at Manchester NHS Trust during the study). Maternal venous blood was collected prior to delivery; on admittance to the ward for vaginal births, before anaesthetic for deliveries by caesarean section and after prostaglandin administration for induction of labour. The placenta, and where possible umbilical arterial (UmA) and venous (UmV) blood, were collected immediately following delivery. Each woman was assigned an anonymous number under which all samples were collected and banked.

2.1.4 Dissection of placentas and banking

Untrimmed and trimmed (umbilical cord and placental membranes removed) placental weight was recorded for each placenta. Placental villous tissue was sampled according to a systematic sampling protocol (Figure 13). Tissue was frozen at -80°C, stored in RNA*later*[®], or neutral buffered formalin (NBF, composition in Table 7) for wax embedding. For studies of amino acid uptake by the placenta, six cubes (approximately 1 cm³) of villous tissue were dissected and chorionic plate and decidua removed. Tissue was maintained in glutamine-free Dulbecco's Modified Eagles Medium (DMEM: 1 g/litre glucose, Life Technologies Ltd, Leicestershire, UK) supplemented with 864 μ M glutamine and 120 μ M glutamic acid mixed 1:1 with Tyrode's buffer (composition in section 2.1.5), for a final concentration of 432 μ M and 60 μ M

respectively to mimic the concentration in maternal plasma (according to measurements made in maternal plasma of women having normal pregnancy delivering at term at St Mary's hospital: Greenwood and Desforges, personal communication) before beginning the experimental protocol (section 2.1.5.4).



Figure 13: Standardised placental tissue sampling protocol

For each placenta collected, a systematic sampling protocol was followed. Four villous samples were dissected: from the centre (C), 2 x middle (M) and edge (E), and chorionic plate and decidua were removed. From each sample, 1 cube was stored in neutral buffered formalin (NBF) for wax embedding and several smaller sections were frozen at -80°C or stored in RNA*later*[®]. For studies of amino acid uptake by the placenta an additional six cubes of villous tissue were dissected (approximately 1 cm³, chorionic plate and decidua removed) and maintained in a petri dish of 1:1 Dulbecco's Modified Eagles Medium (DMEM):Tyrodes buffer as detailed in section 2.1.4. Where possible, UmV and UmA blood samples were drawn from a double clamped section of the umbilical cord and centrifuged (3,000 rpm (2,056 x g (max)) for 10 min at 4°C) to obtain plasma (stored at -80°C). Figure adapted from (Rampersad *et al.*, 2011).

Compound	Quantity
KH ₂ P0 ₄	1.36 g
Na ₂ HPO ₄	5.68 g
dH ₂ 0	250 ml
Tap water	200 ml
~37% Formaldehyde	50 ml
Total Volume:	500 ml pH to 7.6

Table 7: 10% neutral buffered formalin (NBF)

2.1.5 Blood processing and banking

Maternal venous, UmV and UmA blood was collected in either lithium heparin-coated vacutainers or vacutainers containing lithium heparin beads (as in section 2.1.3). Samples were centrifuged at 3,000 rpm (2,056 x g (max)) for 10 min at 4°C. The resulting plasma was aliquoted into fresh Eppendorf tubes (Eppendorf; Hamburg, Germany) and stored at -80°C.

2.1.5.1 Measurement of glutamine and glutamate transporter activity in placental villous tissue

2.1.5.2 Method validation

A pilot experiment was performed to optimise an experimental protocol for measuring the activity of amino acid transporter systems A, L and N (glutamine transporters) and system X_{AG} (glutamate transporter) in placenta villous tissue.

A method is well established to assess amino acid transporter activity in the microvillous membrane (MVM) of the syncytiotrophoblast by measuring uptake of radiolabelled substrates into placental villous fragments (Greenwood and Sibley, 2006). Measuring amino acid transporter activity in villous tissue fragments has the advantage that intracellular signalling mechanisms that might regulate the transporter activity and/or expression remain intact. On the other hand, when measuring uptake of radiolabelled substrates into tissue fragments dissected from the placenta, it is necessary to distinguish between specific, transporter-mediated uptake of substrates from non-specific diffusion that will occur through areas damaged by dissection. System A is a Na⁺-dependent amino acid transporter and its activity has been assessed previously by measuring the Na⁺-dependent uptake of ¹⁴C-methylaminoisobutyric acid (MeAIB), a non-metabolisable substrate of system A, into villous fragments over 10-30 min (Hayward *et al.*, 2012).

In the pilot experiment, the same concentration of ¹⁴C-MeAIB (8.5 nmol/ml) was used as Hayward *et al.* (2012) and ¹⁴C-MeAIB uptake was measured in control Tyrode's buffer containing Na⁺ (135 mM NaCl, 5.0 mM KCl, 1.8 mM CaCl₂, 1.0 mM MgCl₂, 10 mM HEPES, 5.6 mM D-glucose, adjusted to pH 7.4 with NaOH; uptake attributed to system A plus nonspecific diffusion) and in Na⁺-free Tyrode's buffer (as Tyrode's buffer but 135 mM NaCl replaced with equimolar choline chloride, adjusted to pH 7.4 with KOH; uptake by nonspecific diffusion) over 30-90 min. The difference between these measures (the Na⁺dependent uptake) was linear over 30-90 min when expressed per mg fragment protein (Figure 33). Extrapolation of the regression line fitted over this time period intercepted the x,y axis close to the origin (x=0, y=0). Therefore, the Na⁺-dependent component of ¹⁴C-MeAIB uptake over 30-90 min was taken to represent system A activity in the MVM of the syncytiotrophoblast measured at initial rate.

Transporter-mediated ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate uptake has not yet been measured in villous fragments. Therefore a pilot experiment was performed to determine (a) the appropriate concentration of isotope to use to achieve detectable levels of radioactivity in the tissue, (b) a strategy to detect the transporter-mediated component of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴Cglutamate uptake, and (c) the time over which the activity of the glutamine and glutamate transporters could be measured at initial rate. Glutamine transport across the MVM, as determined in human placental MVM vesicle studies, is mediated by the Na⁺-dependent systems A and N, and the Na⁺-independent system L (Hill et al., 2014). This conclusion was reached because ¹⁴C-glutamine uptake into vesicles was inhibited by 5 mM histidine (His, substrate of system N) serine (Ser, substrate of system A) and BCH (2-Amino-2norbornanecarboxylic acid, non-metabolisable analogue, substrate of system L) (Mastroberardino et al., 1998). In non-placental cell types, glutamine is transported by y⁺L, but in MVM vesicles arginine did not affect ¹⁴C-glutamine uptake suggesting that this transport system is not important in MVM (Hill et al., 2014). Therefore, in the initial experiment to assess the contribution of systems A, N and L to glutamine transport in fragments, uptake of ¹⁴C-glutamine was measured in Tyrode's buffer in the absence of competitive substrates (a measure of total ¹⁴C-glutamine uptake comprising non-specific diffusion and transportermediated uptake) and in control or Na⁺-free Tyrode's buffer with 5 mM His (contribution of system N), 5 mM Ser (contribution of system A) and 5 mM BCH (contribution of system L).

MVM transport of ¹⁴C-glutamate is mediated by the Na⁺-dependent system X_{AG-} , of which aspartate is a substrate (Hill *et al.*, 2014). Accordingly, in the initial experiment to assess the contribution of system X_{AG-} to glutamate transport, uptake of ¹⁴C-glutamate was measured in Tyrode's buffer in the absence of competitive substrates (a measure of total ¹⁴C-glutamate uptake comprising non-specific diffusion and transporter-mediated components) and in control or Na⁺-free Tyrode's buffer with 5mM aspartic acid (aspartate).

¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate uptake was measured by exposing placental villous tissue to these radioisotopes for 10-120 min (following the protocols described in detail in section 2.1.5.4) and the transporter-mediated component was determined by subtracting uptake in Na⁺-free Tyrode's buffer containing competitive substrates from uptake under control

conditions. ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate uptake was expressed in moles per mg fragment protein (see section 2.1.5.5 and 2.1.5.6) and plotted against time (10-120 min). These data were analysed by linear regression to determine the time period over which activity of the transporters was at initial rate (see results section 4.2.2).

2.1.5.3 Experimental preparation

From six villous tissue cubes (Figure 13), an equal number of small fragments of villous tissue (2-3 mm³) were randomly sampled. Fragments were tied to a comb in triplicate (Figure 14) and suspended in glass vials DMEM:Tyrode's buffer.



Figure 14: Diagram of placental villous fragments prepared for measurement of amino acid uptake Placental villous fragments (2-3 mm³) were randomly sampled from six larger villous tissue cubes. Fragments were tied to a comb in triplicate as shown above and maintained in DMEM:Tyrode's buffer until the experiment commenced.

2.1.5.4 Measurement of amino acid uptake

Following on from the pilot experiment described in section 2.1.5.2 and presented in results section 4.2.2, the following protocol was carried out for all subsequent experiments. A diagrammatic representation of the experimental protocol is shown in Figure 15. After the dissection and preparation of villous tissue (section 2.1.5.3), fragments were maintained at 37°C (waterbath) in DMEM:Tyrode's buffer for 30 min. Fragments were then incubated in 'prewash' Na⁺-containing ('control') or Na⁺-free Tyrode's buffer supplemented with substrates to competitively inhibit transporter-mediated uptake (14C-glutamine: 5 mM histidine, serine, BCH, added together to assess the collective contribution of the activities of system A, L and N; ¹⁴C-glutamate: 5 mM aspartate; ¹⁴C-MeAIB: no substrates added, Na⁺-free conditions alone) for 2 min. The prewash step was included to deplete tissue Na⁺ before measuring uptake in Na⁺-free buffer. Next, fragments were incubated in Tyrode's buffer (+/-Na⁺) containing 4 ml ¹⁴C-MeAIB (8.5 nmol/ml; 0.0185MBq/ml), ¹⁴C-glutamine (0.24 nmol/ml; 0.0024MBq/ml) or ¹⁴C-glutamate (0.5 nmol/ml; 0.0048MBq) for 30, 60 or 90 min ('incubation buffer'). After the elapsed time period, fragments were vigorously washed for 2 x 15 sec in 12 ml ice-cold Tyrode's buffer (+/- Na⁺) to remove extracellular isotope and to limit efflux of intracellular isotope during the wash process. Samples were subsequently suspended

in 4 ml water for 18 hours to allow release of radioisotope accumulated in the tissue into solution. Lysed tissue samples were then placed in 3 ml 0.3 M NaOH, incubated at 37°C overnight to digest, and stored at 4°C prior to determination of protein content.



Figure 15: Diagrammatic representation of method to measure amino acid uptake into placental villous fragments

1. Placental villous fragments were randomly sampled, tied to a comb in triplicate and maintained in DMEM:Tyrodes buffer as described in Figure 14. 2. Once all samples were prepared, all vials were placed in a water bath (set at 37° C) to equilibrate. Next, each comb (holding triplicate fragments) was moved to prewash Tyrode's buffer (red vials denote Na⁺-free Tyrode's buffer, blue represent Na⁺-containing 'control' Tyrode's buffer) for 2 min, then into 'incubation buffer' containing radiolabelled amino acids for 30-90 min. See text for full description. 3. After the allotted time, fragments were washed vigorously ('postwash') for 2 x 15 sec in ice-cold Tyrode's buffer (+/-Na⁺) 4. Samples were suspended in water for 18 hours to lyse the tissue, thus releasing radioisotope into the water to be counted on the scintillation counter. 5. The fragments were then dissolved in 0.3 M NaOH overnight at 37°C. The resultant solution was used to calculate protein content (i.e. a proxy measure of fragment size) by protein assay (section 2.1.5.5).

2.1.5.5 Protein assay

Protein content of placental fragments was determined by BioRad protein assay. Protein stock (10 mg bovine serum albumin, BSA, in 10 ml NaOH) was diluted 1:4 with 0.3 M NaOH to produce standards of known protein content (Table 8). Standard and unknown samples (20 µl) were pipetted in duplicate into a 96-well plate. To each sample, 180 µl neutralising solution (1:1.25 of 0.3 M NaOH:0.3 M HCl) and 50 µl BioRad dye reagent (Bio-Rad laboratories Ltd., UK) was added and mixed thoroughly by pipetting. After 10 min incubation, absorbance was
quantified using a microplate reader and Omega software (FLUOstar Omega, BMG Labtech) at 595 nm. A standard curve was generated using GraphPad Prism 7 software, from which protein content (per 20 μ l) was determined by interpolation. To determine the total protein content of each fragment (denatured in 3 ml 0.3 M NaOH), the content in μ g/20 μ l was multiplied by 150 and divided by 1000 to calculate total protein content (mg) in 3 ml NaOH.

0.3M NaOH	BSA	Total volume	BSA content	BSA content
(µl)	0.25 mg/ml (µl)	(μl)	(μg)	(µg) in 20 µl
160	0	160	0	0
152	8	160	1	0.25
120	40	160	5	1.25
80	80	160	10	2.5
40	120	160	15	2.75
0	160	160	20	5.00

Table 8: Serial dilution of bovine serum albumin (BSA) to prepare standards for Bio-Rad protein assay

2.1.5.6 Calculation of amino acid uptake

Scintillation fluid (16 ml, ScintiSafe, Fisher Scientific, UK or Meridian Biotechnologies, Ltd.) was added to the water lysates for measurement of ¹⁴C radioactivity using a β -scintillation counter (Tri-carb 2100TR liquid scintillation analyzer, Packard, disintegrations per minute; dpm). Counts/pmol in the incubation buffer was determined by counting 100 µl samples of incubation buffer, removing the background count and multiplying by 10 to convert to counts/ml. Next, counts/ml were divided by nmol/ml of radioisotope as follows: MeAIB (8.5 nmol/ml), glutamine (0.24-0.28 nmol/ml) and glutamate (0.52 nmol/ml), and finally converted to counts per pmol by dividing by 1000. Uptake of radiolabelled amino acids was expressed as pmol/mg fragment protein content, corrected for background radioactivity. The transporter-mediated component was determined by subtracting uptake in the presence of competing substrates/Na⁺-free buffer from total uptake.

2.1.5.7 Statistical analysis

Normal distribution of data was determined using D'Agostino & Pearson omnibus normality test (GraphPad Prism 7 software). Data are expressed as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). Regression analysis was performed to determine whether transporter-mediated amino acid uptake was linearly related to time over 30-90 min and to examine the relationship between transporter-mediated uptake at 90 min and placental weight, birth weight and birth weight:placental weight (BW:PW) ratio (Spearman correlation or Linear regression). The correlation was considered significant if P < 0.05.

2.2 Studies in mouse models of human pregnancy

2.2.1 Animal husbandry

All experimental procedures were performed in accordance with the UK Animal (Scientific Procedures) Act of 1986 under Home Office project licences PPL 40/3385 or PPL 70/8504 and were approved by the local ethical review panel of the University of Manchester. All animals were housed in individually ventilated cages, were provided with nesting material and had free access to food (BK001 diet, Special Diet Services, UK) and water (Hydropac watering system, Lab products Inc, Delaware, US). Animals were housed in rooms with a 12 hour light-dark cycle at 21-23°C. Rooms were not pathogen-free. C57BL/6J (wild-type, WT) female mice (10-16 weeks old, Envigo, UK) were mated with C57BL/6J (WT) males (10-26 weeks old). Placental-specific Igf2P0 knockout (P0) mice were kindly gifted by Dr Miguel Constancia and Prof Wolf Reik, University of Cambridge. Males (10-101 weeks old) heterozygote for the Igf2 P0 gene were mated with WT females (8-16 weeks old). Flow charts and a detailed account of the number of animals used in each experiment can be found in the relevant chapters (Chapter 3 and Chapter 5). The first day of gestation (embryonic day (E) 0.5) for all mice was determined by the discovery of a copulation plug. Experimental procedures were carried out at E15.5 or E18.5 (chosen as peak growth of the fetus occurs between these two time points; term E19-20) (Figure 16).

2.2.2 Unidirectional maternofetal clearance of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate

Dams were anaesthetised with a 300 µl intraperitoneal injection of 1:1:2 combination of fentanyl/fluanisone (Hypnorm, VetPharma Ltd., Leeds, UK), Midazolam (Roche, UK) and sterile H₂0 (Braun medical Inc., Pennsylvania, USA). Additional doses of anaesthetic were given intraperitoneally (50-100 µl per dose) during the experimental procedure as required. Dams were placed in a ventilated hot box (37°C) for approximately 5 min to dilate the tail vein. Dams were then placed on a heat pad for cannulation of the tail vein with a 25G needle attached to polyethylene tubing (Portex, Hythe, UK). Successful cannulation of the tail vein was confirmed by flushing a small volume of heparinised-saline (500 I.U. heparin/ml saline, Alliance Healthcare, Chessington, UK/Fresenius Kabi Ltd, Runcorn, UK) solution. Dams were tracheotomised to ensure a clear airway and prevent acidosis during the procedure. 100 µl of radioisotope was administered via the tail vein cannula (Figure 16) confirmed by pre- and post-weighing of the syringe. The amount of radioactivity in sterile phosphate buffered saline (PBS) was: 0.023 MBq ¹⁴C-glutamine and 0.046 MBq ¹⁴C-glutamate. At approximately 2 min post-injection (between 90 sec-4 min ¹⁴C-glutamine and 90 sec-3 min for ¹⁴C-glutamate), dams were exsanguinated by cardiac puncture, a maternal blood sample obtained and centrifuged at 5000 rpm (1,845 x g) for 5 min to obtain plasma. Death was confirmed by cervical dislocation

and a laparotomy immediately performed. Both uterine horns were exposed and the distribution of conceptuses per horn recorded as well as any fetal resorptions. Fetuses and placentas were trimmed of membranes, blotted and weighed. Biometric measurements were also recorded for C56BL/6J (WT) litters (Chapter 3) as follows: crown:rump length (from the top of the head to beginning of the tail), abdominal circumference (at the level of umbilical cord insertion) and head circumference (above the eyes and ears) using a length of cotton thread. Fetal tail tips were collected and stored at -20°C for sex and/or genotype determination (section 2.2.6). Fetuses and placentas were placed in an individual scintillation vial, minced and solubilised in 3 ml 3% KOH at 55°C overnight.



Figure 16: Schematic of unidirectional maternofetal clearance experiments Pregnancies were confirmed at embryonic day (E)0.5, with experimental procedures performed at E15.5 or E18.5 (term E19-20). Radioisotope was administered via a tail vein cannula as depicted above.

To measure ¹⁴C radioactivity in the samples, 15 ml scintillation fluid (ScintiSafe, Fisher Scientific, UK or Meridian Biotechnologies, Ltd., UK) was added to each vial. To measure ¹⁴C counts in maternal blood 10 μ l of maternal plasma was added to 15 ml scintillation fluid, 140 μ l dH₂0 and 3 ml 3% KOH. All samples were analysed using a β-scintillation counter (Tricarb 2100TR liquid scintillation analyzer, Packard, disintegrations per minute; dpm). Counts were monitored over a series of days until a plateau was reached indicating that tissue had been fully digested. Final ¹⁴C counts were calculated by subtracting background radioactivity in 'blank' samples (15 ml scintillation fluid, 150 μ l dH₂0 and 3 ml 3% KOH).

2.2.3 Maternal plasma ¹⁴C disappearance curve

The time at which clearance of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate from the maternal circulation was linear was determined by the construction of a ¹⁴C maternal plasma disappearance curve. A single maternal blood sample was collected at the time of euthanisation (by cardiac puncture) and processed as described above. Dams were euthanased at timepoints between 22 sec-31 min (glutamine) 26 sec-35 min (glutamate), and data from each radioisotope were collated to construct the disappearance curve (see Figure 18 in Chapter 3 for more details).

The curve was fitted to a one-phase exponential decay model as described previously (Bond *et al.*, 2006a; Bond *et al.*, 2008). Experimental dams were culled within the linear portion of this maternal plasma disappearance curve (90 sec-4 min, glutamine; 90 sec-3 min glutamate).

2.2.4 Calculation of unidirectional maternofetal clearance of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate

Unidirectional maternofetal transfer ($^{14C}K_{mb}$ µl/min/g placenta) was calculated as:

$$K_{mf} = \frac{Nx}{W\int_0^x Cm(t)dt}$$

where N_x is total radiolabel accumulation (dpm) by the fetus at x minute post-injection of radioisotope via the maternal tail vein. W is placental wet weight (g) and $\int_0^x Cm(t)dt$ is the time integral of radioisotope concentration in maternal plasma (dpm x min/µl from 0-x min area under the curve, from maternal plasma ¹⁴C disappearance curve).

2.2.5 Statistical analysis

Data were checked for normality (D'Agostino and Pearson omnibus normality test). Data from C57BL/6J (WT) litters were analysed by comparing the lightest versus heaviest placenta in a litter, or by comparing the litter average of male versus female placentas (a minimum of two of each sex per litter was required). For P0 litters, an average of WT or P0 placentas or fetuses within a single litter was used (a minimum of two of each genotype per litter was required). Data were not normally distributed and therefore presented as median [range]. Data were analysed (GraphPad Prism 7 software) by Wilcoxon signed rank test and were considered statistically significant where P<0.05.

2.2.6 Determination of fetal sex and genotype

Fetal tail tips were obtained as described in section 2.2.2. C57BL/6J (WT) tail tips were used to determine the sex of each fetus (from Kunieda *et al.*, 1992). For P0 litters, genomic DNA was extracted from fetal tail tips to determine fetal genotype (DNeasy, Qiagen, Crawley, UK). The sex or genotype of each fetus was determined by PCR using the reagents and primers specified in Table 9. PCR conditions are displayed in Table 10. PCR products were run on a 1% (for fetal sex) or 1.5% (for genotype, bromophenol blue loading dye also required) agarose gel at 120 V for 40 min and visualised under UV light.

Determination of fetal sex					
Reagent/Primer (sequence, 5'-3')	Volume (µl)				
My Taq Red Mix	25				
PCR H ₂ 0	5				
SRY2 primer (TCTTAAACTCTGAAGAAGAGAC)	4				
SRY4 primer (GTCTTGCCTGTATGTGATGG)	4				
NDS3 primer (GAGTGCCTCATCTATACTTACAG)	4				
NDS4 primer (TCTAGTTCATTGTTGATTAGTTGC)	4				
Determination of genotype					
Reagent/Primer (sequence, 5'-3')	Volume (µl)				
Reagent/Primer (sequence, 5'-3') 10x PCR buffer without Mg ²⁺	Volume (µl)				
Reagent/Primer (sequence, 5'-3')10x PCR buffer without Mg2+dNTPs (final concentration of 200 μM)	Volume (μl) 2 2				
Reagent/Primer (sequence, 5'-3') 10x PCR buffer without Mg ²⁺ dNTPs (final concentration of 200 μM) PCR H ₂ 0	Volume (μl) 2 2 8.5				
Reagent/Primer (sequence, 5'-3') 10x PCR buffer without Mg ²⁺ dNTPs (final concentration of 200 μM) PCR H ₂ 0 MgCl ₂ (final concentration of 2 mM)	Volume (μl) 2 8.5 1.6				
Reagent/Primer (sequence, 5'-3') 10x PCR buffer without Mg ²⁺ dNTPs (final concentration of 200 μM) PCR H ₂ 0 MgCl ₂ (final concentration of 2 mM) Forward primer (common primer; dF) (TCCTGTACCTCCTAACTACCAC)	Volume (μl) 2 8.5 1.6 1.2				
Reagent/Primer (sequence, 5'-3')10x PCR buffer without Mg2+dNTPs (final concentration of 200 μM)PCR H20MgCl2 (final concentration of 2 mM)Forward primer (common primer; dF)(TCCTGTACCTCCTAACTACCAC)Reverse primer (P0; dR) (GAGCCAGAAGCAAACT)	Volume (µl) 2 2 8.5 1.6 1.2 1.2				
Reagent/Primer (sequence, 5'-3')10x PCR buffer without Mg2+dNTPs (final concentration of 200 μM)PCR H20MgCl2 (final concentration of 2 mM)Forward primer (common primer; dF)(TCCTGTACCTCCTAACTACCAC)Reverse primer (P0; dR) (GAGCCAGAAGCAAACT)Reverse primer (WT) (CAATCTGCTCCTGCCTG)	Volume (µl) 2 2 8.5 1.6 1.2 1.2 1.2				

Table 9: Reagents and primers used (per PCR reaction) for the identification of male/female fetuses within WT (C57BL/6J) litters and *Igt2* P0^{+/-} and WT fetuses within P0 litters.

My Taq Red Mix was from Bioline Reagents Ltd, London, UK. Primers used for determination of fetal sex had a

final concentration of 500 nM. Primers used for determination of genotype had a final concentration of 300 nM.

Determination of fetal sex						
Step 1	94°C	4 min				
Step 2	94°C	1 min				
Step 3	55°C	1 min				
Step 4	72°C	1 min				
Step 5	Repeat steps 2-	-4 for 35 cycles				
Step 6	72°C	10 min				
	Determination of g	genotype				
Step 1	94°C	4 min				
Step 2	94°C	1 min				
Step 3	56°C	1 min				
Step 4	72°C	1 min				
Step 5	Repeat steps 2	-4 for 40 cycles				
Step 6	72°C	10 min				

Table 10: PCR cycle conditions for determination of fetal sex and genotype (male/female fetuses within WT (C57BL/6J) litters and *Igf2* P0^{+/-} and WT fetuses within P0 litters).

2.2.7 Fetal weight distribution curves

Fetal and placental weights were recorded at the time of laparotomy (section 2.2.2). Fetal weight distribution curves were generated from population fetal weights collected in the current study. The 5th percentile of fetal weight was calculated using the equation below:

$$(-z \ score \ x \ SD) + mean$$

Where z score = 1.645 and SD = standard deviation (Dilworth *et al.*, 2011).

2.3 Western blotting

2.3.1 Processing of human placental tissue for Western blotting

Placental villous tissue samples were dissected and stored at -80°C as described in section 2.1.4.

2.3.1.1 Membrane-enriched placental villous homogenates from human placentas

Frozen placental tissue (approximately 100mg) was homogenised (2-3 x 30 sec homogenisations) in 1:100 protease inhibitor cocktail (PIC, Sigma-Aldrich, UK P8340):Buffer A (300 mM mannitol 54.66 g/litre and 10 mM HEPES 2.38 g/litre, pH 7.6 with saturated Tris (12.114 g/100 ml)). Placental homogenates underwent ultracentrifugation (Hitachi SorvallTM DiscoveryTM 100SE, T1250 rotor) for 5 min at 2500 g (4°C) and the resultant supernatant was centrifuged (in fresh tubes) for 30 min at 100,000 g. The pellet was then re-suspended in 200 μ l PIC:Buffer A (1:100), aliquoted and stored at -80°C.

2.3.2 Collection of mouse placental tissue for Western blotting

WT and P0 dams and fetuses (E15.5 and E18.5, setup as described in section 2.2.1) were euthanised by cervical dislocation in accordance with Home Office approved Schedule 1 methods. Dams were immediately laparotomised, both uterine horns exposed and the distribution of conceptuses per horn recorded as well as any fetal resorptions. Fetuses and placentas were trimmed of membranes, blotted and weighed. Fetal tail tips were collected and stored at -20°C for determination of fetal sex/genotype (section 2.2.6). Fetuses and placentas were snap frozen on dry ice and stored at -80°C.

2.3.2.1 Membrane-enriched whole placental homogenates from mouse placentas

Membrane-enriched whole placental homogenates were obtained from the lightest and heaviest placentas within each C57BL/6J (WT) litter, and for one WT and one P0 placenta (as determined by genotyping, chosen randomly) from each P0 litter. Whole placentas were homogenised in 2 ml 1:100 protease inhibitor cocktail (PIC, Sigma-Aldrich, UK P8340):Buffer A (300 mM mannitol 54.66 g/Litre and 10 mM HEPES 2.38 g/Litre, pH 7.6 with saturated Tris (12.114 g/100 ml)). Placental homogenates underwent ultracentrifugation (Hitachi Sorvall[™] Discovery[™] 100SE, T1250 rotor) for 5 min at 2500 g. 200 µl of supernatant was retained (post-nuclear supernatant) and aliquoted. The remaining supernatant was aliquoted. The remaining membrane-enriched pellet was then resuspended in 200 µl PIC:Buffer A (1:100) and aliquoted. All samples were labelled and stored at -80°C.

2.3.3 Reagents and gels

Reagents used for Western blotting are detailed in Table 11. Gels were either homemade or precast (4–15% Mini-PROTEAN® TGXTM Precast Protein Gels, Bio-Rad laboratories Ltd., UK). Homemade gels were prepared as follows: a 10% resolving gel (Table 11) was poured, covered with ethanol and allowed to set. Once set, the ethanol was poured off and replaced with 3% stacking gel (Table 11). A 10 or 15-well comb was inserted immediately. Once set, the comb was removed and the gel was placed in an electrophoresis tank, bathed in running buffer (Table 11) in preparation for sample loading.

Reagent		Composition
Resolving buffer	22.7 g	TRIZMA® base
C	0.5 g	SDS
	100 ml	dH_20
		pH to 8.8 with conc. HCl
Stacking buffer	6.1 g	TRIZMA® base
	0.4 g	SDS
	100 ml	dH_20
		pH to 6.8 with conc. HCl
Ammonium persulphate (APS, 10%)	0.1 g/ml ir	$h dH_20$
Sodium dodecyl sulphate	0.1 g	SDS
(SDS, 0.1%)	100 ml	dH ₂ 0
Resolving gel (2 x 10%)	8 ml	dH ₂ 0
	6.6 ml	30% acrylamide
	5 ml	Resolving buffer
	0.2 ml	10% SDS
	0.2 ml	10% APS
	0.02 ml	TEMED
Stacking gel (2 x 3%)	3.05 ml	dH ₂ 0
	0.69 ml	30% acrylamide
	1.25 ml	Stacking buffer
	0.025 ml	10% SDS
	0.025 ml	10% APS
	0.015 ml	TEMED
10x Running buffer (2 litres)	60.6 g	TRIS base
	288 g	Glycine
	20 g	SDS
		Make up to 2 L with dH_20
10x Transfor buffor (2 litro)	(0)	TPIS here: TPIS here:
10x Transfer Duffer (2 litres)	00.0 g	I KIS Dase
	200 g	Make up to 2 L with dU 0
		Wake up to 2 L with dH_2^0 Use at 1 x (100 ml 10 x transfer
		buffer ± 700 ml dH 0 ± 200 ml
		methanol)
Reducing non-boil loading	4 805 g	Urea
buffer	0.5 0	SDS
	0.004 g	Bromophenol blue
(non-reducing non-boil loading	0.7018 g	DTT
buffer; same composition	0.6057 g	Tris base
without DTT)	10 ml	dH ₂ 0 pH to 6.9
Reducing boil loading buffer	25 ml	Stacking buffer
	23.78 g	Urea
(non-reducing boil loading	3.99 g	SDS
buffer; same composition	0.0018 g	Bromophenol blue
without β -mercaptoethanol)	19.98 ml	Glycerol
	43 ml	dH_20
	10%	β -mercaptoethanol (add fresh on
		day) pH to 6.9

 Table 11: Western blotting reagents

 DTT, Dithiothreitol; TEMED, Tetramethylethylenediamine; TRIZMA® base,

Tris (hydroxymethyl) aminomethane.

2.3.4 Gel electrophoresis and transfer

Membrane-enriched homogenates were loaded with the appropriate loading buffer (see Table 12, boil conditions 1:1 sample:loading buffer, non-boil conditions 2:1; alongside a Precision Plus ProteinTM All Blue Prestained Protein Standard (Bio-Rad laboratories Ltd., UK)). Gels underwent electrophoresis (10 min at 80 V then 60 min at 120 V homemade gels, 30 min at 200 V for precast gels) in an electrophoresis tank containing running buffer (Table 11).

Gels were then removed, rinsed in transfer buffer and assembled into a transfer cassette for transfer onto a polyvinylidene fluoride (PDVF) membrane (Immobilon®-FL transfer membranes, Merk Millipore Ltd., Ireland; cut to size of the gel, activated in 100% methanol for 15-30 sec) in the following order: sponge, 2 x filter paper (GE Healthcare UK Ltd., Buckinghamshire, UK; pre-soaked in transfer buffer), gel, PDVF membrane, 2 x filter paper, sponge. A small roller was passed over each layer to remove any air bubbles. Cassettes were loaded into a tank containing an ice pack and transfer buffer (Table 11) for 70 min at 120 V (30 min at 100 V for precast gels). The resultant membranes were blocked for 1 hour at room temperature (RT) in either 3% milk (Marvel; London UK) in 100 ml 1 x phosphate buffered saline (PBS) or 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) in 1 x PBS (see Table 12 for specific conditions). Membranes were then probed with primary antibody (Table 12 for supplier and concentration) in block (3% milk or 3% BSA) and 0.1% Tween overnight at 4°C on a roller. The next day membranes were washed (4 x 5 min) in 1 x PBS and 0.2% Tween then incubated with fluorescently-conjugated secondary antibody (IRDye 800CW donkey anti-rabbit 1:20,000 in blocking buffer, 0.1% Tween and 0.02% SDS) for 1 hour at RT. Finally, membranes were washed 4 x 5 min in 1 x PBS and 0.2% Tween and kept in 1 x PBS until visualised using a Li-Cor Odyssey machine (Biosciences UK Ltd.).

Antibody	EAAT1	EAAT2	EAAT3	LAT1	LAT2	SNAT5	β-actin	β-tubulin
(dilution)	(1:1000)	(1:1000)	(1:5000)	(1:200)	(1:500)	(1:500)	(1:500)	(1:500)
Amount of	30 µg	30 µg	20 µg	30 µg	40 µg	40 µg	-	-
protein loaded					*30 µg			
Gel %	10%	Precast	10%	10%	10%	Precast	-	-
T a structure for the structure	NT 1 '1	D 1/1009C	NT 1 '1	NT 1 '1	NT 1 '1	D 1/1009C		
Loading builter	Non-Doil	Boil (100°C,	Non-Doil	Non-Doil	Non-Doil	Boil (100°C,	-	-
	reducing	5 min)	reducing	reducing	reducing	5 min)		
		reducing				reducing		
Blocking buffer	3% milk	3% milk	3% milk	3% milk	5% BSA	3% milk	-	-
0					*3% milk			
Antibody	Abcam	Abcam	Abcam	TransGenic	Abbexa	Abcam	Abcam	Abcam
manufacturer	(ab416)	(ab178401)	(ab124802)	Inc (KAL-	(abx121147)	(ab72717)	(ab8227)	(ab6046)
(catalogue no.)				KE026)	*Abcam			
				,	(ab75610)			

 Table 12: Experimental conditions for Western blotting

 *denotes conditions used in Chapters 5 and 6 using an antibody from Abcam, due to discontinuation of Abbexa antibody.

2.3.5 Densitometry and statistical analysis

Densitometry (semi-quantitative analysis of transporter protein expression as determined by protein band density) was performed using Image StudioTM Lite software. Protein expression intensity was normalised to β -actin or β -tubulin expression. Housekeeper proteins were optimised so that expression fell within the linear range of detection (i.e. was not saturated over the concentrations used). Where the protein of interest was similar in size to β -actin or β -tubulin, IRDye (680LT donkey anti-rabbit 1:40,000) fluorescently-conjugated secondary antibody was used. Data were analysed (GraphPad Prism 7 software) using a Mann-Whitney test. A *P* value <0.05 was considered statistically significant. The full Western blots presented in this thesis can be found in Appendix 9.11.

2.4 Molecular biology techniques

2.4.1 Extraction of total RNA from human placental villous tissue

RNA*later*[®]-preserved villous tissue samples (stored at -80°C) from normal (AGA) and FGR pregnancies were selected (from Maternal and Fetal Health Research Centre tissue bank; FGR individualised birth weight ratio (IBR) $<5^{th}$ centile; AGA IBR 20th-80th centile) for analysis by qPCR. Total RNA was isolated using the *mir*VanaTM isolation kit (AM1560, Ambion, LifeTechnologies, UK). To approximately 50 mg of villous tissue, 500 µl Lysis/Binding Buffer was added and homogenised on ice. The manufacturer's protocol was followed; RNA was extracted using organic solvents (Acid-Phenol:Chloroform extraction) then samples were passed through a glass-fibre filter cartridge for purification of total RNA, with a final elution in a volume of 100 µl. Samples were treated with DNAse using TURBO DNA-*free*TM kit (AM1906, Ambion, LifeTechnologies, UK) following the manufacturer's instructions.

2.4.2 Quantification of RNA by Nanodrop

1 µl of DNAse-treated RNA was loaded onto the spectrophotometer (Nanodrop 2000c, ThermoFisher Scientific, UK) to assess RNA purity and quantity. A purity 260/280 ratio of 2.0 ± 0.2 was considered acceptable for further use. Samples were stored at -80° C.

2.4.3 Generation of cDNA (reverse transcription)

Complementary DNA (cDNA) was synthesised from 500 ng RNA using an AffinityScript Multiple Temperature cDNA Synthesis Kit (Agilent Technologies, Stratagene, UK). A reference total human placental RNA (1 μ g, AM7950, Ambion, Life Technologies, UK) and negative controls (no reverse transcriptase, -RT and no RNA template control, NTC) were also included. All samples were reverse transcribed in duplicate. 3 μ l of random primers (0.1 μ g/ μ l) was added to each tube, incubated at 65°C for 5 min (Stratagene MX3005P) and

subsequently cooled at RT for 10 min to allow primers to anneal to the RNA. The following components were then added to each tube to give a final volume of 20 μ l: 2 μ l 10 x AffinityScript RT Buffer, 0.8 μ l dNTP mix (25 mM of each dNTP), 0.5 μ l RNase Block Ribonuclease Inhibitor (40 U/ μ l) and 1 μ l AffinityScript Multiple Temperature RT. The reaction was incubated at 25°C for 10 min to extend the primers, then the reaction temperature was increased to 42°C for 60 min to generate cDNA. The reaction was terminated by incubation at 70°C for 15 min. A pooled cDNA sample was generated by collecting 5 μ l of each undiluted cDNA sample. The cDNA pool was diluted 1:4 (i.e. 50 μ l cDNA in 150 μ l PCR H₂0). Samples were serially diluted (ie. 100 μ l of 1:4 standard added to 100 μ l PCR H₂0 to generate 1:8 solution, and so on) to generate samples for a standard curve (1:4 – 1:256). All samples were stored at -20°C. The efficiency of reverse transciption was checked against a housekeeping gene (TBP, TATA-box binding protein) as described below.

2.4.4 Quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR) of mRNA

A mastermix for qRT-PCR was prepared per reaction as follows: 0.2 μ l PCR H₂0, 5 μ l 2X SYBR Green QPCR master mix, 0.3 μ l ROX (reference dye, diluted 1:500 in PCR H₂0) (Brilliant III Ultra-fast SYBR Green Master Mix, Agilent Technologies, Wokingham, UK) and 0.25 μ l of each forward and reverse primer for the gene of interest (diluted 1:10 in PCR H₂0, primer sequences in Table 13). 4 μ l cDNA samples (diluted 1:10 in PCR H₂0, 10 ng cDNA) were mixed with 6 μ l master mix and measured in duplicate. A standard curve and negative controls (-RT, NTC) were included in duplicate on each plate. Conditions for qPCR (Stratagene MX3005P) were as follows: 95°C 5 min, then 95°C 30 sec, 60°C 30 sec, 72°C 30 sec (40 cycles, amplification), 95°C 1 min, 55°C 30 sec then a final increase to 95°C (in 0.2°C increments) to generate a dissociation curve. For each primer set, a single peak in the dissociation curve and an efficiency between 90-110% was considered acceptable. Cycle threshold (CT) values generated by qPCR were interpolated from the standard curve on each plate, generated from the pooled cDNA sample (section 2.4.3) to calculate mRNA levels. Primer sequences can be found in Table 13. A representative standard curve, dissociation curve and amplification plot are shown in Figure 17.

2.4.5 Determination of suitable housekeeping genes for villous tissue and statistical analysis

Sample expression of housekeeping genes was analysed to confirm that expression was not significantly different between groups. The housekeeping genes TBP (TATA-box binding protein) and YWHAZ (tyrosine 3-monooxygenase/tryptophan 5-monooxygenase activation protein zeta) were selected as these have been previously shown to be stable in placental tissue

(Meller *et al.*, 2005). Expression of TBP and YWHAZ was stable across samples analysed (data not shown). Expression of the gene of interest was normalised to the geometric mean of TBP and YWHAZ since the geometric mean controls for differences in relative gene abundance or expression, unlike the arithmetic mean (Vandesompele *et al.*, 2002). Data were analysed (GraphPad Prism 7 software) using a Mann-Whitney test. A *P* value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Gene	Gene name	Primer sequence (5'-3')	Annealing temperature	Product size
		Forward (F), Reverse (R)	(°C)	(bp)
TBP	TATA box binding protein	F: CACGAACCACGGCACTGATT	60	89
		R: TTTTCTTGCTGCCAGTCTGGAC		
YWHAZ	Tyrosine 3-monooxygenase/tryptophan 5-	F: CCTGCATGAAGTCTGTAACTGAG	60	130
	monooxygenase activation protein zeta	R: TTGAGACGACCCTCCAAGATG		
SLC38A1	Solute carrier family 38, member 1	F: GTGTATGCTTTACCCACCATTGC	60	187
		R: GCACGTTGTCATAGAATGTCAAGT		
SLC38A2	Solute carrier family 38, member 2	F: ACGAAACAATAAACACCACCTTAA	60	141
		R: AGATCAGAATTGGCACAGCATA		
SLC38A4	Solute carrier family 38, member 4	F: TTGCCGCCCTCTTTGGTTAC	60	152
		R: GAGGACAATGGGCACAGTTAGT		
SLC3A2	Solute carrier family 3, member 2	F: ACCCCTGTTTTCAGCTACGG	60	160
		R: GGTCTTCACTCTGGCCCTTC		
SLC7A5	Solute carrier family 7, member 5	F: GGAAGGGTGATGTGTCCAATC	60	83
		R: TAATGCCAGCACAATGTTCCC		
SLC7A8	Solute carrier family 7, member 8	F: AGGCTGGAACTTTCTGAATTACG	60	126
		R: ACATAAGCGACATTGGCAAAGA		

Table 13: Primer sequences for qPCR genes of interest and housekeeping genes



Figure 17: Representative standard curve (1), amplification plot (2) and dissociation curve (3) for SLC38A1

The standard curve (A) illustrates that replicates are consistent and consistency of product amplification. A correlation coefficient value (R^2 , above as RSq) of >0.95 an efficiency of between 90-110% was considered acceptable. The amplification curve (B) and dissociation curve (C) confirm successful amplification of product, a single melt curve and absence of primer dimers.

2.5 Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS)

2.5.1 Sample collection

Umbilical arterial (UmA) and venous (UmV) plasma samples which were collected into either tubes coated with lithium heparin (BD vacutainer®; BD, Plymouth, UK) or tubes containing lithium heparin beads (S-monovette®, Sarstedt, Leicester, UK; disparity due to site-wide change in procedure during the study) were taken immediately after delivery of the placenta and stored at -80°C (described in full in section 2.1.3) prior to sample preparation for GC-MS.

2.5.2 Extraction of small molecules from plasma samples for analysis by GC-MS

Each sample (n=48 total: 24 AGA and 24 FGR matched UmA/UmV plasma pairs) was extracted using chloroform:methanol:water extraction detailed below. Internal standard metabolites (isotopically labelled) were prepared as in Table 14 from which a working standard stock was prepared (1 ml of each internal standard mixture added to 6ml methanol).

Internal standard	Composition
mixture	
SG	10 mg Succinic acid d_4 , 10 mg Glycine d_5 in 10 ml 50:50 (v/v)
	methanol:water
CFT	10 mg Citric acid d_4 , 10 mg Fructose ${}^{13}C_6$, 10 mg Tryptophan d_5
	(all Cambridge Isotope Laboratories Inc.; UK) in 10 ml 50:50
	(v/v) methanol:water.
LA	10 mg Leucine d_{10} , 10 mg Alanine d_7 (Cambridge Isotope
	Laboratories Inc.; UK) in 10 ml 50:50 (v/v) methanol:water.
SB	10 mg Stearic acid d ₃₅ (Cambridge Isotope Laboratories Inc.;
	UK), 10 mg Benzoic acid d_5 in 10 ml methanol.

Table 14: Internal standard components of isotopically labelled metabolites

Samples (n=48) were thawed at room temperature. 50 μ l of each sample was transferred into a labelled 2 ml microcentrifuge tube (Eppendorf; Hamburg, Germany) held in a cold TissueLyser block (Qiagen, UK, stored at -20°C). 800 μ l cold (refrigerated) chloroform:methanol solution (prepped as 25 ml chloroform, 21.875 ml methanol, 3.125 ml working standard stock) was added to each tube and two empty 2 ml microcentrifuge tubes (extraction blanks). One 3 mm Tungsten carbide bead (Qiagen, UK) was then added to each tube. Samples and blanks were extracted by mechanical disruption for 10 min at a frequency of 25 Hertz on the TissueLyserII (Qiagen, UK), then 400 μ l of LC-MS grade water was added to each sample. Samples were vortexed for 5-10 sec and then centrifuged at 2400 x g for 15 min to separate the polar and non-polar phases. From each sample, 100 μ l of the chloroform (non-polar) phase was transferred into a fresh labelled 2 ml microcentrifuge tube. A further 100 μ l from each sample was pooled into an 8 ml glass vial to create a pooled quality control (QC) sample, which was gently mixed then aliquoted into 14 labelled 2 ml microcentrifuge

tubes. All samples were then dried (ramp 1) using the Savant Speedvac centrifugal concentrator (ThermoFisher Scientific, UK). Dried extracts were stored at 4°C for potential LC-MS in future.

For GC-MS, the remaining chloroform phase was removed and sample tubes were centrifuged again at 2400 x g for 15 min. From the methanol (polar) phase of each sample, 200 μ l was transferred to a 2 ml microcentrifuge tube and the remaining 200 μ l into a glass vial to make a pooled QC. Once all samples were added, the pooled QC was gently mixed and 200 μ l aliquoted into 14 labelled 2 ml microcentrifuge tubes. Samples were dried overnight using the Savant Speedvac centrifugal concentrator on ramp 5. Dried extracts were stored at 4°C until ready for derivitisation and analysis by GC-MS.

2.5.3 Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS)

Samples (including blanks and QCs) were chemically derivatised immediately before GC-MS analysis by the following method: 60 μ l of 20 mg/ml methoxylamine hydrochloride (Acros Organics, UK) in dry pyridine (Acros Organics, UK) was added to each sample and incubated at 80°C for 20 min; samples were allowed to cool then 60 μ l of N-methyl-N-(trimethylsilyl)trifluoroacetamide (MSTFA) was added to each and heated for another 20 min at 80°C. Once cooled, 20 μ l of retention index markers (n-alkanes from C12-C32) in pyridine was added to each sample tube and centrifuged at 16,000 x g for 5 min. Finally, 95 μ l of each sample was transferred to autosampler vials.

Samples were randomised to prevent any bias that may arise from the analysis order. A pooled QC sample was inserted at 11 fixed intervals in the run with the first QC vial sampled from six times to allow the machine to equilibrate.

GS-MS was performed using an Agilent/J&W DB17-MS column (30 m \times 0.25 mm \times 0.25 µm) with a 3 m \times 0.25 mm retention gap, and helium carrier at a constant flow of 1.4 ml/min. The protocol was as follows: 1 µl of sample was injected in Pulse Splitless mode using an 'empty, hot needle' technique (inlet temperature 270°C; MPS2 autosampler (Gerstel; Germany) and a 7890A Gas Chromatograph with Split/Splitless inlet (Agilent; USA)). The initial column temperature was 50°C which was held for 6 min before ramping to 300°C at 10°C/min, then held for a final 4 min. Total cycle time was therefore 42 min/sample.

Mass spectral data was acquired at 10 spectra/sec over the range of 45-800Da using a Pegasus HT time-of-flight mass spectrometer (LECO; UK) following a 450 sec solvent delay to allow solvent and reagents to elute without damaging the detector.

2.5.4 Data processing

ChromaTOF 4.5 software (LECO; UK) was used to prepare data for analysis (using the 'Reference Compare' method). Putative metabolites were identified from the NIST Mass Spectral Reference Library (NIST08/2008; National Institute of Standards and Technology/Environmental Protection Agency/National Institutes of Health Spectral 262 Library; NIST, Gaithersburg, MD, USA) and an in-house library developed at The University of Manchester.

A reference method was created specific to the mass spectra and expected retention times using the pooled QC samples. The method was edited to remove replicates, low quality spectra and erroneous identifications then applied as a target list to be searched across all samples with the following parameters set: mass spectral match threshold \geq 500, retention time tolerance ±12 sec until 700 sec (±6 sec thereafter). The most suitable internal standard (with the lowest variance across all QC injections) was then assigned to each metabolite identified across the sample set. The resulting data (metabolite:internal standard ratio) were exported for statistical analysis.

2.5.5 Data analysis

Data were imported to SIMCA-P software (Umetrics, Sartorius Stedim Biotech; Sweden) for principal component analysis (PCA) of case, control and pooled QC samples to assess the quality of the whole metabolite list. The following variables were assessed: run order, class (case versus control), smoking status, sex of fetus, maternal BMI (</>>30 kg/m²) and gestation (preterm versus term). Next the relative abundance of each identified metabolite in UmA and UmV plasma was analysed according to class (i.e. case (FGR) compared with control (AGA)). Comparisons were made between FGR UmA and AGA UmA and FGR UmV and AGA UmV. All data were analysed by unpaired t test with Welch's correction using GraphPad Prism 7 software. Where differences between case and control groups reached statistical significance (defined as P<0.05), log₂ fold change differences (case over control, Log₂ transformed) were calculated and presented visually as a heat map. Differences are described in text using fold change (case over control) (Chapter 6).

Chapter 3 Investigation of maternofetal transfer of glutamine and glutamate relative to placental size and sex of the fetus in wild-type mice

3.1 Introduction

Adequate delivery of nutrients via the placenta to the fetus is essential for appropriate fetal growth. Nutrient transfer, via transporter-mediated mechanisms in the placenta such as facilitated diffusion, active transport or exchange is therefore a key determinant of fetal growth (Desforges and Sibley, 2010). Secondarily active transport mechanisms (e.g. those that utilise the Na⁺ electrochemical gradient generated by Na⁺/K⁺/ATPase) are reliant upon the presence of transporter proteins and their corresponding abundance and activity. It has been demonstrated in WT mice that the activity of the Na⁺-dependent amino acid transporter system A, which transports small, neutral amino acids to the fetus against a concentration gradient, is inversely correlated with placental weight (per g placenta, evaluated by comparing the lightest and heaviest placentas in a litter) (Coan *et al.*, 2008).

Amino acid provision is essential to support fetal growth and development. Glutamine and glutamate are important amino acids during pregnancy. Glutamine is transported across the placenta at the highest rates of all the amino acids (Battaglia, 2000) and delivery of glutamine to the developing fetus is essential for normal fetal growth (Parimi and Kalhan, 2007). Glutamate is a precursor of glutamine (Pochini *et al.*, 2014) and key nitrogen resource; however levels in fetal circulation must be tightly controlled since high levels are neurotoxic (Tian *et al.*, 2012). The relationship between the delivery of glutamine and glutamate to the fetus (i.e. unidirectional maternofetal clearance, K_{mf}) and placenta size is therefore of interest but has never been investigated.

Glutamine is a conditionally-essential neutral amino acid that is transported from the maternal to fetal circulation by the transporter systems A, L and N (Battaglia, 2000). Glutamine is the most abundant amino acid involved in many cell processes including nucleotide synthesis, pH homeostasis and gluconeogenesis (Pochini *et al.*, 2014). Glutamine transport is mediated by system A and N transporter proteins (members SNAT1, SNAT2 and SNAT4, and SNAT5, respectively), which are predominantly localised to the maternal-facing MVM, and system L (LAT1 and LAT2, associated with ancillary protein CD98), which resides in both the MVM and fetal-facing BM (Regnault *et al.*, 2002). Uptake of glutamate into the placenta from maternal and fetal circulations is mediated by the high affinity anionic amino acid transport system X_{AG-} . However, it is generally accepted that glutamate does not cross the placenta (Battaglia, 2002; Day *et al.*, 2013; Pitkin *et al.*, 1979; Self *et al.*, 2004). System X_{AG-} members

EAAT1, EAAT2 and EAAT3 have been localised to both the apical and basal membranes of the mouse and rat placenta (Matthews *et al.*, 1998; Matthews *et al.*, 1999). Studies in animals and humans have indicated that glutamate in the placenta is primarily used for the synthesis of glutamine (Bloxam *et al.*, 1981; Chung *et al.*, 1998; Day *et al.*, 2013; Self *et al.*, 2004). Conversely, glutamate is generated from glutamine by the fetal liver and subsequently transported to the placenta where it is metabolised primarily to glutamine, to α -ketoglutarate for entry to the Krebs cycle, or to proline (see Figure 8 in Introduction) (Battaglia, 2000; Day *et al.*, 2013; Moores, Vaughn, *et al.*, 1994; Vaughn *et al.*, 1995).

Amino acid transport is dependent upon the expression and activity of specific transporter proteins. Substrate availability, cell signalling pathways and post-translational modifications can all influence transporter abundance and function. For example, mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR) signalling pathway is a positive regulator of the amino acid transporter systems A and L, known to transport glutamine, and system β (Vaughan *et al.*, 2017). mTOR operates as a nutrient sensor and plays a role in the trafficking and expression of amino acid transporters, and in itself is influenced by key pathways such as the hexosamine signaling pathway that is reliant upon an adequate supply of nutrients such as glucose and glutamine (Jansson *et al.*, 2012). Therefore not only is glutamine essential for fetal growth per se, but it is also likely to impact on mTOR-mediated nutrient signalling in the placenta, which will influence the provision of other amino acids to the fetus, and is also required for placental synthesis of glutamate (Battaglia, 2000). Understanding factors that regulate glutamine and glutamate provision to the fetus in normal pregnancy, including placental size, is important.

The mouse is a widely-used model of human pregnancy and as such, many dietary, surgical and genetic knockout mouse models of pregnancy-related complications exist. These models enable the investigation of complex mechanisms and the efficacy of novel therapies. The placentas of both mice and women are described as haemochorial since the fetal trophoblast (chorionic villi) are bathed in maternal blood (Enders and Blankenship, 1999). The mouse placenta is formed of two major but distinct zones: the labyrinthine zone, associated with exchange between maternal and fetal circulations, and the junctional zone which is associated with endocrine function (section 1.5) (Dilworth and Sibley, 2013). Nutrient transfer across the mouse placenta takes place in the labyrinthine zone, which is distinct from the villous structure found within the human placenta. Alkaline phosphatase staining has been localised to both the apical (maternal facing) plasma membrane of trophoblast layer II in the mouse placenta confirming similarities between the two species (Enders and Blankenship, 1999; Jones and Fox, 1976; Kusinski *et al.*, 2010). Furthermore, activity of the amino acid transporter system A has been shown to be comparable in vesicles from the maternal-facing apical

membrane of the mouse placenta and the human MVM (Kusinski *et al.*, 2010). Conversely, system β activity, responsible for the transport of taurine, is significantly lower in the mouse versus the human placenta (Kusinski *et al.*, 2010). This highlights the necessity to evaluate the activity of other transporter systems to establish the overall utility of comparisons between the mouse and human placenta.

Maternofetal nutrient transfer (K_{mf}) can be evaluated in relation to placental size in mice by comparing the extremes of placental weights i.e. the lightest and heaviest placentas within the same WT litter. In WT mouse litters (C57BL/6J strain) the natural variation in placental weight between the lightest and heaviest placenta is on average between 20-30% (Coan et al., 2008; Hayward et al., 2017). Despite having placentas that are at the extremes of normal, fetuses with small and large placentas maintain weights within the normal range: variation is narrower than placental weight, around 5% (Hayward et al., 2017). Investigating K_{mf} in this manner enables paired analysis within the same litter, removing external factors such as gestational age and dam to dam variation that may influence placental function. Previous studies describe placental weight-specific adaptation of maternofetal transfer of glucose, system A amino acid transport and calcium in WT mice insomuch as the lightest placentas transfer more per g placenta compared to the heaviest within a litter towards term (E18.5) (Coan et al., 2008; Hayward et al., 2017). These findings suggest that the mouse placenta can adapt in terms of placental function to ensure that the fetus reaches an appropriate weight. In the case of calcium, increased K_{mf} relative to placental size appeared to normalise reduced fetal calcium content apparent earlier in gestation (E16.5), and points to a role in ensuring appropriate mineralisation of the fetal skeleton.

Since female mice are often lighter than males (Blakley, 1978; Ishikawa *et al.*, 2006) it follows that there are a higher proportion of females with the lightest placenta within a litter, and conversely males with heaviest placentas (Hayward *et al.*, 2017). In human pregnancy fetal sex is not only a determinant of fetal growth (Almog *et al.*, 2011; Misra *et al.*, 2009; Wallace *et al.*, 2012) but males and females may employ different strategies *in utero* in response to adverse environments. Male fetuses are at greater risk of FGR, preterm delivery or *in utero* death compared with females (Clifton, 2010; Vatten and Skjaerven, 2004). Studies indicate that this may be due to sex-specific adaptations of placental function in adverse conditions such as altered glucocorticoid exposure (Stark *et al.*, 2009). In such conditions, the female placenta functionally adapts to reduce fetal growth but maintain a weight within a normal range (10th-90th centile) whereas the male placenta does not adapt gene or protein expression, which leaves the male fetus vulnerable should another adverse event occur (Clifton, 2010). A recent study reported that fetal sex did not influence K_{mf} of calcium in WT mice (Hayward *et al.*, 2010).

2017). Nevertheless, regulation of placental function and transfer of other nutrients may differ between males and females and so it is important that the effect of sex is examined.

In summary, the mouse can provide valuable insight into maternofetal nutrient transfer *in vivo* complementary to *in vitro* work on primary human tissue. The objective of this study was to determine the relationship between placental weight and unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) of the amino acids glutamine and glutamate in WT mice. Activity of system A, of which glutamine is a substrate, has been well-described in mice and humans. Studies suggest that system A activity is related to placental size (weight) to support normal fetal growth in a cohort of normal birth weight infants and WT mice (Coan *et al.*, 2008; Godfrey *et al.*, 1998). Given that glutamine is a substrate of system A, it is predicted that K_{mf} of glutamine would be similarly higher in the lightest compared with the heaviest placentas. Here, radiolabelled glutamine or glutamate (¹⁴C) were injected into the maternal circulation, as in previous studies (Coan *et al.*, 2008; Kusinski *et al.*, 2010), to monitor K_{mf} of glutamine and glutamate *in vivo* in mice, with a specific focus upon the contribution of placental size and fetal sex to these transfer processes.

3.1.1 Hypotheses

- Unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{ml}) of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate will be greater in the lightest compared to the heaviest placenta within a single WT (C57BL/6J) litter and will be accompanied by higher expression of glutamine and glutamate transporters
- Unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate will not be influenced by sex of the fetus

3.1.2 Aims

The purpose of this study was to:

- Quantify K_{mf} of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate in the lightest and heaviest placentas in a WT litter
- Examine evidence of sexual dimorphism on fetal and placental growth in a WT population and assess the effect of sex on K_{mf} of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate
- Compare protein expression of glutamine and glutamate transporters in the lightest and heaviest placentas in a WT litter

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate

Unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) of radiolabelled (¹⁴C) glutamine and glutamate in the lightest and heaviest placentas in a litter was assessed at two timepoints in pregnancy (E15.5 and E18.5) following the method described in detail in section 2.2. In brief, dams were anaesthetised with a 300 µl intraperitoneal injection of 1:1:2 combination of fentanyl/fluanisone (Hypnorm, VetPharma Ltd., Leeds, UK), Midazolam (Roche, UK) and sterile H₂0 (Braun medical Inc., Pennsylvania, USA) and a bolus of radioisotope (100 µl) was administered via a tail vein cannula. At approximately 2 min post-injection (between 90 sec-4 min ¹⁴C-glutamine and 90 sec-3 min for ¹⁴C-glutamate), dams were exsanguinated by cardiac puncture and a maternal blood sample obtained. Death was confirmed by cervical dislocation, a laparotomy was performed immediately and maternal blood samples were centrifuged centrifuged at 5000 rpm (1,845 x g) for 5 min to obtain plasma. Fetuses and placentas were trimmed of membranes, blotted and weighed. Biometric measurements were also recorded as follows: crown:rump length (from the top of the head to beginning of the tail), abdominal circumference (at the level of umbilical cord insertion) and head circumference (above the eyes and ears) using a length of cotton thread. Fetal tail tips were collected and stored at -20°C for sex determination (section 2.2.6). Fetuses and placentas were placed in an individual scintillation vial, minced and solubilised in 3 ml 3% KOH at 55°C overnight. ¹⁴C radioactivity in maternal plasma, fetal and placental tissue was measured using a β -scintillation counter (Tricarb 2100TR liquid scintillation analyzer, Packard, disintegrations per minute; dpm), from which unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) was calculated.

The lightest placentas in a WT litter are predominantly from females and the heaviest from males and so the effect of the sex of the fetus on transfer of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate was also evaluated by comparing litter means of each sex, in litters that contained at least two male and two female fetuses.

A disappearance curve was generated to determine the time at which radioisotope clearance from the maternal circulation was linear as a proxy of transfer at initial rate. ¹⁴C disappearance was comparable at E15.5 and E18.5 for both ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate (Figure 18) and thus disappearance curves for these gestational time points were pooled. Dams used for experiments were culled during the linear portion of the disappearance curve (90 sec-4 min, ¹⁴C-glutamine; 90 sec-3 min ¹⁴C-glutamate).



Figure 18: Maternal plasma disappearance curve

¹⁴C-glutamine (A) and ¹⁴C-glutamate (B) radiolabel counts (disintegrations per min) were measured in maternal plasma over 22 sec-31 min (glutamine), 26 sec-35 min (glutamate). Disappearance was linear at approximately 2 min for both gestational ages. Disappearance curves at E15.5 and E18.5 for each amino acid were therefore collated to calculate area under the curve and subsequently unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}). Glutamine E15.5 n=12 E18.5 n=15; Glutamate E15.5 n=10 E18.5 n=13.

3.2.2 Western blotting

Tissue was collected and processed (section 2.3.2) in preparation for Western blot experiments. The expression of glutamine (LAT1, LAT2, SNAT5) and glutamate (EAAT1, EAAT2) transporter proteins in mouse membrane-enriched whole placental homogenates was assessed as described in section 2.3. Specific conditions for all antibodies used can be found in Table 12. A commercially available EAAT1 blocking peptide (ab416, Abcam, Cambridge; UK) was used to evaluate EAAT1 antibody specificity. In brief, the blocking peptide was incubated with the EAAT1 primary antibody (in blocking buffer, Table 12 for specific antibody conditions) for 1 hour at RT at 5 x blocking peptide:antibody concentration. Samples were prepared in two conditions (non-boil reducing and non-boil non-reducing) and loaded onto a gel in duplicate along with a positive (mouse brain whole homogenate) and negative (dH_20) control. Following transfer, the membrane was divided in two, with half of the membrane incubated in primary antibody as per the usual protocol, and the other half incubated with the blocking peptide:antibody solution at 4°C overnight.

3.2.3 Statistical analysis

Unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) data were analysed by comparing the lightest versus heaviest placenta in a litter, or by comparing the litter average of male versus female placentas (a minimum of two of each sex per litter was required). Data were not normally distributed and therefore presented as median [range]. Data were analysed (GraphPad Prism 7 software) by Wilcoxon signed rank test and were considered statistically significant where P<0.05.

Semi-quantitative analysis of transporter protein expression as determined by protein band density (densitometry) was performed for Western blot data using Image StudioTM Lite software. Data were analysed (GraphPad Prism 7 software) using a Mann-Whitney test. A *P* value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3.2.4 Experimental flowchart

The number of animals used, and in which experiments, is laid out in the experimental flowchart (Figure 19).

WT (C57B1/6J) mice

The lightest and heaviest placentas from a given litter were used for analyses



Figure 19: Experimental flowchart illustrating use of animals in experiments

From 57 pregnant dams, 7 litters were harvested for Western blotting experiments and a total of 50 litters used for unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) experiments at E15.5 and E18.5. Fetal and placental weights were recorded where possible (E15.5 n=17; E18.5 n=23 litters). Litters were excluded from further analyses where it was not possible to determine the lightest or heaviest placenta within a given litter (i.e. if two were the same weight). Biometric measurements (crown:rump length, head circumference and abdominal circumference) were also recorded for 17 litters at E15.5 and 18 litters at E18.5. Unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) experiments were split between ¹⁴C-glutamine (E15.5 n=12; E18.5 n=15) and ¹⁴C-glutamate (E15.5 n=10; E18.5 n=13). Experiments used to construct a radioisotope disappearance curve (¹⁴C-glutamine n=10; ¹⁴C-glutamate n=10) were excluded from data analysis. *E18.5 tissue used for Western blots (8 litters) was previously banked tissue by our laboratory. Tissue was processed (to generate membrane-enriched whole placental homogenates) at the same time as E15.5 tissue.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Placental and fetal measures from the lightest and heaviest placentas in a litter

Where comparisons have been made between the lightest and heaviest placenta in a litter, data are presented as the lightest placenta expressed as a percentage of the heaviest placenta (standardised to a hypothetical value: 100%). Analyses were not made between gestational ages (i.e. E15.5 and E18.5). The lightest placenta in a litter weighed on average 23% less than the heaviest at both E15.5 and E18.5 (P<0.001) (Figure 20A). Fetuses with the lightest placentas were also significantly lighter at both gestations; however the magnitude of this difference appears less at E18.5 (P<0.05; P<0.001 at E15.5) (Figure 20B). Fetuses with the lightest placentas had a significantly higher F:P ratio than those with the heaviest placentas (P<0.001) (Figure 20C). Fetuses with the lightest placentas had a significantly shorter crown:rump length (mm) at E15.5 (P<0.001) but there was no difference the day before term (Figure 20D). Head circumference (mm) was significantly different between fetuses from lightest and heaviest placentas at E18.5 only, whilst fetuses with the lightest placentas had a significantly reduced abdominal circumference (mm) at both gestations (P<0.001) (Figure 20F).

All placental and fetal weights recorded at the two gestational ages investigated (E15.5 and E18.5) are shown in Figure 21, and the raw values comparing the lightest and heaviest placenta in a litter (median [range]) are quoted in Table 15. As shown in the fetal weight distribution curves (Figure 22A, B) fetuses with the lightest placentas were more frequently beneath the 5th centile of birth weights (E15.5 12% lightest; 0% heaviest; E18.5 4% lightest; 4% heaviest; 5th centile is represented by the dotted line; E15.5 = 0.29 g; E18.5 = 1.01 g). However, the mean fetal weight centiles for fetuses with the lightest and heaviest placentas at both gestational ages were within the normal range (i.e. the between the 10th and 90th centiles of fetal weights in this population) (Figure 22C). Fetal weight and placental weight were positively correlated at E18.5 (P<0.001) but this failed to reach statistical significance at E15.5 (P=0.068) (Figure 23).



Figure 20: Placental and fetal measures from the lightest and heaviest placentas in WT mice at E15.5 and E18.5

The lightest placenta within a given litter is expressed as a percentage of the heaviest placenta within the same litter (dotted line = 100%; median = solid line). (A) Lightest placentas weighed less than the heaviest within the same litter at E15.5 and E18.5. Fetuses with the lightest placentas were also lighter than those with the heaviest placentas at both gestational ages (B) and therefore had a higher F:P ratio at E15.5 and E18.5 (C). Crown-rump lengths (D) were shorter in fetuses from lightest versus heaviest placentas at E15.5 but not E18.5 whereas head circumference (E) was no different between groups at E15.5 but lower (lightest versus heaviest) at E18.5. Fetuses from the lightest placentas had smaller abdominal circumferences (F) than littermates with the heaviest placentas at both gestational ages studied. It was not possible to record fetal biometric measurements for all litters (see Figure 19) E15.5 n=17 E18.5 n=18/23 *** P<0.001; ** P<0.01, * P<0.05 Wilcoxon signed rank test against a hypothetical value (100%).



Figure 21 Whole litter placental and fetal weights at E15.5 and E18.5 All placental and fetal weights from a litter are shown in the above graphs. Placental weights at E15.5 (A) and E18.5 (B), and fetal weights at E15.5 (C) and E18.5 (D). E15.5 n=115 E18.5 n=157.

		E15.5			E18.5	
	Lightest	Heaviest	<i>P</i> value	Lightest	Heaviest	P value
Placental weight (g)	0.078	0.102	***	0.070	0.090	***
	[0.070-0.091]	[0.080-0.135]	< 0.001	[0.052-0.080]	[0.079-0.117]	< 0.001
Fetal weight (g)	0.387	0.422	***	1.184	1.238	* 0.014
	[0.245-0.563]	[0.343-0.602]	< 0.001	[0.959-1.355]	[1.001-1.384]	
Fetal weight:placental	4.8	4.0	***	17.0	13.7	***
weight (F:P) ratio	[3.5-6.5]	[3.0-5.8]	< 0.001	[12.8-21.6]	[10.5-15.4]	< 0.001
Crown:rump length	20	21	***	29	30	0.418
(mm)	[16-22]	[18-23]	< 0.001	[26-33]	[28-31]	
Head circumference	18	19	0.069	25	26	* 0.018
(mm)	[15-21]	[16-21]		[24-27]	[24-27]	
Abdominal	18	19	***	26	26	* 0.033
circumference (mm)	[14-19]	[17-20]	<0.001	[23-28]	[24-28]	

Table 15: Placental weight, fetal weight, F:P ratio and fetal biometric measurements from the lightest and heaviest placentas in a WT mouse litter at E15.5 and E18.5

Placental weight, fetal weight, F:P ratio and biometric data are presented in the above table as median [range]. Data analysed by Wilcoxon signed rank test *** P < 0.001 * P < 0.05 Placental weight, fetal weight and F:P ratio E15.5 n= 17 E18.5 n= 23; Biometric measurements E15.5 n=17 E18.5 n=18.



Figure 22: Fetal weight distribution curves and mean fetal weight centiles in WT mice

Fetal weight distribution curves for fetuses with the lightest (black) and heaviest (red) placentas are shown for E15.5 (A) and E18.5 (B). The dotted line represents the 5th centile of fetal weights, calculated from the entire population of fetal weights (E15.5 = 0.29 g; E18.5 = 1.01 g). The table (C) states the mean fetal weight centile \pm standard error of the mean (SEM) for the lightest and heaviest placentas at both gestational ages.



Figure 23: Relationship between placental weight and fetal weight in WT mice at E15.5 and E18.5 Fetal weight and placental weight were significantly correlated at E18.5 (*** *P*<0.001; Linear regression). There was no relationship between fetal weight and placental weight at E15.5. E15.5 n=17 litters, 120 placentas and fetuses; E18.5 n=23 litters, 153 placentas and fetuses.

3.3.2 Unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate

Unidirectional maternofetal clearance data are presented as the lightest placenta expressed as a percentage of the heaviest placenta in a given litter with the heaviest placenta represented by the dotted line at 100% in Figure 24, and the raw values (median [range]) are shown in Table 16. Experiments were performed under non-recovery surgery; therefore the same animals could not be followed up from E15.5 to E18.5 and compared directly. Unidirectional

maternofetal clearance ($K_{mb} \mu l/min/g$ placenta) of ¹⁴C-glutamine was significantly higher in the lightest versus heaviest placentas at E18.5 (*P*<0.01) (Figure 24A) but not at E15.5. Per g fetus, glutamine transfer (μ l/min/g fetus) (Figure 24C) was also higher in the lightest compared with the heaviest placentas at E18.5 (*P*<0.01) but similar at E15.5. Furthermore, total maternofetal transfer of radioisotope (i.e. irrespective of fetal or placental weight, μ l/min) was also higher in lightest versus heaviest placentas at E18.5 (*P*<0.05) (Figure 24E). There were no differences between groups at E15.5. Unidirectional maternofetal clearance ($K_{mb} \mu$ l/min/g placenta) of ¹⁴C-glutamate was significantly higher for lightest versus heaviest placentas at E18.5 (*P*<0.05) (Figure 24B) but not different at E15.5. Maternofetal transfer (μ l/min/g fetus) was significantly lower at E15.5 (*P*<0.05) but normalised towards term (Figure 24D). Total maternofetal transfer (μ l/min) was also lower across lightest compared with heaviest placentas at E15.5 (*P*<0.05) but similar between groups at E18.5 (Figure 24F).



Figure 24: Unidirectional maternofetal clearance/transfer of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate in lightest versus heaviest placentas of WT mice

Maternofetal clearance/transfer from the lightest placenta is expressed as a percentage of the heaviest placenta within the same litter (dotted line = 100%; median = solid line). Unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}, per g placenta) of ¹⁴C-glutamine (A) and ¹⁴C-glutamate (B) was significantly higher in the lightest placentas compared with the heaviest at E18.5. Maternofetal transfer of ¹⁴C-glutamine (per g fetus) and total transfer was similar at E15.5 and higher at E18.5 (C, E). ¹⁴C-glutamate transfer per g fetus and total transfer was lower at E15.5 but normalised at E18.5 (D, F). Glutamine E15.5 n=9 E18.5 n=8; Glutamate E15.5 n=6 E18.5 n=7; ** *P*<0.01, * *P*<0.05 Wilcoxon signed rank test against a hypothetical value (100%).

Unidire	ctional	E15.5			E18.5		
maternofeta	l clearance	Lightest	Heaviest	P value	Lightest	Heaviest	P value
Glutamine	K _{mf}	506.6	490.7	0.097	789.0	498.9	**
	(µl/min/g	[374.7-	[270.0-		[356.6-	[300.3-671.1]	0.008
	placenta)	754.8]	627.5]		1301.2]		
	µl/min/g	113.1	107.5	0.250	39.9	35.1	**
	fetus	[94.1-130.7]	[81.7-138.8]		[22.3-76.2]	[21.2-63.8]	0.008
	µl/min	38.2	44.8	0.680	49.8	46.2	* 0.023
		[27.0-65.7]	[30.0-65.3]		[27.1-95.0]	[26.4-78.5]	
Glutamate	K _{mf}	64.3	77.1	0.563	135.4	109.9	* 0.016
	(µl/min/g	[43.2-131.6]	[64.0-110.4]		[56.4-211.2]	[41.1-145.2]	
	placenta)						
	µl/min/g	13.3	16.8	* 0.031	7.5	8.1	0.750
	fetus	[8.6-24.7]	[14.5-25.4]		[3.3-11.6]	[3.1-11.5]	
	µl/min	4.8	7.4	* 0.031	8.6	10.4	0.813
		[3.0-10.3]	[6.8-11.6]		[3.9-13.1]	[3.7-11.9]	

Table 16: Unidirectional maternofetal clearance of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate

The raw data from unidirectional maternofetal clearance of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate experiments are expressed as (median [range]): per g placenta (K_{mf} , μ /min/g placenta), per g fetus (μ /min/g fetus) and as raw transfer (i.e. irrespective of fetal or placental measures; μ /min). The lightest and heaviest placentas within a litter were compared. Analyses were not made between gestational ages i.e. between E15.5 and E18.5. Data analysed by Wilcoxon signed rank test ** *P*<0.01 * *P*<0.05 Glutamine E15.5 n=9; E18.5. n=8; glutamate E15.5 n=6; E18.5 n=7.

3.3.3 Effect of fetal sex on placental and fetal weight

69% (9/13) and 72% (13/18) of the lightest placentas were from female fetuses at E15.5 and E18.5, respectively. Heaviest placentas were from male fetuses 69% of the time at E15.5 (9/13). At E18.5 83% (15/18) of the heaviest placentas were from male fetuses.

Data are presented in Figure 25 as the litter mean of female fetuses as a percentage of the males (minimum of two males, two females in each litter, standardised to a hypothetical value: 100%). There was no difference in placental or fetal weight between males and females at E15.5 (Figure 25A, B). At E18.5 female fetuses had lighter placentas (8% lighter; P<0.001) (Figure 25A) and weighed less than male littermates (3% lighter; P<0.05) (Figure 25B). Females had a higher F:P ratio relative to males within the same litter at E18.5 (P<0.05) but not at E15.5 (Figure 25C). Biometric measurements (crown:rump length, head circumference, abdominal circumference, Figure 25D-F) were no different according to sex at either gestation. All placental and fetal weights recorded from male and female fetuses in a litter (from litters that had a minimum two of each sex) at E15.5 and E18.5 are shown in Figure 26, and the data are collated in Table 17 and expressed as median [range].



Figure 25: Placental and fetal measures in WT mice in relation to sex of the fetus

Data are expressed as the litter mean of female fetuses as a percentage of the males (minimum of two males, two females in each litter, dotted line = 100%; median = solid line). At E18.5, females had lower placental weight (A), fetal weight (B) and a higher F:P ratio (C). Biometric measurements were not different according to sex of the fetus (D-F). E15.5 n=13 E18.5 n=16/18 ***P<0.001, * P<0.05 Wilcoxon signed rank test against a hypothetical value (100%).



Figure 26 Placental and fetal weights at E15.5 and E18.5 of male and female fetuses Placental and fetal weights from male and female fetuses in a litter (from litters that had a minimum two of each sex) are shown in the above graphs. Placental weights at E15.5 (A) and E18.5 (B), and fetal weights at E15.5 (C) and E18.5 (D). E15.5 n=48 male, n=40 female, E18.5 n=66 male, n=65 female.

		E15.5		E18.5		
	Female	Male	<i>P</i> value	Female	Male	P value
Placental weight (g)	0.085	0.089	0.160	0.078	0.083	***
	[0.077-0.097]	[0.079-0.095]		[0.064-0.084]	[0.072-0.105]	< 0.001
Fetal weight (g)	0.406	0.412	0.455	1.177	1.209	* 0.015
	[0.285-0.595]	[0.329-0.573]		[1.013-1.285]	[1.14-1.283]	
Fetal	4.7	4.8	0.435	15.5	15.1	* 0.047
weight:placental	[3.7-6.5]	[3.9-5.9]		[12.4-18.5]	[11.4-16.5]	
weight (F:P) ratio						
Crown:rump length	20	20	0.531	29	30	0.831
(mm)	[18-23]	[19-23]		[27-32]	[28-31]	
Head circumference	19	19	0.999	25	26	0.092
(mm)	[16-22]	[17-21]		[24-27]	[25-26]	
Abdominal	19	18	0.359	26	26	0.999
circumference	[17-20]	[17-20]		[25-28]	[25-27]	
(mm)						

Table 17: Placental weight, fetal weight and fetal biometric measurements from male and female fetuses in a WT mouse litter at E15.5 and E18.5

The effect of sex on fetal weight, placental weight and biometric measurements was assessed by comparing litter means from male and female fetuses within a litter (minimum two of each). Data are presented as median [range]. Data analysed by Wilcoxon signed rank test *** P<0.001 * P<0.05 Fetal weight and placental weight E15.5 n=13 E18.5 n=18; Biometric measurements E15.5 n=13 E18.5 n=16.

3.3.4 Unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate in female versus male littermates in WT mice

Unidirectional maternofetal clearance data are presented in Figure 27 as the litter mean of female fetuses as a percentage of the males (minimum of two males, two females in each litter, standardised to a hypothetical value: 100%). There were no significant differences in maternofetal clearance of glutamine or glutamate (K_{mb} , μ l/min/g placenta) (Figure 27). However, there was a non-significant trend towards higher K_{mf} of ¹⁴C-glutamine in female compared with male fetuses at E18.5 (*P*=0.055). There were no differences between groups in maternofetal transfer per g fetus or total transfer. The data are collated in Table 18 (median [range]).


Figure 27: Unidirectional maternofetal clearance/transfer of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate (male versus female)

Data are expressed as the litter mean of female fetuses as a percentage of the males (minimum of two males, two females in each litter, dotted line = 100%; median = solid line). Maternofetal transfer per g placenta (unidirectional maternofetal clearance, K_{mf}), per g fetus, or total transfer of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate was no different between males and females at E15.5 or E18.5. Glutamine E15.5 n=7 E18.5 n=8; Glutamate E15.5 n=6 E18.5 n=6, Wilcoxon signed rank test against a hypothetical value (100%).

Unidirectional		E15.5			E18.5		
maternofetal clearance		Female	Male	<i>P</i> value	Female	Male	<i>P</i> value
Glutamine	K _{mf}	53.8	48.1	0.156	61.4	58.1	0.078
	(µl/min/g	[36.7-72.7]	[35.5-62.2]		[38.0-85.7]	[32.8-89.7]	
	placenta)						
	µl/min/g	112.3	101.6	0.375	42.3	38.8	0.313
	fetus	[91.8-133.1]	[88.1-137.8]		[26.4-69.8]	[21.8-66.5]	
	µl/min	42.5	40.2	0.219	48.2	47.3	0.195
		[34.9-66.7]	[33.4-60.4]		[32.0-87.3]	[26.8-80.6]	
Glutamate	K _{mf}	7.7	7.2	0.563	13.3	11.2	0.219
	(µl/min/g	[6.2-10.6]	[6.1-12.2]		[5.3-15.7]	[4.9-15.1]	
	placenta)						
	µl/min/g	15.8	15.0	0.094	8.7	8.0	0.999
	fetus	[13.7-23.8]	[12.2-23.4]		[3.5-10.8]	[3.4-10.8]	
	µl/min	6.5	6.3	0.625	9.6	9.4	0.594
		[4.8-9.7]	[5.3-10.7]		[3.9-11.5]	[4.1-12.9]	

Table 18: Unidirectional maternofetal clearance of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate in relation to sex of the fetus

The effect of sex on unidirectional maternofetal clearance of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate was assessed by comparing litter means from male and female fetuses within a litter (minimum two of each). Data are presented as median [range] and expressed per g placenta (K_{mf} , μ l/min/g placenta), per g fetus (μ l/min/g fetus) and as raw transfer (i.e. irrespective of fetal or placental measures; μ l/min). Data analysed by Wilcoxon signed rank test ** P<0.01 * P<0.05 Glutamine E15.5 n=7; E18.5. n=8; glutamate E15.5 n=6; E18.5 n=6.

3.3.5 Expression of transporter proteins important for the transport of glutamine and glutamate in lightest versus heaviest placentas of WT mice

Expression of known glutamine and glutamate transporter proteins were assessed by Western blot with the intensity of bands detected at the expected molecular weight quantified using densitometry. Representative blots are shown in Figure 28. All data were normalised to the housekeeping proteins β -tubulin or β -actin, the expression of which was consistent between groups (Figure 28). Due to the use of radioisotopes, placental tissue was harvested for Western blot experiments separately to unidirectional maternofetal clearance studies and so it was not possible to perform both techniques using the same animals/tissues. At E15.5 57% (4/7) of the heaviest placentas were from male fetuses, and 71% (5/7) of the lightest placentas from female fetuses. At E18.5 100% (8/8) of the heaviest placentas were from male fetuses and 88% (7/8, unable to determine sex of one fetus) of the lightest placentas from female fetuses.

A MVM isolate (human placental maternal-facing membrane) was included as a positive control during antibody optimisation to validate band location. The specificity of the secondary antibody was confirmed by adding secondary antibody alone (no primary antibody). Expression of the glutamine transporter proteins LAT1, LAT2 (system L) and SNAT5 (system N) was also assessed. LAT1 expression (band detected at the appropriate molecular weight of 40 kDa) was significantly higher (P<0.05) in the lightest versus heaviest placentas at E18.5, with a trend towards higher expression at E15.5 (P=0.063) (Figure 29A). A 75 kDa band was also present when probing for LAT1 under reducing conditions (as visible in

representative blot for β -tubulin in Figure 28A) as has been previously described under reducing conditions by Ellinger *et al.* (2016). LAT2 expression (at the expected size of 49 kDa Figure 28B; as reported by Ellinger *et al.*, 2016; Segawa *et al.*, 1999) was unchanged at E18.5 and poor LAT2 expression at E15.5 led to variable and inconsistent values when analysed by densitometry (Figure 29B).

SNAT5 (system N) expression was no different between groups at either gestation (Figure 29C). The band present at 52 kDa (Figure 28C, predicted molecular weight) was used for analysis; a clear band was also present at this molecular weight for the positive controls (human MVM and mouse brain whole homogenate samples). Additional bands were present at 40 kDa. The presence of additional bands has been acknowledged within the antibody manufacturer's datasheet; however the identity of these bands is unknown.

In our laboratory we have been unable to find antibodies for the system A transporters that produce a reliable signal of the correct predicted size. It was therefore not possible to assess the expression of system A transporter proteins (of which MeAIB and glutamine are substrates).

Expression of system X_{AG} transporter proteins EAAT1 and EAAT2 (responsible for placental glutamate uptake) was no different between groups (Figure 29D, E). EAAT1 has a predicted molecular weight of 60 kDa. Previously published reports using the same anti-EAAT1 antibody (EAAT1 is also known as GLAST: GLutamate ASpartate Transporter) have described the presence of multiple bands at 50 kDa and 150 kDa (Martinez-Lozada *et al.*, 2014). A blocking peptide was used in the current study to ensure the validity of the band present at 35 kDa, where MVM expression was also localised. The 35 kDa band was abolished in the presence of the blocking peptide (Figure 28E), and this band was used for analysis by densitometry. EAAT2 expression was quantified using the band present at the predicted molecular weight of 62 kDa (Figure 28F).



Figure 28: Representative blots illustrating expression of glutamate and glutamine transporter proteins

Shown are representative Western blots of glutamine (system L: LAT1, system N: SNAT5) and glutamate (system X_{AG} .: EAAT1, EAAT2) transporter proteins in the lightest (L) and heaviest (H) placentas at E15.5 and E18.5. Corresponding Western blots for a housekeeping protein β -actin or β -tubulin are shown below each blot. An EAAT1-specific blocking peptide was used to ensure confidence in the EAAT1 antibody (E). The addition of the blocking peptide (5 x) in both non-boil reducing (NBR) and non-boil non-reducing (NBNR) conditions abolished the band at 37 kDa. M= marker, brain= mouse brain whole homogenate, kidney= mouse kidney whole homogenate, MVM= human microvillous membrane, dH₂0= deionised water.



Figure 29: Expression of glutamine and glutamate transporter proteins at E15.5 and E18.5

All data were normalised to β -tubulin or β -actin (see graph axes), the expression of which was stable across groups. Expression of the glutamine transporter protein LAT1 (system L) was significantly higher in the lightest versus heaviest placentas at E18.5. There were no differences in the expression of glutamine transporter proteins LAT 2 (system L), SNAT5 (system N), or glutamate transporter proteins EAAT1 (D) or EAAT2 (E, system X_{AG}), at either gestational age. Poor LAT2 expression at E15.5 led to the variable results when analysed by densitometry (B). E15.5 n=6/7 E18.5 n=4/8 *P<0.05, Wilcoxon signed rank test.

3.4 Discussion

The influence of placental size (weight) on placental transport capacity in a WT mouse litter was examined by assessing K_{mf} across the lightest and the heaviest placentas in a litter, using strategies previously described (Coan *et al.*, 2008; Hayward *et al.*, 2017).

3.4.1 Placental and fetal measures from the lightest and heaviest placentas in a WT mouse litter

The lightest placentas were significantly lighter than the heaviest in a litter at both E15.5 and E18.5 (23% on average). At E15.5 the lightest placenta weighed 4% less and the heaviest placenta 5% more than the median placental weight. At E18.5 the differences were within a narrower range -2%/+3% (-lightest/+heaviest compared to median). Consistent with other studies, peak placental weight was reached at E15.5: median weights were 0.078 g for lightest placentas compared with 0.102 g for heaviest, weights at E18.5 were 90% and 88% of that at E15.5, respectively.

Fetuses from the lightest placentas were significantly lighter at E15.5 and E18.5, yet the magnitude of this difference was smaller towards term (13% at E15.5 and 4% at E18.5). These data are consistent with previous findings (E15.5 12%, E18.5 4% [not statistically significant] and E16.5 11%, E18.5 6%; Coan *et al.*, 2008; Hayward *et al.*, 2017, respectively). The range of fetal weights in the current study are comparable to those reported previously. However, raw values reported by our laboratory (the current study and Hayward *et al.*, 2017; comparing data at E18.5 as E15.5 was not examined in the study by Hayward *et al.*, 2017) are slightly greater than the range reported by Coan *et al.* (2008).

Placental weights at E18.5 reported in this chapter and by Hayward et al. (2017) were lighter (range 0.052 g-0.117 g and 0.061 g-0.097 g, respectively) than those reported by others (approximate range 0.060 g-0.190 g, values not quoted in text) (Coan et al., 2008). A potential reason for the discrepancy could be different suppliers: mice used for the purposes of this thesis and by Hayward et al. (2017) were obtained from Envigo, UK whilst Coan et al. (2008) used an established in-house colony. However, it is reasonable to suggest that in the 10 years between the current study and that of Coan et al. (2008) genetic drift may have occurred. Fetal weight:placental weight ratio (F:P ratio) data from our laboratory (data presented in this chapter and by Hayward et al., 2017) were higher than F:P ratio reported by Coan et al. (2008). Here, and in all previously published studies (Coan et al., 2008; Hayward et al., 2017) the F:P ratio (g of fetus supported per g placenta) was significantly higher for the lightest placentas at E15.5 (where reported) and E18.5. This indicates that the lightest placentas support more g fetal weight compared with the heaviest placentas in all studies discussed above, despite some differences in raw values. Importantly, in the current study fetuses from both the lightest and heaviest placentas were within the normal fetal weight range (10th-90th centile) (Figure 22). Fetuses with the lightest and heaviest placentas in a litter were therefore not pathologically small or large which suggests that in normal mouse pregnancy a placenta adapts to ensure appropriate fetal growth, thus preventing fetal under- or overgrowth.

Fetal biometry was assessed by measuring crown:rump length, head circumference and abdominal circumference. In humans the growth of pathologically small, growth restricted infants can be described as symmetric or asymmetric; the latter denotes growth that is described as 'head sparing', i.e. brain development is prioritised at the expense of the rest of the body, particularly abdominal organs such as the fetal liver (Hindmarsh *et al.*, 2002). Asymmetric growth is therefore associated with a normal fetal head circumference and reduced abdominal circumference. In the current study, fetuses with the lightest placentas had a reduced abdominal circumference at E15.5 (6%) and E18.5 (4%) and were significantly shorter, as evidenced by a reduced crown:rump length, at E15.5 (7%). Conversely, head circumference was similar between groups at E15.5 but approximately 3% smaller for fetuses with the lightest placentas at E18.5. This suggests that growth was not asymmetrical (since both head and abdominal circumference were reduced towards term). All measurements were made by operators trained using the same standard operating procedures. Although there will be a degree of margin for error, we have nevertheless identified small but consistent differences between groups.

In the present study fetal and placental weight were correlated at E18.5 but not E15.5, which indicates that placental weight is an important determinant of fetal size towards term. These data conflict with previously published findings in mice (Coan et al., 2008), but compare favourably with data that show a positive correlation between placental weight and birth weight in human pregnancy (Hayward et al., 2016; Thame et al., 2001; Thame et al., 2004). Coan et al. (2008) reported a correlation between fetal weight and placental weight at E16 (here equivalent to E15.5) but no relationship between measures by E19 (E18.5). This discrepancy may be explained by a wider range of placental weights, specifically much heavier placentas ($\sim 0.05-0.19$ g at both gestational ages) but similar fetal weight range ($\sim 0.20-0.60$ g at E15.5 and 0.60-1.40 g at E18.5), compared to the current study (placental weight range of 0.07-0.14 g at E15.5 and 0.05-0.12 g at E18.5) that may have influenced this result. Collating data presented in this chapter with data previously gathered by our laboratory (total n=218 fetuses and placentas) does not alter the strong relationship between fetal weight and placental weight at E18.5. Unfortunately, additional data at E15.5 are unavailable. The extremes of placental weights reported by Coan et al. (2008), and a particular skew towards considerably heavier placentas, likely contribute to the lack of correlation between fetal and placental weight at E18.5.

3.4.2 Investigating the effect of placental weight on unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate

The major finding of this chapter was that unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf} per g placenta) of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate was significantly higher at E18.5 when comparing the lightest and the heaviest placentas in a litter. At E18.5, K_{mf} of glutamine and glutamate in the lightest and heaviest placentas was significantly different from the litter mean (P<0.05; data not shown). To the best of my knowledge, this is the first time that placental transfer of these two amino acids has been assessed in the mouse *in vivo*. K_{mf} was calculated using the interpolated values from the relevant disappearance curve (Figure 18). Curves were generated for both radiolabelled amino acids by combining the single data points from multiple mice euthanased at time points between approximately 20 sec and 35 min postradioisotope injection. A one-phase exponential decay model was fitted to the curve, and experimental procedures were performed at approximately 2 min; a time at which disappearance from the maternal circulation was linear, as previously described (Bond *et al.*, 2006a).

K_{mf} of MeAIB, a non-metabolisable analogue specific for system A, has previously been assessed in relation to placental weight in WT mice (Coan et al., 2008). K_{mf} of MeAIB is significantly higher across the lightest compared with the heaviest placentas of a WT litter at E15.5 and, to a greater extent, at E18.5 (Coan et al., 2008). Glutamine is a substrate of the system A amino acid transporter family, therefore it is expected that a proportion of total K_{mf} across the intact placenta would be attributed to this transporter system. The relative differences between system A (MeAIB) transport across the lightest and heaviest placentas reported by Coan et al. (2008) were greater than the differences in glutamine K_{mf} reported in the current study. However, it is important to stress that direct comparisons cannot be made between results: Coan et al. (2008) reported raw radioisotope counts whereas in the current study K_{mf} was calculated relative to radioisotope levels in maternal plasma. It is expected that other transporter systems (L and N on the maternal-facing membrane) also contribute to placental K_{mf} of glutamine. SNAT5 (isoform of system N transporter family) has been localised to the MVM but not the BM in humans (Day et al., 2013; Regnault et al., 2002). Therefore this transporter system likely contributes to placental uptake of glutamine but not release into the fetal circulation. System L transporter members LAT1 and LAT2 facilitate the exchange of substrates to modulate the syncytiotrophoblast amino acid pool (Jansson, 2001; Regnault et al., 2002). The results of the current study indicate that K_{mf} of glutamine across the lightest placenta (versus heaviest in a WT mouse litter) is significantly higher at E18.5. This is likely due to higher abundance or activity of glutamine-specific transporter proteins; however the relative contribution of each transporter system cannot be delineated from these data.

It is generally accepted, in humans and non-human primates at least, that glutamate does not cross the placenta (see section 1.7). In the human placenta, glutamate is taken up from both the maternal and fetal circulations and metabolised within the placenta, primarily to glutamine, for release into the maternal circulation, or to α -ketoglutarate, for entry to the Krebs cycle, or to proline (Day et al., 2013). Glutamate is a substrate of the Na⁺-dependent transporter system X_{AG}; isoforms EAAT1, EAAT2 and EAAT3 have been localised to the apical and basal membranes of the mouse and rat placenta by immunohistochemistry (Matthews et al., 1998; Matthews et al., 1999). However the activity of glutamate transporters in mice has not been determined. It is not possible to ascertain whether the ¹⁴C radiolabel measured in maternal plasma and fetal/placental tissues in the current study remained associated with glutamate or was metabolised within the syncytiotrophoblast. Although some metabolism would be anticipated, data from previous studies in the pregnant rhesus monkey, performed over a series of hours reported that 69-88% of radiolabel infused into the maternal circulation remained associated with glutamate (Stegink et al., 1975). Perfusion of the isolated human placenta for extended periods of time (5 hours) has shown that glutamate is primarily metabolised to glutamine within the placenta (Day et al., 2013). These authors demonstrated that ¹⁵N-labelled glutamate inflow reached a steady state at 3 hours of perfusion, although metabolic products were not visible/of very low abundance within the first hour (Day et al., 2013). Therefore, it is unlikely that significant metabolism of ¹⁴C-glutamate would occur during the rapid time course of the current experiment (approximately 2 min between radioisotope injection and tissue harvest) and it is expected that the majority of glutamate would have remained intact in the maternal circulation although this remains to be confirmed. That the majority of radioisotope reaches the placenta intact means that the data presented in this chapter are still relevant with regards to placental handling of glutamate (discussed further in section 3.4.5). However, the rate of glutamate metabolism, and metabolic pools into which this feeds has not yet been reported in the mouse placenta.

Glutamate is essential to support mitochondrial function and placental metabolism, providing energy and metabolic intermediates via the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle, and for maintaining the amino acid pool (Day *et al.*, 2013; Tapiero *et al.*, 2002). Glutamate is neurotoxic in high levels and so must be tightly controlled (Tian *et al.*, 2012). Inadequate, or altered glutamate availability will therefore have implications for fetal and placental metabolism. Furthermore, given that glutamate and glutamine are interconverted in both the placenta and fetal liver, glutamate levels in the syncytiotrophoblast and/or in fetal (umbilical) arterial blood could also have knock-on effects for glutamine production and subsequent provision to the fetus.

Unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate is the volume of maternal plasma theoretically cleared of isotope per unit time, expressed relative to

individual placental weight (per g placenta). It can also be helpful to express maternofetal transfer relative to fetal weight (μ l/min/g fetus) or irrespective of fetal or placental weight (total radioisotope transfer or 'raw transfer') to interrogate the relationship between nutrient transfer and fetal/placental weight. The total amount of nutrients that reach the fetus is a key determinant of fetal growth.

Data were expressed per g fetus to explore whether transfer of glutamine or glutamate was appropriate, relative to the size of the fetus (Figure 24). Maternofetal glutamine transfer (per g fetus) was similar between the lightest and heaviest placentas at E15.5, yet was higher for the lightest placentas at E18.5. This indicates that the lightest placentas over-compensate and deliver more glutamine than their heavier counterparts relative to fetal size, presumably to support a fetus of an appropriate weight. Irrespective of fetal or placental weight, total radioisotope transfer ('raw transfer') of glutamine was also significantly higher across the lightest versus heaviest placentas at E18.5 (no different at E15.5). Towards term (E18.5) the median difference in fetal weight supported by the lightest and heaviest placentas is 5%, compared to 13% at E15.5. This narrowing of fetal weights (by 8%) occurs in parallel with the mechanisms described above; total glutamine transfer across the lightest placentas is 9% higher at E18.5 compared with the heaviest placentas. Taken together, this evidence suggests that the lightest placentas adapt by significantly exceeding total maternofetal glutamine transfer compared with the heaviest placentas in order to meet fetal requirements for growth. Continued compensation into the final 12-24 hours of pregnancy would be expected in order to achieve similar fetal weights between groups.

Conversely, maternofetal transfer of glutamate per g fetus, and total maternofetal transfer irrespective of fetal or placental weight was lower for the lightest placentas at E15.5 but similar between groups at E18.5. Normalisation of glutamate transfer between groups mirrors the catch up in fetal weight towards term, highlighting that glutamate may be an important amino acid for fetal growth. Increased maternofetal glutamate clearance per g placenta (K_{mf}) compensates for the reduced placental size and thus maintains appropriate total transfer of glutamate to the fetus near term.

Taken together, these data are consistent with previous reports that the placenta demonstrates functional adaptations in terms of maternofetal transfer of glucose, calcium and system A amino acid transport to sustain appropriate fetal growth (Coan *et al.*, 2008; Hayward *et al.*, 2017). It has been previously shown in WT mice that the lightest placentas adapt with a relative increase in the labyrinthine (nutrient exchange) zone at E15.5, whilst adaptations are primarily functional towards term; nutrient transport capacity (MeAIB, inulin, glucose) is higher relative to placental size (Coan *et al.*, 2008). The modification of placental nutrient

supply capacity here in terms of K_{mf} of glutamine and glutamate is likely to maintain the fetus on a normal growth trajectory.

3.4.3 Expression of amino acid transporters in the lightest and heaviest placentas

A potential mechanism driving higher K_{mf} in the lightest placentas is increased abundance of transporters known to be important for placental transport of glutamine/glutamate. Thus, expression of putative glutamine and glutamate transporters was next investigated in the lightest and heaviest placentas in a litter.

The sex of the fetus is known to impact on fetal growth and placental function in some instances, and was a significant limitation of the data discussed hereafter. Female fetuses are born lighter than males and respond differently to environmental stress (Blakley, 1978; Clifton, 2010; Ishikawa *et al.*, 2006). The lightest placenta in a WT mouse litter is more likely to belong to a female fetus, and conversely, the heaviest placenta is more often from a male fetus (Hayward *et al.*, 2017). 57% (4/7) of the heaviest placentas assessed by Western blotting were from males and 71% (5/7) of the lightest placentas were from females at E15.5. Close to term (E18.5) 100% (8/8) of the heaviest placentas belonged to male fetuses and 88% (7/8, unable to determine sex from one of the fetuses) of the lightest placentas were from females. The effect of sex cannot be controlled for in the context of the current study; however there was no effect of sex on K_{mf} of glutamine or glutamate (Figure 27, discussed in more detail in section 3.4.4) which supports the hypothesis that transporter expression would be similar between males and females.

Glutamine is a substrate of three distinct transporter systems (system A, L and N) each with unique isoforms of differing affinity for glutamine. The relative abundance of several transporter proteins in membrane-enriched fragments of the lightest and heaviest placentas was assessed by Western blot (Figure 28). System L members LAT1 and LAT2 are Na⁺⁻ dependent antiporters that are localised to the apical and basal membranes of the syncytiotrophoblast in mice and humans (Cleal *et al.*, 2018; Regnault *et al.*, 2002). Initially, activity of LAT2 was thought to predominate on the basal membrane (Kudo and Boyd, 2001); however, more recent studies have identified activity consistent with LAT1 activity (Cleal *et al.*, 2011). For LAT1 and LAT2 to be functional, each must be associated with the heavy chain CD98. CD98 is ubiquitous and essential for the shuttling of LAT1 and LAT2 (amongst other light chain transporters) to the membrane and subsequent stability (Wagner *et al.*, 2001). Glutamine is a major substrate of LAT2, whereas LAT1 has less glutamine specificity (Pochini *et al.*, 2014). LAT1 and LAT2 are antiporters (1:1 stoichiometry) working in collaboration with other nutrient transporters to ensure net amino acid uptake is achieved (del Amo *et al.*, 2008; Pochini *et al.*, 2014). A dominant role of LAT1 is to maintain the amino acid pool within the cell. LAT1 is involved in the uptake of large neutral amino acids and works in concert with Na⁺-dependent unidirectional transporters such as systems A and N (Pochini *et al.*, 2014; Verrey, 2003). In the current study LAT1 expression (band detected at the predicted molecular weight of 40 kDa) was significantly higher in the lightest versus heaviest placentas at E18.5 but LAT2 expression (49 kDa, as previously reported) (Ellinger *et al.*, 2016; Segawa *et al.*, 1999) was similar between groups at both gestational ages (Figure 29).

Ingestion of essential amino acids has been shown to induce a transient increase in LAT1, CD98 and SNAT2 mRNA and protein expression in human skeletal muscle, which could be due to mTORC1 activation (Drummond *et al.*, 2010). However, the mechanism which underpins increased LAT1 expression in the lightest versus heaviest placentas reported in the present study is not yet clear. In the context of these results, LAT1 may therefore have a role in maintaining the amino acid pool within the syncytiotrophoblast of the lightest placentas, thus contributing to the amount of amino acids available for exchange between the placenta and fetus, whilst net uptake is achieved via other transporter mechanisms.

SNAT5 is a Na⁺-dependent system N co-transporter and also contributes to glutamine transfer. SNAT5 is polarised to the MVM in humans, thus whilst SNAT5 may be important for the uptake of glutamine into the syncytiotrophoblast from the maternal circulation, it is unlikely that it contributes to glutamine efflux to the fetal circulation (Day *et al.*, 2013; Regnault *et al.*, 2002). In this study, expression of SNAT5 (52 kDa) was no different between the lightest and heaviest placentas in a WT mouse litter, suggesting that it is not an underpinning mechanism for the increased K_{mf} of glutamine observed in lightest versus heaviest placentas.

It was not possible to assess expression of system A transporter proteins, of which glutamine and MeAIB are substrates, due to a lack of reliable commercially available antibodies. Therefore, we are unable to comment on the relative abundance of these transporter proteins in membrane-enriched placental fragments. However, increased expression of the gene encoding SNAT2 (slc38a2) has previously been reported in the lightest versus heaviest placentas in a WT litter at E18.5 (other isoforms expressed in the placenta, slc38a1/SNAT1 and slc38a4/SNAT4, were unchanged) (Coan *et al.*, 2008). SNAT1 and SNAT2 have a preference for a broad range of substrates including glutamine whilst SNAT4 is generally not considered to transport glutamine (Schiöth *et al.*, 2013). A study conducted by Palii *et al.* (2004) identified intron 1 as an amino acid response element (AARE) reponsible for regulation of slc38a2 transcription in the human and mouse genes. Collectively, these studies outline a potential role for SNAT2-mediated glutamine transport in the observed changes in the current study, and that slc38a2 expression is up-regulated in response to amino acid deprivation. System X_{AG} transporter proteins EAAT1, EAAT2 and EAAT3 mediate placental glutamate uptake across the basal and apical membranes of the placenta (Noorlander *et al.*, 2004). In the current study the relative abundance of EAAT1 and EAAT2 in the lightest versus heaviest placentas was assessed and was not significantly different at E15.5 or E18.5.

Transporter abundance and placental transport capacity do not always correlate since modification of transport proteins, for example phosphorylation, can alter their activity without changing expression (Roos et al., 2009; Vaughan et al., 2017). It was not possible to interrogate this directly by comparing the same placental tissue in K_{mf} and Western analyses since tissues that have been exposed to radioisotopes in clearance studies cannot be used for Western blot. Speculatively, adaptations in placental glutamate transfer may be a result of post-translational modifications or signalling mechanisms that drive up-regulation of transporter activity where placental size is insufficient. Physiological levels of IGF2 maintain normal EAAT1, EAAT2 and EAAT3 expression (Matthews et al., 1999) and system X_{AG-} activity is increased during periods of amino acid deprivation in a kidney cell line (Plakidou-Dymock and McGivan, 1993). In the central nervous system EAAT2 is post-translationally modified by the addition of a small ubiquitin-like modifier (SUMO) to an accessible lysine. SUMOvlation causes the transporter to be internalised and available for response from an intracellular pool (Foran et al., 2014). The enzyme protein kinase C (PKC, a downstream target of mTORC2) has also been shown to regulate EAAT3 expression via intracellular trafficking in a cell-type specific manner (Kanai and Hediger, 2003). In human placentas EAAT3 is only expressed in the syncytiotrophoblast in early pregnancy (~8 weeks of gestation) and towards term EAAT3 is localised to the fetal endothelium (Noorlander et al., 2004). If EAAT3 has a similar distribution in the mouse placenta, it is likely that EAAT3 did not make a significant contribution to K_{mf} of glutamate at the time periods investigated in the current study (E15.5 and E18.5). Finally, in rats treated with an infusion of MeAIB to induce FGR, K_{mf} of MeAIB was reduced as was activity of system A (of which glutamine is a substrate) and system X_{AG-} (mediates glutamate transport) in tandem with decreased EAAT1, EAAT2, EAAT3 and EAAT4 expression (Cramer et al., 2002).

The nutrient sensing pathway mTOR (mechanistic target of rapamycin) is a ubiquitously expressed serine/threonine kinase which functions as a 'nutrient sensor', regulating protein translation in response to nutrient availability (particularly amino acids) and other signals such as energy (glucose, ATP) and stress (Roos *et al.*, 2009). mTOR is a potential mechanism by which system A and L transporter activity could be modified in line with the findings of this chapter: i.e. altered K_{mf} of glutamine and glutamate in the absence of differences in overall transporter protein abundance, aside from LAT1. Inhibition of mTOR leads to decreased system A, L and β transporter activity but no difference in protein expression (Roos *et al.*, 2009).

2009) which suggests that mTOR regulates amino acid transporters at the post-translational stage. mTOR complex 1 (mTORC1) is a positive regulator of amino acid transporter system A and L transporter activity (Roos *et al.*, 2007; Roos *et al.*, 2009; Rosario *et al.*, 2013). Activity of mTORC1 is regulated by several upstream signals such as AMP kinase, the AAR (amino acid response) signal transduction pathway and GSK3 (glycogen synthase kinase 3), and is altered in response to maternal nutrient availability (Jansson *et al.*, 2012). Cellular glutamine uptake and efflux by exchange, in the presence of other essential amino acids, has been shown to activate the mTOR pathway in other tissues, however this has not yet been shown in placenta (Nicklin *et al.*, 2009). Inhibition of mTORC1 activates NEDD4-2 which ubiquitinates transporter proteins such as LAT1, and this inhibits their insertion (trafficking) to the plasma membrane (Rosario *et al.*, 2013; Rosario *et al.*, 2016). It is not known whether other amino acid transporter systems important for glutamine and glutamate transport (systems N, X_{AG}) are regulated by mTOR.

The data presented in this chapter reveal altered K_{mf} of glutamine and glutamate in the absence of any differences in overall transporter protein abundance, with the exception of LAT1. It is therefore possible that post-translational modifications and mechanisms such as mTOR are altered between the lightest and heaviest placentas. mTOR activity in relation to placental size has not yet been explored, but is worthy of investigation in light of these results.

3.4.4 Investigating the effect of sex on unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate

The sex of the fetus is a determinant of fetal growth and survival in humans. It has been known for more than 50 years that boys are larger at birth (Lubchenco *et al.*, 1963). Being male is also an independent risk factor for poor pregnancy outcome (Di Renzo *et al.*, 2007). Many studies have disregarded the sex of the fetus, pooling placental samples despite knowledge of the differing strategies employed by the male and female conceptus; there is mounting evidence that male and female fetuses and their placentas employ differing strategies to deal with complications *in utero* (for review see Clifton, 2010). Yet, current understanding of the effect of sex on placental function, in particular placental nutrient transfer, is lacking (Walker *et al.*, 2017). Here we explore the influence of sex on fetal and placental weight and K_{mf} of glutamine and glutamate.

In mice, females are more likely to have the lightest placenta within a litter, and conversely males the heaviest (Blakley, 1978; Ishikawa *et al.*, 2006). In the current study female fetuses and their placentas weighed less than males at E18.5, with no difference observed at E15.5. Females also had a higher F:P ratio compared with males at E18.5. However, biometric measurements did not differ according to sex. These data conflict with some reports in a

human population that males have larger head and abdominal circumferences in correlation with a higher birth weight compared with females (Davis *et al.*, 1993). However, some studies have found no difference in head or abdominal circumference according to sex (Gale *et al.*, 2001). It is feasible that techniques available in the current study to take biometric measurements were not sensitive enough to detect a change this small in mice where the reduction in fetal weight (females versus males) was comparatively small (average 3%).

The data presented in this chapter are in alignment with previous works by this group; Hayward *et al.* (2017) reported that females were lighter than males but that the overall effect on K_{mf} of calcium was slight, just failing to reach statistical significance, and thus not a major contributor to the main findings of the study. In the current study, K_{mf} of glutamine (per g placenta) was 19% higher across placentas of females compared with males, whereas K_{mf} was 53% higher across lightest versus heaviest placentas. Other previous works that have compared transport capacity of the lightest and heaviest placentas in a litter did not report effects of fetal sex (Coan *et al.*, 2008); however, given the data reported here and elsewhere it is likely that there would be a skew within the dataset of Coan *et al* (2008), i.e. a larger proportion of male fetuses with the heaviest placentas, and female fetuses with the lightest placentas.

There have been few studies that directly investigate the effect of fetal sex in mouse pregnancy, though recent data show that females are more susceptible to hypoxia *in utero;* females are more severely growth restricted, have smaller placentas and exhibit evidence of hypoxia-induced oxidative stress compared with males exposed to the same conditions (Cuffe *et al.*, 2014; Matheson *et al.*, 2016).

In this study, the effect of fetal sex on K_{mf} was assessed by comparing the litter mean of females compared with that of males (minimum of two in each group per litter). In an ideal scenario the lightest placenta from a male fetus would be compared with the heaviest placenta from a male fetus within the same litter, with the same analysis carried out for female fetuses. However, this is not possible in practice due to the relatively small litter sizes which results in a narrow range of placental weights between the lightest and heaviest male or female placenta. The sex of the fetus did not significantly influence K_{mf} of glutamine or glutamate although there was a trend towards higher K_{mf} of glutamine for females versus males. Although sex does influence fetal and placental weight and, there is a trend towards an increase in K_{mf} of transfer in females (*P*=0.055), sexual dimorphism cannot fully account for the differences (section 3.3.2) in K_{mf} of glutamine and glutamate described according to placental weight.

3.4.5 Methodological considerations

The adaptation of a method by Flexner and Pohl (Flexner and Pohl, 1941) has enabled the quantification of unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) of substrates across the intact placenta *in vivo* including mannitol, calcium, glucose and MeAIB (Bond *et al.*, 2006b; Bond *et al.*, 2008; Coan *et al.*, 2008; Dilworth *et al.*, 2010; Hayward *et al.*, 2017). This method is valuable in that K_{mf} can be evaluated *in vivo* in relation to placental weight, sex of the fetus and/or in models of pregnancy pathologies such as fetal growth restriction (FGR). The use of MeAIB in previous studies was advantageous as it is a non-metabolisable analogue specific to system A transporter. It could be that using this method to measure clearance underestimates true transport since the tracer will have to equilibrate with the various pools of amino acids in the placenta (Cleal *et al.*, 2018; Velázquez *et al.*, 1976). Equilibration may be achieved faster in a smaller placenta, but this has not yet been investigated in the mouse.

In the current study, it is possible that there is metabolism of injected ¹⁴C-glutamate in the mother and/or in the placenta, and that a radiolabelled metabolite of glutamate was transferred to the fetus. Based on previous studies (Stegink *et al.*, 1975), it is very likely that radiolabelled glutamate is delivered intact to the placenta and that radioactive counts in the fetus will reflect the amount of radiolabelled glutamate taken up by the placenta since any radiolabelled metabolite, e.g. glutamate, glutamine, glucose or lactate, in the fetus must have got there following uptake of glutamate into the placenta. Metabolism of glutamate in the mouse over the rapid timecourse of the experiment (~2 min) is unknown and is a question for future research.

Ideally, radioisotope levels in the maternal circulation would be deduced from an average of serial maternal blood samples drawn during each experiment. This is not possible in the mouse due to the very small blood volume, typically 2-2.5 ml for a pregnant mouse (NC3RS, 2014a). Therefore, a single maternal blood sample was collected at the time of euthanisation by cardiac puncture, and collated with data from various time points between ~20 sec and 35 min to construct a disappearance curve. The area under the curve was then used to estimate radioisotope in maternal blood samples, from which K_{mf} was calculated.

The abundance of putative glutamine and glutamate transporter proteins in membraneenriched fragments derived from the lightest and the heaviest placentas in a litter was assessed by Western blot to assess the relationship between protein expression and amino acid transfer. A mixed membrane preparation (membrane-enriched fragments drawn from high-speed centrifugation) was used so that the single lightest and heaviest placentas from each litter could be compared. Therefore an inherent limitation of this study is that the abundance of transporter proteins was assessed in a mixed membrane isolate, which will include apical and basal membranes of the syncytiotrophoblast as well as organelle plasma membranes. This was deemed the most appropriate method given that isolating apical membranes from a single placenta would result in a relatively low protein sample size for these subsequent experiments. There is currently no method published to isolate the basal membrane of the syncytiotrophoblast in mice. By using membrane-enriched fragments from a single mouse placenta, an assessment of the relative protein abundance may be deduced. However, it must be considered that the exact localisation of these proteins cannot be guaranteed. Ideally protein expression would be assessed by comparing the lightest female with the heaviest female, and so on for male fetuses. Unfortunately, in order to maintain the paired nature of these analyses within a single litter, these comparisons were not feasible due to the relatively small litter sizes in this strain of mice; a study of this nature would undoubtedly require far greater numbers of animals in order to encompass a range of placental weights, and would likely not contribute significant further insight into the underlying mechanisms.

3.4.6 Summary

This chapter substantiates previous findings that the lightest placentas within a WT mouse litter are significantly lighter than the heaviest at E15.5 and E18.5, and that these placentas support more fetus per g placenta (as evidenced by a higher F:P ratio) at both gestational ages. Fetuses with the lightest and heaviest placentas are within a normal birth weight range, as determined by fetal weight centile, which may be achieved by the placenta adapting its function to meet fetal growth requirements.

Here we demonstrate for the first time unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) of ¹⁴Cglutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate across the WT mouse placenta. K_{mf} of both radioisotopes was significantly higher across the lightest placentas (per g placenta) compared to the heaviest in a litter at E18.5. Provision of glutamine and glutamate is essential during fetal development: availability, as well as fetal and placental metabolism, of these two amino acids is fundamental for maintenance of appropriate fetal growth. That the lightest placentas adapt their transport capacity towards term reinforces the importance of glutamine and glutamate. As has been shown previously for calcium and system A transport in mice (Coan *et al.*, 2008; Hayward *et al.*, 2017), placental adaptation of nutrient transport capacity ensures that the fetus reaches a normal weight at birth.

Due to the skew of female fetuses with the lightest placentas, and conversely, male fetuses with the heaviest, the effect of fetal sex on placental nutrient transfer was also examined. We found that the sex of the fetus, and thus placenta, was not a major determinant of upregulated K_{mf} of glutamine or glutamate in the lightest placentas.

To investigate the mechanisms underlying the changes in K_{mf} of glutamine and glutamate, protein expression was analysed by Western blot. Semi-quantification of protein expression in

membrane-enriched fragments indicated that expression of the glutamine transporter protein LAT1 was significantly elevated in lightest versus heaviest placentas. Increased LAT1 abundance likely underpins altered K_{mf} of glutamine, and may contribute to changes through altering the composition of the amino acid pool available for exchange. The contribution of system A to these changes is unknown and the expression of SNAT1, SNAT2 and SNAT4 (system A) should also be investigated, should reliable antibodies become commercially available. The mechanisms that regulate and drive changes in K_{mf} of glutamate are as yet undetermined. Potential mechanisms that underpin these changes, such as post-translational modifications and the signalling pathway mTOR, should be explored in future studies.

In summary these data provide evidence that K_{mf} of glutamine and glutamate across the WT mouse placenta (per g placenta) adapts in an effort to maintain appropriate fetal growth. A mechanism for higher K_{mf} of glutamine has been identified (raised LAT1 protein expression), but the mechanisms behind altered glutamate transfer have yet to be identified. Whilst the experiments described in this chapter demonstrate adaptive up-regulation of maternofetal clearance of glutamine and glutamate in relation to small placental size in mice, it is important to assess whether glutamine and glutamate uptake also adapts in relation to placental size in women. Understanding factors that determine amino acid transporter activity and thus the provision of amino acids to the fetus in normal human pregnancy is imperative to improve our understanding of disorders where nutrient transfer is impaired, such as fetal growth restriction (FGR).

Chapter 4 Activity and expression of glutamine and glutamate transporters in placental villous fragments in normal human pregnancy

4.1 Introduction

Appropriate fetal growth is achieved through the net transfer of nutrients from the maternal to fetal circulation by the placental syncytiotrophoblast, via a number of placental transport mechanisms (Figure 6). Regulation of nutrient transport mechanisms, such as transporter protein abundance and activity, is vital to support appropriate fetal growth but the mechanisms responsible are poorly understood.

The amino acids glutamine and glutamate are essential for fetal growth. Aside from fetal requirements per se, glutamine and glutamate are also needed for pH homeostasis and biosynthetic processes (Pochini *et al.*, 2014). Glutamine transport to the fetus is required for the provision of fetal glutamate following glutamine to glutamate conversion in the fetal liver. Glutamate produced in the fetal liver may be subsequently shuttled and re-converted to glutamine within the placenta (Battaglia, 2000; Moores *et al.*, 1994; Vaughn *et al.*, 1995). Although glutamate is taken up by the placenta from maternal blood, it is not thought to cross to the fetus but instead is utilised for placental metabolism and can be converted to glutamine or α -ketoglutarate for entry to the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle for the production of intermediate metabolites and energy (Battaglia, 2002; Day *et al.*, 2013; Pitkin *et al.*, 1979; Self *et al.*, 2004). Glutamine and glutamate should therefore be considered together since their placental transport and metabolism are interlinked.

Placental uptake of glutamine from maternal blood is mediated by one of three amino acid transporter systems; system A, L or N (the isoforms of which are: SNAT1, SNAT2, SNAT4; LAT1, LAT2; and SNAT5, respectively) (Desforges and Sibley, 2010; Johnson and Smith, 1988). Glutamate uptake into the syncytiotrophoblast from maternal blood occurs via the anionic amino acid system X_{AG-} (isoforms EAAT1, EAAT2 and EAAT3) (Hill *et al.*, 2014; Novak *et al.*, 2001).

System A is a Na⁺-dependent transporter, responsible for the transfer of small, neutral amino acids such as alanine, serine and glycine, and has been studied extensively in the placenta. Members of the system A family (SNAT1, SNAT2 and SNAT4) are present on both the microvillous (MVM) and basal (BM) membranes of the syncytiotrophoblast (Desforges and Sibley, 2010; Regnault *et al.*, 2002). System A activity (measured using the non-metabolisable analogue MeAIB) has been shown to be inversely related to placental weight in mice and humans (Coan *et al.*, 2008; Godfrey *et al.*, 1998). Since glutamine is a system A substrate, it is

likely that the transport of glutamine is also inversely related to placental size. Activity of other glutamine (system L and N) and glutamate transporters (system X_{AG}) has not been explored in relation to placental size in humans.

A relationship between placental size and placental transport would ensure that nutrient provision is sufficient to maintain appropriate fetal growth. Functional or morphological changes that lead to a change in placental efficiency (adaptation), as evidenced by fetal:placental weight (F:P) ratio, may include altered abundance or activity of amino acid transporters and/or the molecular pathways (such as mTOR) that regulate this. Adaptations may therefore influence nutrient allocation to the growing fetus in order to achieve appropriate fetal growth. The data in Chapter 3 of this thesis provided evidence that the activity of glutamine and glutamate transporters adapt according to placental size in WT mice. Unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{ml}) of glutamine and glutamate was compared in the lightest and heaviest placentas in a WT mouse litter of normally grown fetuses. K_{mf} of glutamine and glutamate was higher for the lightest versus heaviest placenta in a litter (at E18.5). This was associated with higher expression of the glutamine transporter protein LAT1 in the lightest compared with heaviest placentas, but there was no difference in the expression of EAAT1 or EAAT2, transporter proteins important for the transport of glutamate into the syncytiotrophoblast.

In the current study, the activity of glutamine and glutamate transporters in the syncytiotrophoblast was assessed in vitro to determine whether placental uptake of glutamine and glutamate is also related to placental size (weight) in human pregnancy. Transporter activity (per mg placental protein) was determined in normal pregnancies resulting in babies that were appropriately grown for gestational age (AGA), and related to placental weight. In several previous studies, syncytiotrophoblast MVM vesicles have been used to assess the activity of amino acid transporters in the maternal-facing membrane of syncytiotrophoblast (Desforges et al., 2009; Dicke et al., 1993; Godfrey et al., 1998; Mahendran et al., 1994). Isolation of the MVM to make vesicles, however, is at the expense of tissue integrity, intracellular signaling mechanisms and associated driving forces (see Table 5). Incubation of placental villous tissue fragments in a solution containing radiolabelled amino acid may instead be used to determine amino acid uptake over time as a measure of transporter activity, whilst maintaining tissue architecture (Greenwood and Sibley, 2006). Placental amino acid transporter activity assessed using these two preparations (MVM vesicles versus villous fragments) has been shown to be comparable, although relative contributions of some transport systems varied (L-serine uptake; Brand et al., 2010). For the current study, villous tissue fragments were used and a method was optimised to measure the activity of glutamine and glutamate transporters (described in full in section 2.1.5.1).

There is evidence that the sex of the fetus, and therefore the placenta, plays a crucial role in response to adverse stimuli and in fetal growth trajectory/birth weight (reviewed in Clifton, 2010). Males are born heavier than females (Clarke, 1788; Misra *et al.*, 2009; Wallace *et al.*, 2012), although this provision could be met by the larger placental size: males have a higher median trimmed placental weight (679 g) than females (668 g) (Almog *et al.*, 2011). Here we have investigated whether the activity and expression of glutamine and glutamate transporters is different in placentas of male and female fetuses. Consideration of the sex of the fetus and its influence on placental function may inform future treatment and diagnostic pathways.

4.1.1 Hypotheses

- Uptake of ¹⁴C-glutamine, ¹⁴C-glutamate and ¹⁴C-MeAIB into placental villous fragments is inversely related to placental weight in normal pregnancy
- Activity and expression of glutamine and glutamate transporters is higher in male compared with female placentas

4.1.2 Aims

The objectives of this study were to:

- Validate a method to determine glutamine and glutamate transporter activity by measuring the transporter-mediated component of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate uptake by placental villous fragments at initial rate
- Assess whether transporter-mediated uptake of ¹⁴C-glutamine, ¹⁴C-glutamate and ¹⁴C-MeAIB (latter used as a positive control and to represent system A transporter activity, see section 2.1.5.2) adapts according to placental or fetal weight in a normal pregnancy cohort
- Determine the effect of fetal sex on transporter-mediated uptake of ¹⁴C-glutamine, ¹⁴C-glutamate and ¹⁴C-MeAIB, and on the expression of transporter proteins, in a normal pregnancy cohort

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Method validation: measurement of glutamine and glutamate transporter activity in placental villous fragments

A validation experiment was performed to determine the appropriate time course and buffer conditions to assess transporter-mediated ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate uptake (see section 2.1.5.2 for full details). Uptake of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate by villous fragments was measured over 10-120 min. Glutamine transport is mediated by systems A, L and N. To distinguish between transporter-mediated and non-specific diffusion, uptake of ¹⁴C-glutamine

was measured in Na⁺-free buffer (to inhibit system A and N) with 5 mM histidine, (His, to inhibit system N), serine (Ser, to inhibit system A) and 2-Amino-2-norbornanecarboxylic acid (BCH, to inhibit system L). Glutamate is transported by system X_{AG} . To distinguish between transporter-mediated and non-specific diffusion, uptake of ¹⁴C-glutamate was measured in Na⁺-free buffer with 5 mM aspartate (Asp, to inhibit system X_{AG} .). Transporter-mediated uptake of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate was calculated as the difference in uptake in control (Na⁺-containing) Tyrode's buffer and in Na⁺-free buffer with the competitive inhibitor substrates: 5 mM His, Ser and BCH for ¹⁴C-glutamine or Asp for ¹⁴C-glutamate.

4.2.2 Glutamine and glutamate transporter activity in placental villous fragments from pregnancies with a normal outcome

Women were approached and consented to the study according to the inclusion and exclusion criteria stated in section 2.1.2. Placentas were included in the study where the individualised birth weight ratio (IBR) of the infant was between 10th-90th centile, i.e. considered appropriate for gestational age (AGA) (Figure 30). Placentas were collected and sections of villous tissue were dissected in preparation for the villous fragment uptake experiment.

The full protocol is described in the Methods chapter of this thesis (2.1.5.3-2.1.5.7). In brief, placental villous fragments were exposed to ¹⁴C-glutamine or ¹⁴C-glutamate, and the initial rate of transporter-mediated uptake of radiolabelled amino acids was measured over 30-90 min and expressed in pmol/mg protein. MeAIB uptake was also measured as a positive control (to assess system A activity), and to confirm and extend previous findings (Ditchfield, 2011; Godfrey *et al.*, 1998; Hayward *et al.*, 2012).



Figure 30 Experimental flowchart

47 amino acid uptake experiments were performed. Placentas collected by the Anthony Nolan charity ('Anthony Nolan collection') were bled for the collection of stem cells. ¹⁴C-glutamine uptake by villous fragments was significantly lower in placentas bled by Anthony Nolan (data not shown). Accordingly, data from placentas bled by Anthony Nolan were excluded from final study analysis (n=11). Data were also excluded from final analyses when there was an experimental error (n=1) or if the infant was large for gestational age (LGA, IBR >90th centile, n=2) or small for gestational age (SGA, IBR >5th<10th centile, n=3). Placentas from normal birth weight infants, i.e. those with an IBR of >10th<90th centile (appropriate for gestational age, AGA) were included in the study (n=19). Placentas from FGR (fetal growth restricted) infants, IBR<5th centile (n=11), were included in the study presented in Chapter 6.

4.2.2.1 Glutamine and glutamate transporter activity in relation to fetal and placental measures

Amino acid uptake was measured in placental villous fragments from normal pregnancy outcomes (n=19) (Table 19). A single time point (90 min, when amino acid uptake is still occurring at initial rate) was chosen to correlate placental amino acid uptake with fetal and placental parameters (placental weight, birth weight, F:P ratio, IBR).

	Normal birth weight (appropriate for gestational age, AGA) (n= 19)
Maternal Age (years)	30 (23-40)
Body Mass Index	25.9 (18.8-31.2)
(kg/m^2)	
Birth Weight (g)	3410 (2690-4400)
Trimmed Placental	495.5 (331.1-719.4)
Weight (g)	
Individualised Birth	54.0 (13.6-87.7)
Weight Ratio (IBR)	
Birth weight:placental	6.5 (5.2-8.9)
weight (BW:PW) ratio	
Gestation (days)	273 (260-285)
Mode of Delivery	ELCS (89%)
	NVD (11%)
Parity	1 (0-8)
Gravidity	2 (1-12)
Ethnicity	Caucasian (58%)
Smoking Status	No (100%)

Table 19 Demographics relating to placentas from normal birth weight (AGA) infants

Placentas included in the study were collected from infants with an IBR >10th<90th centile (appropriate for gestational age, AGA). Data are presented as median (range) or percentage. There were no differences between groups aside from placental weight (those from AN collections were lighter, P=0.002, Mann-Whitney test).

4.2.2.2 Effect of sex on glutamine and glutamate transporter activity

The sex of the infant is thought to influence placental function (see section 4.1). To determine whether sex had an effect on amino acid transporter activity, data from normal pregnancy outcomes were stratified according to sex (n=7 male, n=12 female) (Table 20) and analysed as described previously (see section 2.1).

4.2.3 Western blotting of membrane-enriched whole placental homogenates

Membrane-enriched whole placental homogenates were prepared (as described in section 2.3.1) from villous tissue of male (n=6/7) and female (n=5/7/8) placentas. Expression of the transporter proteins LAT1, LAT2, SNAT5, EAAT1, EAAT2 and EAAT3 was assessed by Western blotting according to the method in section 2.3. β -tubulin was used as a housekeeping protein and probed for on each membrane.

	Male (n= 7)	Female (n= 12)	<i>P</i> value
Maternal Age (years)	30 (23-38)	31 (27-40)	0.52
Body Mass Index	26.9 (21.0-28.2)	25.8 (18.8-31.2)	0.79
(kg/m^2)			
Birth Weight (g)	3300 (2820-3540)	3457 (2690-4400)	0.65
Trimmed Placental	517.2 (402.3-719.4)	488.6 (331.1-704.7)	0.90
Weight (g)			
Individualised Birth	54.0 (26.4-78.9)	55.1 (13.6-87.7)	0.71
Weight Ratio (IBR)			
Birth weight:placental	6.4 (5.5-8.5)	7.2 (5.2-8.9)	0.385
weight (BW:PW) ratio			
Gestation (days)	271 (260-278)	273 (266-285)	0.52
Mode of Delivery	ELCS (86%)	ELCS (92%)	-
	NVD (14%)	NVD (8%)	
Parity	1 (0-2)	1 (0-8)	0.89
Gravidity	2 (1-5)	2 (1-12)	0.88
Ethnicity	Caucasian (57%)	Caucasian (58%)	-
Smoking Status	No (100%)	No (100%)	-

Table 20: Demographics for placentas from male and female infants

Demographics summarised above relate to placentas from normal pregnancy outcomes stratified according to the sex of the infant. Data are presented as median (range) or percentage. There were no significant differences between groups.

4.2.4 Statistical analysis

Normal distribution of data was determined using D'Agostino & Pearson omnibus normality test (GraphPad Prism 7 software). Data from placental villous fragment uptake experiments are expressed as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM), and regression analyses were performed to determine whether transporter-mediated amino acid uptake was linearly related to time over 30-90 min and to examine the relationship between transporter-mediated uptake at 90 min and fetal and placental measures (Spearman correlation or Linear regression).

Semi-quantitative analysis of transporter protein expression as determined by protein band density (densitometry) was performed for Western blot data using Image StudioTM Lite software. Data were analysed (GraphPad Prism 7 software) using a Mann-Whitney test. For all data a *P* value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Method validation: measurement of glutamine and glutamate transporter activity in placental villous fragments

The results of the validation experiment are shown in Figure 31. The total uptake of radiolabelled glutamine and glutamate into villous tissue in control Tyrode's buffer (Figure 31A, C) is the net result of non-specific diffusion through damaged areas/paracellular routes and uptake mediated by transporter proteins situated in the syncytiotrophopblast MVM.

¹⁴C-glutamine uptake was reduced by ~70% in Na⁺-free Tyrode's buffer, or in control (Na⁺ containing) buffer with 5 mM His, Ser and BCH, and reduced by ~85% in Na⁺-free buffer with 5 mM His, Ser and BCH (Figure 31A). This indicates that ~15% of ¹⁴C-glutamine uptake occurs by non-specific diffusion and the remaining uptake is by the combined activity of systems A, L and N. ¹⁴C-glutamate uptake was reduced by ~95% in Na⁺-free Tyrode's buffer +/- 5 mM Asp, or in control buffer with 5 mM Asp (Figure 31C). This indicates that ~5% of ¹⁴C-glutamate uptake occurs by non-specific diffusion and the remaining uptake is via the Na⁺-dependent activity of system X_{AG}.

Transporter-mediated uptake of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate by villous fragments increased linearly over 10-120 min (P<0.001, Linear regression) (Figure 31B, D) and extrapolation of the regression line intersected the x,y axes close to the origin, indicating that uptake was at initial rate.

For all subsequent experiments transporter-mediated uptake was assessed as the difference in uptake in control Tyrode's buffer and uptake in Na⁺-free buffer + 5 mM His, Ser and BCH (¹⁴C-glutamine) or aspartate (¹⁴C-glutamate), over 30-90 min. Having completed the pilot experiment it was evident that less isotope could be used to achieve an acceptable tissue count above background and subsequent experiments were performed with lower concentrations of radioisotope (tissue counts ranged from ~10-250 x background); this accounts for the difference in the y axis values in the study results from the plot in Figure 31.



Figure 31 Optimisation of placental amino acid uptake experiment

Uptake of ¹⁴C-glutamine (A,B) and ¹⁴C-glutamate (C,D) into placental villous fragments over a time period of 10-120 min. Each data point (A,C) represents triplicate measures from one placenta, mean \pm SEM. Radioisotope uptake was assessed in four conditions: control (Na⁺-containing Tyrode's buffer) or Na⁺-free buffer +/- 5 mM His, Ser and BCH (histidine, serine, 2-Amino-2-norbornanecarboxylic acid: ¹⁴C-glutamine, A) or 5 mM Asp (aspartate: ¹⁴C-glutamate, C) to determine the conditions to maximally inhibit transporter-mediated uptake allowing the non-specific component of uptake to be estimated. Transporter-mediated uptake, calculated as the difference in uptake between control conditions and Na⁺-free buffer plus 5 mM His, Ser and BCH or 5 mM Asp, increased linearly with time (*** *P*<0.001; Linear regression) for both radiolabelled amino acids as shown in graphs B and D.

4.3.2 Transporter-mediated amino acid uptake is not related to placental weight or birth weight

Birth weight and placental weight were positively correlated with one another (Figure 32) (P<0.05, Linear regression). Transporter-mediated uptake (amino acid transporter activity) was calculated as uptake in control (Na⁺-containing conditions) minus uptake under Na⁺-free conditions plus competitive inhibitors (Figure 33). Transporter-mediated uptake was linear and at initial rate for all experiments that were related to fetal and placental measures. The 90 min time point of transporter-mediated uptake was used for subsequent comparisons.



Figure 32 Relationship between placental weight and birth weight from normal birth weight (AGA) infants

Trimmed placental weight and respective birth weight of normal birth weight (AGA) infants with an IBR between 10^{th} -90th centile. Placental weight and birth weight were significantly correlated (n=19; * *P*<0.05; Linear regression).



Figure 33: Na⁺- free, control and transporter-mediated amino acid uptake in placentas of normal birth weight (AGA) infants

Uptake of amino acids by placentas from normal birth weight (AGA) infants in Na⁺-free and control (Na⁺- containing) buffer (mean \pm SEM). Na⁺-free buffer was supplemented with 5 mM His, Ser and BCH (histidine, serine, 2-Amino-2-norbornanecarboxylic acid: ¹⁴C-glutamine, A) or 5 mM Asp (aspartate: ¹⁴C-glutamate, B). Mediated uptake was calculated as the difference between uptake in Na⁺-free (representative of non-specific diffusional uptake) and control (uptake via specific and non-specific processes) conditions. Transporter-mediated uptake (amino acid transporter activity) was linear and at initial rate for all the experiments that were subsequently related to placental and fetal measures. n=18/19 *** *P*<0.01 Linear regression.

Transporter-mediated uptake of ¹⁴C-glutamine, ¹⁴C-glutamate and ¹⁴C-MeAIB (90 min time point) in placentas collected from normal pregnancies did not relate to placental weight, birth

weight, F:P ratio or IBR (Figure 34, Linear regression). The non-specific, diffusional component of uptake was not related to any of these variables (see Appendix 9.1).



Figure 34: Relationship between transporter-mediated amino acid uptake and fetal and placental measures

There was no relationship between uptake of ¹⁴C-glutamate (green symbols), ¹⁴C-glutamine (purple) or ¹⁴C-MeAIB (red) at 90 min and trimmed placental weight, birth weight, fetal: placental weight (F:P) ratio or individualised birth weight ratio (IBR) (n=18/19, Linear regression).

4.3.3 Effect of sex on transporter mediated amino acid uptake

Placental uptake of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate was significantly lower in placentas of female versus male infants (P<0.05, Linear regression) (Figure 35). The sex of the infant did not have any effect on system A activity (¹⁴C-MeAIB uptake) (Figure 35C). The non-specific, diffusional component of uptake was not affected by fetal sex (data not shown).



Figure 35: Transporter-mediated amino acid uptake in placentas of male and female infants Uptake of amino acids by placentas of male (hollow symbols) and female infants (solid symbols) (mean \pm SEM). Uptake of ¹⁴C-glutamine (A) and ¹⁴C-glutamate (B) was significantly lower in placentas of female infants compared with those of males (male n=7, female n=11/12; ¹⁴C-glutamate and ¹⁴C-glutamine *P*<0.05, Linear regression). ¹⁴C-MeAIB (C) uptake was unaffected by sex.

4.3.4 Placental expression of amino acid transport proteins is not affected by sex

To determine whether the higher activity of glutamine and glutamate transporters in male compared to female placentas was related to greater transporter protein abundance, the expression of glutamine and glutamate transporter proteins in membrane-enriched placental isolates was assessed by Western blot. Representative Western blots of glutamine (system L: LAT1, system N: SNAT5) and glutamate (system X_{AG} : EAAT1, EAAT2, EAAT3) transporter proteins are shown in Figure 36. The intensity of bands detected at the expected molecular weight (kDa) was quantified using densitometry. Positive controls (MVM, human placental maternal-facing membrane) were included during antibody optimisation to validate the location of bands. All data were normalised to β -tubulin expression, and corresponding β tubulin blots are shown beneath each protein of interest (Figure 36).

LAT1 expression was detected at the predicted molecular weight of 40 kDa. A 75 kDa band was also present under reducing conditions as has been described by others previously (Ellinger *et al.*, 2016). Expression of LAT2 (at the predicted molecular weight of 49 kDa as previously shown by Ellinger *et al.*, 2016; Segawa *et al.*, 1999) was very faint (see Appendix 9.2). This meant that it was not possible to quantify expression/detect any differences

between groups (male versus female). When probing for SNAT5, two bands were detected. During antibody optimisation a clear band at the predicted molecular weight of 52 kDa was found in both positive controls (human MVM isolate and mouse maternal brain whole homogenate), subsequently this band was used for analysis. The identity of the band at 40 kDa, whilst acknowledged by the manufacturer, is unknown.

The predicted molecular weight of EAAT1 is 60 kDa, although previously published data have described multiple bands at 50 kDa and 150 kDa (Martinez-Lozada *et al.*, 2014). During optimisation, MVM EAAT1 expression was localised at 35 kDa and this band was validated by using a EAAT1 blocking peptide (see Figure 28) and subsequently used for analysis by densitometry. EAAT2 expression was present at the predicted molecular weight of 62 kDa. The predicted molecular weight of EAAT3 is 57 kDa. The EAAT3 antibody detects a single band of approximately 70 kDa, according to the manufacturer's datasheet and as shown in Figure 36. There were no differences according to sex in the expression of any of the proteins of interest (Figure 37). System A transporter proteins (of which MeAIB and glutamine are substrates) were not evaluated due to a lack of commercially available antibodies which reliably produce bands at the predicted sizes.



Figure 36: Representative Western blots showing glutamine and glutamate transporter protein expression in membrane-enriched placental samples of male and female infants Shown are representative Western blots of glutamine (system L: LAT1, system N: SNAT5) and glutamate (system X_{AG} .: EAAT1, EAAT2, EAAT3) transporter proteins in placentas of male and female infants (top blots). Corresponding Western blots for the housekeeping protein β -tubulin are shown below each blot. M= marker, M= male, F= female, brain= mouse maternal brain,

kidney= mouse maternal kidney, MVM= human placental microvillous membrane, dH₂0= deionised water.



Figure 37: Effect of infant sex on expression of glutamine and glutamate transporter proteins in membrane-enriched placental samples

Expression of all transporter proteins studied (normalised to β -tubulin) was not different in placentas from male and female infants (Mann-Whitney test). LAT1 (D) and SNAT5 (E) are glutamine transporter proteins (system L and N, respectively); EAAT1, EAAT2, EAAT3 (A, B, C) are glutamate transporter proteins (system X_{AG}). LAT2 expression was insufficient to analyse (see Appendix 9.2). Male n=6; Female n=5 (SNAT5)/8 (line represents median).

4.4 Discussion

The villous fragment method has previously been used to assess system A and taurine transporter (TauT) activity in placental syncytiotrophoblast (e.g. Brand *et al.*, 2010; Greenwood and Sibley, 2006; Shibata *et al.*, 2008). Here the method has been successfully adapted to measure the activity of amino acid transporter systems known to contribute to glutamine (systems A, L, N) and glutamate (system X_{AG}) uptake at initial rate. Known characteristics of glutamine and glutamate transporters were exploited (e.g. Na⁺-dependency and substrate specificity) to determine the transporter-mediated component of uptake.

Contrary to the hypothesis, neither glutamine/glutamate transporter activity, nor system A activity (uptake of ¹⁴C-MeAIB) (per mg placental protein) was related to placental size (weight) in normal pregnancies resulting in the birth of an infant between the 10th-90th centile IBR. In support of the hypothesis, glutamine and glutamate transporter activity was significantly higher in placentas of male than female fetuses but there was no difference in system A activity. Protein expression of the glutamine transporters LAT1 and SNAT5, and glutamate transporters EAAT1, EAAT2 and EAAT3 in membrane-enriched fractions was not different in placentas of male versus female fetuses.

4.4.1 Measurement of glutamine and glutamate uptake into placental villous fragments at initial rate

A method to measure glutamine and glutamate uptake into human placental villous fragments at initial rate was developed for the purpose of the current study. Incubation of placental villous tissue in solutions containing radiolabelled amino acids/analogues to assess amino acid transporter activity has been used previously by this group and others (Brand et al., 2010; Ditchfield et al., 2015; Hayward et al., 2012; Jansson et al., 2003; Shibata et al., 2008; Warrander et al., 2012). The villous tissue fragment method necessitates distinguishing between nonspecific diffusional uptake of the radiolabelled amino acid and the specific carrier-mediated component of total uptake. MeAIB is a specific, non-metabolisable substrate of system A, and system A is Na⁺-dependent. Therefore, the specific component of system A-mediated uptake may be determined as the difference between uptake in the presence (total) and absence (diffusion) of Na⁺. Glutamine is a substrate of system A, L, N, y+L and ASC (see Introduction; Table 4), and to distinguish between carrier-mediated and non-specific diffusion the contribution of all these components needs to be assessed. System ASC is expressed predominantly on the syncytiotrophoblast BM (Regnault et al., 2002), and 10 mM arginine (a substrate of system y+L) does not alter glutamine uptake into MVM vesicles (Hill et al., 2014). Thus, these two transport systems were not considered in the current experiments. Serine, BCH (2-Amino-2-norbornanecarboxylic acid) and histidine are substrates of Systems A, L and N, respectively. Glutamine uptake was therefore assessed in Na⁺-containing and Na⁺-deplete buffer containing 5 mM histidine, serine and BCH, with transporter-specific uptake calculated as the difference between the two conditions. An estimate of system L contribution to glutamine transporter-mediated uptake can be made from the pilot data (Figure 31). System L is Na⁺-independent, therefore uptake in Na⁺-free conditions likely represents system Lmediated glutamine uptake plus non-specific uptake (which constitutes ~15% of total uptake). From these data, system L contributes to approximately 15% of glutamine uptake (~20% of transporter-mediated uptake). Together, the Na⁺-dependent systems A and N contribute

 \sim 65% of total glutamine uptake, which equates to \sim 80% of transporter-mediated uptake. However, it is not possible to distinguish the relative contribution of systems A and N from these pilot data.

Glutamate transport across the maternal-facing MVM is mediated by the Na⁺-dependent system X_{AG} . Uptake of radiolabelled glutamate in Na⁺-free buffer with high concentrations (5 mM) of system X_{AG} substrate aspartate (Hill *et al.*, 2014) was used as a measure of non-specific diffusion. During method validation it was noted that removal of Na⁺ alone inhibited glutamate uptake by ~95%, and aspartate did not have an additive inhibitory effect on glutamate uptake in Na⁺-free conditions confirming the presence of one transporter system for glutamate (Figure 31C).

Membrane-mediated transport of both glutamine and glutamate was linear up to 120 min, and extrapolation of the regression line of uptake (per mg protein versus time) intercepted the x,y axis close to the origin indicating that the carrier mediated uptake was at initial rate. For subsequent experiments ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate uptake was measured at 30, 60 and 90 min. MeAIB uptake, representative of system A activity was also included to confirm and extend previous findings. System A activity was in line with previous observations using the same radioisotope concentration (n=25; 30-120 min uptake; Ditchfield, 2011).

4.4.2 The activity of system A, glutamine and glutamate transporters is not related to placental weight or birth weight

4.4.2.1 Placental weight

The current study tested the hypothesis that transporter-mediated uptake of glutamine, a system A substrate, and glutamate is related to placental size. However, contrary to this hypothesis, there was no association between placental weight and glutamine or glutamate uptake (per mg protein). Furthermore, there was no relationship between MeAIB uptake and placental weight. Researchers have previously reported that system A activity (¹⁴C-MeAIB uptake into syncytiotrophoblast MVM vesicles, per mg protein) is higher in the placentas of the smallest infants, within a normal birth weight range (mean birth weight of 3395 g) (Godfrey *et al.*, 1998). The current study did not replicate these findings and others, which have demonstrated an inverse relationship between system A activity and placental weight in women and mice (Coan *et al.*, 2008; Godfrey *et al.*, 1998) or placental ratio (placental weight:birth weight (PW:BW) ratio in a study by Harrington *et al.*, 1999).

There are several differences worthy of discussion between the current study and the previous studies described above. Godfrey *et al.* (1998) and Harrington *et al.* (1999) both measured system A activity by uptake of ¹⁴C-MeAIB into MVM vesicles, whereas the present study assessed placental system A (MeAIB), glutamine and glutamate uptake into placental villous

tissue samples. Isolated MVM vesicles lack the capacity for intracellular signalling, have lost tissue architecture and interactions between different cell types present in whole villous tissue fragments. These elements could influence amino acid transporter activity and could explain, at least in part, the discrepancies between the current and previous studies (see Introduction; Table 5).

The relationship between system A activity, measured using the villous fragment preparation, placental weight and birth weight was recently reviewed by Hayward *et al.* (2016) using data collated from this laboratory (not including the current study). In contrast to the data of Godfrey *et al.* (1998) on MVM vesicles, a significant positive correlation between system A activity (30 min uptake/mg protein) and trimmed placental weight (range 350-900 g n=60) was observed (P<0.05; Spearman correlation). However, Hayward *et al.* (2016) reported that the relationship between system A activity and placental weight was lost when placentas outside the 10th-90th centile of placental weight were excluded (<408 g or >642 g; determined from frequency distributions of trimmed placental weights). In the current study, with fewer numbers (n=18/19), no relationship was observed between system A activity (90 min uptake/mg protein) and trimmed placental weight over a weight range of 331-719 g; 74% of placentas in the current study were within the 10th-90th centiles of placental weights which may explain, at least in part, why no correlation was observed.

The definition of a 'normal' birth weight has evolved since the studies by Godfrey et al. (1998) and Harrington et al. (1999). Godfrey et al. (1998) defined normal pregnancies using absolute birth weight and organised data into weight bins for analysis whilst Harrington et al. (1999) assigned birth weight using Gairdner-Pearson population growth charts (Gairdner and Pearson, 1971). Current definitions take into account both maternal and fetal parameters (maternal height, weight, parity, ethnicity, fetal weight, sex and gestational age) to determine an individualised birth weight ratio (IBR, defined as a centile on an individualised chart). We chose to investigate the relationship between transporter activity and placental weight in normal pregnancy, using the definition of 'normal' or AGA as a pregnancy resulting in delivery of an infant with an IBR between 10th and 90th centiles. Instead of organising data into weight bins for comparison (as has been done previously, Godfrey et al., 1998), the data in this study were evaluated using correlation analyses. The recent recognition that infants born at the extremes of birth weight centiles (i.e. $\sim 10^{\text{th}}$ or $\sim 90^{\text{th}}$ centile) are more at risk of adverse outcomes (Iliodromiti et al., 2017), has led to the proposal of a narrower definition of AGA (e.g. 25th-85th centile IBR) in the hope that this will increase the probability of exclusively including 'AGA' infants into study cohorts. There is no relationship between system A activity (MeAIB uptake), glutamine or glutamate uptake and placental weight if the $25^{\text{th}}-85^{\text{th}}$ centiles are used to analyse the current data set (excludes n=4).
MeAIB was used to assess system A activity as a positive control and to compare directly to previous studies. The main focus of the study was to assess the relationship between the activity of glutamine (system A, L and N) and glutamate (system X_{AG}) transporters and placental weight. In a cohort of placentas collected from normal birth weight (AGA) infants, there was no relationship between placental weight and glutamine or glutamate transporter activity. This indicates that in a population of normal birth weight infants, placental size (weight) is unrelated to the activity of the amino acid transporters measured. The data presented here suggest that transporter activity does not adapt according to placental size per se, rather that other mechanisms may influence amino acid uptake. The contribution of other components, such as placental metabolism, to the ultimate allocation of amino acids to the growing fetus remains to be investigated.

4.4.2.2 Birth weight and fetal:placental weight ratio

Data were also assessed to determine whether birth weight or fetal:placental weight ratio (F:P ratio; frequently referred to as a proxy of placental efficiency) correlated with placental uptake of any of the amino acids measured (glutamine, glutamate or MeAIB). No association existed between birth weight or F:P ratio and amino acid uptake in the current cohort. These findings replicate those drawn by Hayward *et al.* (2016), who also found no correlation between birth weight or BW:PW ratio (F:P ratio) and system A activity at 30 min. Taken together, these data suggest that fetal weight does not correlate with placental uptake of amino acid uptake *in vitro*, indicating that other factors must contribute to fetal weight gain. It is important to note that whilst placental uptake can give an indication of specific transporter activity on the syncytiotrophoblast MVM and thereby infer the availability of amino acids for transfer to the fetus, placental uptake does not represent maternofetal transfer.

F:P ratio is defined as the g of fetus produced per g placenta, and is therefore often referred to as a proxy of placental efficiency insomuch as a higher F:P ratio would indicate that relatively more fetal weight was supported per g placental weight. It is therefore assumed that an elevated F:P ratio is due to higher rates of nutrient transfer (per g placenta), and that the two would therefore be correlated. However, a recently published paper (Christians *et al.*, 2018) has questioned the utility of the F:P ratio. Mathematically the F:P ratio presents a problem since the regression line does not intercept at zero. The implication of this is that as placental weight increases, the F:P ratio will decrease for infants with the expected weight for their placental size. The data presented in this chapter indicate that there is no relationship between glutamine and glutamate uptake and F:P ratio.

Birth weight and placental weight were correlated in this cohort of normal pregnancies resulting in a normal birth weight (AGA) infant (P<0.05) (Figure 32). This finding is in

alignment with a recent review that reported a positive correlation between trimmed placental weight and system A activity (Hayward *et al.*, 2016) and suggests that placental weight may be a key determinant of fetal size at birth. The strength of this correlation would likely increase with more numbers available for analysis in the current study (n=19 versus n=210; Hayward *et al.*, 2016).

4.4.3 Adaptation of glutamine and glutamate transport in the mouse compared to human placenta

There is evidence in the mouse (Coan *et al.*, 2008; Dilworth *et al.*, 2010; Hayward *et al.*, 2017) that fetal nutrient requirements are met by functional and morphological adaptations of the placenta in relation to placental size. In the previous chapter, unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) of glutamine and glutamate was measured and compared between the lightest and heaviest placentas from a single WT mouse litter. K_{mf} of both glutamine and glutamate was significantly higher in the lightest versus heaviest placenta within a litter at E18.5 (the day before term in mouse pregnancy). These data suggest that the lightest placentas in a litter transport more glutamine or glutamate (per g placenta) compared with the heaviest placentas (i.e. they are more efficient), and also corroborates previous findings of elevated system A activity (a transporter system important for glutamine transport) at E18.5 in the smallest placentas and inversely correlated with fetal abdominal circumference at birth (Godfrey et al., 1998).

The data in the WT mouse (Chapter 3) were not replicated in human placenta; there was no relationship between the transporter-mediated uptake of glutamine, glutamate or MeAIB and placental weight. However there are important methodological distinctions between the two studies: transplacental flux (K_{mf}) was assessed in WT mice which includes transfer across the fetal-facing basal membrane, layer III of the labyrinth zone, thought to be analogous to the human BM (Dilworth and Sibley, 2013) whereas in this chapter transporter-mediated uptake across the MVM only was quantified. An additional consideration in the mouse studies is the potential metabolism of glutamine or glutamate within the placenta prior to their release into the fetal circulation. However, given the short experimental time period (~2 min) this is unlikely to contribute significantly. These differences between K_{mf} measured in WT mice, and transporter-mediated uptake measured in human placentas may explain the disparity between species in terms of relationship between K_{mf} and uptake, and fetal and placental measures.

Mice also have a more efficient placenta, as illustrated by the higher F:P ratio compared with humans (in the current study median BW:PW ratio for normal birth weight (AGA) infants was 6.5; median F:P ratio at E18.5 in WT mice was 17.0 for lightest placentas and 13.7 for the

heaviest), and therefore may be more able to adapt to meet fetal nutrient requirements. Furthermore, it is not possible to measure uptake in human placentas from normal pregnancies at multiple gestational ages i.e. in the second trimester, therefore data obtained from human placentas at term represent a snapshot of placental function and no direct comparison can be made between data at E15.5 in mouse pregnancy. In summary it appears that, at least in normal pregnancy, the small mouse placenta adapts to meet fetal nutrient requirements (i.e. transports more glutamine/glutamate per g placental weight). This observation was not replicated in human placentas; no relationship exists between glutamine, glutamate or MeAIB uptake and placental weight in normal pregnancy.

4.4.4 Sex specific differences in activity, but not expression, of placental glutamine and glutamate transporters

Emerging data indicate that males are more susceptible than females to adverse conditions *in ntero* (Clifton, 2010; Di Renzo *et al.*, 2007) and therefore more likely to die during the neonatal period. In a low birth weight cohort examined by Stevenson *et al.* (2000), mortality for males was 22% compared with 15% for females. Despite being derived from trophectoderm cells that ultimately form the fetal part of the mature placenta, the placenta is often treated as an asexual organ. However, males are larger at birth (both when conceived naturally and by assisted reproductive technology) (Clarke, 1788; Li *et al.*, 2014), and have larger placentas and BW:PW ratio (Wallace *et al.*, 2013) which suggests that male placentas are more efficient.

In line with the proposal that male placentas are more efficient, we hypothesised that transporter activity (per mg placental protein) would be higher in male than female placentas. Activity of transporters specific for both glutamine and glutamate was significantly higher in placentas from male versus female fetuses (P < 0.05). However, there was no effect of sex on MeAIB uptake. This suggests that the transporters responsible for the sex-specific differences in glutamine uptake (higher in male placentas versus female, per mg protein) are systems L and/or N rather than system A (for which MeAIB is a specific analogue). Data from method development (Figure 31) indicate that system L contributes to approximately 20% of transporter-mediated glutamine uptake. However, it is not possible to determine whether these sex-specific differences are attributable to system L, N or both from the current data. The transfer and metabolism of glutamine and glutamate are intrinsically linked which could underlie, at least in part, why uptake of glutamine and glutamate, but not MeAIB, are influenced by sex. The relationship between uptake of glutamine and glutamate, and uptake of glutamine and MeAIB (system A substrates), is presented and discussed in Chapter 6. Contrary to previous studies, here we observed no difference in placental weight or birth weight between males and females (Clarke, 1788; Li et al., 2014; Wallace et al., 2013), likely due

to the small numbers available for this analysis. Much larger studies are required to relate transport to placental and fetal weight in males and females to assess the significance of these observations. However, the relationships between transporter activity in males and females with placental and fetal weight have been explored in the current study.

Transporter activity (i.e. transporter-mediated glutamine, glutamate or MeAIB uptake) and fetal or placental measures (birth weight, placental weight, F:P ratio or IBR) are not correlated in pregnancies resulting in a normal birth weight (AGA) infant (Figure 34). When stratified according to sex however, MeAIB uptake by male placentas at 90 min was negatively correlated with birth weight in normal pregnancies (P<0.01; Linear regression) (Figure 38). There were no other significant relationships within sex between transporter activity at 90 min and birth weight, placental weight, F:P ratio or IBR. Thus these data indicate a negative relationship between MeAIB uptake and birth weight, but not placental weight (P=0.14). These preliminary findings (n=7 males) require confirmation with a larger data set in the future.



Figure 38: Birth weight versus MeAIB uptake at 90min according to sex

System A activity (transporter-mediated uptake of MeAIB) by male placentas is inversely correlated with birth weight (n=7; P<0.01; Linear regression). There was no relationship between birth weight and uptake of MeAIB by female placentas (n=11). There were no other significant relationships between amino acid uptake (glutamine, glutamate or MeAIB) and other fetal or placental parameters (birth weight, placental weight, birth weight ratio or IBR) according to sex (data not shown).

In the previous chapter of this thesis, the effect of sex on transporter expression and activity was assessed in WT mice. Female fetuses and placentas weighed significantly less at E18.5 yet the sex of the fetus did not significantly influence unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) of glutamine or glutamate across the WT placenta and therefore sex cannot fully account for evidence of adaptation in terms of placental nutrient transport in the mouse. These data are at odds with that seen in the human placenta in this chapter, which suggests that the mouse adopts different strategies to the human to achieve appropriate fetal growth.

4.4.5 Placental glutamine and glutamate transporter protein expression according to sex of the fetus

Higher activity of glutamine and glutamate transporters in male placentas was not associated with higher expression of transporter proteins that contribute to glutamine and glutamate uptake (LAT1: system L; SNAT5: system N; EAAT1, EAAT2, EAAT3: system X_{AG}). Expression of the system L transporter protein LAT2 was also evaluated (see Appendix 9.2); however, expression was insufficient to enable semi-quantitative analysis by densitometry. The absence of commercially available antibodies for system A transporter proteins (SNAT1, SNAT2 and SNAT4) which reliably produce bands at the predicted sizes made it impossible to quantify expression of these isoforms. However, it would be predicted that since MeAIB uptake was similar between groups (male versus female), system A transporters do not contribute to the higher glutamine uptake in male placentas.

A limitation of the study is that membrane-enriched placental preparations were used for Western blot analyses rather than pure MVM isolates due to a lack of available banked tissue owing to use in uptake experiments and other usage within the laboratory. Uptake across the maternal-facing MVM of the placenta was assessed in the uptake experiments and therefore transporter expression in this membrane alone would contribute to amino acid uptake. It is therefore possible that the lack of difference in transporter protein expression in males and females are influenced by the presence of transporters on other placental membranes e.g. BM.

There was no relationship between expression and activity of glutamine and glutamate transporters in this study (Appendix 9.3). A possible explanation for this result is that the transporters have been modified post-translationally, altering activity, or that transporters quantified during Western blot analyses were localised to a different membrane (i.e. not the MVM) as described above.

Post-translational modifications of transporters such as transporter ubiquitination (Rosario *et al.*, 2016) or trafficking of transporters to the plasma membrane (Roos *et al.*, 2009) can alter transporter activity. The mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway is a key regulator of system A and L in the placenta (Jansson *et al.*, 2012), therefore it is reasonable to suggest that mTOR could play a role in the regulation of glutamine uptake (a substrate of system A and L). In FGR mTOR activity is lower, and decreased mTOR activity is associated with a reduction in system L activity (Roos *et al.*, 2007). Reduced mTOR signalling leads to NEDD4-2 activation and subsequent ubiquitination of system L transporter LAT1 for degradation by the proteasome (Chen *et al.*, 2015), which reduces its expression in the MVM. It is not known if mTOR regulates glutamate transporters or if mTOR regulation of systems A and L is different in males and females.

4.4.6 Summary

A method for quantifying glutamine and glutamate transporter activity in placental villous fragments at initial rate has been optimised. Using this method, postnatal bleeding of the placenta by AN was found to be associated with lower glutamine transporter activity. Further work is required to establish the mechanisms underlying these observed differences. Glutamine and glutamate transporter activity, and the activity of system A as assessed by the uptake of MeAIB, was not related to placental weight in normal pregnancy. These data indicate that other mechanisms, aside from placental size, may govern amino acid provision to the fetus. Placental glutamine and glutamate transporter activity was greater in males than females which was not associated with changes in transporter expression in membrane-enriched placental homogenates, indicating a potential role of post-translational modifications. A key strength of this work is that both activity and expression were measured in the same placentas. Placental glutamine and glutamate transporter activity and expression in the placentas of normally grown (AGA) and growth restricted (FGR) fetuses is explored in Chapter 6.

Chapter 5 Glutamine and glutamate transfer (clearance) across the *Igf2P0* placenta: a mouse model of fetal growth restriction

5.1 Introduction

Normal fetal growth depends upon the capacity of the placenta to provide adequate nutrition to the developing fetus. Diminished nutrient transfer can be a contributor and not merely a consequence of growth restriction as demonstrated by studies in pregnant rats fed a low protein diet (Jansson *et al.*, 2006) or infused with MeAIB (Cramer *et al.*, 2002). Compared with isocaloric controls, pregnant rats fed a low protein diet have diminished placental system A transport activity at embryonic day (E)19 prior to evident growth restriction at E21 (term E23) (Jansson *et al.*, 2006). Infusion of MeAIB (E7-20) to block system A results in decreased placental amino acid transporter activity including system A and X_{AG} , which precedes a reduction in fetal growth by term (Cramer *et al.*, 2002).

Fetal growth restriction (FGR), characterised by suboptimal fetal growth, can be caused by congenital abnormalities, be associated with complications of pregnancy which include preeclampsia, diabetes or maternal obesity, or be idiopathic (Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists, 2013). Although placental dysfunction is a major cause of FGR (Mifsud and Sebire, 2014), the aetiology is not fully understood. The FGR placenta is smaller than normal for gestational age (Mifsud and Sebire, 2014) and may present with abnormalities in morphology, syncytiotrophoblast function, and/or utero- and fetoplacental blood flow. There are many factors thought to contribute to the placental dysfunction underpinning FGR including hypoxia, oxidative/nitrative stress and elevated inflammation. Each of these conditions could result in alterations in nutrient transporter abundance, localisation and/or activity, and thereby contribute to abnormal syncytiotrophoblast function (Baker *et al.*, 2018; Heyborne *et al.*, 1994; Myatt, 2006; Nadeau-Vallée *et al.*, 2016).

Understanding of how nutrient transport is altered in FGR is incomplete and is hindered by poor knowledge of the physiological processes in normal pregnancy. The hypothesis that nutrient transport adapts according to placental size in normal mouse pregnancy was addressed in Chapter 3. In pregnant WT C57BL/6J mice, a small placenta of a normally grown fetus was shown to up-regulate the maternofetal transport of glutamine and glutamate, amino acids that are essential for fetal growth and metabolism (Pochini *et al.*, 2014). The unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) of glutamine and glutamate was higher in the lightest versus heaviest placentas towards term (E18.5). This adaptation of nutrient transporters ensures that the fetuses with the lightest placentas are born within a normal birth weight range. However, in mouse models of FGR, the small dysfunctional placenta fails to express the adaptive response evident in normal WT mice towards term, at least in terms of the K_{mf} of MeAIB, a measure of placental transport by system A (Constância *et al.*, 2002; Constância *et al.*, 2005). As glutamine is a substrate of system A, it is likely that the K_{mf} of glutamine is perturbed in FGR; however the K_{mf} of neither glutamine, nor glutamate, has yet to be investigated in a mouse model of FGR.

In mice, *Igf2* expression can be manipulated by targeting one of the many gene promoters for specific transcripts (Figure 39) to generate genetic models of fetal growth disorders. IGF2 is an important hormone for fetal growth. *Igf2* is an imprinted gene and in mice only the paternal allele is expressed (reviewed in detail by Angiolini *et al.*, 2006; Sferruzzi-Perri, 2018). According to Kinship Theory, parental imprinting of genes ensures a balance of maternal resource allocation; simplistically, paternally imprinted genes tend to promote growth whilst maternally imprinted genes tend to repress growth in order to retain resources for the future health of the mother. As a paternally imprinted gene, *Igf2* promotes fetal growth. Humans with Silver-Russell and Beckwith Weidemann syndrome have fetal under/overgrowth due to the under- or over-expression of *Igf2*, respectively (Burton and Fowden, 2012).



Figure 39 Igf2-specific knockout mouse models

Manipulation of the *Igf2* gene, and the subsequent effect on fetal/placental development and function. AA, amino acid; BT, interhaemal membrane barrier thickness (inversely related to the diffusion of oxygen), FC, fetal capillaries; Glu, glucose; GlyT, glycogen cells; Lz, labyrinthine zone; MBS, maternal blood spaces; SA, surface area; T, trophoblast. Table is adapted from Sferruzzi-Perri (2018). Data are from: Angiolini *et al.* (2011); Constância *et al.* (2005); Esquiliano *et al.* (2009); Lopez *et al.* (1996); Sibley *et al.* (2004).

The H19 knockout mouse (Figure 39) is characterised by increased fetal and placental size but a reduced fetal:placental weight (F:P) ratio. H19 is located upstream of *Igf2* and is exclusively expressed from the maternal allele. H19 is responsible for silencing the *Igf2* gene, thus deletion

of 13kb that includes the H19 gene results in increased levels of Igf2 and fetal overgrowth caused by the doubling of all Igf2 transcripts. K_{mf} of glucose and MeAIB is reduced in the H19 knockout mouse (versus WT placentas), per g placenta, and is accompanied with reduced gene expression of slc2a3 (GLUT3 glucose transporter) and slc38a4 (SNAT4 system A transporter) (Angiolini *et al.*, 2011). This is thought to be an adaptive response by the placenta to prevent fetal overgrowth.

Igf2-null mice lack both placental and fetal *Igf2*. There is no evidence of adaptations to meet fetal nutrient requirements in the *Igf2*-null mouse. In this model severe growth restriction is observed from E12 onwards and conceptuses are lost before term (Figure 39). By E18.5 *Igf2*-null fetuses weigh 47% of WT and K_{mf} of MeAIB is significantly lower at late-gestation (E18.5) (Constância *et al.*, 2005).

Igf2P0 is a placental-specific Igf2 transcript. Mating males that are heterozygote for a targeted Igf2P0 deletion (hereafter referred to as P0) with WT females results in mixed litters of P0 and WT pups (Constância et al., 2005). Importantly, deletion of the P0 transcript does not affect fetal levels of Igf2 (Constância et al., 2002). In mid-gestation (E15.5-E16.5) K_{mf} of MeAIB (system A activity) and glucose is higher in P0 versus WT littermates (Constância et al., 2002; Constância et al., 2005) and appropriate fetal growth is sustained despite a small placenta. These functional changes (i.e. increased K_{mf}) are matched with increased expression of the system A and glucose isoforms slc38a4 and slc2a3 (Constância et al., 2005). These findings are different to what is reported in Igf2-null mice, and indicate that functional adaptation of the Igf2P0 placenta in mid-gestation involves cross-talk between the placental transcript of Igf2 and transporter genes (e.g. slc38a4) in an attempt to meet fetal nutrient requirements. However, towards term this adaptation in terms of increased system A and glucose transport ultimately fails, resulting in FGR; P0 fetuses weigh approximately 20% less than WT by E18.5 (Dilworth et al., 2011). Passive permeability is also altered in this model; at E18.5 permeability \times surface area product (P×S) is 32% lower for P0 versus WT placentas (Sibley et al., 2004). Thus the P0 mouse is a well-characterised model that expresses a phenotype resembling late onset FGR, having normal uterine and umbilical artery blood flow but abnormal trophoblast structure and function, culminating in reduced nutrient transport to the fetus.

In the current study, P0 mice were used to investigate whether the adaptive up-regulation of glutamine and glutamate transport observed in the small placenta of a normally grown WT fetus (Chapter 3) fails in FGR.

Glutamine is conditionally essential during pregnancy, which evidences its importance for sustaining normal fetal growth (Parimi and Kalhan, 2007). Glutamine is a substrate of system A, the activity of which fails to up-regulate in placentas of growth restricted fetuses towards term in the P0 model of FGR (Constância *et al.*, 2002). However, the K_{mf} of glutamine by the

placenta has not yet been measured in either normally grown, or growth restricted mouse fetuses. In addition, the activity and protein expression of systems L and N, for which glutamine is also a substrate, have not been studied in the mouse placenta. Glutamate provision is also critical for fetal growth and metabolism but glutamate levels must also be tightly controlled since high concentrations are neurotoxic (Pochini *et al.*, 2014; Tian *et al.*, 2012). Glutamine and glutamate transport (influx/efflux across the placental membrane barrier) and metabolism within the placenta and fetal liver are intrinsically linked (Figure 8) and as such these amino acids should be considered together when assessing their provision to the fetus in FGR. The activity (K_{mf}) and expression of the transporter system X_{AG} , for which glutamate is a substrate, have never been assessed in the placenta of normally grown, or growth restricted mice. The P0 mouse represents a well-characterised model of FGR and allows maternofetal transfer of amino acids to be related to fetal growth at difference time points in gestation.

5.1.1 Hypotheses

- The unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate is higher in placentas of P0 fetuses compared to their WT littermates in mid-gestation, but this adaptation fails nearer term
- Glutamine and glutamate transporter protein expression is higher in P0 versus WT placentas in mid-gestation but similar towards term

5.1.2 Aims

The aims of this chapter were to:

- Compare unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate at mid-gestation (E15.5) and near term (E18.5) in wild type (WT) and growth restricted fetuses in the placental-specific P0 knockout mouse
- Compare the protein expression of key transporters responsible for placental transport of glutamine and glutamate E15.5 and E18.5 in WT and growth restricted fetuses in the P0 mouse.

5.2 Methods

5.2.1 Unidirectional maternofetal clearance of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate

Male mice that were heterozygote for the P0 knockout were mated with WT females to generate mixed litters of P0 and WT fetuses. Unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate was determined at two timepoints in pregnancy (E15.5 and E18.5) as described in section 2.2. In brief, dams were anaesthetised with a 300 µl

intraperitoneal injection of 1:1:2 combination of fentanyl/fluanisone (Hypnorm, VetPharma Ltd., Leeds, UK), Midazolam (Roche, UK) and sterile H₂0 (Braun medical Inc., Pennsylvania, USA) and a bolus of radioisotope (100 μl) was administered via a tail vein cannula. At approximately 2 min post-injection (between 90 sec-4 min ¹⁴C-glutamine and 90 sec-3 min for ¹⁴C-glutamate), dams were exsanguinated by cardiac puncture and a maternal blood sample obtained. Death was confirmed by cervical dislocation, a laparotomy was performed immediately and maternal blood samples were centrifuged centrifuged at 5000 rpm (1,845 x g) for 5 min to obtain plasma. Fetuses and placentas were trimmed of membranes, blotted and weighed. Fetal tail tips were collected and stored at -20°C for genotyping (section 2.2.6). Fetuses and placentas were placed in an individual scintillation vial, minced and solubilised in 3 ml 3% KOH at 55°C overnight. Litters were only included in analyses with a minimum of two P0 and two WT fetuses, as determined by genotyping (section 2.2.6), per litter (seven litters excluded). Data are therefore analysed as the mean of P0 versus WT fetuses within the same litter.

The time at which radioisotope clearance from the maternal circulation was linear was determined by the construction of a ¹⁴C maternal plasma disappearance curve. The clearance of radioisotope from maternal blood was comparable between E15.5 and E18.5 for ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate and similar to the curve generated for WT mice (Figure 18). Thus, to minimise the number of animals required, ¹⁴C disappearance curves from P0 knockout mice and from WT mice were overlaid (Figure 40). Dams used for experiments were culled during the linear portion of the curve (between ~90 sec-3 min for ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate).





Clearance of ¹⁴C-glutamine (A) and ¹⁴C-glutamate (B) from maternal plasma (disintegrations per min) over time in wild-type (blue; WT data from Chapter 3; Figure 18) and P0 knockout dams (purple; P0). Disappearance was in the linear portion of the curve at approximately 2 min for both WT and P0 mice.

5.2.2 Western blotting

Tissue was harvested from litters that had a minimum of two P0 and two WT fetuses. One P0 and one WT placenta per litter (as determined by genotyping of fetal tail tips, section 2.2.6) were selected at random for use in Western blot analyses. Membrane-enriched whole placental homogenates were extracted and expression of glutamine (LAT1, LAT2, SNAT5) and glutamate (EAAT1, EAAT2) transporter proteins assessed (see Table 12 for Western blot conditions).

5.2.3 Statistical analysis

Unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) data were analysed by comparing the average of WT or P0 placentas or fetuses within a single litter (a minimum of two of each genotype per litter was required). Data were not normally distributed and therefore presented as median [range]. Data were analysed (GraphPad Prism 7 software) by Wilcoxon signed rank test and were considered statistically significant where P<0.05.

Semi-quantitative analysis of transporter protein expression as determined by protein band density (densitometry) was performed for Western blot data using Image StudioTM Lite software. Data were analysed (GraphPad Prism 7 software) using a Mann-Whitney test. A *P* value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

5.2.4 Experimental flowchart

The experimental flowchart overleaf (Figure 41) illustrates the number of animals used for unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) experiments and Western blotting.



Figure 41 Experimental flowchart of P0 mice used in experiments

From 44 pregnant dams, 8 litters were harvested for Western blotting experiments and a total of 36 litters used for unidirectional maternofetal clearance experiments at E15.5 and E18.5. Fetal weights and placental weights were recorded where possible (E15.5 n=13; E18.5 n=13 litters). Data were excluded from final analyses when there <2 genotype per litter. Unidirectional maternofetal clearance experiments were split between ¹⁴C-glutamine (E15.5 n=9; E18.5 n=10) and ¹⁴C-glutamate (E15.5 n=9; E18.5 n=8). Experiments used to construct a radioisotope disappearance curve (¹⁴C-glutamine n=7; ¹⁴C-glutamate n=3) were excluded from data analysis. When found to be no different, the disappearance curve was overlaid with data from WT mice (Figure 18) to reduce the number of animals required. Methods are described in full in section 2.2-2.3. *E18.5 tissue used for Western blots (8 litters) was previously banked tissue by our laboratory. Tissue had already been processed (to generate membrane-enriched whole placental homogenates) and stored at -80°C. A Biorad protein assay (see section 2.1.5.5) was performed at the same time as E15.5 tissue to determine protein content.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Placental and fetal measures: P0 versus WT

Average fetal and placental weights of P0 and WT mice were compared directly within a litter (minimum two of each per litter). Data are presented as P0 placentas (litter mean) expressed

as a percentage of the WT placentas (litter mean; standardised to a hypothetical value: 100%). Placentas from P0 fetuses weighed 26% less than WT placentas at both gestational ages (***P<0.001) (Figure 42A). P0 fetuses were significantly lighter at E15.5 (4%; **P<0.01) (Figure 42B) and towards term (a more pronounced difference: 17%; ***P<0.001). P0 fetuses had a higher fetal weight:placental weight (F:P) ratio compared to WT littermates at E15.5 (31%) and E18.5 (12%; **P<0.001) (Figure 42C). Raw values of placental and fetal measures are quoted (median [range]) in Table 21. At both gestational ages placental and fetal weights were positively correlated for WT and P0 fetuses (Figure 43). Fetal weight distribution curves for E15.5 and E18.5 are shown in Figure 44. The 5th centile of fetal weights is indicated by the dotted line in both instances.



Figure 42 P0 placentas and fetuses weigh less than WT littermates

(A) Placental weights (P0 versus WT) were on average 26% lighter at both gestational ages. (B) P0 fetuses weighed less than their WT littermates at E15.5 (4%) and to a greater extent at E18.5 (17%). (C) F:P ratio was higher for P0 versus WT at both E15.5 and E18.5. E15.5 n=13 E18.5 n=13. Data are litter means with P0 expressed as a percentage of WT (100%) * P<0.05 *** P<0.001 Wilcoxon signed rank test.

	E15.5			E18.5			
	WT E15.5	P0 E15.5	P value	WT E18.5	P0 E18.5	P value	
Placental	0.104	0.077	***	0.094	0.066	***	
weight (g)	[0.089-0.112]	[0.065-0.086]	< 0.001	[0.076-0.104]	[0.057-0.078]	< 0.001	
Fetal	0.387	0.363	*	1.220	1.031	***	
weight (g)	[0.346-0.432]	[0.351-0.426]	< 0.02	[1.108-1.381]	[0.837-1.091]	< 0.001	
F:P ratio	3.9	4.9	***	13.6	15.2	***	
	[3.3-4.6]	[4.5-6.2]	< 0.001	[10.8-15.3]	[13.4-16.9]	< 0.001	

Table 21 Average placental weight, fetal weight and fetal weight:placental weight (F:P) ratio from P0 and WT placentas in a litter at E15.5 and E18.5

Placental weight, fetal weight and F:P ratio are presented as median [range]. Data analysed by Wilcoxon signed rank test *** P<0.001 * P<0.05 E15.5 n= 13 E18.5 n= 13.



Figure 43 Placental weight versus fetal weight of P0 and WT fetuses at E15.5 and E18.5 For both WT (orange) and P0 (blue) groups, fetal and placental weight are significantly correlated at E15.5 and E18.5 ** *P*<0.01 *** *P*<0.001 Linear regression.



Figure 44 Fetal weight distribution curves for P0 and WT mice Fetal weight distribution curves for P0 (black) and WT (red) fetuses are shown for E15.5 (A) and E18.5 (B). The dotted line represents the 5th centile of WT fetal weights. 5th centile at E15.5 = 0.325 g and E18.5 = 1.036 g.

5.3.2 Unidirectional maternofetal clearance of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate

Unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf} , μ l/min/per g placenta) of ¹⁴C-glutamine was higher for P0 compared with WT fetuses at E15.5 and E18.5 (**P*<0.05) (Figure 45A). Per g fetus, maternofetal transfer of ¹⁴C-glutamine was also higher across P0 placentas versus WT at E18.5 (**P*<0.05). There was no difference at E15.5 (Figure 45C). In contrast, total transfer of 159 ¹⁴C-glutamine was lower (P0 versus WT) at E18.5 (*P<0.05) but not different at E15.5 (Figure 45E). Unidirectional maternofetal clearance of ¹⁴C-glutamate (K_{mf}, µl/min/per g placenta) was higher at E15.5 (*P<0.05) but no different (P0 versus WT) at E18.5 (Figure 45B). There was no difference between groups in either maternofetal transfer of ¹⁴C-glutamate (per g fetus) or total ¹⁴C-glutamate transfer at either gestational age (Figure 45D, F). Raw values of ¹⁴C-glutamate K_{mf} are quoted (median [range]) in Table 22.



Unidirectional maternofetal clearance of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate (per g placenta)



¹⁴C-glutamine unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf} , per g placenta) was significantly higher across P0 versus WT placentas at E15.5 and E18.5. Maternofetal transfer per g fetus was significantly higher (P0 versus WT) at E18.5. However, total transfer of ¹⁴C-glutamine (irrespective of fetal and placenta weight) was significantly lower in P0 compared with WT fetuses at E18.5. ¹⁴C-glutamate unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf} , per g placenta) was higher, P0 versus WT, at E15.5 but similar between groups at E18.5. Maternofetal transfer (per g fetus) and total transfer of ¹⁴C-glutamate was similar in P0 and WT at both gestational ages. Glutamine E15.5 n=6 E18.5 n=6, Glutamate E15.5 n=7 E18.5 n=7 * *P*<0.05 Wilcoxon signed rank test.

Unidirectional maternofetal clearance		E15.5			E18.5		
		WΤ	P0	<i>P</i> value	WT	P0	<i>P</i> value
Glutamine	K _{mf}	306.9	499.2	* 0.031	505.9	748.4	* 0.031
	(µl/min/	[273.9-	[336.9-		[240.1-	[259.0-	
	g	376.2]	578.0]		773.6]	1044.0]	
	placenta)						
	µl/min/g	82.75	86	0.312	37.45	47.1	* 0.031
	fetus	[68.2-101.2]	[69.2-129.5]		[18.1-60.4]	[19.1-67.2]	
	µl/min	31.75	35.3	0.312	46.65	44	* 0.031
		[26.0-39.2]	[25.0-45.8]		[22.4-72.3]	[20.1-71.6]	
Glutamate	K _{mf}	55.55	77.72	* 0.016	113.9	142.8	0.078
	(µl/min/	[29.5-106.3]	[30.9-127.0]		[66.5-263.3]	[66.2-312.0]	
	g						
	placenta)						
	µl/min/g	14.28	14.69	0.578	7.8	10.3	0.406
	fetus	[8.1-27.4]	[6.7-28.0]		[4.8-17.9]	[4.2-19.5]	
	µl/min	5.2	5.2	0.219	10.8	10.1	0.093
		[3.2-11.3]	[2.4-11.3]		[5.4-19.6]	[4.2-20.1]	

Table 22 Unidirectional maternofetal clearance of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate

The raw data from unidirectional maternofetal clearance of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate experiments are shown in the above table (median [range]). Unidirectional maternofetal clearance of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate is expressed (median [range]): per g placenta (K_{mf} , μ /min/g placenta), per g fetus (μ /min/g fetus) and as total transfer (i.e. irrespective of fetal or placental measures; μ /min). P0 and WT placentas from a single litter were compared for statistical analysis. Data analysed by Wilcoxon signed rank test * *P*<0.05 Glutamine E15.5 n=6; E18.5. n=6; glutamate E15.5 n=7; E18.5 n=7.

5.3.3 Expression of amino acid transporter proteins in P0 versus WT placentas

Placentas were selected for the experiment at random (one P0 and one WT placenta per litter) following genotyping of fetal tail tips from a litter containing a minimum of two P0 and two WT fetuses (section 2.2.6/2.3). Placental tissue harvested for Western blot experiments were from separate litters to those used in unidirectional maternofetal clearance studies due to the use of radioisotopes. It was therefore not possible to perform both techniques using the same animals/tissues. This study was not powered, nor did it aim to, evaluate the effect of the sex of the fetus.

Expression of known glutamine and glutamate transporter proteins was assessed in membrane-enriched whole placental homogenates by Western blot, and protein band density at the predicted molecular weight was determined by semi-quantitative analysis (section 2.3.5). All data were normalised to the housekeeping protein β -tubulin which was consistent between groups. Representative blots of the proteins of interest and housekeeping protein at both gestational ages are shown in Figure 46.

Glutamine is a substrate of systems A, L and N, and in the absence of reliable specific antibodies for the system A isoforms, the expression of the transporter proteins LAT1, LAT2 (system L) and SNAT5 (system N) was assessed. There were no significant differences between P0 and WT fetuses in expression of any glutamine transporter proteins (LAT1, LAT2, SNAT5) (Figure 47A-C) at either gestational age (E15.5 or E18.5). LAT1 expression

was detected at the appropriate molecular weight of 40 kDa (Figure 46). A 75 kDa band was also present under reducing conditions (see Appendix 9.11) as has been previously described by others (Ellinger *et al.*, 2016). The LAT2 antibody used in Chapter 3 (Abbexa abx121147) was discontinued, thus a different antibody, obtained from Abcam (ab75610) was used here (Table 12). The manufacturer's datasheet for the LAT2 antibody predicts expression at 52 kDa (as shown in Figure 46 and analysed here), with additional bands present at 58 kDa and 85 kDa. SNAT5 expression was present at the predicted molecular weight of 52 kDa (Figure 46). Additional bands were also present at 40 kDa, as is mentioned in the antibody manufacturer's datasheet; however the identity of these bands is unknown.

Expression of two transporter proteins important for placental glutamate uptake, EAAT1 and EAAT2 (system X_{AG}) was assessed. EAAT1 expression was not different between WT and P0 placentas at either gestational age (Figure 47D). The validity of the band present at 35 kDa has previously been confirmed (Figure 28) and was used for analysis by densitometry here. EAAT2 expression (at the predicted molecular weight of ~62 kDa) was significantly lower (P<0.05) at E18.5 for P0 versus WT placentas (Figure 47E) but no different at E15.5.



Figure 46 Representative blots illustrating expression of glutamate and glutamine transporter proteins

Representative Western blots of glutamine (system L: LAT1, LAT2 system N: SNAT5) and glutamate (system X_{AG} : EAAT1, EAAT2) transporter proteins in the WT and P0 placentas at E15.5 and E18.5. Corresponding Western blots for a housekeeping protein β -tubulin are shown below each blot. M= marker, kid= mouse kidney whole homogenate, E15.5= WT mouse placental membrane isolate from E15.5, dH₂0= deionised water.



Figure 47 Expression of glutamate and glutamine transporter proteins at E15.5 and E18.5

All data were normalised to β -tubulin, the expression of which was stable across groups. There were no differences in the expression of glutamine transporter proteins LAT1 (A) or LAT2 (B) (system L) or SNAT5 (C) (system N) or glutamate transporter proteins EAAT1 (D) in P0 versus WT placentas at either gestational age. Expression of the glutamate transporter protein EAAT2 (E) (system X_{AG}) was significantly lower in the P0 versus WT placentas at E18.5 (*P*<0.05, Wilcoxon signed rank test). E15.5 n=8 E18.5 n=8. LAT1 and SNAT5 E18.5 n=6.

5.4 Discussion

This study has reproduced previously published findings and demonstrated that the P0 knockout mouse exhibits FGR in late gestation (Constância *et al.*, 2002; Constância *et al.*, 2005; Dilworth *et al.*, 2010; Dilworth *et al.*, 2011). A major finding of this chapter was that unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) of ¹⁴C-glutamine was significantly higher in placentas of P0 fetuses compared with those of WT fetuses both in mid-gestation and towards term (E15.5 and E18.5). ¹⁴C-glutamate K_{mf} was significantly higher in placentas of P0 versus WT fetuses at E15.5 only. Expression of transporter proteins important for glutamine and glutamate transport was determined by Western blot of membrane-enriched placental isolates.

Expression of the glutamate transporter EAAT2 was lower in placentas of P0 fetuses at E18.5. The expression of all other glutamate (EAAT1) and glutamine (LAT1, LAT2, SNAT5) transporter proteins was similar between groups at both gestational ages (E15.5 and E18.5).

5.4.1 Placental and fetal weights: P0 versus WT

Timed mating of a WT dam with a male mouse heterozygote for the placental-specific *Ig/2P0* knockout results in mixed litters of P0 (*Ig/2P0*⁺/⁻) and WT fetuses. This study found that P0 placentas weighed approximately 26% less than WT placentas at both E15.5 and E18.5. The placental weights presented in Table 21 are similar to those previously reported by Dilworth *et al.* (2010) (mean placental weights at E15.5 not reported; E18.5 P0 0.062 g, WT 0.094 g) and Constância *et al.* (2005) (mean placental weights at E15.5 P0 0.075 g, WT 0.105 g; E18.5 P0 0.063 g, WT 0.095 g).

P0 fetuses were 4% lighter than WT at mid-gestation (E15.5) (Figure 42, Table 21). Towards term (E18.5) P0 fetuses weighed approximately 17% less than WT fetuses. These data are in alignment with previous published data by Constância *et al.* (2005) (E15.5 4% E18.5 15%; percentage difference was not reported by Dilworth *et al.* (2010)).

At both gestational ages the fetal weight:placental weight (F:P) ratio was significantly higher for P0 compared with WT fetuses (Figure 42). These data (Table 21) replicate findings by Constância *et al.* (2005) and Dilworth *et al.* (2010) and indicate that at E15.5 and E18.5 the small dysfunctional P0 placenta is supporting significantly more fetal weight per g placental weight but that FGR is still observed towards term.

The 5th centile of fetal weights was calculated using the method described by Dilworth *et al.* (2011) (section 2.2.7). Using the entire population of WT fetal weights recorded for this study, the 5th centile was established as 0.325 g at E15.5 and 1.036 g at E18.5, which is similar to that previously reported (Dilworth *et al.*, 2010; Renshall, 2015) (5th centile in the same mouse model: 1.018 g and 1.070 g at E18.5 respectively; no data for E15.5). The fetal weight distribution curves (Figure 44) show the proportion of P0 and WT fetuses that are below the 5th centile of WT fetal weights (dotted line) at E15.5 and E18.5. By E18.5 there is a shift to the left of P0 fetal weights; towards term 57% of P0 fetuses fall beneath the clinically relevant threshold for FGR (5th centile) compared with 8% at E15.5. Taken together, these similarities provide confidence in the reproducibility of the FGR phenotype in the P0 model.

5.4.2 Methodological considerations

For the first time, unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf} , per g placenta) of glutamine and glutamate has been assessed in the P0 knockout mouse model of FGR. To calculate K_{mf} , a disappearance curve for each gestational age was generated from single data points from

multiple mice euthanased at time points between approximately 94 sec-3 min after radioisotope injection (section 2.2.3). To reduce the number of animals required in line with the 3Rs (NC3Rs, 2004), the disappearance curves for P0 mice were overlaid with those from WT mice (C57BL/6J) once they were found to be similar (as clearly highlighted in Figure 40). Experimental procedures were carried out at approximately 2 min, during the linear portion of the disappearance curve as previously described (Bond *et al.*, 2006a).

A key difference between the studies reported in this thesis, and the preceding studies of system A in FGR that have measured the maternofetal clearance of MeAIB, is that the latter is not metabolised. The rate of radiolabel appearance in the fetus will depend upon the rate of placental uptake and metabolism, either of which might change in FGR, and radiolabel counts in the fetus reflect the net effect of these processes. Studies in the pregnant rhesus monkey show that the majority of radiolabelled glutamate infused into the maternal circulation (over 1 hour) remains intact as ¹⁴C-glutamate (Stegink et al., 1975). It is therefore likely that the majority of isotope that reaches the placenta within the ~ 2 min time period of the experiment and is subsequently measured in the fetus is representative of glutamate handled by the placenta. Experiments in the current study therefore likely reflect the amount of radiolabelled glutamate taken up into the placenta i.e. activity of the system X_{AG-} isoforms EAAT1, EAAT2 and EAAT3. A mechanism of glutamate efflux in the human placenta is via exchange by the organic anion transporter/transporting polypeptides OAT4/OATP2B1 (see Figure 9). However, OAT4 is not present in the mouse (Koepsell, 2013; Rizwan and Burckhardt, 2007). Determining which metabolites of glutamate were radiolabelled in the fetus following injection into the maternal circulation in the mouse was beyond the scope of the current study and remains to be confirmed in the future.

In all cases where K_{mf} is used to assess amino acid transfer across the placenta in mice, it is possible that time taken for the radiolabelled isotopes to equilibrate with intracellular metabolic compartments/amino acid pools that exist within the placenta (Cleal *et al.*, 2018; Day *et al.*, 2013; Velázquez *et al.*, 1976) could underestimate the true clearance over the time course of the experiment. For the purposes of interpreting data in the current study, it has been assumed that intracellular compartmentalisation does not differ in P0 compared with WT placentas. However, this information is unavailable and it cannot be ruled out that differences in compartmentalisation contribute to the higher glutamine/glutamate clearance by P0 versus WT placentas in the current study.

Expression of transport proteins for glutamine and glutamate was determined by Western blot analyses of membrane-enriched placental homogenates to compare expression in growth restricted (P0) and normally grown (WT) fetuses (discussed fully in section 5.4.5). It is possible that changes in protein expression in the apical maternal-facing plasma membrane are not detected optimally if expression by other membranes in the homogenate makes a substantial contribution to the transport proteins detected. Future work should examine transporter expression more closely by using pure apical membrane preparations (Kusinski *et al.*, 2010) and/or investigate localisation of putative transporters using immunohistochemistry.

5.4.3 Unidirectional maternofetal clearance in a mouse model of FGR

 K_{mf} is a measure of unidirectional maternofetal clearance of radiolabeled amino acid per g placental weight. Expression of maternofetal transfer relative to fetal weight or uncorrected for fetal or placental weight ('raw transfer') can provide additional insight into the relationship between fetal and placental measures and the K_{mf} of glutamine and glutamate, and can help delineate whether the overall amount of glutamine/glutamate reaching the fetus is equivalent between P0 and WT placentas.

5.4.3.1 Unidirectional maternofetal clearance of ¹⁴C-glutamine

 K_{mf} of glutamine (per g placenta) was significantly higher for P0 versus WT placentas at both E15.5 and E18.5 (Figure 45A). Relative to the size of the fetus there was no difference in maternofetal transfer of glutamine in P0 versus WT at E15.5. At E18.5 maternofetal transfer of glutamine (per g fetus) was increased in P0 (Figure 45C), indicating that, despite more glutamine was being transferred relative to the size of the fetus, fetal weight was not restored to normal. However, expressed as total transfer, i.e. irrespective of fetal or placental size, glutamine delivery to the fetus was significantly lower for P0 versus WT at E18.5, but comparable earlier in gestation (E15.5) (Figure 45E). This indicates that an increase in K_{mf} (per g placenta) did not fully compensate for reduced placental size and thus total delivery to the fetus was lower. This finding is akin to what has been previously described for maternofetal transfer of MeAIB in the P0 mouse (Constância *et al.*, 2002; Constância *et al.*, 2005). Given the importance of glutamine in contributing to fetal growth (Pochini *et al.*, 2014), it is reasonable to suggest that an overall lack of glutamine provision to the P0 fetus may contribute to suboptimal growth.

Previous studies have indicated that K_{mf} of MeAIB, a non-metabolisable analogue for system A, of which glutamine is a substrate, is higher at E15.5 in P0 placentas but similar between groups at E18.5 (Constância *et al.*, 2002). This suggests that other transport systems responsible for placental glutamine transport (e.g. system L, N) are driving the sustained increase in glutamine clearance per g placenta at E18.5.

5.4.3.2 Unidirectional maternofetal clearance of ¹⁴C-glutamate

At E15.5 there was higher clearance of glutamate per g placenta (K_{mf}) compared with WT (Figure 45B), and this resulted in the same total delivery of glutamate to the P0 and WT fetus. At E18.5 there was a trend for glutamate clearance to be higher in P0 versus WT, and for total transfer to be reduced, but these differences were not significant.

Glutamate is required for glutamine synthesis within the placenta (Moores *et al.*, 1994; Vaughn *et al.*, 1995). Insufficient uptake of glutamate into the placenta would impair the ability of the placenta to synthesise sufficient glutamine, which could subsequently impact glutamate production from glutamine within the fetal liver (Figure 8), further perpetuating the problem. Maternofetal transfer of glutamate relative to fetal weight (per g fetus), and total maternofetal glutamate transfer was similar between P0 and WT placentas at both E15.5 and E18.5 (Figure 45D, F), indicating that glutamate delivery to the fetus may in fact be sufficient, relative to the size of the fetus. Whilst this study was not designed to test for differences across gestation, there is evidence that transfer of glutamine/glutamate (µl/min) increases towards term as would be expected (Table 22).

5.4.4 Unidirectional maternofetal clearance of ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate in normal (WT) small placentas and FGR (P0) placentas

Taken together, the data presented here and in Chapter 3 indicate that there are different strategies to compensate for small placental size in normally grown (WT, C57BL/6J) and growth restricted (P0) fetuses (summarised in Table 23). The P0 placenta weighs less than the lightest placenta in a normal WT litter (0.077 g at E15.5; 0.066 g at E18.5 for P0 versus 0.078 g and 0.070 g for WT lightest). However, the magnitude of this difference is slight, and indicates that perturbed placental function and morphology, in additional to small size, contributes to suboptimal fetal growth in this model of FGR.

At both gestational ages investigated, P0 fetuses and WT (C57BL/6J) fetuses that have the lightest placenta in a litter weigh less than WT fetuses in the P0 model, and WT (C57BL/6J) fetuses with the heaviest placenta in a litter. In the WT mouse, where fetuses with the lightest and heaviest placentas in a litter are compared, the magnitude of difference in fetal weights is reduced towards term. Conversely, in the P0 mouse the difference in fetal weight between P0 and WT fetuses increases towards term. This indicates that in WT litters, the lightest placenta in a litter employs strategies to maintain appropriate fetal growth, which is supported by the findings that K_{mf} of glutamine and glutamate is significantly higher across the lightest placentas towards term (Chapter 3). On the other hand, P0 placentas fail to support a fetus of an appropriate weight by term (57% of fetuses are beneath the 5th centile by E18.5) (Figure 44) and the K_{mf} of glutamate is similar between P0 and WT fetuses at E18.5. K_{mf} of glutamine

is higher across P0 versus WT at E18.5 but this is not sufficient to maintain appropriate fetal weight and growth restriction ensues.

The data presented in this thesis are consistent with previously reported MeAIB clearance in the lightest versus heaviest placentas of a WT litter, which is elevated at E18.5 (no difference at E15.5) (Coan *et al.*, 2008). This shows that in normal pregnancy, several nutrient transporters are up-regulated in a small placenta (per g placenta) to ensure that there is sufficient compensation for small size to sustain normal fetal growth. In the P0 mouse K_{mf} of MeAIB is significantly higher compared to WT at E15.5 but no different between groups at E18.5 (Constância *et al.*, 2002), which is in alignment with K_{mf} of glutamate reported in the current study. However, in contrast to MeAIB, glutamine clearance per g placenta remains elevated in the P0 mouse above WT at E18.5. Taken together, these data suggest that the WT placenta is able to adapt to facilitate appropriate fetal growth towards term. In the P0 mouse close to term, there is higher glutamine but not glutamate or MeAIB (Constância *et al.*, 2005) clearance, indicating that the up-regulation is selective for certain amino acid transporters. However, placental nutrient provision remains insufficient to restore normal fetal growth in the P0 mouse.

	C57BL/6J (WT) lightest versus heaviest			P0 versus WT				
	E1	5.5	E1	8.5	E1	15.5	E	18.5
Placental weight	Ψ ν	11	•	F.A.	Ψ·	Υ Ψ	Ψ.	1
Fetal weight	ب	11	•			¥	Ψ.	1
F:P ratio	ተኅ	ኮ ተ	^	ኮ ተ	ተ ′	ተተ	•	ተተ
Unidirectional maternofetal clearance	Gln =	Glu =	Gln ↑↑	Glu 🛧	Gln ↑	Glu 🛧	Gln ↑	Glu =
(K _{mf} , µl/min per g placenta)								
Maternofetal transfer (µl/min per g fetus)	Gln =	Glu ♥	Gln ↑↑	Glu =	Gln =	Glu =	Gln ↑	Glu =
Total transfer (µl/min)	Gln =	Glu ♥	Gln ↑	Glu =	Gln =	Glu =	Gln ♥	Glu =

Table 23 Comparison of placental weight, fetal weight, fetal:placental weight ratio, and measures of maternofetal transfer of glutamine and glutamate in WT (lightest versus heaviest placentas: Chapter 3) and P0 (paired P0 versus WT fetuses) mice

Arrows () indicate that measurement is significantly higher or lower relative to littermates, i.e. lightest versus heaviest or P0 versus WT. A corresponds to a P value of <0.05, A P<0.01,

↑↑↑ P < 0.001; same for Ψ arrows. = indicates that there was no difference between groups. Gln: glutamine, Glu: glutamate.

5.4.5 Expression of amino acid transporters in P0 and WT placentas

The expression of transporter proteins known to transfer glutamine (LAT1, LAT2 for system L and SNAT5 for system N) and glutamate (EAAT1, EAAT2 for system X_{AG}) was assessed (Western blot) using membrane-enriched placental isolates from paired P0 and WT placentas. To the best of my knowledge, expression of these amino acid transporters has never been evaluated in the P0 mouse.

There were no differences between P0 and WT placentas in the expression of any of the glutamine transporter proteins analysed (LAT1, LAT2, SNAT5) at either E15.5 or E18.5 (Figure 47A-C). Whilst it was not possible to investigate the expression of system A isoforms due to a lack of validated specific antibodies, it is unlikely that system A is wholly responsible for the changes in K_{mf} of glutamine reported here. Previous studies (Constância *et al.*, 2002) have reported in the P0 mouse that K_{mf} of MeAIB (representative of system A activity) is higher for growth restricted (P0) compared with WT placentas at E15.5 (akin to glutamine K_{mf}) but unlike MeAIB, glutamine K_{mf} remains significantly higher in P0 placentas versus WT littermates at E18.5. There was no difference in glutamine transporter abundance in membrane-enriched homogenates between P0 and WT placentas and so the mechanisms that underlie the elevated K_{mf} of glutamine are as yet unknown.

In the current study, expression of the glutamate transporter protein EAAT1 was similar between P0 and WT placentas at both E15.5 and E18.5 (Figure 47D). EAAT2 expression was also similar at E15.5 but was significantly lower across P0 placentas at E18.5 (Figure 47E). Glutamate K_{mf} is higher (P0 versus WT) at E15.5 but similar between groups at E18.5 which may be explained by relatively lower EAAT2 glutamate transporter protein expression.

Previously published work from our group has demonstrated that a sample size of 6-8 litters (one WT and one P0 per litter) is sufficient to detect differences between groups (Dilworth *et al.*, 2010). However, some of the data presented here (Figure 47A, C) appear close to significance, and so more numbers may be required to gain sufficient power to detect changes.

5.4.6 Summary

To summarise, the P0 mouse has a significantly lighter placenta than WT littermates at both E15.5 and E18.5. Compared with WT fetuses, P0 fetuses weigh less at E15.5 (4%); the magnitude of this reduced fetal weight is amplified (17%) by E18.5. Whilst the P0 placenta supports more fetus per g placental weight at both gestational ages than its WT littermates, as evidenced by a higher F:P ratio, it is unable to sustain appropriate fetal growth. By E18.5, 57% of P0 fetuses are below the 5th centile of WT fetal weight, a clinically relevant cut off for FGR (Dilworth *et al.*, 2011).

In alignment with this, unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) of glutamine and glutamate

is significantly higher in P0 compared with WT fetuses at E15.5. At E18.5 K_{mf} of glutamate is similar between groups. K_{mf} of glutamine remains higher at E18.5 in the P0 fetuses but this is insufficient to maintain appropriate total delivery of glutamine to the fetus or to restore fetal weight. Glutamine and glutamate are both fundamental to the metabolic and growth requirements of the fetus (Parimi and Kalhan, 2007; Pochini *et al.*, 2014). That glutamate is required for glutamine synthesis within the placenta suggests that insufficient glutamate could also lead to reduced glutamine availability for transfer to the fetus.

Expression of transporter proteins that affect glutamine and glutamate transfer was assessed as a potential mechanism underpinning changes in glutamine and glutamate clearance. None of the glutamine transporter proteins analysed (LAT1, LAT2, SNAT5) were different between P0 and WT placentas. EAAT1 expression (contributes to placental glutamate uptake) was also unchanged whereas EAAT2 expression was significantly reduced in placentas of P0 compared with WT fetuses at E18.5 only. The up-regulation of glutamine clearance in the P0 placenta is similar to the up-regulation of MeAIB clearance at E15.5 previously reported (Constância *et al.*, 2002). Thus, at the earlier time point the increase in glutamine clearance could be due to system A. However, the higher K_{mf} of glutamine at E18.5, when MeAIB clearance is no longer elevated in FGR, suggests that systems L or N are activated in later gestation. If so, the lack of increase in protein expression of LAT1, LAT1 and SNAT5 at E18.5 in FGR placentas implies an effect on transporter activity and not expression.

The data presented in this chapter illustrate that in the mouse, the placenta of a growth restricted (P0) fetus up-regulates transporter activity for glutamine, providing evidence for placental adaptation of nutrient transporter activity in FGR. This appears to be a functional adaptation in an attempt to support/achieve appropriate fetal weight towards term but this subsequently fails: P0 fetuses weigh 17% less than WT littermates by term. An investigation of glutamine and glutamate uptake (transporter activity), and expression of putative transporter proteins in human pregnancy, comparing placentas from normal birth weight and FGR infants, is the focus of the next chapter.

Chapter 6 Assessment of placental glutamine and glutamate transporter activity, expression and amino acid levels in FGR and normal pregnancies

6.1 Introduction

Fetal growth restriction (FGR) is defined as the failure of the fetus to reach its genetically predetermined growth potential. FGR occurs in around 5-10% of pregnancies in the UK (ONS, 2015) and is associated with an increased risk of stillbirth (Gardosi *et al.*, 2013). Placental dysfunction leads to the majority of FGR cases (Mifsud and Sebire, 2014), yet there are no accurate tests to predict FGR or any treatment options save for delivery, often prematurely, of the fetus.

Fetal growth is dependent upon the provision of nutrients such as amino acids to the fetus via the placenta. The amino acids glutamine and glutamate are essential for pH homeostasis, nucleotide synthesis and protein anabolism (Parimi and Kalhan, 2007; Pochini *et al.*, 2014). Glutamine is a non-essential amino acid that becomes conditionally essential during pregnancy as fetal demand exceeds maternal synthesis (Neu, 2001; Tapiero *et al.*, 2002). Deamination of glutamine in the fetal liver produces glutamate, an important nitrogen resource and precursor of γ -amino butyric acid (GABA), a key inhibitory neurotransmitter (Moores *et al.*, 1994; Tapiero *et al.*, 2002; Vaughn *et al.*, 1995), and results in increased concentration of glutamate in the umbilical artery (UmA) relative to the umbilical vein (UmV) (Holm *et al.*, 2017). Glutamate is transported across the syncytiotrophoblast BM by high affinity EAATs (system X_{AG}.) (Lofthouse *et al.*, 2015) and is subsequently converted to glutamine in the placenta (Day *et al.*, 2013) (Figure 9).

My data in WT mice (Chapter 3) showed that small, normal placentas (lightest versus heaviest) up-regulate K_{mf} of glutamine and glutamate (clearance per g placenta) to support normal fetal growth, but this adaptation was not evident in human placentas from babies that were normally grown (Chapter 4); there was no relationship between glutamine and glutamate uptake (per g placenta) and placental weight. Additionally, in growth restricted (P0) mice (Chapter 5), my data demonstrated that K_{mf} of glutamine (per g placenta) at E15.5 and E18.5, and K_{mf} of glutamate at E15.5 (but not E18.5), was greater than in normally grown WT littermates, indicating an adaptive up-regulation of transporter activity in the growth restricted P0 mouse placenta. However, for glutamine this adaptation was insufficient to compensate for small placental size and the total placental delivery of glutamine to the fetus was significantly lower in P0 versus WT towards the end of pregnancy.

In human FGR, the placenta is smaller than normal for gestational age (Mifsud and Sebire, 2014) and this alone might account for the reduced provision of key amino acids to the fetus. There are as yet no studies of glutamine and glutamate transporter activity in the placenta in human FGR, but substantial evidence to show that system A and system L transporter activity is reduced in FGR (Glazier *et al.*, 1997; Jansson *et al.*, 1998; Mahendran *et al.*, 1993; Shibata *et al.*, 2008). This implies, again in contrast to the P0 mouse, that there is failure of the small abnormal placenta in FGR to up-regulate nutrient transporter activity (per g placenta). As glutamine is a substrate for systems A and L, a reasonable hypothesis is that glutamine uptake will be lower in FGR.

The fundamental reasons behind the reduction in placental system A and system L activity in FGR are poorly understood, not least because the determinants of appropriate provision of amino acids to the fetus in normal pregnancy have not been defined. It is important to evaluate the relationships between amino acid transporter activity and potential determinants of this activity, which include amino acid concentrations, in particular glutamine and glutamate. Measuring amino acid concentrations in maternal and fetal (UmV and UmA) plasma offers insight into the interplay between maternal 'availability' of amino acids (maternal vein), delivery to the fetus (UmV), reflective of what is transported into/across the placenta and of placental utilisation, and the concentrations of amino acids available for transfer back to the placenta (UmA). Analysing amino acid concentrations in UmV and UmA offers the opportunity to assess venoarterial amino acid gradients thus giving insight into fetal utilisation and conversion of amino acids, particularly with regards to glutamine and glutamate. Amino acid concentrations in the UmA are a determinant of amino acids taken up by the placenta from the fetus which in turn, through changing the intracellular concentrations of amino acids, could modulate transporter activity/expression at the MVM of the syncytiotrophoblast since several amino acid transporters are regulated by levels of substrate (section 1.8.1).

Amino acid concentrations in the UmA may act as an indicator of physiological condition of the fetus (Horgan *et al.*, 2011), and in this sense it is possible that the fetus signals to the placenta, through amino acids or other metabolites in the UmA blood, to adapt placental amino acid uptake (MVM transporter activity) to ensure amino acid provision meets fetal demand, as has been suggested for other nutrients such as calcium (Dilworth *et al.*, 2010). Assessment of amino acid and/or metabolite levels in UmA could identify whether potential fetal signals were different in FGR versus normal birth weight (AGA) infants. Should there be no difference, this may imply that the fetus is not able to signal to the placenta by this means, i.e. through altered amino acids or metabolites in UmA, and so this will not be a mechanism to adapt or match placental nutrient provision with fetal demand. If there are differences in potential signals, but no placental response (change in amino acid transporter activity/expression in the MVM), then the placenta is failing to adapt i.e. react to fetal demand. Glutamate is a likely candidate as a signal/marker of physiological condition as it is produced following the conversion of glutamine by the fetal liver which could be compromised in the growth restricted fetus. Thus, any alteration in glutamate concentrations in the UmA may indicate that fetal physiology is compromised. Cetin *et al.* (1988) and Young and Prenton (1969) found no difference in UmA glutamate concentration in normal pregnancy compared with SGA infants (<10th centile of birth weight); however, whether glutamate concentration is different in well-defined cohorts of FGR versus normal pregnancy remains to be resolved.

Metabolomics is the study of small molecule metabolites which can provide a holistic read-out of the biological system of interest. It has been used previously to evaluate metabolite levels in the placenta, maternal and fetal (umbilical cord) plasma (Fanos *et al.*, 2013) (for a summary of the relevant literature, see Table 6 in Introduction). To date, there are very few studies that have measured the metabolic profile in UmV/UmA plasma in FGR but evidence from these studies suggest that low birth weight and growth restricted infants have altered umbilical cord plasma metabolomic profiles (Table 6). Additionally, very few studies have collected UmA samples, the majority have looked at UmV plasma only.

It is difficult to compare between studies since various gestational cutoffs and definitions of low birth weight/FGR have been used, e.g. $<10^{\text{th}}$ centile, <1500 g, and <32 or 35 weeks gestation (Alexandre-Gouabau *et al.*, 2013; Favretto *et al.*, 2012; Ivorra *et al.*, 2012; Sanz-Cortés *et al.*, 2013; Tea *et al.*, 2012). Definitions of normal are also problematic; many studies do not report the inclusion criteria or demographics of the control (normal birth weight) group, and in 1 study only infants with an IBR between 75^{th} -90th centile were accepted in the control arm of the study (Ivorra *et al.*, 2012). Altered amino acid levels in low birth weight ($<10^{\text{th}}$ centile) pregnancies, e.g. reduced levels of glutamine in the UmV (Ivorra *et al.*, 2012), could arise from reduced uptake by the syncytiotrophoblast MVM but this has yet to be investigated. Ideally, it would be beneficial to measure amino acid concentrations in maternal and umbilical plasma within the same pregnancy, and to assess differences in well-defined cohorts of normal (AGA) pregnancy and FGR, and relate these to amino acid transporter activity.

In the current study the placental uptake of glutamine and glutamate was compared in normal pregnancy and FGR for the first time. Amino acid concentrations and the levels of metabolites (sugars, intermediate metabolites, and amino acids) in the maternal vein and fetal (UmV and UmA) plasma are potential determinants of placental nutrient transporter activity/expression and might be altered in FGR. Here amino acid concentrations were measured in the maternal vein, UmV and UmA using high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC). Non-targeted metabolomics (GC-MS) assessed levels of metabolites

in the UmV and UmA of FGR and normal birth weight (AGA) infants, to not only reveal potentially novel markers/signals but to also confirm differences in amino acid concentrations observed with HPLC.

6.1.1 Hypotheses

- Uptake of ¹⁴C-glutamine, ¹⁴C-glutamate and ¹⁴C-MeAIB into placental villous fragments is reduced in placentas from FGR versus normal (AGA) pregnancies
- Placental expression of key glutamine and glutamate transporters is reduced in FGR compared with normal pregnancy
- Amino acid concentrations in the maternal and fetal compartments (maternal venous and UmA and UmV plasma) are related to glutamine and glutamate uptake
- The relationship/s between glutamine and glutamate uptake into the placenta and plasma concentration of these amino acids in mother and fetus (UmV and UmA) in normal pregnancy is altered in FGR

6.1.2 Aims

The aims of this chapter were therefore to:

- Determine whether glutamine and glutamate transporter activity and expression of key glutamine and glutamate transporters is altered in FGR compared with normal pregnancy by measuring transporter-mediated ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate uptake into placental villous fragments, and protein expression by Western blotting.
- Determine the concentration of amino acids (HPLC) in maternal venous and fetal (UmV and UmA) plasma from normal pregnancy and FGR, and relate concentration to glutamine and glutamate uptake
- Perform metabolomic analysis (GC-MS) to compare paired UmV/UmA (fetal) plasma samples in normal pregnancy and FGR

6.2 Methods

6.2.1 Glutamine and glutamate transporter activity in placental villous fragments from FGR and normal (AGA) pregnancies

Women who met the inclusion criteria (section 2.1.2) were included in the study following informed consent. Infants with an IBR between $10^{th}-90^{th}$ centile at delivery were classified as normal birth weight (AGA, n=11) and those with an IBR <5th were classed as FGR (n=19) (see Table 24 for demographics). The full experimental details are described in the Methods chapter of this thesis (section 2.1). In brief, maternal venous blood was collected prior to delivery; on admittance to the ward for vaginal births, before anaesthetic for deliveries by

caesarean section and after prostaglandin administration for induction of labour. The placenta, and where possible umbilical arterial (UmA) and venous (UmV) blood, were collected immediately following delivery. Blood samples were centrifuged to obtain plasma (as detailed in section 2.1.5) and stored at -80°C until required for HPLC or GC-MS analyses (see sections 6.2.4 and 6.2.5). Immediately following collection of placental tissue, sections of villous tissue were dissected in preparation for villous fragment uptake experiments. Placental villous fragments were exposed to ¹⁴C-glutamine, ¹⁴C-glutamate or ¹⁴C-MeAIB, and the initial rate of transporter-mediated uptake of radiolabelled amino acids was measured over 30-90 min and expressed in pmol/mg protein. To test the hypothesis that diminished amino acid uptake may lead to decreased amino acid availability for transfer to the fetus, a proxy measure of amino acid availability was calculated as amino acid uptake at 90 min (per mg placental protein) x trimmed placental weight (g).

	AGA (n= 19)	FGR (n= 11)	P value
Maternal Age (years)	30 (23-40)	32 (25-39)	0.694
Body Mass Index (kg/m ²)	25.9 (18.8-31.2)	23.9 (19.8-33.9)	0.196
Birth Weight (g)	3410 (2690-4400)	1730 (717-2550)	*** <0.001
Trimmed Placental Weight (g)	495.5 (331.1-719.4)	301.6 (159.5-429.3)	*** <0.001
Individualised Birth Weight Ratio (IBR)	54 (13.6-87.7)	1 (0-3.5)	*** <0.001
Birth weight:placental weight (BW:PW) ratio	6.5 (5.2-8.9)	6.2 (3.2-8.4)	0.232
Gestation (days)	273 (260-285)	247 (204-284)	* <0.05
Mode of Delivery	ELCS (89%) NVD (11%)	ELCS (55%) EMCS (18%) NVD (27%)	-
Parity	1 (0-8)	1 (0-5)	0.268
Gravidity	2 (1-12)	2 (1-6)	0.893
Ethnicity	Caucasian (58%)	Caucasian (64%)	-
Smoking Status	No (100%)	No (73%)	-
Uptake experiment also performed	Yes (100%)	Yes (100%)	-
Sex of fetus	Female (63%) Male (37%)	Female (64%) Male (36%)	-

Table 24: Demographics relating to placentas from normal (AGA) and FGR pregnancies

Placentas were collected from normal (AGA, IBR 10th-90th centile) and FGR infants ($<5^{th}$ centile). Birth weight, placental weight, IBR and gestational age were significantly lower in FGR compared with normal pregnancy (AGA). Data are median (range) or percentage of total. ELCS: elective caesarean section; EMCS, emergency caesarean section; NVD: normal vaginal delivery * P<0.05 *** P<0.001 Mann-Whitney test.

6.2.2 Western blotting of membrane-enriched whole placental homogenates

Membrane-enriched whole placental homogenates were prepared from 11 AGA and 10 FGR placentas (section 2.3.1.1). Membranes were probed for the amino acid transporter proteins known to contribute to glutamine (system L: LAT1, LAT2, and system N: SNAT5) and glutamate uptake (system X_{AG} : EAAT1, EAAT2) (see Table 12 for specific antibody conditions). To confirm equal protein loading, β -tubulin (housekeeping protein) was probed for on each membrane.

6.2.3 Quantification of gene expression (qPCR) of glutamine transporters

Currently no reliably validated antibodies exist for determining system A transporter protein expression using Western blotting. Thus, gene expression of system A isoforms slc38a1 (which encodes SNAT1), slc38a2 (SNAT2), slc38a4 (SNAT4) was quantified (section 2.4). The system L isoforms slc7a5 (LAT1), slc7a8 (LAT2), and the associated heavy chain, slc3a2 (CD98/4F2hc) were also quantified by qPCR. Primer sequences are detailed in Methods (Table 13).

6.2.4 High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC)

Maternal venous and UmV and UmA plasma was collected and stored (section 2.1.5), and subsequently sent to the Willink Biochemical Genetics Laboratory (Royal Manchester Children's Hospital, Manchester, UK) for the quantification of amino acid concentration by high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC). The demographics of the individuals from which these samples were obtained are summarised in Table 25. Table 26 shows the total number of samples collected from the maternal (maternal venous) or fetal (UmA or UmV) compartments as well as the number of paired samples, i.e. samples obtained from the same individual. Maternovenous and venoarterial differences were calculated using the formula below.

Maternovenous difference = [maternal venous] - [umbilical venous] Venoarterial difference = [umbilical venous] - [umbilical arterial]

	AGA (n= 20)	FGR (n= 19)	P value
Maternal Age (years)	31 (25-38)	32 (25-39)	0.906
Body Mass Index	26.1 (18.8-31.2)	22.8 (19.8-33.9)	0.292
(kg/m^2)			
Birth Weight (g)	3230 (2834-3990)	1801 (717-2710)	***
			< 0.001
Trimmed Placental	516.5 (321.1-719.4)	307.6 (159.5-409.7)^	***
Weight (g)			< 0.001
Individualised Birth	46.7 (14.8-89.0)	0.9 (0-4.9)	***
Weight Ratio (IBR)			< 0.001
Birth weight:placental	6.4 (5.2-9.1)	6.1 (3.2-8.4)	0.124
weight (BW:PW) ratio			
Gestation (days)	273 (261-282)	248 (205-279)	***
			< 0.001
Mode of Delivery	ELCS (100%)	ELCS (58%)	-
		EMCS (10%)	
		NVD (32%)	
Parity	1	1 (0-5)	0.146
Gravidity	2	2 (1-6)	0.270
Ethnicity	Caucasian (60%)	Caucasian (68%)	-
Smoking Status	No (79%)	No (95%)	-
Uptake experiment also	Yes (35%)	Yes (53%)	-
performed			
Sex of fetus	Female (55%)	Female (68%)	-
	Male (45%)	Male (32%)	

Table 25: Demographics relating to maternal venous, and UmV and UmA plasma samples drawn from normal (AGA) and FGR infants subsequently analysed by HPLC

Maternal venous and UmV and UmA blood was collected and centrifuged to obtain plasma (section 2.1.5). Samples were collected from normal (AGA, IBR $10^{th}-90^{th}$ centile) and FGR infants (<5th centile). ^placental weight was not recorded for one placenta. Data are median (range) or percentage of total. ELCS: elective caesarean section; EMCS, emergency caesarean section; NVD: normal vaginal delivery *** *P*<0.001 Mann-Whitney test.

Samples		AGA (n= 20)	FGR (n= 19)
Total	Maternal venous	17	13
	Umbilical venous (UmV)	20	14
	Umbilical arterial (UmA)	11	11
Paired	Maternal venous-UmV	17	8
	UmV-UmA	12	11

Table 26 Samples analysed by HPLC

The total number of samples collected from the maternal venous, UmV or UmA of normal (AGA) and FGR infants. The number of paired samples, i.e. those drawn from the same individual, are also stated.

6.2.5 Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS)

UmV and UmA plasma samples were collected and processed for analysis by GC-MS (section 2.5). 48 samples were collected in total consisting of 12 matched UmV/UmA plasma pairs
from each experimental group, which is a total of 24 normal (AGA) and 24 FGR samples (Table 27).

	AGA (n= 12)	FGR (n= 12)	P value
Maternal Age (years)	35 (27-40)	32 (27-38)	0.324
Body Mass Index (kg/m^2)	25.6 (18.8-29.0)	23.3 (19.8-33.9)	0.854
Birth Weight (g)	3210 (2840-3800)	2094 (1058-2580)	*** <0.001
Trimmed Placental	530.3 (406.5-704.7)	311.4 (159.5-409.7)	***
Individualised Birth	45.5 (14.8-85.7)	1.3 (0.0-3.6)	<0.001 *** <0.001
Birth weight:placental weight (BW:PW) ratio	6.2 (4.9-7.6)	6.1 (3.7-8.4)	0.745
Gestation (days)	271 (262-277)	253 (205-279)	** <0.01
Mode of Delivery	ELCS (92%) NVD (8%)	ELCS (67%) EMCS (8%) NVD (25%)	-
Parity	1	1	0.371
Gravidity	2	2	0.200
Ethnicity	Caucasian (67%)	Caucasian (83%)	-
Smoking Status	No (100%)	No (75%)	-
Uptake experiment also performed	Yes (75%)	Yes (50%)	-
Sex of fetus	Female (67%) Male (33%)	Female (50%) Male (50%)	-

Table 27: Demographics relating to UmV and UmA blood samples drawn from normal (AGA) and FGR infants subsequently analysed by GC-MS

UmV/UmA blood was collected and centrifuged to obtain plasma (section 2.1.5). Samples were collected from normal (AGA, IBR $10^{th}-90^{th}$ centile) and FGR infants (<5th centile). Data are median (range) or percentage of total. ELCS: elective caesarean section; EMCS, emergency caesarean section; NVD: normal vaginal delivery ** *P*<0.01 *** *P*<0.001 Mann-Whitney test.

6.2.6 Statistical analysis

All data were analysed statistically using GraphPad Prism 7 software and statistical significance was set to P<0.05. Normal distribution of data was determined using D'Agostino & Pearson omnibus normality test. Data from placental villous fragment uptake experiments are expressed as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM), and regression analyses were performed to determine whether transporter-mediated amino acid uptake was linearly related to time over 30-90 min and to examine the relationship between transporter-mediated uptake at 90 min and fetal and placental measures (Spearman correlation or Linear regression).

Semi-quantitative analysis of transporter protein expression as determined by protein band density (densitometry) was performed for Western blot data using Image StudioTM Lite software. Data were analysed using a Mann-Whitney test.

Gene expression, as quantified using qPCR, was normalised to the geometric mean of the housekeeper genes (TBP and YWHAZ) and analysed statistically using a Mann-Whitney test. HPLC data were not normally distributed and so were analysed by Mann-Whitney test.

Data generated by GC-MS were analysed by unpaired t test with Welch's correction. Where differences between case (FGR) and control (normal birth weight, AGA, infants) groups reached statistical significance, \log_2 fold change differences (case over control, \log_2 transformed) were calculated to allow visual presentation as a heat map. Differences are described in text using fold change (case over control).

6.3 Results

6.3.1 Glutamine and glutamate transporter activity in placental villous fragments from FGR and normal (AGA) pregnancies

Trimmed placental weight and birth weight were correlated for both FGR (P<0.01) and normal (AGA) (P<0.05) infants (Figure 48). Transporter-mediated uptake of ¹⁴C-glutamine was significantly lower in placentas of FGR babies compared with babies appropriately grown for gestational age (P<0.05) (Figure 49A). However, there was no significant difference between groups in either ¹⁴C-glutamate (P=0.08) or ¹⁴C-MeAIB (P=0.07) uptake (Figure 49B, C).



Figure 48: Relationship between placental weight and birth weight from AGA and FGR infants Trimmed placental weight and respective birth weight of AGA (orange symbols) and FGR (blue symbols) infants. Placental weight and birth weight were positively correlated for both groups. Preterm deliveries (FGR group) are shown as hollow blue squares and term FGR deliveries as solid blue squares. AGA n=19 FGR n=11, of which five were term deliveries (>37 weeks gestation) and six were pre-term (<37 weeks gestation). **P<0.01, *P<0.05; Linear regression.



Figure 49: ¹⁴C-glutamine uptake was significantly lower in placentas from FGR versus normal (AGA) pregnancies Placental uptake of ¹⁴C-glutamine (A) was significantly lower in placentas from FGR babies (hollow symbols, n=11) compared with placentas from babies appropriately grown for gestational age (solid symbols, n=19) infants. There were no significant differences in ¹⁴C-glutamate (B) or ¹⁴C-MeAIB (C) uptake between groups. Data are mean±SEM * *P*<0.05 Linear regression.

¹⁴C-glutamine uptake at 90 min was positively correlated with both ¹⁴C-MeAIB (P<0.05) (Figure 50A) and ¹⁴C-glutamate (P<0.001) uptake (Figure 50B). Linear regression analyses were fitted to all the data, i.e. from both normal and FGR infants.¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-glutamate uptake (Figure 50B) were still positively correlated if data from placentas of normal or FGR infants alone were analysed (normal pregnancy P<0.01, FGR P<0.001). However, there was a positive relationship between ¹⁴C-glutamine and ¹⁴C-MeAIB uptake for placentas from FGR infants only (P<0.05), but not from babies appropriately grown for gestational age (Figure 50A).



Figure 50: ¹⁴C-glutamine uptake correlates with ¹⁴C-glutamate and ¹⁴C-MeAIB uptake ¹⁴C-glutamine uptake at 90 min was correlated with ¹⁴C-MeAIB at 90 min (A). ¹⁴C-glutamine uptake at 90 min also strongly correlates with ¹⁴C-glutamate uptake (90 min). Hollow symbols represent data from FGR infants. * P<0.05, *** P<0.001 Linear regression (fitted to all the data).

6.3.2 Confounding factors that may influence glutamine and glutamate transporter activity

Potential confounders within this dataset include gestational age, maternal smoking and sex of the fetus, in light of the differences between male and female in normal pregnancy presented in Chapter 4. To determine whether the sex of the fetus biased the difference in uptake between normal and FGR placentas, data were stratified according to sex. Uptake of glutamine was significantly lower for female compared with male placentas within the FGR group (Figure 51). There were no other differences between amino acid uptake into placentas from males and females. This study did not aim to directly compare between amino acid uptake into placentas from male normal (AGA) and male FGR placentas, or between female normal (AGA) and female FGR placentas. However, a graph of these data can be found in the Appendix (9.4).

Some of the women with FGR infants were smokers or delivered preterm (Table 24). The small numbers in each group precludes statistical analysis of the data. However, there was a trend towards a negative effect of smoking on ¹⁴C-MeAIB uptake (AGA n=19, FGR non-smokers n=8, FGR smokers n=3) (Appendix 9.5). Within the FGR group, six infants were delivered preterm (<259 days/37 weeks). Gestational age did not appear to influence ¹⁴C-glutamine, ¹⁴C-glutamate or ¹⁴C-MeAIB uptake (Appendix 9.5).



Figure 51 ¹⁴C-glutamine uptake was significantly lower in placentas from female versus male placentas in FGR Placental uptake of ¹⁴C-glutamine (A) was significantly lower in placentas from female FGR babies (solid symbols, n=7) compared with placentas from male FGR babies (hollow symbols, n=3/4). There were no significant differences in ¹⁴C-glutamate (B) or ¹⁴C-MeAIB (C) uptake between groups. Data are mean \pm SEM * *P*<0.05 Linear regression.

6.3.3 Total amino acid availability for transfer to the fetus in placentas from normal (AGA) pregnancy and FGR

A proxy measure of placental amino acid availability for transfer to the fetus in normal pregnancy (AGA) and FGR was calculated as amino acid uptake at 90 min (per mg placental protein) x trimmed placental weight (g) (section 6.2.1). FGR placentas weighed significantly less than those from normal pregnancy (Figure 52A). Furthermore, placental amino acid availability (placental weight x amino acid uptake at 90 min (per mg protein) was significantly less in FGR compared to normal pregnancy (Figure 52B-D).



Figure 52: Amino acid availability at 90 min

(A) Placental weight was significantly lower in FGR compared to normal pregnancy (AGA). (B-D) Availability of placental amino acids for delivery to the fetus (placental weight x amino acid uptake/mg placental protein at 90 min) of ¹⁴C-glutamine, ¹⁴C-glutamate and ¹⁴C-MeAIB was also significantly lower in FGR compared to normal pregnancy (AGA). ** *P*<0.01 *** *P*<0.001 Mann-Whitney test.

6.3.4 Expression of amino acid transport proteins is higher in FGR compared with normal (AGA) pregnancy

Representative Western blots of glutamine (system L: LAT1, LAT2, system N: SNAT5) and glutamate (system X_{AG} : EAAT1, EAAT2) transporter protein expression in membraneenriched placental isolates (IBR range: normal pregnancy 27.9-79.1, FGR 0-4) are shown in Figure 53. Bands detected at the predicted molecular weight (kDa) were validated by the inclusion of positive controls (MVM) during antibody optimisation and were quantified using densitometry. Data were normalised to β -tubulin expression (Figure 53), which was no different between groups (data not shown), the corresponding β -tubulin blots are shown beneath each protein of interest.

Expression of the system L transporters LAT1 and LAT2 was detected at the predicted molecular weights of 40 kDa and ~49 kDa, respectively. Under reducing conditions a 75 kDa

band was also present when probing for LAT1, as has been previously reported (Ellinger *et al.*, 2016). SNAT5 expression was present and analysed at the predicted molecular weight of 52 kDa. A second band at 40 kDa, as reported by the manufacturer, was also present.

The glutamate transporter (system X_{AG} .) EAAT1 is predicted to have a molecular weight of 60 kDa, and previously published data have described the presence of multiple bands, at 50 kDa and 150 kDa (Martinez-Lozada *et al.*, 2014). The top band shown in the EAAT1 blot (Figure 53) was assessed as this is where the positive control (MVM vesicle isolate) was also localised (see also Figure 36 in Chapter 4). Expression of EAAT2 was present at the predicted molecular weight of 62 kDa.

All glutamine transporter proteins analysed (system L: LAT1, LAT2, and system N: SNAT5) were significantly higher in placentas from FGR versus normal (AGA) pregnancies (Figure 54C-E). It was not possible to analyse any system A transporter proteins, known to contribute to MeAIB and glutamine transfer, as there were no suitably validated commercially available antibodies. EAAT1 expression, of which glutamate is a substrate, was significantly higher in placentas from FGR versus normal birth weight infants (Figure 54A). EAAT2 expression was no different between groups (Figure 54B). The sex of the infant did not appear to influence transporter expression (placentas from male infants are denoted by hollow symbols in Figure 54).



Figure 53: Representative blots illustrating expression of glutamate and glutamine transporter proteins

Shown are representative Western blots of glutamine (system L: LAT1, LAT2 system N: SNAT5) and glutamate (system X_{AG} .: EAAT1, EAAT2) transporter proteins in placentas of normal (AGA) and FGR infants. Corresponding Western blots for the housekeeping protein β -tubulin are shown below each blot. A= AGA, brain= mouse maternal brain, dH₂0= deionised water, F= FGR, M= marker.



Figure 54: Expression of glutamine and glutamate transporter proteins: AGA versus FGR Placental expression of the glutamine transporter proteins LAT1, LAT2 (system L) and SNAT5 (system N) was significantly higher in FGR. Placental EAAT1 expression (system X_{AG}) was also significantly higher in FGR compared with normal pregnancy (AGA). EAAT2 expression was similar between groups. Hollow symbols represent placentas from male infants. AGA n=7/8/11; FGR n=8/9/10. * *P*<0.05 *** *P*<0.001, Mann-Whitney test.

6.3.5 Placental expression of mRNA for amino acid transporters is different in normal pregnancy (AGA) and FGR

The housekeeping genes TBP (TATA-box binding protein) and YWHAZ (tyrosine 3-monooxygenase/tryptophan 5-monooxygenase activation protein zeta) were stable across samples analysed (data not shown). Thus, gene of interest expression was normalised to the geometric mean of TBP and YWHAZ. The geometric mean controls for differences in relative gene abundance or expression, unlike arithmetic mean.

Expression of the gene that encodes the system A isoform SNAT2 (slc38a2) was significantly higher in placentas from FGR than AGA placentas (P<0.01) (Figure 55). Conversely, slc38a4 gene expression (encodes SNAT4 protein) was significantly lower when comparing placentas

from FGR and AGA pregnancies (P<0.01). There was a trend towards a significant increase in slc7a5 (LAT1) expression in placentas from FGR pregnancies (P=0.05). The sex of the infant did not appear to contribute significantly to these differences (placentas from male infants have hollow symbols).



Placental gene expression of glutanine transporters: AGA versus FGK Placental gene expression of slc38a1 (system A), slc7a5, slc7a8 (system L) and slc3a2 (CD98 heavy chain) (normalized to the geometric mean of YWHAZ TBP) was not different between normal pregnancy (AGA) and FGR. Expression of slc38a2 was significantly higher in FGR whilst slc38a4 expression was significantly lower, compared with normal pregnancy. Hollow symbols denote placentas from male infants. ** P<0.01 Mann-Whitney test.

6.3.6 Amino acid concentrations in maternal venous and fetal (umbilical) venous and arterial plasma in normal (AGA) and FGR pregnancy

Maternal venous, UmV and UmA plasma was collected, stored and analysed by HPLC to determine the concentration of amino acids in these samples. Patient demographics and the

total number of samples analysed are summarised in Methods (Table 25 and Table 26). To validate the method, duplicate UmV plasma samples from the same centrifuged blood sample were analysed. All replicate values (Figure 56) were within 6% of each other, with the exception of cystine (11%) and tyrosine (19%). All replicate samples were within the widely-accepted clinical threshold of 20%.



Figure 56 HPLC method validation Amino acid concentration (µmol/L) in duplicate UmV samples collected from the same individual (V1 and V2). Amino acids are in the order of most to least abundant in the placenta according to Philipps *et al.* (1978).

The concentrations of glutamine, glutamic acid and alanine (a substrate of system A) in the maternal venous, UmV and UmA plasma in normal pregnancy and FGR are shown in Figure 57. Hollow symbols represent preterm deliveries (<259 days/37 weeks). Statistics were performed on all data combined; that is FGR term and preterm deliveries were pooled. With the exception of glutamic acid concentration in the UmA plasma, all statistically significant differences remained if preterm deliveries were excluded.

There were no significant differences in the concentration of glutamine in maternal venous, UmV or UmA plasma between normal pregnancy and FGR (Figure 57). Glutamic acid concentration was significantly higher in the UmA plasma in FGR compared with normal pregnancy (P<0.05) (Figure 57). The concentration of alanine was significantly higher in FGR in maternal venous (P<0.01), UmV (P<0.001) and UmA (P<0.01) plasma samples (Figure 57). The concentrations of all the amino acids quantified by HPLC (µmol/L) are stated in full in Appendix 9.6.



Figure 57 Glutamine, glutamic acid and alanine concentration in maternal venous, UmV and UmA plasma in normal pregnancy (AGA) and FGR Amino acid concentrations (µmol/L) in maternal venous (n=17 AGA and n=13 FGR), UmV, (n=20 AGA and n=14 FGR) and UmA (n=11 AGA and n=11 FGR) plasma in normal pregnancy (AGA) and FGR. Hollow symbols represent preterm deliveries (FGR: 204-247days) * P<0.05, ** P<0.01, *** P<0.001, Mann-Whitney test.

The concentration of glutamine, glutamic acid and alanine in matched samples obtained from normal pregnancy and FGR are shown in Figure 58. In normal pregnancy, the plasma concentration of glutamine, glutamic acid and alanine was significantly higher in the UmV compared to maternal venous plasma. In FGR, plasma concentrations of glutamine and glutamic acid were also higher in the UmV, but there was no difference in alanine concentration in maternal and UmV plasma. There were no differences in the concentrations of glutamine, glutamic acid or alanine in UmA and UmV plasma in normal pregnancy or in FGR, with the exception of alanine, which was lower in UmA than UmV plasma in normal pregnancy (P<0.05).



Figure 58 The concentration of glutamine, glutamic acid and alanine in matched samples drawn from the maternal-UmV, and UmV-UmA in normal pregnancy (AGA) and FGR. The concentrations of glutamine, glutamic acid and alanine are shown in matched samples (i.e. from the same individual) in normal pregnancy (AGA: orange data points) and FGR (blue data points). The y axis is set to the same scale to enable direct comparison between normal pregnancy and FGR. Maternal venous (MV) -umbilical venous (UmV) matched n=17 AGA and n=8 FGR. Umbilical venous (UmV) -umbilical arterial (UmA) matched n=12 AGA and n=11 FGR. Hollow symbols represent preterm deliveries. * P<0.05, ** P<0.01, *** P<0.001, Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed rank test.

Maternovenous and venoarterial differences of glutamine, glutamate and alanine (section 6.2.4) were compared between groups (AGA versus FGR) (Figure 59). A negative difference indicates that levels are higher in UmV versus maternal vein, or UmA versus UmV. The venoarterial difference of alanine was significantly different between normal (AGA) and FGR pregnancies (P<0.01). In normal pregnancy the venoarterial difference was negative, but it was positive in FGR (Figure 59B).



Figure 59 Maternovenous and venoarterial amino acid differences The maternovenous (A) and venoarterial (B) differences for glutamine, glutamate and alanine in AGA (orange) and FGR (blue) pregnancies. Data are mean±IQR ** *P*<0.01 Mann-Whitney test.

6.3.7 Investigating the relationship between glutamine and glutamate uptake into the placenta and plasma concentration of these amino acids in mother and fetus (UmV and UmA) in normal pregnancy and in FGR

This study aimed to investigate the relationship between amino acid transporter activity (uptake) and amino acid concentrations in the maternal and fetal (umbilical) plasma. Glutamine and glutamate uptake at 90 min are plotted against the corresponding concentration (glutamine and glutamic acid) in maternal venous, UmV, and UmA plasma (Figure 60). The relationship between MeAIB uptake and concentration of alanine was also assessed as both are substrates of system A (Figure 60).

Due to the difficulties encountered obtaining sufficient matched samples, the numbers are too small to make definitive conclusions about these relationships. Currently, there are no correlations between glutamine, glutamate or MeAIB uptake at 90 min, and concentrations of glutamine, glutamic acid, or alanine, respectively.



Figure 60 Glutamine, glutamic acid and alanine concentration in maternal venous, UmV and UmA plasma versus glutamine, glutamate and MeAIB uptake at 90 min

The concentrations of glutamine, glutamic acid and alanine are plotted against placental uptake of glutamine, glutamate and MeAIB, respectively. Samples from normal pregnancies (AGA, orange data points) and FGR (blue data points) are shown on the same graphs. Numbers are limited due to difficulties obtaining matched samples. Maternal venous n=3 AGA, n=7 FGR. UmV n=5 AGA, n=8 FGR. UmA n=3 AGA, n=6 FGR. There were no significant relationships between amino acid uptake and concentration. Linear regression.

6.3.8 Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) of UmV and UmA plasma samples from AGA and FGR pregnancies

A principal components analysis (PCA) was performed to ensure the integrity of the experiment. During data extraction, the chromatogram of one UmV sample from the AGA group was identified as abnormal. The PCA plot confirmed this sample as an outlier (see Figure 61A, B; number 50 in the run order), and the sample was therefore excluded from data analysis. Run order, sex of the fetus, smoking status and gestation did not have a significant influence on the data set (Figure 61).

In the GC-MS analysis of paired UmV and UmA plasma samples from 12 normal (AGA) and 12 FGR infants (n=47, one sample excluded as described above), 63 metabolites were identified and quantified. Of these 4 (6%) in the UmA, and 12 (19%) in the UmV were significantly altered in FGR compared to normal pregnancy (P<0.05). Log₂ fold change differences (case over control, Log₂ transformed) between groups are visualised in the heat map (Figure 62), and differences are described as fold change differences (case over control) in text (see Appendix 9.7 for full details). Consistent with the HPLC data, alanine was increased (1.7 fold) in UmV and UmA plasma of FGR pregnancies. In the FGR UmV, lactic acid was increased by 2.1 fold. Glutamine was detected but unchanged between groups. Glutamate/glutamic acid was not detected. A full data table of GC-MS data, and a list of identified metabolites can be found in Appendix 9.7.

Figure 61 Principal components analysis (PCA) visualisation of samples from normal (AGA) and FGR infants (overleaf)

A principal components analysis was used to visualise the normal (AGA) and FGR groups, and to ensure the integrity of the experiment. (A) There was no bias according to run order of the samples, and the quality controls (QC) clustered together within the analysis. Potential confounding factors were also assessed by PCA: (B) sex of the fetus, (C) smoking status and (D) gestation (term or preterm) (C and D; FGR group only).





Fold change differences: normal (AGA) versus FGR pregnancies



Figure 62: Heat map of log₂ ratio fold change data

Visualisation of \log_2 fold change differences between normal (AGA) and FGR pregnancies in UmA and UmV samples. Metabolites were included in the heat map where significance (defined as a *P* value <0.05) was reached by Welch's t-test. Data were \log_2 transformed after statistical analysis for expression as \log_2 fold change and are shown on a red (-5 \log_2 fold change) to green (5 \log_2 fold change, yellow = no change, 0) scale. A positive \log_2 fold change (green) denotes relative higher levels in plasma from case (FGR) versus control (AGA) pregnancies. *indicates a metabolite that has not been confirmed. A full list of the identified metabolites can be found in the Appendix 9.7.

6.4 Discussion

6.4.1 Placental weight is an important determinant of birth weight in normal pregnancy (AGA) and FGR

Trimmed placental weight was positively correlated with birth weight for normal (AGA) (P<0.05) and FGR (P<0.01) pregnancies (Figure 48), indicating that the size of the placenta is important for fetal growth/birth weight. The relationship between birth weight and placental weight in AGA and FGR is similar to that previously reported in both sheep and humans (Marconi *et al.*, 2006; Regnault *et al.*, 2013). The correlation was stronger for FGR, and statistically different between normal pregnancy and FGR groups (P<0.05), which suggests that placental weight is a stronger determinant of birth weight in FGR than normal pregnancies. However, gestational age range may contribute to this difference since all placentas from normal (AGA) pregnancies were collected at term (>37 weeks gestation) whereas 6/11 FGR infants were delivered pre-term (<37 weeks gestation). It would be pertinent to compare preterm FGR with a preterm control group, such as those with premature rupture of membranes, to establish whether the relationship is due to pathology (i.e. FGR) as opposed to gestational age. However, by definition, preterm controls are not strictly 'normal'.

Birth weight:placental weight ratio (BW:PW or F:P ratio) is a widely used proxy of placental efficiency, thus a higher BW:PW ratio is said to be representative of a more efficient placenta that supports relatively more birth weight per g placental weight. Mean BW:PW ratio in normal pregnancies was similar between AGA and FGR term groups but lower for FGR preterm groups (Table 24); however statistical power to assess these associations when splitting FGR according to gestation is currently too low. Whether a simple ratio such as BW:PW can be an appropriate proxy for placental efficiency is contested given that the regression between the 2 variables, birth weight and placental weight, does not pass through the origin; this means that BW:PW ratio changes along the regression line thus complicating interpretation (Christians *et al.*, 2018).

6.4.2 Transporter-mediated glutamine uptake is lower in FGR compared with normal pregnancies

For the first time, transporter-mediated glutamine and glutamate uptake was compared in placental villous fragments obtained from normal (AGA) pregnancies and pregnancies complicated by FGR. Glutamine uptake was significantly lower for placentas from FGR versus normal birth weight infants (Figure 49). System A activity was measured using the non-metabolisable synthetic analogue MeAIB, a specific substrate for the system A transporter; this was used as a positive control because system A is the most studied transporter in the human placenta and there is substantial evidence to show that system A activity is reduced in FGR (Glazier *et al.*, 1997; Jansson *et al.*, 2002; Mahendran *et al.*, 1993; Shibata *et al.*, 2008). Contrary to expectations, there was no significant difference in MeAIB uptake between placentas of normal pregnancies compared with FGR (Figure 49C).

Several studies that have reported reduced system A uptake have been performed using MVM vesicles (Glazier *et al.*, 1997; Jansson *et al.*, 2002; Mahendran *et al.*, 1993). There are advantages and disadvantages for both villous fragment and vesicle studies (see Table 5 in Introduction) (Glazier and Sibley, 2006; Greenwood and Sibley, 2006). Briefly, villous fragments maintain tissue architecture and associated cell signalling/driving forces whilst vesicles lack tissue integrity but can be used to study uptake across a specific plasma membrane (e.g. the syncytiotrophoblast MVM). However, in normal pregnancy, system A and L activity has been shown to be comparable when measured in MVM vesicles and villous fragments of the same placenta (Brand *et al.*, 2010). Roos *et al.* (2007) showed a significant reduction in system L activity in fragments in IUGR versus normal pregnancy, in line with MVM vesicle data (Jansson *et al.*, 1998). A reduction in system A activity has also been demonstrated in SGA (<10th centile) using fragments (Shibata *et al.*, 2008), in line with several studies that have shown lower system A activity in MVM vesicles in FGR versus normal pregnancy (Glazier *et al.*).

al., 1997; Jansson *et al.*, 2002; Mahendran *et al.*, 1993). It was anticipated that the current study would reproduce these findings, but this was not the case. One inconsistency between studies in general is the criteria used to define both FGR (IUGR) and normal pregnancy (AGA).

In the current study FGR was defined as an individualised birth weight ratio (IBR) of less than the 5th centile using the GROW calculator that is based upon a UK population (https://www.gestation.net). At the time that this study began (2014) this was the definition commonly used by colleagues in the department and in the wider international field, and was therefore selected. Instead of IBR, previous studies have employed a cutoff of $<10^{th}$ centile of birth weight charts as a definition of FGR (Glazier et al., 1997; Jansson et al., 2002) and of SGA (Shibata et al., 2008). Using a cutoff of the 10th centile will likely include a mix of constitutionally small (SGA) infants, that do not require any medical intervention, and pathologically small (FGR) infants. Mahendran et al. (1993) defined SGA as <3rd centile using previously published population growth charts (Gairdner and Pearson, 1971). Other studies chose to stratify FGR cases, sub-categorising into bins where group 1 = normal fetal heart rate and UmA pulsatility index, group 2 = normal fetal heart rate and abnormal UmA pulsatility index and group 3 = abnormal fetal heart rate and UmA pulsatility index (Glazier *et* al., 1997; Jansson et al., 2002). When umbilical blood flow was abnormal (i.e. group 2 or 3; as defined by UmA pulsatility index, +/- abnormal fetal heart rate) system A activity was significantly lower but interestingly, system A activity was no different compared with placentas from normal pregnancy when data from FGR infants was collated (Glazier et al., 1997). However, in this study the effect of gestational age was not investigated by Glazier and colleagues; 13/16 FGR and 4/10 normal birth weight babies were delivered before 36 weeks (range 28-40 weeks) (Glazier et al., 1997). In another study, Jansson et al. (2002) showed that system A was only reduced in the preterm FGR group (28-36 weeks) compared with preterm controls (delivered due to placenta previa or spontaneous preterm labour) and not FGR at term (37 weeks). Of note is that 4/19 of the FGR cases included in the study by Jansson et al. had co-morbidities: pre-eclampsia, diabetes or hypertension; the effect of these potential confounders were unknown (Jansson et al., 2002).

Maternal smoking might influence system A activity (Appendix 9.5) but has not been investigated in the context of FGR. In a teenage cohort, maternal smoking does not affect villous fragment system A uptake (Hayward *et al.*, 2012). In the studies discussed above, smoking status was often left unreported (Glazier *et al.*, 1997; Jansson *et al.*, 2002). Shibata *et al.* (2008) excluded smokers from their study whereas 50% and 24% of mothers recruited in the SGA and AGA (normal pregnancy) experimental arms of the study by Mahendran *et al.* (1993) were smokers, although the proportion of smokers included in uptake experiments, and its effect, are unclear from the presented data.

Another discussion point of relevance to the current study is the definition of normal/AGA pregnancy to which the FGR data were compared. Several papers do not define the inclusion/exclusion criteria for normal pregnancy, and report only a mean birth weight value (Glazier et al., 1997; Jansson et al., 2002; Shibata et al., 2008), or used a birth weight between 10th-90th centile, as opposed to IBR (Mahendran *et al.*, 1993). For the current study <5th centile IBR was chosen to define FGR in recognition that IBR between 5th-10th likely includes many infants who are constitutionally small, as opposed to pathologically growth restricted (Unterscheider *et al.*, 2014). Similarly, infants with a IBR $>90^{\text{th}}$ centile are classified as large for gestational age (Kramer et al., 2001) and were not included here. Normal (AGA) pregnancy was therefore defined as between 10th-90th centiles, to give the widest range of 'normal' placental and birth weights, thereby allowing the hypothesis that adaptation occurs in relation to placental size (weight) to be tested (Chapter 4). However, it could be argued that a narrower range of normal (AGA) pregnancy might be more appropriate to ensure that exclusively 'normal' pregnancies are included in this group. It is likely that a borderline IBR, i.e. $\sim 10^{\text{th}}/\sim 90^{\text{th}}$ centile increases the likelihood of including infants that are small or large for gestational age. A recent cohort study in a Scottish population suggests that birth weight <25th and >85th centile is associated with a higher risk of adverse outcomes, such as stillbirth and infant morbidity (Iliodromiti et al., 2017). Thus narrower, more stringent inclusion criteria, e.g. 20th-80th centile, may be more appropriate to compare between normal and FGR pregnancies. Conclusions from the current study are different if AGA is defined using the 20th-80th centile of individualised charts (Appendix 9.8); if this tighter definition is used uptake of MeAIB, glutamine and glutamate is significantly lower in FGR. However, omitting data between 10th-20th and 80th-90th centiles alters the balance of males and females in each group (from AGA $10^{\text{th}}-90^{\text{th}}$ n=18/19 of which 7 are male and 11/12 female, to AGA $20^{\text{th}}-80^{\text{th}}$ n=13/14 of which 7 are male and 6/7 female). In view of the data reported in Chapter 4, showing that placental uptake of glutamine and glutamate is significantly greater in AGA males than females, more studies are required to confirm that these findings are not an artefact of removing data from placentas of females only.

In the present study uptake of glutamine, a substrate of system A, L and N, was significantly lower for placentas from FGR infants compared with AGA (normal birth weight, 10th-90th centile IBR) (Figure 49A). The lack of a difference in system A activity (MeAIB uptake) between FGR and AGA groups (Figure 49C), suggests that systems L and N likely contribute to the difference in glutamine uptake. In MVM vesicles from FGR placentas, defined as a birth weight of mean - 2 standard deviations, system L-mediated leucine uptake was reduced (Jansson *et al.*, 1998; Roos *et al.*, 2007). In the current study, uptake of glutamate, mediated by

system $X_{AG_{-}}$ was no different between groups (Figure 49B). System $X_{AG_{-}}$ activity has never before been reported in FGR.

When fitted to all the data (including both normal pregnancy and FGR) glutamine and MeAIB uptake at 90 min are positively correlated. However, when stratified according to pathology this relationship only exists for FGR, and not AGA, infants (P<0.05, Figure 50). This suggests that systems L and N contribute significantly to glutamine uptake in placentas from AGA infants, and supports the argument that system A contributes to glutamine uptake in FGR pregnancies, and that it may be systems L or N that are down-regulated in those cases. Similarly, there is a positive relationship between glutamine and glutamate uptake at 90 min for normal pregnancy (P<0.01) and FGR (P<0.001) (Figure 50), which suggests that there is a relationship between the uptake of these two amino acids.

6.4.3 Confounding variables that may influence transporter-mediated uptake

This study is limited by the practical difficulties in collecting placental tissue from FGR pregnancies without any potential confounding variables, that is from non-smoking women that delivered at term (>37 weeks). Smoking could have been a confounding variable for uptake experiments; 3/11 of mothers who had FGR infants smoked. Smoking status was self-reported by patients and not confirmed by cotinine testing. Due to the small numbers, it was not possible to statistically compare amino acid uptake between smokers and non-smokers; the data are shown in Appendix 9.5.

Jansson *et al.* (2002) previously reported reduced system A activity in preterm FGR (28-36 weeks) compared with preterm controls. As discussed above (section 6.4.1) 55% of the FGR infants in the current study were born preterm (<37 weeks) but in the current study there were no preterm 'normal' control placentas collected for comparison. The effect of gestational age could not be formally assessed statistically; the data are presented in the Appendix 9.5.

Evidence suggests that male and female fetuses have distinct responses to environmental stressors and adverse conditions *in utero* (Clifton, 2010; Di Renzo *et al.*, 2007) and that males are more likely to die during the neonatal period (Stevenson *et al.*, 2000). In Chapter 4 I reported that glutamine and glutamate uptake is significantly lower in placentas from female versus male infants. Likewise in FGR glutamine uptake was significantly lower in placentas of female versus male infants, however uptake of glutamate and MeAIB was similar between sexes (Figure 51, and Appendix 9.4). The numbers in these groups are still very small (n=3/4 males, n=7 females) and would benefit from larger numbers to determine whether there are differential effects of sex on placental amino acid uptake in FGR as those reported in normal pregnancy (Chapter 4).

6.4.4 Total amino acid availability for transfer to the fetus is lower for placentas from FGR compared with normal (AGA) pregnancy

FGR fetuses have smaller placentas than fetuses who are appropriately grown (Mifsud and Sebire, 2014). This finding was reproduced here: placentas collected from FGR pregnancies weighed significantly less than those from babies that were appropriately grown for gestational age (AGA) (Figure 52). A proxy measure of total amino acid within the syncytiotrophoblast theoretically available for exchange, to modify the amino acid pool, or for transfer to the fetus, was calculated as amino acid uptake at 90 min (per mg placental protein) x trimmed placental weight. Total amino acid availability for FGR placentas was significantly lower for glutamine, glutamate and MeAIB in comparison to AGA placentas (Figure 52). Reduced glutamine transport capacity (per mg placental protein) in combination with a smaller placenta therefore likely contributes to reduced glutamine availability for delivery to the fetus. Furthermore, these data indicate that despite the lack of difference in MeAIB and glutamate transport (per mg placental protein) in FGR versus normal pregnancy, there was still a reduced potential for transfer of these amino acids to the fetus because of small placental size.

6.4.5 Expression of key glutamine and glutamate transport proteins is altered in placentas from FGR compared with normal (AGA) pregnancy

Western blot analysis of membrane-enriched whole placental homogenates (Figure 53) revealed higher expression of LAT1, LAT2, SNAT5 and EAAT1 transporter proteins in FGR compared with normally grown (AGA) babies (in this group the AGA babies fell between the 20^{th} - 80^{th} centile; Figure 54). EAAT2 expression was unchanged between groups (Figure 54). This is in agreement with previous reports that LAT1 expression, as analysed by immunohistochemistry, is increased in the MVM of the syncytiotrophoblast in FGR (Aiko *et al.*, 2014). This is the first study to show that system N and X_{AG}. (SNAT5 and EAAT1) protein expression is elevated in the placenta in FGR.

Differences in protein expression were not mirrored by changes in gene expression; mRNA expression of slc7a5 (LAT1, *P*=0.05), slc7a8 (LAT2) and slc3a2 (CD98), required for the functionality and shuttling to the plasma membrane of LAT1 and LAT2 transporter proteins (Wagner *et al.*, 2001), was not different between normal birth weight and FGR infants (Figure 55). Assessment of system A transporter proteins was not possible due to an absence of specific, commercially available and validated antibodies, but evaluation of gene expression showed that placental slc38a2 (SNAT2) expression was higher and slc38a4 (SNAT4) expression lower in FGR compared with normal pregnancy (Figure 55). However, SNAT4 is not considered to be a transporter of glutamine (Bröer, 2014). The expression of genes that

encode the transporter proteins SNAT5 (slc38a5), EAAT1 (slc1a3) and EAAT2 (slc1a2) should be investigated in future.

The disparity between mRNA and protein expression (summarised in Table 28) could be due to differential expression of small non-coding RNAs called microRNAs (miRs) in FGR. miRs are single-stranded RNAs that bind to target mRNA, subsequently repressing translation and protein synthesis (Bartel, 2004). It is not surprising that miRs have been implicated in disease processes such as cancer and cardiovascular disease (Cakmak *et al.*, 2015; Taylor *et al.*, 2013) given that miRs are thought to target more than 60% of coding genes in humans (Slack, 2011). A study by Mouillet *et al.* (2010) found that miR expression was reduced in placentas from FGR infants, but in the same pregnancies circulating miRs in the maternal plasma were raised. Speculatively, higher levels of miRs in the placenta of normal birth weight infants could lower protein translation in these pregnancies, and result in the comparatively higher expression levels of transporter proteins in placentas from FGR infants.

Transporte	r system	Gene	Protein	Activity
Glutamine	А	slc38a1 =	?	= (MeAIB)
		slc38a2 ♠♠		
		slc38a4 ↓↓		
	L	slc7a5 =	LAT1 🛧	↓ ?
		slc7a8 =	LAT2 🛧	
		slc3a2 =		
	Ν	?	SNAT5 🛧	↓ ?
Glutamate	X _{AG-}	?	EAAT1 ^^	=
			EAAT2 =	

Table 28 Summary of key findings from experiments evaluating gene expression, protein expression, and transporter-mediated uptake

Arrows ($\uparrow \Psi$) indicate a relative change in placentas from FGR compared with normal birth weight infants. \uparrow corresponds to a *P* value of <0.05, $\uparrow \uparrow P$ <0.01, $\uparrow \uparrow \uparrow P$ <0.001; same for Ψ arrows. = indicates that there was no difference between groups. Pwere not evaluated in the current study and are therefore unknown.

The expression of transporter proteins important for uptake of glutamine and glutamate was higher in membrane-enriched isolates from the placentas of FGR infants. These data infer that transporter-mediated uptake would be increased in FGR, but this was not the case (section 6.3.1) (Table 28). Uptake of MeAIB and glutamate was unchanged and uptake of glutamine was significantly lower for placentas from FGR infants compared to normal birth weight babies. From the data presented in this chapter it is not possible to determine which glutamine transporter system/s contribute to this observed difference.

A potential reason for the disparity between transporter protein expression and glutamine and glutamate uptake (Table 28) is that transporter-mediated uptake was measured across the MVM using villous fragments, whereas protein expression was assessed in mixed membrane

isolates, which likely contained populations of both MVM, BM and other plasma membranes. It is important in future studies to confirm the exact location of these changes by using MVM and BM isolates and Western blotting. In addition, transporter-mediated uptake and transporter expression were evaluated per mg placental protein, which makes an assumption that each mg membrane protein is a proxy for amount of exchange surface area where transporters may be present. Furthermore, placental size is likely to influence the overall availability of amino acids for transfer to the fetus as it would be assumed that smaller placentas have less surface area available for exchange, and therefore overall fewer transporters due to less membrane, even though expression may not be different per mg protein (Figure 52). Another possible explanation is that increased protein expression is an adaptive response by the placenta in an attempt to facilitate appropriate delivery of nutrients to the fetus, thus also compensating for the small placental size, or that these proteins are not functional, which again raises the importance of understanding what regulates their activity in FGR.

Other factors such as post-translational modifications and substrate availability might also play a role in the regulation of transporter activity and thus amino acid uptake (see section 1.8). Experimental inhibition of the regulatory mTOR pathway using rapamycin leads to reductions in system A and L activity but no change in overall protein expression in cell lysates (Roos *et al.*, 2007; Roos *et al.*, 2009). However, studies have previously shown that mTORC1 activity is reduced in FGR in line with increasing abundance of NEDD4-2, which targets MVM-bound amino acid transporters for the proteasome for degradation (Chen *et al.*, 2015; Roos *et al.*, 2007) (see Figure 10). It would therefore be expected that transporter abundance be reduced, rather than increased in these cases.

Transporter abundance was assessed as a potential mechanistic explanation for changes in transporter activity. However, linear regression analysis revealed that there was no correlation between transporter protein abundance and protein activity in normal pregnancy and FGR (n=11 AGA, n=9 FGR) (Appendix 9.9). This suggests that protein abundance does not correlate with transporter activity, but at this stage it cannot be ruled out at this is due to the presence of other plasma membranes in the membrane-enriched isolates. However, protein abundance does not necessarily correlate with transporter activity; post-translational modifications such as phosphorylation can alter activity without altering expression. For example, previous studies have reported that activity of taurine transporter (TauT) is reduced in FGR, but expression in the MVM is unaltered (Roos *et al.*, 2004). To be certain of whether there are associations between transporter protein abundance and uptake, experiments using MVM and BM isolates would need to be completed and post-translational modification also explored.

6.4.6 Glutamine, glutamic acid and alanine concentrations in maternal venous, UmV and UmA plasma of FGR and normal birth weight (AGA) infants

The concentration of amino acids in the maternal vein, UmV and UmA of FGR and normal birth weight infants were quantified using HPLC. The method was highly replicable (Figure 56). The median concentration of alanine measured in maternal venous and UmV plasma from normal pregnancies were within a similar range to those reported by others previously (Figure 57) (Camelo *et al.*, 2004; Cetin *et al.*, 1996; Holm *et al.*, 2017). There is substantial variation in the literature in the reported concentrations of glutamine and glutamic acid in maternal and umbilical plasma (Camelo *et al.*, 2004; Economides *et al.*, 1989; Holm *et al.*, 2017). Indeed Holm *et al.* (2017) reported significant inter-individual variation within their comparatively large data set (n=179). Amino acid concentrations are dynamic and variations in the maternal, placental or fetal metabolic state at a given time could contribute to the range of values noted here (Figure 58). In addition, maternal samples were not taken under controlled conditions, that is, mothers were not uniformly fasted before maternal plasma was collected. It would be advantageous to standardise the method in this way in order to limit potential differences according to maternal metabolic state.

Within the FGR group several infants were delivered preterm (63%; Table 27) but from the small numbers available this did not appear to skew the data (Figure 57). Others have previously reported changes in amino acid concentrations with gestation (Economides *et al.*, 1989). Future studies would benefit from the inclusion of more numbers to enable power to subclassify and test this effect. The strength of the measurements reported here is that matched samples from the same individual were collected, making it possible to compare between concentrations in the maternal and fetal compartments from the same pregnancy. From a practical perspective it was difficult to coordinate the collection of maternal samples, and the small volume of blood available in the UmA, especially from FGR infants, made collection from this compartment challenging.

In every case, aside from alanine concentrations in FGR pregnancies, amino acid concentrations in UmV plasma were higher than in paired maternal venous plasma which confirms that glutamine, glutamate and alanine transport from maternal to fetal circulation occurs against a concentration gradient (Figure 58) (Camelo *et al.*, 2004; Holm *et al.*, 2017). Concentrations of glutamine and glutamic acid in both maternal and fetal umbilical (UmV/UmA) plasma in FGR demonstrated greater variation compared with normally grown babies (Figure 58). This variability was evident in both term and preterm infants. This may be explained, in part at least, by the fact that within the FGR group there are likely different phenotypes of FGR. For instance, some cases of FGR may present with abnormal uteroplacental or fetoplacental blood flow. Additionally, within our criteria for FGR, it is

possible that some infants may in fact be constitutionally small rather than growth restricted. However, the fact that the majority of our FGR cases were below the 3rd centile of IBRs suggests this is unlikely to be the case.

Exposure to elevated concentrations of substrates down-regulates amino acid transporter activity (Aerts and Van Assche, 2002; Jayanthi *et al.*, 1995; Parrott *et al.*, 2007; Roos *et al.*, 2006). Alanine concentrations in maternal venous plasma were higher in FGR versus normal pregnancies (Figure 57), as has been reported previously (Cetin *et al.*, 1990; Cetin *et al.*, 1996). It might be postulated that increased levels of alanine could lead to the down-regulation of system A in the MVM in FGR that has been shown by several laboratories (Glazier *et al.*, 1997; Jansson *et al.*, 2002; Mahendran *et al.*, 1993; Shibata *et al.*, 2008). However, this finding was not reproduced in the current study; system A activity (MeAIB uptake) was no different between FGR and normal pregnancies (Figure 49). Glutamine concentrations in maternal venous plasma were no different between FGR and normal (AGA) pregnancies (Figure 57), thus the availability of substrate is unlikely to underlie the reduction in glutamine transporter activity in the MVM (Figure 49).

Higher concentrations of the system A substrate serine, and of phenylalanine, tyrosine, and α amino butyric acid in the maternal plasma of those with FGR infants were also observed (Appendix 9.6). Raised levels of phenylalanine and tyrosine have previously been reported by Cetin *et al.* (1996), however raised levels of leucine, isoleucine and valine were not replicated in the current study.

Previous studies have shown that the concentration of glutamine is reduced in the UmV of FGR infants (Cetin *et al.*, 1996; Ivorra *et al.*, 2012). The data presented here do not support these findings; glutamine and glutamic acid concentrations in the UmV were similar in FGR and normal pregnancy (Figure 57). However, alanine concentrations were significantly raised in the UmV of FGR infants (Figure 57).

Fetal supply of glutamine is from transplacental delivery of glutamine, and from glutamate metabolism within the placenta. The levels of amino acids such as glutamine and glutamate may play a role in facilitating the delivery of other amino acids through accumulative and/or exchanger proteins (Cleal *et al.*, 2007). In the UmA, glutamic acid and alanine concentrations were higher in FGR compared with normal pregnancy (Figure 57). This suggests either increased production of glutamate by the fetal liver, or reduced utilisation of glutamate by the fetus. There was no difference in UmA glutamine concentrations between FGR and normal pregnancies.

It has been suggested that reduced fetal metabolic rate leads to normal or higher than normal amino acid concentrations in the hypoxic FGR fetus (Regnault *et al.*, 2013). In the fetal liver glutamine is deaminated to glutamate through the enzyme glutaminase (see Figure 8 in

Introduction). Glutamate is converted to glutamine via glutamine synthetase or to α -ketoglutarate for entry to the TCA cycle by glutamate dehydrogenase. All three enzymes are predominantly expressed in the Langhans layer of cytotrophoblast cells under the syncytiotrophoblast, but only glutamate dehydrogenase has been found to be decreased in FGR (Jozwik *et al.*, 2009). This could alter the balance of glutamine/glutamate in the syncytiotrophoblast in FGR such that the glutamate/glutamine ratio will be greater in FGR compared with normal pregnancy. The combined spectral contribution of glutamine and glutamate (Glx) has previously been assessed in SGA (defined as abdominal circumference <10th centile at time of scan, confirmed by a birth weight <10th centile at delivery) and normal pregnancies using by ¹H MRS (magnetic resonance spectra). Macnaught *et al.* (2015) found that paired Glx/H₂0 ratios were altered in SGA and speculated that this might be a marker of placental dysfunction that can be measured *in utern*.

The advantage of collecting paired samples from the same individual is the ability to evaluate matched maternovenous and venoarterial differences. A negative maternovenous difference (Figure 59A) shows that there is either active transfer of amino acids by the placenta from maternal to fetal blood or that the syncytiotrophoblast synthesizes these amino acids (or both). A negative venoarterial difference indicates that the fetus is producing the amino acid (Figure 59B). Amino acid concentrations in the UmV were higher than in the maternal vein in normal pregnancy and in FGR, as evidenced by a negative maternovenous difference, but the data were more variable in FGR (Figure 59A). The venoarterial difference for glutamine was positive, i.e. there was a higher concentration of glutamine in the UmV plasma than in UmA plasma. Consistent with the literature, the concentration of glutamate was higher in the UmA than the UmV (Holm *et al.*, 2017), but this was not affected by FGR. Alanine concentration was also higher in the UmA than the UmV in normal pregnancy, consistent with fetal production of alanine (Holm *et al.*, 2017), but this was not observed in FGR: there was a significant difference in the venoarterial difference in normal pregnancy versus FGR for alanine (Figure 59B).

UmV amino acid concentrations are a composite of transport from maternal circulation and placental metabolism, which may include the synthesis, degradation or transamination of amino acids. To partially address these determinants, it would be pertinent to relate glutamine and glutamate uptake with glutamine and glutamate (glutamic acid) concentrations as assessed by HPLC in the UmV plasma. The relationship between amino acid uptake and concentrations in the maternal and fetal (umbilical) compartments was assessed (Figure 60) but unfortunately this arm of the study was underpowered; only 35% of the plasma samples from normal pregnancy, and 53% from FGR, had matched measures of placental transporter activity. There was no correlation between glutamine, glutamate or MeAIB uptake at 90 min

and concentrations of glutamine, glutamic acid or alanine, in maternal or cord blood (UmV/UmA), respectively (Figure 60). An interesting observation was that for a given amino acid concentration in maternal venous plasma, uptake across the placental MVM was higher in normal pregnancy compared to FGR (Figure 60). This suggests that the response of amino acid transporters to substrate availability may be different in FGR compared with normal pregnancy but more numbers are needed to determine whether this is a robust finding (n=3). Worthy of note was that UmV plasma concentrations do not parallel concentrations in the placenta of normal or FGR pregnancies (Philipps et al., 1978) (Figure 56, see also Appendix 9.10), which suggests a role of the BM as a limiting step for efflux, and/or that amino acids that are taken into the placenta are compartmentalised such that they are not accessible to BM transporters in the syncytiotrophoblast. One way to interrogate the relationship between the concentration of amino acids in the placenta and UmV further would be to combine these data and experiments with mathematical modelling. Using this approach, placental metabolism and efflux across the BM could be explored in greater depth. Whether levels of amino acids in the placenta are altered in FGR is currently unknown. It would be interesting to assess tissue concentrations of amino acids in the FGR placenta to subsequently relate to the net transfer of these amino acids in this pathology.

6.4.7 Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) of umbilical venous and arterial plasma samples from AGA and FGR pregnancies

In this chapter, data from amino acid uptake experiments and HPLC were supplemented with metabolomics in order to provide further insight into physiological state in FGR. Untargeted GC-MS can detect amino acids, thereby helping to confirm HPLC findings, and also sugars and other small molecule metabolites that may give indicators of fetal physiological condition. 63 metabolites were detected by GC-MS and of these 4 (6%) in UmA and 12 (19%) in UmV were significantly altered (P<0.05) in FGR versus AGA (Figure 62). Run order, sex of the fetus, smoking status and gestation did not have a significant influence on the data set as shown by the PCA plots (Figure 61), thus giving confidence that differences seen were due to the presence of a FGR versus an AGA fetus, rather than the effects of potential confounders. In alignment with HPLC findings, alanine was significantly increased (1.7 fold) in UmV and UmA plasma of FGR pregnancies (Figure 62). Components of the urea cycle ornithine (1.4 fold), and urea (1.8 fold), which is a product of amino acid breakdown, were also increased in UmV plasma in FGR compared to AGA (Figure 62). Similar changes in the profile of the IUGR (<10th centile) UmV such as increased levels of uric acid, proline, methionine and glutamate, have been reported by others (Favretto et al., 2012). In the present study, levels of pyroglutamic acid, a precursor of glutamate, were increased (1.5 fold) in UmV of FGR

pregnancies. Conversely, in UmA plasma there was a modest decrease (0.9 fold) in the glutamate precursor GABA (γ -aminobutyric acid). Increased levels of methionine, phenylalanine and tryptophan have been reported in placentas from SGA infants versus AGA cultured *in vitro* in reduced O₂ tension (1%, hypoxic, compared to 6%, normoxic) (Horgan *et al.*, 2010). In the current study methionine levels were raised in the UmV of FGR pregnancies 1.2 fold, but phenylalanine and tryptophan were unaltered between normal pregnancy and FGR when analysed by GC-MS. However HPLC detected no change in methionine concentrations but increased phenylalanine concentrations in the UmV/UmA (Appendix 9.6). Whilst perturbations in metabolite levels can influence metabolic pathways as illustrated in Figure 63, accumulation of metabolites themselves can also have direct toxic effects. Methionine is a precursor of homocysteine, and hyperhomocysteinemia caused by genetic abnormalities of methionine-homocysteine metabolism or a diet deplete in vitamin B6, B12 and folic acid is associated with FGR and cardiovascular disease (Aubard *et al.*, 2000).

Increased levels of proline in the UmV, and alanine in the UmV and UmA, were not expected since previous studies have reported decreases in the UmV of low birth weight infants compared with controls (Ivorra *et al.*, 2012). The current project differs from the study of Ivorra and colleagues (Ivorra *et al.*, 2012) in a number of important ways. A key difference is the inclusion criteria; in this thesis FGR was defined as an IBR $<5^{\text{th}}$ centile and normal birth weight (AGA) as an IBR between $10^{\text{th}}-90^{\text{th}}$ centiles, conversely Ivorra *et al.* (2012) compared the cord blood profiles of infants with an IBR $<10^{\text{th}}$ and controls with an IBR between the $75^{\text{th}}-90^{\text{th}}$ centile (Table 6). Furthermore, Ivorra *et al.* (2012) used ¹H NMR spectra to detect metabolites; this method is less sensitive than MS and it can be difficult to identify metabolites (Dona *et al.*, 2016).

Figure 63 overlays the metabolite changes detected by GC-MS in the FGR UmV and UmA onto cellular metabolic pathways. Most of the changes observed were in UmV plasma in FGR. Intermediate metabolites of the glycolysis pathway, pyruvic acid (1.6 fold) and lactic acid (2.1 fold) were increased in FGR UmV samples.

Lactic acid (lactate) in UmV plasma comprises lactate transferred across the placenta, as well as lactate produced by the placenta (Burd *et al.*, 1975). Raised lactate levels in the UmV could therefore reflect altered placental metabolism. Lactate is an important energy source for the fetus, contributing to fetal oxidative metabolism in cells that have a high oxidative capacity such as the fetal brain and skeletal muscle (Burd *et al.*, 1975; Settle *et al.*, 2006). Increased lactate levels in the UmV could be a mechanism by which a carbon source/substrate (lactate) is made available to the fetus for gluconeogenesis and other metabolic processes (Brooks, 1986; Settle *et al.*, 2006). In the current study, lactate levels in the UmA were not significantly different in FGR; taken together with the observation of raised levels in the UmV, these

findings imply fetal utilisation of lactate as an energy source by the FGR fetus. Lactate and pyruvate are both substrates of monocarboxylate transporters (MCT)1 and MCT4, present on the placental MVM and BM (Iwanaga and Kishimoto, 2015; Settle *et al.*, 2006). Uptake of lactate over the BM into the placenta is reduced in FGR, despite no difference in transporter expression (Settle *et al.*, 2006). Previous studies have determined that lactate concentrations in cord blood do not change over gestation (Bozzetti *et al.*, 1987; Nicolaides *et al.*, 1989) but there is evidence of increased lactate concentrations in the maternal vein, UmV and UmA in SGA/FGR (Marconi *et al.*, 1990; Nicolaides *et al.*, 1989; Pardi *et al.*, 1993).



Figure 63 Altered metabolites associated with FGR

Metabolite changes are highlighted in the above schematic. Metabolites that were increased in the UmV in FGR are in green, * indicates those metabolites that were higher in both the UmA and UmV in FGR. Metabolites that were decreased in the UmA are red. Metabolites for which there was no significant difference detected are in blue. Unidentified metabolites are in black. Amino acids are denoted by their three letter abbreviation. Schematic has been adapted from (Zhao *et al.*, 2012).

The GC-MS data presented here complement HPLC analysis which showed that alanine concentrations were higher in FGR but other changes such as elevated phenylalanine concentrations in UmV/UmA, tyrosine in UmV and aspartic acid in UmA (Appendix 9.6) were not detected. Metabolomic analysis has provided additional insight into the metabolic status of the FGR infant and shows that there are distinct metabolic changes in cases of FGR (Figure 63). At this stage it is not possible to distinguish whether these differences are caused by, or are a consequence of the pathology of FGR. The aetiology of FGR remains poorly understood but these data suggest that aberrant control of these metabolic pathways might be a critical factor. However, it is not possible to predict how these cross-sectional measurements taken at delivery relate to the dynamic flux of metabolism during gestation.

6.4.8 Summary

FGR infants have significantly smaller placentas compared with normal birth weight (AGA) infants. A major finding from this chapter was that transporter-mediated uptake of glutamine by the small FGR placenta was lower compared with normal (AGA) placentas but uptake of MeAIB, in contrast to previous reports, was similar between groups (per mg protein). There was also no difference in placental uptake of glutamate between FGR and AGA.

Amino acid transporter protein expression was measured to investigate whether a reduction in expression could be a mechanism of reduced uptake. Contrary to this hypothesis, expression of the transporter proteins, LAT1, LAT2 (system L), and SNAT5 (system N), which mediate glutamine uptake was higher in FGR as was expression of the glutamate transporter protein EAAT1 (system X_{AG}) in membrane enriched placental samples. The higher expression of amino acid transporter proteins in FGR placentas did not relate to the unchanged or reduced transporter activity. It may be that these transporters are not present on the MVM, since Western blots were conducted using mixed membrane isolates, or that they have been post-translationally modified so that their activity is reduced. Investigation of transporter localisation using MVM isolates, and immunohistochemistry of banked tissue from the same placentas is required to confirm the site of increased protein expression in FGR.

Examination of system A mRNA expression, in the absence of reliable commercially available antibodies, indicated that slc38a2 expression was higher but slc38a4 expression lower in placentas of FGR infants. There was no difference in the mRNA expression of the system A isoform slc38a1, nor any of the system L isoforms (slc7a5, slc7a8), or associated heavy chain (slc3a2) quantified. Thus, there is a disparity between the expression of transporters at the gene and protein level. This could be caused by post-transcriptional regulation by mechanisms such as microRNAs.

The concentration of alanine, a high-affinity substrate of system A, was significantly higher in maternal plasma in FGR. Whilst substrate regulation by maternal plasma levels of relevant substrates might down-regulate system L transporter activity on the MVM, by raised levels of substrates tyrosine, serine and alanine (Appendix 9.6), this does not appear to be the case for system A since MeAIB uptake was unchanged. Concentrations of alanine were also raised in UmV. Despite the reduction in glutamine uptake in FGR, the concentration of glutamine in the UmV was not different to normal pregnancy indicating that initial rate uptake is not directly related to provision of glutamine to the fetus in FGR. Glutamic acid concentration was raised in the UmA of FGR infants which suggests either increased metabolism from glutamine, or lower consumption of glutamic acid by the fetus. Altered glutamine/glutamate balance could be indicative of fetal condition (Macnaught et al., 2015). Fetal physiological condition was further probed using GC-MS to measure relative levels of small molecule metabolites in the UmV and UmA of FGR and normal birth weight infants. Metabolomic analyses showed that lactic acid, pyruvic acid, urea and other metabolites were differentially altered in FGR, indicating potential alterations in placental metabolism and fetal utilisation of these metabolites. Changes uncovered in samples collected from FGR infants are worthy of further investigation in future. There were insufficient data to correlate uptake (transporter activity) and other determinants of amino acid transport (amino acid and metabolite levels) within the same pregnancy. Future research should focus on understanding (a) the disparities between transporter expression and activity, in particular why elevated protein expression in FGR is not associated with increased activity and (b) why uptake of amino acids over the MVM does not always relate to the concentrations of amino acids in the UmV in FGR.

7.1 Main findings

The work presented in this thesis tested two major hypotheses (1) that uptake (humans) and clearance (mice) of glutamine and glutamate adapts according to placental size (weight) in normal pregnancy to ensure an appropriate fetal supply of nutrients and (2) that these placental adaptations fail to occur in FGR.

Studies in WT mice provided evidence of functional changes (up-regulation) in unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mb} per g placenta) of glutamine and glutamate in the lightest placentas in a litter such that appropriate fetal growth was maintained. Elevated glutamine clearance (K_{mb}) was associated with significantly greater expression of the glutamine transporter LAT1. In contrast, there was no evidence of adaptation according to placental size in humans; placental transporter-mediated uptake of glutamine and glutamate was unrelated to placental weight in normal pregnancy. Analysis of the same cohort according to sex showed that glutamine and glutamate uptake was significantly higher in males. This sex difference in activity was not associated with a change in expression of glutamine and glutamate transporter proteins in membrane-enriched homogenates of male placentas.

In the P0 knockout mouse, a well-characterised model of FGR, K_{mf} of glutamine and glutamate (per g placenta), was higher compared to WT littermates in mid-gestation, and K_{mf} of glutamine remained higher the day before term (E18.5). However, this attempt to normalise delivery of nutrients to the P0 fetus, particularly for glutamine where total maternofetal transfer was reduced near term, was insufficient to rescue fetal growth. A major finding of this thesis was that transporter-mediated uptake of glutamine was lower in human FGR. However, Western blot analysis of membrane-enriched placental homogenates revealed that expression of key glutamine (LAT1, LAT2 and SNAT5), and glutamate transporters (EAAT1) were in fact significantly higher in placentas from FGR infants.

Amino acid concentrations were measured by high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) in maternal venous, umbilical cord venous (UmV) and arterial (UmA) plasma to test the hypothesis that relationships between the concentrations in these compartments, and their association with uptake of glutamine and glutamate at the MVM, are altered in human FGR. The concentration of alanine (substrate of system A) was significantly higher in all three compartments in FGR compared to normal pregnancy and the concentration of glutamate was higher in UmA plasma in FGR. The strength of this arm of the study was that maternal and fetal (umbilical) plasma samples were measured in the same pregnancies; however, investigation of a direct relationship between amino acid concentration and glutamine/glutamate transporter activity was limited by insufficient numbers. Gas
chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) analysis of metabolites in UmA and UmV plasma detected 63 metabolites, 4 (6%) and 12 (19%) of which were significantly different in the UmA and UmV respectively in FGR compared with normal pregnancy. In common with the HPLC measurement of amino acids, alanine was significantly higher in the UmA and UmV in FGR. Levels of several amino metabolites for entry to the TCA cycle and products of the urea cycle, were also altered in FGR.

The remainder of this chapter will consider the implications of the major findings of this thesis in greater depth, and how the data contribute new knowledge to our wider understanding of placental nutrient transport in normal pregnancy and FGR. The limitations of this body of work and specific methodological considerations will also be discussed. Finally, this chapter will outline future directions for this research, designed to answer the new hypotheses that this study has generated.

7.2 Addressing differences between mouse and human

This thesis tested the hypothesis that the placenta adapts its transport capacity in relation to its size using *in vivo* mouse models, and *in vitro* techniques using human placental tissue. Placental nutrient uptake experiments can only provide a snapshot of placental function since delivery of the placenta is necessary for these studies. Animal models afford the opportunity to measure placental function *in vivo* at multiple gestational timepoints, thereby giving information on how potential functional adaptations may change over time.

relationship between placental weight and transporter-mediated There was no glutamine/glutamate uptake in human placentas from normal birth weight infants. However, there was evidence of adaptation when comparing the lightest versus heaviest placentas in a WT mouse litter. Studies in human FGR revealed reduced transporter-mediated uptake of glutamine compared with placentas of normal birth weight (AGA) infants. Conversely, the P0 mouse model of late-onset FGR demonstrated significantly higher K_{mf} of glutamine compared with WT littermates at both gestational ages (E15.5 and E18.5), which is indicative of adaptation to meet fetal nutrient demands. This effect was not universal: K_{mf} of glutamate was similar between P0/WT placentas towards term (E18.5). Previous studies in the same mouse model have shown that K_{mf} of MeAIB, reflective of system A-mediated uptake, is higher in mid-gestation (E16) (Constância et al., 2002). The 11β -HSD2^{-/-} mouse shows a similar trend for MeAIB to the P0 mouse, at E15 fetal weights are similar, and K_{mf} of MeAIB higher compared with 11β -HSD2⁺/⁺ mice, but by E18 this adaptation is lost in parallel with reduced placental and fetal weights for 11β -HSD2^{-/-} mice (Wyrwoll *et al.*, 2009). Conversely, another mouse model of FGR, the eNOS^{-/-}mouse, shows reduced system A activity (K_{mf} of MeAIB)

at E17.5 compared to WT (Kusinski *et al.*, 2012) suggesting that the transporter-specific adaptations in the P0 mouse are not universal to all mouse models of FGR.

The differences between placental transport of glutamine/glutamate in normal pregnancy and in FGR, in mouse versus human in the current study, need to be placed in the context of key differences between the methods used in each species. The transporter-mediated component of MeAIB, glutamine and glutamate uptake across the MVM was assessed in human placental villous fragments, representative of uptake into the placenta. Conversely in mice, unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) of a radiolabeled substrate relative to placental weight (per g placenta) was assessed. This measurement is based upon radiolabel counts within the fetus i.e. the transport of the injected substrate into, and subsequent release from, the placenta, and therefore includes as yet undetermined mechanisms of transfer across the fetal-facing BM and any equilibration with cellular amino acid compartments. Thus the data presented in this thesis in human placental tissue, representing uptake (Chapter 4 and Chapter 6), are not directly comparable with those in mice (Chapter 3 and Chapter 5). Potential metabolism of radiolabelled glutamine and glutamate, once within the syncytiotrophoblast, is considered in a later section (section 7.4).

In terms of comparing studies between women and mice, apart from key methodological differences between uptake and clearance, there are also key species differences to consider. Whilst mice offer a controlled environment and means to investigate at multiple gestational timepoints, they also give birth to multiple, altricial young after a relatively short gestation (~20 days) in comparison to humans. Another key difference between species to be considered is the intraplacental yolk sac (IPYS). The human yolk sac plays an important role in early embryonic development (up to ~10 weeks of gestation) (Freyer and Renfree, 2009) whereas in mice, the IPYS contributes to normal fetal growth towards term (Croy et al., 2015), although the exact function of the IPYS is not yet known. Furthermore, the human placenta is haemomonochorial whereas mice have a haemotrichorial placenta. Layer II of the mouse placenta is judged to be akin to the human MVM since both stain positively with alkaline phosphatase, and transporter proteins have been localised to this layer (Jones and Fox, 1976; Kusinski et al., 2010). Layer III is thought to be analogous to the human BM but this has not be confirmed since there is currently no published method to isolate layer III of the mouse placenta (Dilworth and Sibley, 2013). However, these structural differences do not impact upon passive permeability since permeability \times surface area product (P \times S) is similar between species (Knobil and Neill, 2006; Sibley and Boyd, 1988). Additionally, studies in vesicles from the mouse and human placenta have shown that activity of the system A amino acid transporter, determined using MeAIB, is similar (per g placenta) (Kusinski et al., 2010).

7.3 Potential mechanisms driving changes in amino acid transport in mouse and human

Much of the research focussed upon human placental nutrient transport processes has investigated substrate specificity and localisation of relevant transporter systems/proteins to the MVM or BM of the syncytiotrophoblast. There is much less of an understanding of the underlying regulatory mechanisms that govern expression and subsequent function of these proteins, which may have clinical benefit as therapeutic targets. Amino acid transporter abundance and activity are determined by the regulation of RNA transcription, subsequent translation into protein and cellular localisation, including appropriate trafficking to the plasma membrane (Vogel and Marcotte, 2012). Potential regulatory mechanisms that may mediate changes in activity of transporters important for glutamine and glutamate transport in mouse and human pregnancy are discussed in the section herein.

This thesis revealed a mismatch between transporter protein expression in membraneenriched homogenates and transporter activity (uptake) in placentas from FGR infants, and in placentas from male versus female babies (Chapter 4 and Chapter 6). Chapter 4 demonstrated that transporter-mediated uptake of glutamine and glutamate was higher in placentas from male babies compared with those from female infants, however transporter abundance did not differ between sexes. That the male and female placenta employs different strategies to support fetal growth is now well described (Clifton, 2010; Eriksson et al., 2010). Males exhibit faster growth in utero and could be more sensitive to fluctuating availability of substrates to support growth (Brett et al., 2016; Clifton, 2010; Eriksson et al., 2010). Several lines of evidence support a role of adaptive regulation of transporters (e.g. systems A and L) in response to amino acid availability leading to an up- or down-regulation of transporter function (activity) (Aiko et al., 2014; Jones et al., 2006). Amino acid deprivation can provoke both rapid redistribution of proteins to the plasma membrane from an intracellular compartment and long-term up-regulation of gene transcription (Mackenzie and Erickson, 2004). Amino acid deprivation also increases system X_{AG} activity, which transports glutamate, in kidney cells (Plakidou-Dymock and McGivan, 1993). Future studies to establish an understanding of the mechanisms that regulate transporter activity in relation to sex are therefore required both in normal pregnancy and in FGR.

Placentas collected from FGR infants exhibited reduced uptake of glutamine compared with normal birth weight infants (Chapter 6). In the current study, pilot data indicated that ~80% of total transporter-mediated glutamine uptake in normal pregnancy was via systems A and N, the remaining ~20% was attributed to system L (Chapter 4). Future studies could establish the contribution of system N to glutamine uptake using the specific inhibitor glutamate- γ monohydroxamate (Yamakami *et al.*, 1998). System A is the best-described amino acid transporter system in the placenta but, contrary to expectations, activity of system A (MeAIB uptake) was no different between placentas from FGR and normal birth weight infants in the current study (Chapter 6). The abundance of transporters important for glutamine transport (LAT1, LAT2 and SNAT5) was higher in placentas from FGR infants despite no change in expression of transcripts assessed at the mRNA level (slc7a5, slc7a8 and slc3a2). MicroRNAs (miRs) regulate mRNA transcript stability by binding to target mRNAs and repressing translation and protein synthesis (Bartel, 2004). miR-363 and miR-149, for example, target transcripts of amino acid transporters such as SNAT1, SNAT2, and LAT2 (Thamotharan et al., 2017) and previous studies have reported reductions in overall miR expression in placentas from FGR infants (Mouillet et al., 2010). Differential expression of miRs may underlie the disparity between mRNA and protein expression in FGR. In the context of the results presented in this thesis, reduced miR expression in placentas complicated by FGR could lead to relative increases in protein expression compared to placentas from normal birth weight infants. Higher transporter abundance may be an attempt by the smaller placenta in FGR to rescue suboptimal glutamine uptake, and/or transporter function may be altered by posttranslational modifications. Post-translational modifications such as ubiquitination and glycosylation influence membrane targeting, substrate binding and stability of key transporter proteins (Chen et al., 2015; Czuba et al., 2018; Vogel and Marcotte, 2012). For example, disruption of glycosylation sites on the OAT4 transporter, that mediates glutamate efflux on the BM (Lofthouse et al., 2015), results in the protein being trapped in the intracellular compartment rather than being transported to the plasma membrane (Zhou et al., 2005).

The nutrient sensing pathway mTOR is another candidate mechanism, known to downregulate system A and L activity in cytotrophoblasts by reducing transporter insertion in the plasma membrane without altering overall protein expression (Rosario *et al.*, 2013). There is also some evidence to indicate that protein kinase C (PKC, a downstream target of mTORC2) regulates EAAT3 expression (Kanai and Hediger, 2003). In FGR, mTORC1 activity is decreased in line with increased NEDD4-2 abundance, which ubiquitinates targets such as LAT1 and SNAT2 for degradation by the proteasome (Chen *et al.*, 2015; Roos *et al.*, 2007) and further work should establish whether the reduction in mTOR activity contributes to altered glutamine uptake by placentas from FGR infants.

The results in WT mice showed that the lightest placenta in a litter demonstrates increased placental efficiency; K_{mb} per g placenta, of glutamine and glutamate was higher compared to the heaviest placenta at E18.5 (Chapter 3). This adds to previous findings focussed upon the system A transporter system (Coan *et al.*, 2008) and indicates that the small but normal mouse placenta can adapt its nutrient transport capacity to achieve optimal fetal growth. Efficient

nutrient exchange is reliant upon placental size, morphology, blood flow and transporter abundance. In the current study, LAT1 expression was increased at E18.5 which could contribute to the changes in K_{mf} of glutamine reported, however expression of glutamate transporters was unchanged. The efflux of glutamate (and/or metabolites) into fetal circulation in the mouse is mediated by as yet unknown mechanisms. This is an important question for future research.

Compared with humans, mice have a higher F:P ratio (in the current study median BW:PW ratio for normal birth weight infants at term was 6.5; the median F:P ratio at E18.5 for lightest placentas in a WT mouse litter was 17.0 and for heaviest placentas was 13.7), which suggests that the mouse placenta is more efficient, and perhaps has more capacity to adapt to the demands of the growing fetus, relative to placental size. A possible explanation for this might be the highly efficient countercurrent blood flow arrangement that enhances fetomaternal exchange in the mouse placenta (Adamson *et al.*, 2002). Previous studies have also shown that morphological adaptations occur earlier in gestation (E16) (Coan *et al.*, 2008) and prior to functional adaptations. The results reported here regarding functional adaptations are consistent with earlier studies focussed upon system A and calcium (Coan *et al.*, 2008; Dilworth *et al.*, 2010), and indicate a role for fetal nutrient demand signals driving these adaptations.

In the P0 knockout mouse, there was increased K_{mb} per g placenta, of glutamate at E15.5, and of glutamine at both gestational ages assessed (E15.5 and E18.5). However, this was insufficient to support appropriate fetal growth and P0 fetuses were growth restricted at E18.5. As demonstrated in the IGF2-null mouse, IGF2 is required to maintain expression of glutamate transporter proteins EAAT1, EAAT2 and EAAT3 (system X_{AG}) (Matthews *et al.*, 1999). In the current study, reduced EAAT2 expression was seen in P0 mice at E18.5, however fetal levels of IGF2 are unaltered in the P0 mouse model (Constância *et al.*, 2002), and so this is not expected to be a mechanism underlying this change.

The findings in the P0 mouse differ to those reported in human FGR. In the P0 mouse, K_{mf} of glutamine was raised in P0 compared with WT placentas whereas glutamine uptake in human FGR was reduced. These results raise intriguing questions with regards to the utility of this model as a tool to better understand human FGR, with the caveat that we currently only have information in human on glutamine uptake into the placenta and not delivery to the fetus as in the mouse studies.

Collectively the studies presented in this thesis set the stage for future investigations into the likely complex interactions and regulatory mechanisms that mediate glutamine and glutamate delivery to the fetus in human pregnancy and raise important questions as to whether adaptive processes seen in mice can translate to human.

7.4 Measuring plasma levels of amino acids and metabolites

Amino acid concentrations were quantified in matched samples of maternal and UmV and UmA plasma from FGR and normal pregnancies. This gave the potential to a) directly compare between these different compartments in the same pregnancy, and b) to relate amino acid concentration to glutamine and glutamate transporter activity at the MVM.

Samples collected from the umbilical cord were drawn as soon as possible after delivery of the infant, and were handled and stored appropriately (-80°C) prior to analysis. A further advantage of the current study was the collection of both UmV and UmA samples (most previous studies have assessed the UmV only, see Table 6), which enabled measurement of amino acids and metabolite delivery from placenta to fetus and vice versa in the same pregnancy, and allowed venoarterial differences to be compared in normal pregnancy and FGR.

There have been numerous attempts to determine differences in fetal (umbilical) plasma amino acid concentrations in FGR compared with normal pregnancy and yet these data remain contentious signifying the need for the current study in a well-defined population of normal (AGA) pregnancy and FGR. Amino acid concentrations show significant variation between individuals (Economides *et al.*, 1989; Holm *et al.*, 2017), and particularly in FGR, highlighting the necessity for studies to adhere to internationally agreed definitions of FGR and normal pregnancy to enable comparison between studies (Gordijn *et al.*, 2016; Unterscheider *et al.*, 2014). Another key consideration is the multiple phenotypes that underpin FGR; for example those with abnormalities in uteroplacental or fetoplacental blood flow versus those that may present with normal blood flow but aberrant syncytiotrophoblast function. Additionally, according to criteria for FGR, based on individualised birth weight ratios, there may be infants defined as FGR in the current study that were in fact simply constitutionally small. The wide variation in amino acid concentrations observed in the FGR cohort compared with normal pregnancy in the current study may be evidence of these difficulties in defining and profiling cohorts of FGR individuals (Figure 58).

The current study consolidated previous observations that the concentration of alanine is raised in maternal venous plasma of pregnancies with an FGR infant (Cetin *et al.*, 1990; Cetin *et al.*, 1996). Elevated maternal alanine concentrations could conceivably decrease transporter expression on the MVM by substrate regulation since reductions in amino acid availability upregulates transporter expression (Parrott *et al.*, 2007). This could detrimentally affect i) placental amino acid uptake ii) availability of nutrients for subsequent transfer to the fetus, iii) the composition of the amino acid pool and thus substrates available for exchange. However, a reduction in system A activity (MeAIB uptake) was not observed in the current study which suggests that alanine does not regulate transporter activity in this manner.

Levels of glutamate in the UmA were elevated in FGR whereas glutamine concentrations were similar in all three compartments measured. Higher glutamate levels in the UmA could be due to increased conversion of glutamine via the fetal liver and/or a sign that less is being utilised by the fetus/taken back up by the placenta across the BM. In FGR there is evidence that the abundance of glutamate dehydrogenase, which catalyses the conversion of glutamate to α -ketoglutarate, is decreased in the placenta (Jozwik *et al.*, 2009) but levels in the fetus have not been described. Sophisticated regulatory mechanisms such as the mTOR pathway also act to maintain homeostatic control of amino acid concentrations and thereby support appropriate fetal growth (Carroll *et al.*, 2015). Evidence of interplay between fetal metabolism and placental function in sheep (Teng *et al.*, 2002) indicates that raised UmA glutamate concentrations may influence expression and activity of transporters on the BM. This could be tested experimentally using *ex vivo* placental perfusion techniques.

One aim of the present study was to relate amino acid concentrations, and particularly glutamine and glutamate, to placental uptake of these two amino acids. Disappointingly the collection of plasma and matched placental tissue from the same pregnancy was limited due to the small volume of blood available in the UmA, particularly from FGR infants, and so there was insufficient power to adequately assess these relationships.

Metabolomics can detect significant changes in metabolite levels within a biological system and has been successfully used clinically to predict or diagnose disease status (Horgan et al., 2009; Nicholson et al., 2012). Here GC-MS was conducted as a discovery method to identify potential indicators of fetal physiological condition that may ultimately provide a signal that is able to elicit changes in placental function. Whilst it was not an aim of the current study, recently published data have demonstrated the potential utility of metabolites to act as biomarkers for SGA (Horgan et al., 2011; Macnaught et al., 2015) however the sensitivity and specificity of candidate metabolites is often too low (Powell et al., 2018). The results from GC-MS consolidate the main findings from the HPLC studies discussed above; alanine levels were raised in the UmV/UmA in FGR and glutamine levels were unchanged. Glutamate was not detected by GC-MS but levels of pyroglutamic acid, a precursor of glutamate (Figure 62) were elevated in the UmV. Lactic acid levels were significantly raised in the UmV of FGR infants in alignment with previous studies in humans (Marconi et al., 1990; Pardi et al., 1993) and animals (Owens et al., 1989). Raised lactic acid levels may reflect increased placental amino acid consumption to provide the fetus with an alternative substrate for oxidation and/or a shift to anaerobic conditions favouring conversion of glucose to lactate. Alanine and lactate feed into the pyruvate pool, lactate enters via the enzyme lactate dehydrogenase, the levels of which are raised in SGA (Cox et al., 1988), and pyruvate subsequently feeds into the TCA cycle for production of metabolic intermediates and energy (Brooks, 1986). High levels of urea in the UmV of FGR infants was also observed which indicate amino acid catabolism (Owens *et al.*, 1989). Raised urea levels in mothers of FGR infants have also previously been reported (Marconi *et al.*, 1990) however the maternal metabolic profile was not investigated in the present study.

The current study has identified that the levels of a number of metabolites and amino acids are altered in pregnancies complicated by FGR. There are now open questions as to the utility of these metabolites as a therapeutic target for FGR. To answer these questions large scale studies with well-defined criteria of FGR and normal pregnancy are required.

7.5 Methodological considerations and limitations

In the studies conducted in mice the identity of the substrate coupled to the ¹⁴C radiolabel, as measured in the fetus, is not known. MeAIB, used in a number of placental transport studies previously, is not metabolised, therefore the only limiting factor prior to release into the fetal circulation would be the placental amino acid pool which would be required to equilibrate (Cleal *et al.*, 2018; Velázquez *et al.*, 1976). In a study by Stegink *et al.* (1975), the majority of glutamate infused over 1 hour into the maternal circulation of the pregnant rhesus monkey remained associated with the radiolabel. Given the timecourse of the experiments presented in this thesis (~2 min from injection until harvest of fetal and placental tissue), it is unlikely that injected glutamate is metabolised within maternal circulation before it reaches the placenta, even accounting for the faster metabolic rate of the mouse.

Investigations using placental perfusion techniques suggest that glutamate is not directly transferred from the maternal to fetal circulation, rather it is metabolised to products such as α -ketoglutarate, for entry to the TCA cycle, and proline (Day *et al.*, 2013). Early studies in the pregnant rhesus monkey infused radiolabelled glutamate into the maternal circulation and sequentially sampled fetal and maternal plasma to assess placental glutamate transport and metabolism. Stegink *et al.* (1975) demonstrated that the majority of glutamate infused over 1hr into maternal circulation of the pregnant rhesus monkey (69-88%) remained associated with the radiolabel, whereas in fetal plasma the radiolabel was associated with metabolites such as glucose and lactate, and there was little to no radiolabelled glutamate evident. The proportion of intact ¹⁴C-glutamate and the identity of metabolites in the fetal circulation is unknown from the current studies in mice.

Transporter abundance was assessed in placentas from mice and women. This part of the study was limited by the use of membrane-enriched placental homogenates: it was therefore not possible to determine the contribution of the MVM/BM, or other plasma membranes that may have made up the mixed membrane preparations. An analysis of mitochondrial membrane contamination, assayed using the mitochondrial markers succinate dehydrogenase

and cytochrome-c, could help understand the makeup of the membrane-enriched preparation (Jimenez *et al.*, 2004). Future work could also focus upon MVM and BM isolates. This was not possible in the current study primarily due to a lack of available banked human tissue which reflects the villous tissue required for the uptakes in this study and other usage within the laboratory. In addition, there is currently no established method to isolate the BM of the mouse placenta.

Presumably a smaller placenta (by weight) will have less surface area available for exchange. Indeed in FGR, in the presence of a small placenta, the surface area of terminal villi and capillaries is decreased (Mayhew *et al.*, 2003). Correlations between the size of the placenta and surface area for exchange have not been carried out in normal pregnancy. Ideally, surface area available for nutrient transport would be used as the denominator by which to calculate amino acid uptake. However, in the absence of an accurate method of measuring syncytiotrophoblast MVM surface area for this assay, placental uptake was measured per mg protein as a proxy measure of placental size.

Moving forward, there is a necessity within the obstetric field to examine more closely the definition of both normal pregnancy and FGR. In the current study, strict inclusion criteria were used in an effort to have well-defined groups of normal pregnancy and FGR. Women of advanced maternal age (>40 years old) were excluded. The study also set out to exclude women with high and low BMI (<19 or >30 kg/m²), women who smoked and preterm deliveries; however, difficulties obtaining sufficient tissue from pregnancies complicated by FGR meant that some were included in the study (the range of BMI of women included in the study was 18.8-33.9 kg/m²)

FGR is a heterogeneous condition that presents with many phenotypes. A recently published consensus-based definition of FGR as an abdominal circumference or estimated fetal weight of $<3^{rd}$ centile, or presence of additional indicators (see Table 2 in Introduction) should be used for all future studies (Gordijn *et al.*, 2016). Individualised growth charts have their own limitations, inasmuch as an infant within the normal birth weight (AGA) range may have dropped centiles over the course of pregnancy and could be legitimately be characterised as FGR. In order to accurately reflect a 'normal' population, it would make sense to include a narrower definition of AGA, thus avoiding the extremes of birth weight centiles, i.e. ~10th or ~90th centile, that are at more likely to be small or large for gestational age, and at risk of adverse outcomes (Iliodromiti *et al.*, 2017). In the current study, if a narrower range of 20th-80th centile is used to define normal birth weight (AGA), the uptake of glutamine, glutamate and MeAIB is significantly lower in FGR compared with normal (AGA) pregnancies (Appendix 9.8).

7.6 Clinical context

FGR affects between 5-10% of pregnancies in the UK, yet there remain no clinical tests to predict the risk of developing nor advise expectant management of FGR (Powell *et al.*, 2018). In addition, there are currently no treatments for FGR (Fisk and Atun, 2008). Whilst dietary models of FGR, such as the protein-restricted rat, and maternal nutrient restricted baboon (Pantham *et al.*, 2015; Rosario *et al.*, 2011) induce the characteristic phenotype, i.e. reduced fetal and placental weight and altered placental function, FGR occurs in well-nourished communities and is therefore not just a feature of malnutrition. This is further supported by the observation in the current study that some amino acid concentrations in fetal circulation are in fact increased in FGR (Figure 57 and Appendix 9.6). Several studies have shown no benefit of administering amino acids to women with SGA infants on fetal growth (Say *et al.*, 2003) and intraumbilical delivery of amino acids via a subcutaneous port system results in amino acid imbalance (Tchirikov *et al.*, 2017). Observations from the current study, that placental glutamine uptake is reduced in FGR, further indicate that amino acid supplementation is unlikely to improve fetal outcomes.

7.7 Main findings of the study

The main aims of the work presented in this thesis were to determine whether glutamine and glutamate transport relates to placental size in normal pregnancy, and to investigate glutamine and glutamate transport in normal pregnancy and FGR. These aims were achieved, and the data presented in this thesis have shown that:

- Towards term in WT mice (E18.5), unidirectional maternofetal clearance (K_{mf}) of glutamine and glutamate was higher across the lightest placentas in a litter compared with the heaviest but was unrelated to the sex of the fetus. The abundance of glutamine (LAT1, LAT2 and SNAT5) and glutamate (EAAT1, EAAT2) transporters in membrane-enriched homogenates from the lightest and heaviest placentas at E15.5 and E18.5 revealed higher expression of LAT1 at E18.5 only.
- Transporter-mediated glutamine and glutamate uptake was not related to placental or fetal weight in normal human pregnancy but glutamine uptake was lower in placentas from female compared with male infants, and this was not due to altered transporter protein abundance.
- In the P0 mouse model of FGR, K_{mf} of glutamine was significantly higher for P0 versus WT placentas at E15.5 and E18.5. Glutamate K_{mf} was higher at E15.5 only. These changes cannot be fully accounted for by changes in transporter protein abundance since only EAAT2 expression was significantly lower in P0 mice at E18.5.

- Transporter-mediated uptake of glutamine was reduced in FGR (uptake of MeAIB and glutamate was unchanged) yet the abundance of glutamine transporters LAT1, LAT2 and SNAT5, and the glutamate transporter EAAT1 in membrane-enriched homogenates was higher.
- A distinct profile of changes in metabolite levels such as glutamate, lactic acid, pyruvic acid, and urea in umbilical vein (UmV) and artery (UmA); and amino acid concentrations such as alanine and glutamate in maternal, UmV and UmA plasma, was reported in samples from FGR compared with normal birth weight infants.

7.8 Future directions

The following are suggested as immediate future works to consolidate current findings:

- Quantify expression of glutamine and glutamate transporter proteins in MVM preparations by Western blot and immunohistochemistry on human placental villous samples to establish whether abundance of these transporters is different between placentas from FGR and normal birth weight infants, and/or according to sex. It would be possible to do immunohistochemistry on tissue banked from placentas already used to explore protein expression by Western blotting in the current study.
- Complete gene expression studies (Chapter 6) by quantifying slc38a5 (SNAT5), and slc1a3 (EAAT1), slc1a2 (EAAT2) and slc1a1 (EAAT3) expression.

The work presented in this thesis has raised many questions in need of further investigation. Longer-term directions for future work could include 1) assessing transporter-mediated uptake in well-defined cohorts of FGR and AGA, and how this relates to amino acid concentrations in the maternal, fetal (umbilical) and placental compartments, and 2) investigating potential mechanisms of regulation of transporter function/abundance in placentas from normal birth weight (AGA) and FGR infants. Transporter-mediated uptake according to sex, and the mechanisms that underlie elevated transporter activity in males could also be explored. Studies of this nature should look to define FGR according to the criteria set by Gordijn *et al.* (2016), and should aim to have a similarly well-defined cohort of AGA infants, e.g. within the 20th-80th centiles to increase the likelihood of including infants that are truly 'normal'.

 Initial studies should confirm that transporter activity is lower in FGR compared to AGA using the above definitions, ensuring an equal number of males and females in each group. Collection of maternal, UmV and UmA plasma would add to current numbers, and allow transporter activity to be related to amino acid concentration.

- Given the sexually dimorphic differences in transporter activity reported in the current study (Chapter 4) numbers included in each group should be sufficient to detect differences according to sex. Previous studies have found n=10 in each group to be sufficient to detect differences (Aiko *et al.*, 2014). The presence of sex differences in transporter activity in FGR could lead to different strategies for treatment depending on whether the fetus was male or female.
- Based on previous findings (Philipps *et al.*, 1978), the composition of amino acids in the UmV is not akin to the concentrations in placentas from normal birth weight infants (Appendix 9.10). Whether amino acid concentrations in the placenta in FGR are altered, and how this relates to amino acid uptake is unknown and should be investigated.
- HPLC analysis showed that there was a broad range of values in the FGR cohort. This could represent different phenotypes of FGR. This work could be extended to include more matched samples collected from pregnancies with different clinical presentation (e.g. stratified according to evidence of abnormal uterine or umbilical blood flow velocity) to further investigate this. Inclusion of more samples would also allow stratification according to the sex of the infant, the effect of which is currently unknown.
- 2) The mTOR pathway is a serine/threonine kinase known to modify the function of system A and L transporters in the placenta (Roos *et al.*, 2009), the activity of this pathway in placentas from normal birth weight and FGR infants, and whether sex-specific differences exist, is unknown and should be assessed using Western blot analysis to quantify phosphorylated downstream targets as previously described (Rosario *et al.*, 2013). The effect of experimentally down-regulated/altered mTOR activity on glutamine and glutamate uptake and protein expression could also be tested using known inhibitors of mTOR such as rapamycin, on human placental explants.
- Post-translational modifications are another potential mechanism by which transporter activity could be altered in FGR pregnancies, and/or according to sex. Immunoprecipitated samples could be analysed using Western blot to assess ubiquitination of transporter proteins using previously described methods (Chen *et al.*, 2015).

The findings presented in this thesis have indicated that whilst appropriate for other studies, such as pre-clinical studies to assess potential therapies for FGR, the mouse model used here may not provide an appropriate model to answer the questions raised by this body of work. Evidence of adaptation in both normal and P0 mouse models is at odds with what was reported in normal human pregnancy and FGR, with the caveat that uptake and unidirectional

maternofetal clearance are measuring different physiological parameters, and that other mouse models of FGR have shown reduced amino acid transport akin to human FGR. Understanding the mechanisms which underpin the findings in WT and P0 mice may therefore not have direct relevance to the pathophysiology of human FGR with regards to placental nutrient transport. The eNOS^{-/-} mouse may be worth pursuing in future as a model relating to human FGR with blood flow and trophoblast transporter defects that exhibits reduced system A activity (MeAIB uptake) (Kusinski *et al.*, 2012). Future work should ideally focus upon improving our understanding of the regulatory mechanisms underpinning placental nutrient transport in both normal pregnancy and FGR using techniques in human tissue, and seek to use alternative models as appropriate.

In conclusion, this thesis has provided novel insights into adaptive processes (or lack of) in the placentas of mice and humans, and the knowledge that placental uptake of glutamine is compromised in human FGR. Future studies leading on from this work should focus upon the mechanisms that regulate placental glutamine and glutamate delivery in relation to the sex of the fetus, and in normal and FGR pregnancies. Exploitation of these in the future may provide potential therapeutic avenues for FGR, for which there is no current treatment.

- ADAMSON SL, LU Y, WHITELEY KJ, HOLMYARD D, HEMBERGER M, PFARRER C, CROSS JC (2002). Interactions between Trophoblast Cells and the Maternal and Fetal Circulation in the Mouse Placenta. *Dev Biol* 250: 358–373.
- AERTS L, VAN ASSCHE FA (2002). Taurine and taurine-deficiency in the perinatal period. J Perinat Med 30: 281–6.
- AIKO Y, ASKEW DJ, ARAMAKI S, MYOGA M, TOMONAGA C, HACHISUGA T, SUGA R, KAWAMOTO T, TSUJI M, SHIBATA E (2014). Differential levels of amino acid transporters System L and ASCT2, and the mTOR protein in placenta of preeclampsia and IUGR. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth* 14: 181.
- ALESSI DR, PEARCE LR, GARCÍA-MARTÍNEZ JM (2009). New insights into mTOR signaling: mTORC2 and beyond. *Sci Signal* 2: pe27.
- ALEXANDRE-GOUABAU M-CC, COURANT F, MOYON T, KÜSTER A, LE GALL G, TEA I, ANTIGNAC J-PP, DARMAUN D (2013). Maternal and cord blood LC-HRMS metabolomics reveal alterations in energy and polyamine metabolism, and oxidative stress in very-low birth weight infants. *J Proteome Res* 12: 2764–78.
- ALLISON BJ, BRAIN KL, NIU Y, KANE AD, HERRERA EA, THAKOR AS, BOTTING KJ, CROSS CM, ITANI N, SKEFFINGTON KL, BECK C, GIUSSANI DA (2016). Fetal in vivo continuous cardiovascular function during chronic hypoxia. *J Physiol* 594: 1247–64.
- ALMOG B, SHEHATA F, ALJABRI S, LEVIN I, SHALOM-PAZ E, SHRIM A (2011). Placenta weight percentile curves for singleton and twins deliveries. *Placenta* 32: 58–62.
- DEL AMO EM, URTTI A, YLIPERTTULA M (2008). Pharmacokinetic role of L-type amino acid transporters LAT1 and LAT2. *Eur J Pharm Sci* 35: 161–74.
- ANGIOLINI E, COAN PM, SANDOVICI I, IWAJOMO OH, PECK G, BURTON GJ, SIBLEY CP, REIK W, FOWDEN AL, CONSTÂNCIA M (2011). Developmental adaptations to increased fetal nutrient demand in mouse genetic models of Igf2-mediated overgrowth. *FASEB J* 25: 1737–45.
- ANGIOLINI E, FOWDEN A, COAN P, SANDOVICI I, SMITH P, DEAN W, BURTON G, TYCKO B, REIK W, SIBLEY C, CONSTÂNCIA M (2006). Regulation of placental efficiency for nutrient transport by imprinted genes. *Placenta* 27 Suppl A: S98-102.
- APLIN JD (1991). Implantation, trophoblast differentiation and haemochorial placentation: mechanistic evidence in vivo and in vitro. *J Cell Sci* 99 (Pt 4): 681–92.
- AUBARD Y, DARODES N, CANTALOUBE M (2000). Hyperhomocysteinemia and pregnancy--review of our present understanding and therapeutic implications. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 93: 157–65.
- AUDETTE MC, CHALLIS JRG, JONES RL, SIBLEY CP, MATTHEWS SG (2014). Synthetic Glucocorticoid Reduces Human Placental System A Transport in Women Treated With Antenatal Therapy. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 99: E2226–E2233.
- AUDETTE MC, KINGDOM JC (2018). Screening for fetal growth restriction and placental insufficiency. *Semin Fetal Neonatal Med* 23: 119–125.
- BAKER BC, HAYES D, JONES RL (2018). Effects of micronutrients on placental function: evidence from clinical studies to animal models. *Reproduction*: REP-18-0130.
- BARKER DJ, BULL AR, OSMOND C, SIMMONDS SJ (1990). Fetal and placental size and risk of hypertension in adult life. *BMJ* 301: 259–262.
- BARKER DJP (2004). The developmental origins of chronic adult disease. *Acta Paediatr Suppl* 93: 26–33.
- BARTEL DP (2004). MicroRNAs: Genomics, Biogenesis, Mechanism, and Function. *Cell* 116: 281–297.
- BASCHAT AA (2011). Examination of the fetal cardiovascular system. *Semin Fetal Neonatal Med* 16: 2–12.
- BATTAGLIA FC (2000). Glutamine and glutamate exchange between the fetal liver and the

placenta. J Nutr 130: 974S-7S.

- BATTAGLIA FC (2002). In vivo characteristics of placental amino acid transport and metabolism in ovine pregnancy--a review. *Placenta* 23 Suppl A: S3-8.
- BEART P, O'SHEA R (2007). Transporters for L-glutamate: An update on their molecular pharmacology and pathological involvement. *Br J Pharmacol* 150: 5–17.
- BLAKLEY A (1978). Maternal and embryonic gene effects on placental weight in mice. J Reprod Fertil 54: 301–7.
- BLOXAM DL, TYLER CF, YOUNG M (1981). Foetal glutamate as a possible precursor of placental glutamine in the guinea pig. *Biochem J* 198: 397–401.
- BODE BP (2001). Recent Molecular Advances in Mammalian Glutamine Transport. J Nutr 131: 2475S–2485S.
- BOND H, BAKER B, BOYD RDH, COWLEY E, GLAZIER JD, JONES CJP, SIBLEY CP, WARD BS, HUSAIN SM (2006a). Artificial perfusion of the fetal circulation of the in situ mouse placenta: methodology and validation. *Placenta* 27 Suppl A: S69-75.
- BOND H, BAKER B, BOYD RDH, COWLEY E, GLAZIER JD, JONES CJP, SIBLEY CP, WARD BS, HUSAIN SM (2006b). Passive permeability of the mouse placenta to mannitol is reduced in parathyroid hormone related protein (PTHrP) null conceptuses. *Proc Physiol Soc*: PC19.
- BOND H, DILWORTH MR, BAKER B, COWLEY E, REQUENA JIMENEZ A, BOYD RDH, HUSAIN SM, WARD BS, SIBLEY CP, GLAZIER JD (2008). Increased maternofetal calcium flux in parathyroid hormone-related protein-null mice. *J Physiol* 586: 2015–25.
- BOWER S, SCHUCHTER K, CAMPBELL S (1993). Doppler ultrasound screening as part of routine antenatal scanning: prediction of pre-eclampsia and intrauterine growth retardation. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 100: 989–94.
- BOZZETTI P, BUŠCAGLIA M, CETIN I, MARCONI AM, NICOLINI U, PARDI G, MAKOWSKI EL, BATTAGLIA FC (1987). Respiratory gases, acid-base balance and lactate concentrations of the midterm human fetus. *Biol Neonate* 52: 188–97.
- BRAND AP, GREENWOOD SL, GLAZIER JD, BENNETT EJ, GODFREY KM, SIBLEY CP, HANSON MA, LEWIS RM (2010). Comparison of L-serine uptake by human placental microvillous membrane vesicles and placental villous fragments. *Placenta* 31: 456–9.
- BRETT KE, FERRARO ZM, HOLCIK M, ADAMO KB (2016). Placenta nutrient transport-related gene expression: the impact of maternal obesity and excessive gestational weight gain. *J Matern Neonatal Med* 29: 1399–1405.
- BRÖER S (2002). Adaptation of plasma membrane amino acid transport mechanisms to physiological demands. *Pflugers Arch Eur J Physiol* 444: 457–66.
- BRÖER S (2014). The SLC38 family of sodium–amino acid co-transporters. *Pflügers Arch Eur J Physiol* 466: 155–172.
- BROOKS GA (1986). Lactate production under fully aerobic conditions: the lactate shuttle during rest and exercise. *Fed Proc* 45: 2924–9.
- BURD LI, JONES MD, SIMMONS MA, MAKOWSKI EL, MESCHIA G, BATTAGLIA FC (1975). Placental production and foetal utilisation of lactate and pyruvate. *Nature* 254: 710–1.
- BURTON GJ, CHARNOCK-JONES DS, JAUNIAUX E (2009). Regulation of vascular growth and function in the human placenta. *Reproduction* 138: 895–902.
- BURTON GJ, FOWDEN AL (2012). Review: The placenta and developmental programming: balancing fetal nutrient demands with maternal resource allocation. *Placenta* 33 Suppl: S23-7.
- BURTON GJ, JAUNIAUX E (2018). Pathophysiology of placental-derived fetal growth restriction. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 218: S745–S761.
- BURTON GJ, JAUNIAUX E (2004). Placental Oxidative Stress: From Miscarriage to Preeclampsia. J Soc Gynecol Investig 11: 342–52.
- CAKMAK HA, COSKUNPINAR E, IKITIMUR B, BARMAN HA, KARADAG B,

TIRYAKIOGLU NO, KAHRAMAN K, VURAL VA (2015). The prognostic value of circulating microRNAs in heart failure. *J Cardiovasc Med* 16: 431–437.

- CAMELO JS, JORGE SM, MARTINEZ FE (2004). Amino acid composition of parturient plasma, the intervillous space of the placenta and the umbilical vein of term newborn infants. *Brazilian J Med Biol Res* 37: 711–717.
- CAMELO JS, MARTINEZ FE, GONÇALVES AL, MONTEIRO JP, JORGE SM (2007). Plasma amino acids in pregnancy, placental intervillous space and preterm newborn infants. *Brazilian J Med Biol Res* 40: 971–977.
- CAMPBELL HE, KURINCZUK JJ, HEAZELL A, LEAL J, RIVERO-ARIAS O (2018). Healthcare and wider societal implications of stillbirth: a population-based cost-of-illness study. *BJOG* 125: 108–117.
- CANTWELL R, CLUTTON-BROCK T, COOPER G, DAWSON A, DRIFE J, GARROD D, HARPER A, HULBERT D, LUCAS S, MCCLURE J, et al. (2011). Saving Mothers' Lives: Reviewing maternal deaths to make motherhood safer: 2006-2008. The Eighth Report of the Confidential Enquiries into Maternal Deaths in the United Kingdom. *BJOG* 118 Suppl 1: 1–203.
- CARBERRY AE, GORDON A, BOND DM, HYETT J, RAYNES-GREENOW CH, JEFFERY HE (2014). Customised versus population-based growth charts as a screening tool for detecting small for gestational age infants in low-risk pregnant women. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2014: CD008549.
- CARIAPPA R, HEATH-MONNIG E, SMITH CH (2003). Isoforms of amino acid transporters in placental syncytiotrophoblast: Plasma membrane localization and potential role in maternal/fetal transport. *Placenta* 24: 713–726.
- CARROLL B, KOROLCHUK VI, SARKAR S (2015). Amino acids and autophagy: cross-talk and co-operation to control cellular homeostasis. *Amino Acids* 47: 2065–2088.
- CARTER AM (2007). Animal Models of Human Placentation A Review. *Placenta* 28: S41–S47.
- CETIN I (2001). Amino acid interconversions in the fetal-placental unit: the animal model and human studies in vivo. *Pediatr* Res 49: 148–54.
- CETIN I, CORBETTA C, SERENI LP, MARCONI AM, BOZZETTI P, PARDI G, BATTAGLIA FC (1990). Umbilical amino acid concentrations in normal and growthretarded fetuses sampled in utero by cordocentesis. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 162: 253–261.
- CETIN I, MARCONI AM, BOZZETTI P, SERENI LP, CORBETTA C, PARDI G, BATTAGLIA FC (1988). Umbilical amino acid concentrations in appropriate and small for gestational age infants: a biochemical difference present in utero. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 158: 120–6.
- CETIN I, RONZONI S, MARCONI AM, PERUGINO G, CORBETTA C, BATTAGLIA FC, PARDI G (1996). Maternal concentrations and fetal-maternal concentration differences of plasma amino acids in normal and intrauterine growth-restricted pregnancies. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 174: 1575–83.
- CETIN I, DE SANTIS MSN, TARICCO E, RADAELLI T, TENG C, RONZONI S, SPADA E, MILANI S, PARDI G (2005). Maternal and fetal amino acid concentrations in normal pregnancies and in pregnancies with gestational diabetes mellitus. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 192: 610–7.
- CHEN Y-Y, ROSARIO FJ, SHEHAB MA, POWELL TL, GUPTA MB, JANSSON T (2015). Increased ubiquitination and reduced plasma membrane trafficking of placental amino acid transporter SNAT-2 in human IUGR. *Clin Sci* 129: 1131–1141.
- CHISWICK ML (1985). Intrauterine growth retardation. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 291: 845-848.
- CHRISTENSEN HN, OXENDER DL, LIANG M, VATZ KA (1965). The use of Nmethylation to direct route of mediated transport of amino acids. *J Biol Chem* 240: 3609– 16.
- CHRISTIANS JK, GRYNSPAN D, GREENWOOD SL, DILWORTH MR (2018). The problem with using the birthweight:placental weight ratio as a measure of placental efficiency. *Placenta* 68: 52–58.

- CHUNG M, TENG C, TIMMERMAN M, MESCHIA G, BATTAGLIA FC (1998). Production and utilization of amino acids by ovine placenta in vivo. *Am J Physiol* 274: E13-22.
- CLARKE J (1788). Observations on Some Causes of the Excess of the Mortality of Males above That of Females. *London Med J* 9: 179–200.
- CLARSON LH, GLAZIER JD, GREENWOOD SL, JONES CJ, SIDES MK, SIBLEY CP (1996). Activity and expression of Na(+)-K(+)-ATPase in human placental cytotrophoblast cells in culture. *J Physiol* 497 (Pt 3): 735–43.
- CLAUSEN H V, LARSEN LG, CARTER AM (2003). Vascular reactivity of the preplacental vasculature in Guinea pigs. *Placenta* 24: 686–97.
- CLEAL JK, BROWNBILL P, GODFREY KM, JACKSON JM, JACKSON AA, SIBLEY CP, HANSON MA, LEWIS RM (2007). Modification of fetal plasma amino acid composition by placental amino acid exchangers in vitro. *J Physiol* 582: 871–82.
- CLEAL JK, GLAZIER JD, NTANI G, CROZIER SR, DAY PE, HARVEY NC, ROBINSON SM, COOPER C, GODFREY KM, HANSON MA, LEWIS RM (2011). Facilitated transporters mediate net efflux of amino acids to the fetus across the basal membrane of the placental syncytiotrophoblast. *J Physiol* 589: 987–97.
- CLEAL JK, LEWIS RM (2008). The mechanisms and regulation of placental amino acid transport to the human foetus. J Neuroendocrinol 20: 419–26.
- CLEAL JK, LOFTHOUSE EM, SENGERS BG, LEWIS RM (2018). A systems perspective on placental amino acid transport. *J Physiol*.
- CLIFTON VL (2010). Review: Sex and the Human Placenta: Mediating Differential Strategies of Fetal Growth and Survival. *Placenta* 31: S33–S39.
- COAN PM, ANGIOLINI E, SANDOVICI I, BURTON GJ, CONSTÂNCIA M, FOWDEN AL (2008). Adaptations in placental nutrient transfer capacity to meet fetal growth demands depend on placental size in mice. *J Physiol* 586: 4567–4576.
- CONSTÂNCIA M, ANGIOLINI E, SANDOVICI I, SMITH P, SMITH R, KELSEY G, DEAN W, FERGUSON-SMITH A, SIBLEY CP, REIK W, FOWDEN A (2005). Adaptation of nutrient supply to fetal demand in the mouse involves interaction between the Igf2 gene and placental transporter systems. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102: 19219–24.
- CONSTÂNCIA M, HEMBERGER M, HUGHES J, DEAN W, FERGUSON-SMITH A, FUNDELE R, STEWART F, KELSEY G, FOWDEN A, SIBLEY C, REIK W (2002). Placental-specific IGF-II is a major modulator of placental and fetal growth. *Nature* 417: 945–8.
- COX WL, DAFFOS F, FORESTIER F, DESCOMBEY D, AUFRANT C, AUGER MC, GASCHARD JC (1988). Physiology and management of intrauterine growth retardation: a biologic approach with fetal blood sampling. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 159: 36–41.
- CRAMER S, BEVERIDGE M, KILBERG M, NOVAK D (2002). Physiological importance of system A-mediated amino acid transport to rat fetal development. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 282: C153-60.
- CROSS JC, WERB Z, FISHER SJ (1994). Implantation and the placenta: key pieces of the development puzzle. *Science* 266: 1508–18.
- CROY BA, YAMADA AT, DEMAYO FJ, ADAMSON SL (2015). The Guide to investigation of mouse pregnancy.
- CUFFE JSM, WALTON SL, SINGH RR, SPIERS JG, BIELEFELDT-OHMANN H, WILKINSON L, LITTLE MH, MORITZ KM (2014). Mid- to late term hypoxia in the mouse alters placental morphology, glucocorticoid regulatory pathways and nutrient transporters in a sex-specific manner. *J Physiol* 592: 3127–3141.
- CZUBA LC, HILLGREN KM, SWAAN PW (2018). Post-translational modifications of transporters. *Pharmacol Ther.*

 DAVIS RO, CUTTER GR, GOLDENBERG RL, HOFFMAN HJ, CLIVER SP, BRUMFIELD CG (1993). Fetal biparietal diameter, head circumference, abdominal circumference and femur length. A comparison by race and sex. J Reprod Med 38: 201–6.
DAY PEL, CLEAL JK, LOFTHOUSE EM, GOSS V, KOSTER G, POSTLE A, JACKSON

233

JM, HANSON MA, JACKSON AA, LEWIS RM (2013). Partitioning of glutamine synthesised by the isolated perfused human placenta between the maternal and fetal circulations. *Placenta* 34: 1223–1231.

- DESFORGES M, LACEY HA, GLAZIER JD, GREENWOOD SL, MYNETT KJ, SPEAKE PF, SIBLEY CP (2006). SNAT4 isoform of system A amino acid transporter is expressed in human placenta. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 290: C305-12.
- DESFORGES M, MYNETT KJ, JONES RL, GREENWOOD SL, WESTWOOD M, SIBLEY CP, GLAZIER JD (2009). The SNAT4 isoform of the system A amino acid transporter is functional in human placental microvillous plasma membrane. *J Physiol* 587: 61–72.
- DESFORGES M, SIBLEY CP (2010). Placental nutrient supply and fetal growth. *Int J Dev Biol* 54: 377–90.
- DICKE JM, VERGES D, KELLEY LK, SMITH CH (1993). Glycine uptake by microvillous and basal plasma membrane vesicles from term human placentae. *Placenta* 14: 85–92.
- DILWORTH MR, KUSINSKI LC, BAKER BC, RENSHALL LJ, GREENWOOD SL, SIBLEY CP, WAREING M (2011). Defining fetal growth restriction in mice: A standardized and clinically relevant approach. *Placenta* 32: 914–916.
- DILWORTH MR, KUSINSKI LC, COWLEY E, WARD BS, HUSAIN SM, CONSTÂNCIA M, SIBLEY CP, GLAZIER JD (2010). Placental-specific Igf2 knockout mice exhibit hypocalcemia and adaptive changes in placental calcium transport. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 107: 3894–9.
- DILWORTH MR, SIBLEY CP (2013). Review: Transport across the placenta of mice and women. *Placenta* 34 Suppl: S34-9.
- DITCHFIELD A (2011). Could altered placental nutrient transport link maternal obesity to disordered fetal growth or development? University of Manchester.
- DITCHFIELD AM, DESFORGES M, MILLS TA, GLAZIER JD, WAREING M, MYNETT K, SIBLEY CP, GREENWOOD SL (2015). Maternal obesity is associated with a reduction in placental taurine transporter activity. *Int J Obes (Lond)* 39: 557–64.
- DITCHFIELD AM, MILLS TA, WAREING M, SIBLEY CP, GREENWOOD SL (2010). Raised maternal body mass index (BMI) differentially alters amino acid transporter activity in human placenta. *Proc Physiol Soc* 19: PC245.
- DONA AC, KYRIAKIDES M, SCOTT F, SHEPHARD EA, VARSHAVI D, VESELKOV K, EVERETT JR (2016). A guide to the identification of metabolites in NMR-based metabonomics/metabolomics experiments. *Comput Struct Biotechnol J* 14: 135–53.
- DRAPER E, GALLIMORE I, KURINCZUK J, SMITH P, BOBY T, SMITH L, MANKTELOW B (2018). MBRRACE-UK Perinatal Mortality Surveillance Report, UK Perinatal Deaths for Births from January to December 2016. Leicester: The Infant Mortality and Morbidity Studies, Department of Health Sciences, University of Leicester.
- DRUMMOND MJ, GLYNN EL, FRY CS, TIMMERMAN KL, VOLPI E, RASMUSSEN BB (2010). An increase in essential amino acid availability upregulates amino acid transporter expression in human skeletal muscle. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 298: 1011– 1018.
- DUDLEY NJ (2005). A systematic review of the ultrasound estimation of fetal weight. *Ultrasound Obs Gynecol* 25: 80–89.
- ECONOMIDES DL, NICOLAIDES KH, GAHL WA, BERNARDINI I, EVANS MI (1989). Plasma amino acids in appropriate- and small-for-gestational-age fetuses. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 161: 1219–27.
- ELLINGER I, CHATUPHONPRASERT W, REITER M, VOSS A, KEMPER J, STRAKA E, SCHEINAST M, ZEISLER H, SALZER H, GUNDACKER C (2016). Don't trust an(t)ybody Pitfalls during investigation of candidate proteins for methylmercury transport at the placental interface. *Placenta* 43: 13–16.
- ENDERS A, BLANKENSHIP T (1999). Comparative placental structure. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 38: 3–15.
- ENDERS AC (1965a). A comparative study of the fine structure of the trophoblast in several

hemochorial placentas. Am J Anat 116: 29-67.

- ENDERS AC (1965b). Formation of syncytium from cytotrophoblast in the human placenta. *Obstet Gynecol* 25: 378–86.
- ENDERS AC (1989). Trophoblast differentiation during the transition from trophoblastic plate to lacunar stage of implantation in the rhesus monkey and human. *Am J Anat* 186: 85–98.
- ERICSSON A, HAMARK B, POWELL TL, JANSSON T (2005). Glucose transporter isoform 4 is expressed in the syncytiotrophoblast of first trimester human placenta. *Hum Reprod* 20: 521–530.
- ERIKSSON JG, KAJANTIE E, OSMOND C, THORNBURG K, BARKER DJP (2010). Boys live dangerously in the womb. *Am J Hum Biol* 22: 330–5.
- FANOS V, ATZORI L, MAKARENKO K, MELIS GB, FERRAZZI E (2013). Metabolomics application in maternal-fetal medicine. *Biomed Res Int* 2013: 720514.
- FAVRETTO D, COSMI E, RAGAZZI E, VISENTIN S, TUCCI M, FAIS P, CECCHETTO G, ZANARDO V, VIEL G, FERRARA SD (2012). Cord blood metabolomic profiling in intrauterine growth restriction. *Anal Bioanal Chem* 402: 1109– 1121.
- FERRARO ZM, BARROWMAN N, PRUD'HOMME D, WALKER M, WEN SW, RODGER M, ADAMO KB (2012). Excessive gestational weight gain predicts large for gestational age neonates independent of maternal body mass index. J Matern Neonatal Med 25: 538–542.
- FILANT J, SPENCER TE (2014). Uterine glands: biological roles in conceptus implantation, uterine receptivity and decidualization. *Int J Dev Biol* 58: 107–16.
- FISK NM, ATUN R (2008). Market failure and the poverty of new drugs in maternal health. *PLoS Med* 5: e22.
- FLEXNER LB, POHL HA (1941). The transfer of radioactive sodium across the placenta of the rabbit. *Am J Physiol* 134: 344–349.
- FORAN E, ROSENBLUM L, BOGUSH A, PASINELLI P, TROTTI D (2014). Sumoylation of the Astroglial Glutamate Transporter EAAT2 Governs Its Intracellular Compartmentalization. *Glia* 62: 1241–1253.
- FOWDEN AL (2003). The insulin-like growth factors and feto-placental growth. *Placenta* 24: 803–12.
- FOWDEN AL, SFERRUZZI-PERRI AN, COAN PM, CONSTANCIA M, BURTON GJ (2009). Placental efficiency and adaptation: endocrine regulation. J Physiol 587: 3459–72.
- FRANCIS A, HUGH O, GARDOSI J (2018). Customized vs INTERGROWTH-21 st standards for the assessment of birthweight and stillbirth risk at term. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 218: S692–S699.
- FREYER C, RENFREE MB (2009). The mammalian yolk sac placenta. J Exp Zool Part B Mol Dev Evol 312B: 545–554.
- GACCIOLI F, AYE ILMH, SOVIO U, CHARNOCK-JONES DS, SMITH GCS (2017). Screening for fetal growth restriction using fetal biometry combined with maternal biomarkers. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 218(2S): S725–S737.
- GAIRDNER D, PEARSON J (1971). A growth chart for premature and other infants. *Arch Dis Child* 46: 783–7.
- GALE CR, MARTYN CN, KELLINGRAY S, EASTELL R, COOPER C (2001). Intrauterine Programming of Adult Body Composition 1. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 86: 267– 272.
- GARDOSI J (2015). GROW documentation. Chart: 1-9.
- GARDOSI J, GIDDINGS S, BULLER S, SOUTHAM M, WILLIAMS M (2014). Preventing stillbirths through improved antenatal recognition of pregnancies at risk due to fetal growth restriction. *Public Health* 128: 698–702.
- GARDOSI J, MADURASINGHE V, WILLIAMS M, MALIK A, FRANCIS A (2013). Maternal and fetal risk factors for stillbirth: population based study. *BMJ* 346: f108.
- GEORGIADES P, FERGUSON-SMITH AC, BURTON GJ (2002). Comparative

developmental anatomy of the murine and human definitive placentae. Placenta 23: 3-19.

- GILES WB, TRUDINGER BJ, BAIRD PJ (1985). Fetal umbilical artery flow velocity waveforms and placental resistance: pathological correlation. *BJOG An Int J Obstet Gynaecol* 92: 31–38.
- GLAZIER JD, ATKINSON DE, THORNBURG KL, SHARPE PT, EDWARDS D, BOYD RD, SIBLEY CP (1992). Gestational changes in Ca2+ transport across rat placenta and mRNA for calbindin9K and Ca(2+)-ATPase. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 263: R930-5.
- GLAZIER JD, CETIN I, PERUGINO G, RONZONI S, GREY AM, MAHENDRAN D, MARCONI AM, PARDI G, SIBLEY CP (1997). Association between the activity of the system A amino acid transporter in the microvillous plasma membrane of the human placenta and severity of fetal compromise in intrauterine growth restriction. *Pediatr Res* 42: 514–9.
- GLAZIER JD, SIBLEY CP (2006). In vitro methods for studying human placental amino acid transport: placental plasma membrane vesicles. *Methods Mol Med* 122: 241–252.
- GODFREY KM, MATTHEWS N, GLAZIER J, JACKSON A, WILMAN C, SIBLEY CP (1998). Neutral amino acid uptake by the microvillous plasma membrane of the human placenta is inversely related to fetal size at birth in normal pregnancy. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 83: 3320–3326.
- GORDIJN SJ, BEUNE IM, THILAGANATHAN B, PAPAGEORGHIOU A, BASCHAT AA, BAKER PN, SILVER RM, WYNIA K, GANZEVOORT W (2016). Consensus definition of fetal growth restriction: a Delphi procedure. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 48: 333–339.
- GREENWOOD SL, CLARSON LH, SIDES MK, SIBLEY CP (1996). Membrane potential difference and intracellular cation concentrations in human placental trophoblast cells in culture. *J Physiol* 492 (Pt 3): 629–40.
- GREENWOOD SL, SIBLEY CP (2006). In vitro methods for studying human placental amino acid transport placental villous fragments. *Methods Mol Med* 122: 253–264.
- GRIGSBY PL (2016). Animal Models to Study Placental Development and Function throughout Normal and Dysfunctional Human Pregnancy. *Semin Reprod Med* 34: 11–6.
- HAAVALDSEN C, SAMUELSEN SO, ESKILD A (2013). Fetal death and placental weight/birthweight ratio: a population study. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 92: 583–590.
- HARRINGTON B, GLAZIER J, D'SOUZA S, SIBLEY C (1999). System A amino acid transporter activity in human placental microvillous membrane vesicles in relation to various anthropometric measurements in appropriate and small for gestational age babies. *Pediatr Res* 45: 810–4.
- HAVEL PJ, KASIM-KARAKAS S, MUELLER W, JOHNSON PR, GINGERICH RL, STERN JS (1996). Relationship of plasma leptin to plasma insulin and adiposity in normal weight and overweight women: effects of dietary fat content and sustained weight loss. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 81: 4406–13.
- HAWKES CP, MURRAY DM, KENNY LC, KIELY M, O'B HOURIHANE J, IRVINE AD, WU Z, ARGON Y, REITZ RE, MCPHAUL MJ, GRIMBERG A (2018). Correlation of Insulin-Like Growth Factor-I and -II Concentrations at Birth Measured by Mass Spectrometry and Growth from Birth to Two Months. *Horm Res Paediatr* 89: 122–131.
- HAYWARD CE, GREENWOOD SL, SIBLEY CP, BAKER PN, CHALLIS JRG, JONES RL (2012). Effect of maternal age and growth on placental nutrient transport: potential mechanisms for teenagers' predisposition to small-for-gestational-age birth? *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 302: E233-42.
- HAYWARD CE, LEAN S, SIBLEY CP, JONES RL, WAREING M, GREENWOOD SL, DILWORTH MR (2016). Placental Adaptation: What Can We Learn from Birthweight:Placental Weight Ratio? *Front Physiol* 7.
- HAYWARD CE, RENSHALL LJ, SIBLEY CP, GREENWOOD SL, DILWORTH MR (2017). Adaptations in Maternofetal Calcium Transport in Relation to Placental Size and

Fetal Sex in Mice. Front Physiol 8: 1050.

- HEAZELL AEP, SIASSAKOS D, BLENCOWE H, BURDEN C, BHUTTA ZA, CACCIATORE J, DANG N, DAS J, FLENADY V, GOLD KJ, et al. (2016). Stillbirths: Economic and psychosocial consequences. *Lancet* 387: 604–616.
- HEFLER LA, TEMPFER CB, MORENO RM, O'BRIEN WE, GREGG AR (2001). Endothelial-derived nitric oxide and angiotensinogen: blood pressure and metabolism during mouse pregnancy. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 280: R174-82.
- HEYBORNE KD, MCGREGOR JA, HENRY G, WITKIN SS, ABRAMS JS (1994). Interleukin-10 in amniotic fluid at midtrimester: Immune activation and suppression in relation to fetal growth. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 171: 55–59.
- HIGGINS JS, VAUGHAN OR, FERNANDEZ DE LIGER E, FOWDEN AL, SFERRUZZI-PERRI AN (2016). Placental phenotype and resource allocation to fetal growth are modified by the timing and degree of hypoxia during mouse pregnancy. *J Physiol* 594: 1341–1356.
- HILL Č, GREENWOOD S, WIDDOWS K, D'SOUZA S, GLAZIER J (2014). Placental glutamine uptake is mediated by different transport mechanisms; implications for fetal growth. *Bjog An Int J Obstet Gynaecol* 121: e4–e5.
- HINDMARSH PC, GEARY MPP, RODECK CH, KINGDOM JCP, COLE TJ (2002). Intrauterine Growth and its Relationship to Size and Shape at Birth. *Pediatr Res* 52: 263–268.
- HOELTZLI SD, SMITH CH (1989). Alanine transport systems in isolated basal plasma membrane of human placenta. *Am J Physiol* 256: C630-7.
- HOLM MB, BASTANI NE, HOLME AM, ZUCKNICK M, JANSSON T, REFSUM H, MØRKRID L, BLOMHOFF R, HENRIKSEN T, MICHELSEN TM (2017). Uptake and release of amino acids in the fetal-placental unit in human pregnancies. *PLoS One* 12: e0185760.
- HOLZMAN IR, LEMONS JA, MESCHIA G, BAT TAGLIA FC (1979). Uterine uptake of amino acids and placental glutamine--glutamate balance in the pregnant ewe. *J Dev Physiol* 1: 137–49.
- HORGAN R, CLANCY O, MYERS J, BAKER P (2009). An overview of proteomic and metabolomic technologies and their application to pregnancy research. *BJOG An Int J Obstet Gynaecol* 116: 173–181.
- HORGAN RP, BROADHURST DI, DUNN WB, BROWN M, HEAZELL AEP, KELL DB, BAKER PN, KENNY LC (2010). Changes in the metabolic footprint of placental explant-conditioned medium cultured in different oxygen tensions from placentas of small for gestational age and normal pregnancies. *Placenta* 31: 893–901.
- HORGAN RP, BROADHURST DI, WALSH SK, DUNN WB, BROWN M, ROBERTS CT, NORTH RA, MCCOWAN LM, KELL DB, BAKER PN, KENNY LC (2011). Metabolic profiling uncovers a phenotypic signature of small for gestational age in early pregnancy. J Proteome Res 10: 3660–73.
- HUANG X, LÜ THI M, ONTSOUKA EC, KALLOL S, BAUMANN MU, SURBEK D V, ALBRECHT C (2016). Establishment of a confluent monolayer model with human primary trophoblast cells: novel insights into placental glucose transport. *Mol Hum Reprod Adv Access Publ Febr* 22: 442–45610.
- HUNG TH, SKEPPER JN, BURTON GJ, KELLY F, LEE R, HUNT B, PARMAR K, BEWLEY S, SHENNAN A, STEER P, POSTON L (2001). In vitro ischemiareperfusion injury in term human placenta as a model for oxidative stress in pathological pregnancies. *Am J Pathol* 159: 1031–43.
- HUPPERTZ B (2008). The anatomy of the normal placenta. J Clin Pathol 61: 1296–302.
- HUPPERTZ B, KADYROV M, KINGDOM JCP (2006). Apoptosis and its role in the trophoblast. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 195: 29–39.
- HUPPERTZ B, KAUFMANN P, KINGDOM J (2002). Trophoblast turnover in health and disease. *Fetal Matern Med Rev* 13: 103–118.
- ILIODROMITI S, MACKAY DF, SMITH GCS, PELL JP, SATTAR N, LAWLOR DA,

NELSON SM (2017). Customised and Noncustomised Birth Weight Centiles and Prediction of Stillbirth and Infant Mortality and Morbidity: A Cohort Study of 979,912 Term Singleton Pregnancies in Scotland Ed. JE Myers. *PLOS Med* 14: e1002228.

- INGRAM E, MORRIS D, NAISH J, MYERS J, JOHNSTONE E (2017). MR Imaging Measurements of Altered Placental Oxygenation in Pregnancies Complicated by Fetal Growth Restriction. Radiology 285: 953–960.
- ISHIKAWA H, SEKI R, YOKONISHI S, YAMAUCHI T, YOKOYAMA K (2006). Relationship between fetal weight, placental growth and litter size in mice from mid- to late-gestation. *Reprod Toxicol* 21: 267–70.
- IVORRA C, GARCÍA-VICENT C, CHAVES FJ, MONLEÓN D, MORALES JM, LURBE E (2012). Metabolomic profiling in blood from umbilical cords of low birth weight newborns. J Transl Med 10: 142.
- IWANAGA T, KISHIMOTO A (2015). Cellular distributions of monocarboxylate transporters: a review. *Biomed Res* 36: 279–301.
- JACOB HJ, LAZAR J, DWINELL MR, MORENO C, GEURTS AM (2010). Gene targeting in the rat: advances and opportunities. *Trends Genet* 26: 510–518.
- JANSSON N, GREENWOOD SL, JOHANSSON BR, POWELL TL, JANSSON T (2003). Leptin stimulates the activity of the system A amino acid transporter in human placental villous fragments. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 88: 1205–11.
- JANSSON N, NILSFELT A, GELLERSTEDT M, WENNERGREN M, ROSSANDER-HULTHÉN L, POWELL TL, JANSSON T (2008). Maternal hormones linking maternal body mass index and dietary intake to birth weight. *Am J Clin Nutr* 87: 1743–1749.
- JANSSON N, PETTERSSON J, HAAFIZ A, ERICSSON A, PALMBERG I, TRANBERG M, GANAPATHY V, POWELL TL, JANSSON T (2006). Down-regulation of placental transport of amino acids precedes the development of intrauterine growth restriction in rats fed a low protein diet. *J Physiol* 576: 935–46.
- JANSSON N, ROSARIO FJ, GACCIOLI F, LAGER S, JONES HN, ROOS S, JANSSON T, POWELL TL (2013). Activation of placental mTOR signaling and amino acid transporters in obese women giving birth to large babies. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 98: 105–13.
- JANSSON T (2001). Amino acid transporters in the human placenta. Pediatr Res 49: 141-7.
- JANSSON T, AYE ILMHLMH, GOBERDHAN DCICI (2012). The emerging role of
- mTORC1 signaling in placental nutrient-sensing. *Placenta* 33 Suppl 2: e23-9. JANSSON T, PERSSON E (1990). Placental transfer of glucose and amino acids in intrauterine growth retardation: studies with substrate analogs in the awake guinea pig. *Pediatr Res* 28: 203–8.
- JANSSON T, SCHOLTBACH V, POWELL TL (1998). Placental transport of leucine and lysine is reduced in intrauterine growth restriction. *Pediatr Res* 44: 532–7.
- JANSSON T, YLVÉN K, WENNERGREN M, POWELL TL (2002). Glucose transport and system A activity in syncytiotrophoblast microvillous and basal plasma membranes in intrauterine growth restriction. *Placenta* 23: 392–9.
- JAYANTHI LD, RAMAMOORTHY S, MAHESH VB, LEIBACH FH, GANAPATHY V (1995). Substrate-specific regulation of the taurine transporter in human placental choriocarcinoma cells (JAR). *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1235: 351–60.
- JENSEN A, ROMAN C, RUDOLPH AM (1991). Effects of reducing uterine blood flow on fetal blood flow distribution and oxygen delivery. J Dev Physiol 15: 309–23.
- JIMENEZ V, HENRIQUEZ M, LLANOS P, RIQUELME G (2004). Isolation and Purification of Human Placental Plasma Membranes from Normal and Pre-eclamptic Pregnancies. A Comparative Study. *Placenta* 25: 422–437.
- JOHANSSON M, GLAZIER JD, SIBLEY CP, JANSSON T, POWELL TL (2002). Activity and protein expression of the Na+/H+ exchanger is reduced in syncytiotrophoblast microvillous plasma membranes isolated from preterm intrauterine growth restriction pregnancies. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 87: 5686–94.
- JOHANSSON M, JANSSON T, POWELL TL (2000). Na + -K + -ATPase is distributed to

microvillous and basal membrane of the syncytiotrophoblast in human placenta. *Am J Physiol Integr Comp Physiol* 279: R287–R294.

- JOHANSSON M, KARLSSON L, WENNERGREN M, JANSSON T, POWELL TL (2003). Activity and protein expression of Na+/K+ ATPase are reduced in microvillous syncytiotrophoblast plasma membranes isolated from pregnancies complicated by intrauterine growth restriction. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 88: 2831–7.
- JOHNSON LW, SMITH CH (1988). Neutral amino acid transport systems of microvillous membrane of human placenta. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 254: C773–C780.
- JONES CJ, FOX H (1976). An ultrahistochemical study of the distribution of acid and alkaline phosphatases in placentae from normal and complicated pregnancies. *J Pathol* 118: 143–51.
- JONES HN, ASHWORTH CJ, PAGE KR, MCARDLE HJ (2006). Expression and adaptive regulation of amino acid transport system A in a placental cell line under amino acid restriction. *Reproduction* 131: 951–960.
- JONES HN, JANSSON T, POWELL TL (2010). Full-Length Adiponectin Attenuates Insulin Signaling and Inhibits Insulin-Stimulated Amino Acid Transport in Human Primary Trophoblast Cells. *Diabetes* 59: 1161–1170.
- JOZWIK MM, PIETRZYCKI B, ANTHONY R V., JOZWIK MM, ANTHONY R V. (2009). Expression of enzymes regulating placental ammonia homeostasis in human fetal growth restricted pregnancies. *Placenta* 30: 607–12.
- JULIAN CG (2011). High Altitude During Pregnancy. Clin Chest Med 32: 21-31.
- KANAI Y, HEDIGER MA (2003). The glutamate and neutral amino acid transporter family: physiological and pharmacological implications. *Eur J Pharmacol* 479: 237–247.
- KANAŠAKI K, PALMŠTEN K, SUGIMOTO H, AHMAD S, HAMANO Y, XIE L, PARRY S, AUGUSTIN HG, GATTONE VH, FOLKMAN J, STRAUSS JF, KALLURI R (2008). Deficiency in catechol-O-methyltransferase and 2methoxyoestradiol is associated with pre-eclampsia. *Nature* 453: 1117–1121.
- KARL PI, ALPY KL, FISHER SE (1992). Amino acid transport by the cultured human placental trophoblast: effect of insulin on AIB transport. *Am J Physiol Physiol* 262: C834–C839.
- KAVITHA J V., ROSARIO FJ, NIJLAND MJ, MCDONALD TJ, WU G, KANAI Y, POWELL TL, NATHANIELSZ PW, JANSSON T (2014). Down-regulation of placental mTOR, insulin/IGF-I signaling, and nutrient transporters in response to maternal nutrient restriction in the baboon. *FASEB J* 28: 1294–1305.
- KENNY LC, BROADHURST DI, DUNN W, BROWN M, NORTH RA, MCCOWAN L, ROBERTS C, COOPER GJS, KELL DB, BAKER PN (2010). Robust early pregnancy prediction of later preeclampsia using metabolomic biomarkers. *Hypertension* 56: 741–9.
- KHERRAF ZE, CONNE B, AMIRI-YEKTA A, KENT MC, COUTTON C, ESCOFFIER J, NEF S, ARNOULT C, RAY PF (2018). Creation of knock out and knock in mice by CRISPR/Cas9 to validate candidate genes for human male infertility, interest, difficulties and feasibility. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 468: 70–80.
- KIND KL, ROBERTS CT, SOHLSTROM AI, KATSMAN A, CLIFTON PM, ROBINSON JS, OWENS JA (2005). Chronic maternal feed restriction impairs growth but increases adiposity of the fetal guinea pig. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 288: R119-26.
- KINGDOM JC, AUDETTE MC, HOBSON SR, WINDRIM RC, MORGEN E (2018). A placenta clinic approach to the diagnosis and management of fetal growth restriction. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 218: S803–S817.
- KNOBIL E, NEILL JD (2006). Knobil and Neill's physiology of reproduction. Elsevier.
- KOBAYASHI S, MILLHORN DE (2001). Hypoxia regulates glutamate metabolism and membrane transport in rat PC12 cells. J Neurochem 76: 1935–48.
- KOEPSELL H (2013). The SLC22 family with transporters of organic cations, anions and zwitterions. *Mol Aspects Med* 34: 413–435.
- KOVACS CS, KRONENBERG HM (1997). Maternal-fetal calcium and bone metabolism during pregnancy, puerperium, and lactation. *Endocr Rev* 18: 832–72.

- KRAMER MS, PLATT RW, WEN SW, JOSEPH K, ALLEN A, ABRAHAMOWICZ M, BLONDEL B, BREART G (2001). A New and Improved Population-Based Canadian Reference for Birth Weight for Gestational Age. *Pediatrics* 108: e35–e35.
- KUBLIN JL, WHITNEY JB (2018). Zika virus research models. Virus Res 254: 15-20.
- KUDO Y, BOYD CA (2001). Characterisation of L-tryptophan transporters in human placenta: a comparison of brush border and basal membrane vesicles. *J Physiol* 531: 405–16.
- KUNIEDA T, XIAN M, KOBAYASHI E, IMAMICHI T, MORIWAKI K, TOYODA Y (1992). Sexing of mouse preimplantation embryos by detection of Y chromosomespecific sequences using polymerase chain reaction. *Biol Reprod* 46: 692–7.
- KUSINSKI LC, DILWORTH MR, BAKER PN, SIBLEY CP, WAREING M, GLAZIER JD (2011). System A activity and vascular function in the placental-specific Igf2 knockout mouse. *Placenta* 32: 871–876.
- KUSINSKI LC, JONES CJP, BAKER PN, SIBLEY CP, GLAZIER JD (2010). Isolation of plasma membrane vesicles from mouse placenta at term and measurement of system A and system beta amino acid transporter activity. *Placenta* 31: 53–9.
- KUSINSKI LC, STANLEY JL, DILWORTH MR, HIRT CJ, ANDERSSON IJ, RENSHALL LJ, BAKER BC, BAKER PN, SIBLEY CP, WAREING M, GLAZIER JD (2012). eNOS knockout mouse as a model of fetal growth restriction with an impaired uterine artery function and placental transport phenotype. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 303: R86-93.
- LAGER S, POWELL TL (2012). Regulation of Nutrient Transport across the Placenta. J Pregnancy 2012: 1–14.
- LEAN S, HEAZELL A, BOSCOLO-RYAN J, PEACOCK L, MILLS T, JONES R (2014). Does altered placental morphology and function explain increased incidence of poor pregnancy outcome in advanced maternal age? *Placenta* 35: A77.
- LI Z, WANG YA, LEDGER W, SULLIVAN EA (2014). Birthweight percentiles by gestational age for births following assisted reproductive technology in Australia and New Zealand, 2002-2010. *Hum Reprod* 29: 1787–1800.
- LOFTHOUSE EM, BROOKS S, CLEAL JK, HANSON MA, POORE KR, O'KELLY IM, LEWIS RM (2015). Glutamate cycling may drive organic anion transport on the basal membrane of human placental syncytiotrophoblast. *J Physiol* 593: 4549–59.
- LUBCHENCO LO, HANSMAN C, DRESSLER M, BOYD E (1963). Intrauterine Growth As Estimated From Liveborn Birth-weight Data At 24-42 Weeks Of Gestation. *Pediatrics* 32: 793–800.
- LUO Z-C, NUYT A-M, DELVIN E, AUDIBERT F, GIRARD I, SHATENSTEIN B, CLOUTIER A, COUSINEAU J, DJEMLI A, DEAL C, LEVY E, WU Y, JULIEN P, FRASER WD (2012). Maternal and Fetal IGF-I and IGF-II Levels, Fetal Growth, and Gestational Diabetes. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 97: 1720–1728.
- LYALL F, ROBSON SC, BULMER JN (2013). Spiral Artery Remodeling and Trophoblast Invasion in Preeclampsia and Fetal Growth Restriction: Relationship to Clinical Outcome. *Hypertension* 62: 1046–1054.
- MACDONALD EM, KOVAL JJ, NATALE R, REGNAULT T, CAMPBELL MK (2014). Population-Based Placental Weight Ratio Distributions. *Int J Pediatr* 2014: 1–7.
- MACKENZIE B, ERICKSON JD (2004). Sodium-coupled neutral amino acid (System N/A) transporters of the SLC38 gene family. *Pflugers Arch* 447: 784–95.
- MACNAUGHT G, GRAY C, WALKER J, SIMPSON M, NORMAN J, SEMPLE S, DENISON F (2015).¹ H MRS: a potential biomarker of *in utero* placental function. *NMR Biomed* 28: 1275–1282.
- MAHENDRAN D, BYRNE S, DONNAI P, D'SOUZA SW, GLAZIER JD, JONES CJ, SIBLEY CP (1994). Na+ transport, H+ concentration gradient dissipation, and system A amino acid transporter activity in purified microvillous plasma membrane isolated from first-trimester human placenta: comparison with the term microvillous membrane. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 171: 1534–40.

- MAHENDRAN D, DONNAI P, GLAZIER JD, D'SOUZA SW, BOYD RD, SIBLEY CP (1993). Amino acid (system A) transporter activity in microvillous membrane vesicles from the placentas of appropriate and small for gestational age babies. *Pediatr Res* 34: 661–5.
- MALANDRO MS, BEVERIDGE MJ, KILBERG MS, NOVAK DA (1996). Effect of lowprotein diet-induced intrauterine growth retardation on rat placental amino acid transport. *Am J Physiol* 271: C295-303.
- MALASSINE A, FRENDO J-L, EVAIN-BRION D (2003). A comparison of placental development and endocrine functions between the human and mouse model. *Hum Reprod Update* 9: 531–539.
- MARCONI AM, CETIN I, FERRAZZI E, FERRARI MM, PARDI G, BATTAGLIA FC (1990). Lactate Metabolism in Normal and Growth-Retarded Human Fetuses. *Pediatr Res* 28: 652–656.
- MARCONI AM, PAOLINI CL, ZERBE G, BATTAGLIA FC (2006). Lactacidemia in intrauterine growth restricted (IUGR) pregnancies: relationship to clinical severity, oxygenation and placental weight. *Pediatr Res* 59: 570–4.
- MARIEB EN (2000). Human Anatomy And Physiology, 5th ed. Benjamin Cummings.
- MARTINEZ-LOZADA Z, WAGGENER CT, KIM K, ZOU S, KNAPP PE, HAYASHI Y, ORTEGA A, FUSS B (2014). Activation of sodium-dependent glutamate transporters regulates the morphological aspects of oligodendrocyte maturation via signaling through calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinase IIβ's actin-binding/-stabilizing domain. *Glia* 62: 1543–1558.
- MASTROBERARDINO L, SPINDLER B, PFEIFFER R, SKELLY PJ, LOFFING J, SHOEMAKER CB, VERREY F (1998). Amino-acid transport by heterodimers of 4F2hc/CD98 and members of a permease family. *Nature* 395: 288–291.
- MATHESON H, VEERBEEK JHW, CHARNOCK-JONES DS, BURTON GJ, YUNG HW (2016). Morphological and molecular changes in the murine placenta exposed to normobaric hypoxia throughout pregnancy. *J Physiol* 594: 1371–1388.
- MATTHEWS J., BEVERIDGE M., DIALYNAS E, BARTKE A, KILBERG M., NOVAK D. (1999). Placental Anionic and Cationic Amino Acid Transporter Expression in Growth Hormone Overexpressing and Null IGF-II or Null IGF-I Receptor Mice. *Placenta* 20: 639–650.
- MATTHEWS JC, BEVERIDGE MJ, MALANDRO MS, ROTHSTEIN JD, CAMPBELL-THOMPSON M, VERLANDER JW, KILBERG MS, NOVAK DA (1998). Activity and protein localization of multiple glutamate transporters in gestation day 14 vs. day 20 rat placenta. *Am J Physiol* 274: C603-14.
- MAYHEW TM (2014). Turnover of human villous trophoblast in normal pregnancy: What do we know and what do we need to know? *Placenta* 35: 229–240.
- MAYHEW TM, CHARNOCK-JONES DS, KAUFMANN P (2004). Aspects of human fetoplacental vasculogenesis and angiogenesis. III. Changes in complicated pregnancies. *Placenta* 25: 127–39.
- MAYHEW TM, OHADIKE C, BAKER PN, CROCKER IP, MITCHELL C, ONG SS (2003). Stereological investigation of placental morphology in pregnancies complicated by pre-eclampsia with and without intrauterine growth restriction. *Placenta* 24: 219–226.
- MCINTIRE DD, BLOOM SL, CASEY BM, LEVENO KJ (1999). Birth Weight in Relation to Morbidity and Mortality among Newborn Infants. *N Engl J Med* 340: 1234–1238.
- MELLER M, VADACHKORIA S, LUTHY DA, WILLIAMS MA (2005). Evaluation of housekeeping genes in placental comparative expression studies. *Placenta* 26: 601–607.
- MIFSUD W, SEBIRE NJ (2014). Placental Pathology in Early-Onset and Late-Onset Fetal Growth Restriction. *Fetal Diagn Ther* 36: 117–128.
- MISRA DP, SALAFIA CM, MILLER RK, CHARLES AK (2009). Non-Linear and Gender-Specific Relationships Among Placental Growth Measures and The Fetoplacental Weight Ratio. *Placenta* 30: 1052–1057.
- MIZUNO Y, KAWAI J, TOMARU Y, KIYOSAWA H, NIKAIDO I, HAYASHIZAKI Y,

OKAZAKI Y, AMANUMA H, SOTOMARU Y, KATSUZAWA Y, KONO T, MEGURO M, OSHIMURA M (2002). Asb4, Ata3, and Dcn are novel imprinted genes identified by high-throughput screening using RIKEN cDNA microarray. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 290: 1499–1505.

- MOORE LG, CHARLES SM, JULIAN CG (2011). Humans at high altitude: Hypoxia and fetal growth. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol* 178: 181–190.
- MOORES RR, CARTER BS, MESCHIA G, FENNESSEY P V, BATTAGLIA FC (1994). Placental and fetal serine fluxes at midgestation in the fetal lamb. *Am J Physiol* 267: E150-5.
- MOORES RR, VAUGHN PR, BATTAGLIA FC, FENNESSEY P V, WILKENING RB, MESCHIA G (1994). Glutamate metabolism in fetus and placenta of late-gestation sheep. *Am J Physiol* 267: R89-96.
- MOUILLET J-F, CHU T, HUBEL CA, NELSON DM, PARKS WT, SADOVSKY Y (2010). The levels of hypoxia-regulated microRNAs in plasma of pregnant women with fetal growth restriction. *Placenta* 31: 781–4.
- MYATT L (2006). Placental adaptive responses and fetal programming. J Physiol 572: 25-30.
- NADEAU-VALLÉE M, OBARI D, PALACIOS J, BRIEN M-È, DUVAL C, CHEMTOB S, GIRARD S (2016). Sterile inflammation and pregnancy complications: a review. *Reproduction* 152: R277–R292.
- NAKAMURA K, FUSTER JJ, WALSH K (2014). Adipokines: A link between obesity and cardiovascular disease. J Cardiol 63: 250–259.
- NAMGUNG R, TSANG RC, SPECKER BL, SIERRA RI, HO ML (1993). Reduced serum osteocalcin and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D concentrations and low bone mineral content in small for gestational age infants: evidence of decreased bone formation rates. *J Pediatr* 122: 269–75.
- NC3RS (2014a). Mouse : Decision tree for blood sampling. Available at: https://www.nc3rs.org.uk/mouse-decision-tree-blood-sampling [Accessed February 9, 2018].
- NC3RS (2014b). Rat : Decision tree for blood sampling. Available at: https://www.nc3rs.org.uk/rat-decision-tree-blood-sampling [Accessed July 25, 2018].
- NC3RS (2004). The 3Rs. Available at: https://nc3rs.org.uk/the-3rs [Accessed April 2, 2018].
- NEERHOF MG, THAETE LG (2008). The Fetal Response to Chronic Placental Insufficiency. *Semin Perinatol* 32: 201–205.
- NELSON DM (2015). How the placenta affects your life, from womb to tomb. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 213: S12–S13.
- NELSON DM, SMITH SD, FURESZ TC, SADOVSKY Y, GANAPATHY V, PARVIN CA, SMITH CH, SMITH ACH (2003). Hypoxia reduces expression and function of system A amino acid transporters in cultured term human trophoblasts. *Am J Physiol Physiol* 284: C310–C315.
- NEU J (2001). Glutamine in the Fetus and Critically Ill Low Birth Weight Neonate: Metabolism and Mechanism of Action. J Nutr 131: 2585S–2589S.
- NICHOLSON JK, HOLMES E, KINROSS JM, DARZI AW, TAKATS Z, LINDON JC (2012). Metabolic phenotyping in clinical and surgical environments. *Nature* 491: 384–92.
- NICKLIN P, BERGMAN P, ZHANG B, TRIANTAFELLOW E, WANG H, NYFELER B, YANG H, HILD M, KUNG C, WILSON C, MYER VE, MACKEIGAN JP, PORTER JA, WANG YK, CANTLEY LC, FINAN PM, MURPHY LO (2009). Bidirectional Transport of Amino Acids Regulates mTOR and Autophagy. *Cell* 136: 521–534.
- NICOLAIDES KH, ECONOMIDES DL, SOOTHILL PW (1989). Blood gases, pH, and lactate in appropriate- and small-for-gestational-age fetuses. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 161: 996–1001.
- NOORLANDER CW, DE GRAAN PNE, NIKKELS PGJ, SCHRAMA LH, VISSER GHA (2004). Distribution of glutamate transporters in the human placenta. *Placenta* 25: 489–95.
- NOVAK D, LEHMAN M, BERNSTEIN H, BEVERIDGE M, CRAMER S (2006). SNAT expression in rat placenta. *Placenta* 27: 510–6.

- NOVAK D, QUIGGLE F, ARTIME C, BEVERIDGE M (2001). Regulation of glutamate transport and transport proteins in a placental cell line. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 281: C1014-22.
- NOVAK DA, BEVERIDGE MJ (1997). Glutamine transport in human and rat placenta. *Placenta* 18: 379–86.
- NYE GA, INGRAM E, JOHNSTONE ED, JENSEN OE, SCHNEIDER H, LEWIS RM, CHERNYAVSKY IL, BROWNBILL P (2018). Human placental oxygenation in late gestation: experimental and theoretical approaches. *J Physiol.*
- OLSEN GM, SONNEWALD U (2015). Glutamate: Where does it come from and where does it go? *Neurochem Int* 88: 47–52.
- ONG K, KRATZSCH J, KIESS W, COSTELLO M, SCOTT C, DUNGER D (2000). Size at Birth and Cord Blood Levels of Insulin, Insulin-Like Growth Factor I (IGF-I), IGF-II, IGF-Binding Protein-1 (IGFBP-1), IGFBP-3, and the Soluble IGF-II/Mannose-6-Phosphate Receptor in Term Human Infants ¹. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 85: 4266–4269.
- ONS (2015). Birth characteristics in England and Wales Office for National Statistics. *Stat Bull.* Available at: https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/liv

ebirths/bulletins/birthcharacteristicsinenglandandwales/2016 [Accessed January 24, 2018].

- ORCZYK-PAWILOWICZ M, JAWIEN E, DEJA S, HIRNLE L, ZABEK A, MLYNARZ P (2016). Metabolomics of human amniotic fluid and maternal plasma during normal pregnancy. *PLoS One* 11: e0152740.
- OWENS JA, FALCONER J, ROBINSON JS (1989). Glucose metabolism in pregnant sheep when placental growth is restricted. *Am J Physiol* 257: R350–R357.
- OWENS JA, FALCONER J, ROBINSON JS (1987). Restriction of placental size in sheep enhances efficiency of placental transfer of antipyrine, 3-O-methyl-D-glucose but not of urea. J Dev Physiol 9: 457–64.
- PALII SS, CHEN H, KILBERG MS (2004). Transcriptional control of the human sodiumcoupled neutral amino acid transporter system A gene by amino acid availability is mediated by an intronic element. *J Biol Chem* 279: 3463–71.
- PANTHAM P, ROSARIO FJ, NIJLAND M, CHEUNG A, NATHANIELSZ PW, POWELL TL, GALAN HL, LI C, JANSSON T (2015). Reduced placental amino acid transport in response to maternal nutrient restriction in the baboon. *Am J Physiol - Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 309: R740–R746.
- PANTHAM P, ROSARIO FJ, WEINTRAUB ST, NATHANIELSZ PW, POWELL TL, LI C, JANSSON T (2016). Down-Regulation of Placental Transport of Amino Acids Precedes the Development of Intrauterine Growth Restriction in Maternal Nutrient Restricted Baboons. *Biol Reprod* 95: 98–98.
- PARDI G, CETIN I, MARCONI AM, LANFRANCHI A, BOZZETTI P, FERRAZZI E, BUSCAGLIA M, BATTAGLIA FC (1993). Diagnostic value of blood sampling in fetuses with growth retardation. *N Engl J Med* 328: 692–6.
- PARIMI PS, KALHAN SC (2007). Glutamine supplementation in the newborn infant. *Semin Fetal Neonatal Med* 12: 19–25.
- PARROTT MS, VON VERSEN-HOEYNCK F, NESS RB, MARKOVIC N, ROBERTS JM (2007). System A amino acid transporter activity in term placenta is substrate specific and inversely related to amino acid concentration. *Reprod Sci* 14: 687–693.
- PHILIPPS AF, HOLZMAN IR, TENG C, BATTAGLIA FC (1978). Tissue concentrations of free amino acids in term human placentas. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 131: 881–7.
- PITKIN RM, REYNOLDS WA, STEGINK LD, FILER LJ (1979). Glutamate Metabolism and Placental Transfer in Pregnancy. *Adv Biochem Physiol*: 103–110.
- PLAKIDOU-DYMOCK S, MCGIVAN JD (1993). Regulation of the glutamate transporter by amino acid deprivation and associated effects on the level of EAAC1 mRNA in the renal epithelial cell line NBL-I. *Biochem J* 295 (Pt 3): 749–55.
- POCHINI L, SCALISE M, GALLUCCIO M, INDIVERI C (2014). Membrane transporters

for the special amino acid glutamine: structure/function relationships and relevance to human health. *Front Chem* 2: 61.

- POWELL KL, CARROZZI A, STEPHENS AS, TASEVSKI V, MORRIS JM, ASHTON AW, DONA AC (2018). Utility of metabolic profiling of serum in the diagnosis of pregnancy complications. *Placenta* 66: 65–73.
- PRITCHARD N (2018). INTERGROWTH-21st Compared with Customised Growth Centiles: Which Works Best in a Real Life Population? *Reprod Sci* 25: 164A–165A.
- QIAO L, WATTEZ J-S, LEE S, GUO Z, SCHAACK J, HAY WW, ZITA MM, PARAST M, SHAO J (2016). Knockout maternal adiponectin increases fetal growth in mice: potential role for trophoblast IGFBP-1. *Diabetologia* 59: 2417–2425.
- RAMPERSAD R, CERVAR-ZIVKOVIC M, NELSON DM (2011). Development and Anatomy of the Human Placenta. In *The Placenta* Wiley-Blackwell, Oxford, UK, pp. 17– 26.
- REGNAULT TRH, DE VRIJER B, BATTAGLIA FC (2002). Transport and metabolism of amino acids in placenta. *Endocrine* 19: 23–41.
- REGNAULT TRH, DE VRIJER B, GALAN HL, WILKENING RB, BATTAGLIA FC, MESCHIA G (2013). Umbilical uptakes and transplacental concentration ratios of amino acids in severe fetal growth restriction. *Pediatr Res* 73: 602–611.
- RENSHALL LJ (2015). Antenatal Sildenafil Citrate Treatment in a Mouse Model of Fetal Growth Restriction : Effects on Fetus and Offspring. University of Manchester.
- DI RENZO GC, ROSATI A, SARTI RD, CRUCIANI L, CUTULI AM (2007). Does fetal sex affect pregnancy outcome? *Gend Med* 4: 19–30.
- REYNOLDS MR, LANE AN, ROBERTSON B, KEMP S, LIU Y, HILL BG, DEAN DC, CLEM BF (2014). Control of glutamine metabolism by the tumor suppressor Rb. *Oncogene* 33: 556–66.
- RIZWAN AN, BURCKHARDT G (2007). Organic Anion Transporters of the SLC22 Family: Biopharmaceutical, Physiological, and Pathological Roles. *Pharm Res* 24: 450–470.
- RODRIGUES RF, CARTER AM, AMBROSIO CE, DOS SANTOS TC, MIGLINO MA (2006). The subplacenta of the red-rumped agouti (Dasyprocta leporina L). *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* 4: 31.
- ROOS S, JANSSON N, PALMBERG I, SÄLJÖ K, POWELL TL, JANSSON T (2007). Mammalian target of rapamycin in the human placenta regulates leucine transport and is down-regulated in restricted fetal growth. *J Physiol* 582: 449–59.
- ROOS S, KANAI Y, PRASAD PD, POWELL TL, JANSSON T (2009). Regulation of placental amino acid transporter activity by mammalian target of rapamycin. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 296: C142-50.
- ROOS S, POWELL T, PLACENTA TJ-, 2006 U (2006). Leucine deprivation in cultured trophoblast cells up-regulates system A activity. *Placenta* 27(9-10): A36.
- ROOS S, POWELL TL, JANSSON T (2004). Human placental taurine transporter in uncomplicated and IUGR pregnancies: cellular localization, protein expression, and regulation. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 287: R886-93.
- ROOS S, POWELL TL, JANSSON T (2009). Placental mTOR links maternal nutrient availability to fetal growth. *Biochem Soc Trans* 37: 295–298.
- ROSARIO FJ, DIMASUAY KG, KANAI Y, POWELL TL, JANSSON T (2016). Regulation of amino acid transporter trafficking by mTORC1 in primary human trophoblast cells is mediated by the ubiquitin ligase Nedd4-2. *Clin Sci* 130: 499–512.
- ROSARIO FJ, JANSSON N, KANAI Y, PRASAD PD, POWELL TL, JANSSON T (2011). Maternal Protein Restriction in the Rat Inhibits Placental Insulin, mTOR, and STAT3 Signaling and Down-Regulates Placental Amino Acid Transporters. *Endocrinology* 152: 1119–1129.
- ROSARIO FJ, KANAI Y, POWELL TL, JANSSON T (2013). Mammalian target of rapamycin signalling modulates amino acid uptake by regulating transporter cell surface abundance in primary human trophoblast cells. *J Physiol* 591: 609–625.
- ROSSANT J, CROSS JC (2001). Placental development: lessons from mouse mutants. Nat

Rev Genet 2: 538–48.

- ROYAL COLLEGE OF OBSTETRICIANS AND GYNAECOLOGISTS (2013). The Investigation and Manangement of the Small-for-Gestational-Age Fetus. *RCOG Green-top Guidel No 31*: 1–34.
- SANZ-CORTÉS M, CARBAJO RJ, CRISPI F, FIGUERAS F, PINEDA-LUCENA A, GRATACÓS E (2013). Metabolomic profile of umbilical cord blood plasma from early and late intrauterine growth restricted (IUGR) neonates with and without signs of brain vasodilation. *PLoS One* 8: e80121.
- SAVASAN ZA, GONCALVES LF, BAHADO-SINGH RO (2014). Second- and thirdtrimester biochemical and ultrasound markers predictive of ischemic placental disease. *Semin Perinatol* 38: 167–176.
- SAY L, GÜLMEZOGLU AM, HOFMEYR GJ (2003). Maternal nutrient supplementation for suspected impaired fetal growth. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*: CD000148.
- SCHIÖTH HB, ROSHANBIN S, HÄGGLUND MGA, FREDRIKSSON R (2013). Evolutionary origin of amino acid transporter families SLC32, SLC36 and SLC38 and physiological, pathological and therapeutic aspects. *Mol Aspects Med* 34: 571–585.
- SCHNEIDER H, MOHLEN K-H, CHALLIER J-CC, DANCIS J, MÖHLEN KH, CHALLIER J-CC, DANCIS J (1979). Transfer of glutamic acid across the human placenta perfused in vitro. *BJOG An Int J Obstet Gynaecol* 86: 299–306.
- SCIFRES CM, NELSON DM (2009). Intrauterine growth restriction, human placental development and trophoblast cell death. *J Physiol* 587: 3453–3458.
- SEGAWA H, FUKASAWA Y, MIYAMOTO K-I, TAKEDA E, ENDOU H, KANAI Y (1999). Identification and Functional Characterization of a Na+ - independent Neutral Amino Acid Transporter with Broad Substrate Selectivity. J Biol Chem 274: 19745–19751.
- SELF JT, SPENCER TE, JOHNSON GA, HU J, BAZER FW, WU G (2004). Glutamine synthesis in the developing porcine placenta. *Biol Reprod* 70: 1444–51.
- SETTLE P, SIBLEY CP, DOUGHTY IM, JOHNSTON T, GLAZIER JD, POWELL TL, JANSSON T, D'SOUZA SW (2006). Placental Lactate Transporter Activity and Expression in Intrauterine Growth Restriction. J Soc Gynecol Investig 13: 357–363.
- SFERRUZZI-PERRI AN (2018). Regulating needs: Exploring the role of insulin-like growth factor-2 signalling in materno-fetal resource allocation. *Placenta* 64(S1): S16–S22.
- SFERRUZZI-PERRI AN, CAMM EJ (2016). The Programming Power of the Placenta. Front Physiol 7: 33.
- SFERRUZZI-PERRI AN, OWENS JA, PRINGLE KG, ROBERTS CT (2011). The neglected role of insulin-like growth factors in the maternal circulation regulating fetal growth. *J Physiol* 589: 7–20.
- SFERRUZZI-PERRI AN, OWENS JA, STANDEN P, TAYLOR RL, ROBINSON JS, ROBERTS CT (2007). Early pregnancy maternal endocrine insulin-like growth factor I programs the placenta for increased functional capacity throughout gestation. *Endocrinology* 148: 4362–70.
- SFERRUZZI-PERRI AN, VAUGHAN OR, FORHEAD AJ, FOWDEN AL (2013). Hormonal and nutritional drivers of intrauterine growth. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care* 16: 298–309.
- SHIBATA E, HUBEL CA, POWERS RW, VON VERSEN-HOEYNCK F, GAMMILL H, RAJAKUMAR A, ROBERTS JM (2008). Placental System A Amino Acid Transport is Reduced in Pregnancies With Small For Gestational Age (SGA) Infants but Not in Preeclampsia with SGA Infants. *Placenta* 29: 879–882.
- SHIBATA E, POWERS RW, RAJAKUMAR A, VON VERSEN-HÖYNCK F, GALLAHER MJ, LYKINS DL, ROBERTS JM, HUBEL CA (2006). Angiotensin II decreases system A amino acid transporter activity in human placental villous fragments through AT1 receptor activation. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 291: E1009-16.
- SIBLEY CP, BOYD RD (1988). Control of transfer across the mature placenta. Oxf Rev Reprod Biol 10: 382–435.
- SIBLEY CP, COAN PM, FERGUSON-SMITH AC, DEAN W, HUGHES J, SMITH P,

REIK W, BURTON GJ, FOWDEN AL, CONSTÂNCIA M, CONSTANCIA M (2004). Placental-specific insulin-like growth factor 2 (Igf2) regulates the diffusional exchange characteristics of the mouse placenta. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101: 8204–8.

- SIBLEY CP, TURNER MA, CETIN I, AYUK P, BOYD CAR, D'SOUZA SW, GLAZIER JD, GREENWOOD SL, JANSSON T, POWELL T (2005). Placental phenotypes of intrauterine growth. *Pediatr Res* 58: 827–32.
- SILVER RM (2018). Examining the link between placental pathology, growth restriction, and stillbirth. *Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol* 49: 89–102.
- SLACK FJ (2011). MicroRNAs in development and cancer. Mol Med Med Chem 91: 827-887.
- SMITH RJ, DEAN W, KONFORTOVA G, KELSEY G (2003). Identification of novel imprinted genes in a genome-wide screen for maternal methylation. *Genome Res* 13: 558–69.
- SOARES MJ, CHAKRABORTY D, KARIM RUMI MA, KONNO T, RENAUD SJ (2012). Rat placentation: An experimental model for investigating the hemochorial maternal-fetal interface. *Placenta* 33: 233–243.
- STANLEY JL, ANDERSSON IJ, POUDEL R, RUEDA-CLAUSEN CF, SIBLEY CP, DAVIDGE ST, BAKER PN (2012). Sildenafil citrate rescues fetal growth in the catechol-O-methyl transferase knockout mouse model. *Hypertension* 59: 1021–8.
- STANLEY JL, SULEK K, ANDERSSON IJ, DAVIDGE ST, KENNY LC, SIBLEY CP, MANDAL R, WISHART DS, BROADHURST DI, BAKER PN (2015). Sildenafil therapy normalizes the aberrant metabolomic profile in the comt -/- mouse model of preeclampsia/fetal growth restriction. *Sci Rep* 5: 18241.
- STARK MJ, WRIGHT IMR, CLIFTON VL (2009). Sex-specific alterations in placental 11βhydroxysteroid dehydrogenase 2 activity and early postnatal clinical course following antenatal betamethasone. *Am J Physiol Integr Comp Physiol* 297: R510–R514.
- STEGINK L, PITKIN RM, REYNOLDS WA, FILER LJ, BOAZ DP, BRUMMEL MC (1975). Placental transfer of glutamate and its metabolites in the primate. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 122: 70–78.
- STEINGRIMSDÓTTIR T, RONQUIST G, ULMSTENA U (1993). Balance of amino acids in the pregnant human uterus at term. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 50: 197–202.
- STEVENSON DK, VERTER J, FANAROFF AA, OH W, EHRENKRANZ RA, SHANKARAN S, DONOVAN EF, WRIGHT LL, LEMONS JA, TYSON JE, KORONES SB, BAUER CR, STOLL BJ, PAPILE LA (2000). Sex differences in outcomes of very low birthweight infants: the newborn male disadvantage. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed* 83: F182-5.
- STOCK SJ, MYERS J (2017). Defining Abnormal Fetal Growth and Perinatal Risk: Population or Customized Standards? *PLOS Med* 14: e1002229.
- STRID H, BUCHT E, JANSSON T, WENNERGREN M, POWELL TL (2003). ATP dependent Ca2+ transport across basal membrane of human syncytiotrophoblast in pregnancies complicated by intrauterine growth restriction or diabetes. *Placenta* 24: 445– 52.
- STRID H, CARE A, JANSSON T, POWELL T (2002). Parathyroid hormone-related peptide (38-94) amide stimulates ATP-dependent calcium transport in the basal plasma membrane of the human syncytiotrophoblast. J Endocrinol 175: 517–524.
- STRID H, POWELL TL (2000). ATP-dependent Ca2+ transport is up-regulated during third trimester in human syncytiotrophoblast basal membranes. *Pediatr Res* 48: 58–63.
- TAKATA K, HIRANO H (1997). Mechanism of glucose transport across the human and rat placental barrier: A review. *Microsc Res Tech* 38: 145–152.
- TAPIERO H, MATHÉ G, COUVREUR P, TEW KD (2002). II. Glutamine and glutamate. *Biomed Pharmacother* 56: 446–457.

TAYLOR MA, SOSSEY-ALAOUI K, THOMPSON CL, DANIELPOUR D, SCHIEMANN WP (2013). TGF-β upregulates miR-181a expression to promote breast cancer metastasis. *J Clin Invest* 123: 150–63.

TCHIRIKOV M, ZHUMADILOV ZS, BAPAYEVA G, BERGNER M, ENTEZAMI M

(2017). The effect of intraumbilical fetal nutrition via a subcutaneously implanted port system on amino acid concentration by severe IUGR human fetuses. *J Perinat Med* 45: 227–236.

- TEA I, LE GALL G, KÜSTER A, GUIGNARD N, ALEXANDRE-GOUABAU M-C, DARMAUN D, ROBINS RJ (2012). 1H-NMR-based metabolic profiling of maternal and umbilical cord blood indicates altered materno-foetal nutrient exchange in preterm infants. *PLoS One* 7: e29947.
- TENG C, BATTAGLIA FC, MESCHIA G, NARKEWICZ MR, WILKENING RB (2002). Fetal hepatic and umbilical uptakes of glucogenic substrates during a glucagonsomatostatin infusion. *Am J Physiol - Endocrinol Metab* 282: E542–E550.
- TENNANT DA, DURAN R V., BOULAHBEL H, GOTTLIEB E (2009). Metabolic transformation in cancer. *Carcinogenesis* 30: 1269–1280.
- TESSIER DR, FERRARO ZM, GRUSLIN A (2013). Role of leptin in pregnancy: Consequences of maternal obesity. *Placenta* 34: 205–211.
- THAME M, OSMOND C, BENNETT F, WILKS R, FORRESTER T (2004). Fetal growth is directly related to maternal anthropometry and placental volume. *Eur J Clin Nutr* 58: 894–900.
- THAME M, OSMOND C, WILKS R, BENNETT FI, FORRESTER TE (2001). Second-trimester placental volume and infant size at birth. *Obstet Gynecol* 98: 279–83.
- THAMOTHARAN S, CHU A, KEMPF K, JANZEN C, GROGAN T, ELASHOFF DA, DEVASKAR SU (2017). Differential microRNA expression in human placentas of term intra-uterine growth restriction that regulates target genes mediating angiogenesis and amino acid transport. *PLoS One* 12: e0176493.
- THE ROYAL ACADEMY OF MEDICAL SCIENCES (2006). The use of non-human primates in research A working group report chaired by Sir David Weatherall FRS FMedSci.
- THORNTON JG, HORNBUCKLE J, VAIL A, SPIEGELHALTER DJ, LEVENE M (2004). GRIT II: Infant wellbeing at 2 years of age in the Growth Restriction Intervention Trial (GRIT): multicentred randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 364: 513–20.
- TIAN C, SUN L, JIA B, MA K, CURTHOYS N, DING J, ZHENG J (2012). Mitochondrial glutaminase release contributes to glutamate-mediated neurotoxicity during human immunodeficiency virus-1 infection. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol 7: 619–28.
- UNTERSCHEIDER J, DALY S, GEARY MP, KENNELLY MM, MCAULIFFE FM, O'DONOGHUE K, HUNTER A, MORRISON JJ, BURKE G, DICKER P, TULLY EC, MALONE FD (2014). Definition and management of fetal growth restriction: A survey of contemporary attitudes. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 174: 41–45.
- VANDESOMPELE J, DE PRETER K, PÄTTYN F, POPPE B, VAN ROY N, DE PAEPE A, SPELEMAN F (2002). Accurate normalization of real-time quantitative RT-PCR data by geometric averaging of multiple internal control genes. *Genome Biol* 3: RESEARCH0034.
- VATTEN LJ, SKJAERVEN R (2004). Offspring sex and pregnancy outcome by length of gestation. *Early Hum Dev* 76: 47–54.
- VAUGHAN OR, ROSARIO FJ, POWELL TL, JANSSON T (2017). Regulation of Placental Amino Acid Transport and Fetal Growth. *Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci* 145: 217–251.
- VAUGHN PR, LOBO C, BATT'AGLIA FC, FENNESSEY P V., WILKENING RB, MESCHIA G (1995). Glutamine-glutamate exchange between placenta and fetal liver. *Am J Physiol - Endocrinol Metab* 268: E705-711.
- VEEN S, ENS-DOKKUM MH, SCHREUDER AM, VERLOOVE-VANHORICK SP, RUYS JH, VERLOOVE-VANHORICK SP, BRAND R (1991). Impairments, disabilities, and handicaps of very preterm and very-low-birthweight infants at five years of age. *Lancet* 338: 33–36.
- VELÁZQUEZ A, ROSADO A, BERNAL A, NORIEGA L, ARÉVALO N (1976). Amino acid pools in the feto-maternal system. *Biol Neonate* 29: 28–40.
- VERREY F (2003). System L: Heteromeric exchangers of large, neutral amino acids involved in directional transport. *Pflugers Arch Eur J Physiol* 445: 529–533.

- VOGEL C, MARCOTTE EM (2012). Insights into the regulation of protein abundance from proteomic and transcriptomic analyses. *Nat Rev Genet* 13: 227–232.
- WAGNER CA, LANG F, BRÖER S (2001). Function and structure of heterodimeric amino acid transporters. *Am J Physiol Physiol* 281: C1077–C1093.
- WALKER N, FILIS P, SOFFIENTINI U, BELLINGHAM M, O'SHAUGHNESSY PJ, FOWLER PA (2017). Placental transporter localization and expression in the Human: the importance of species, sex, and gestational age differences. *Biol Reprod* 96: 733–742.
- WALLACE JM, BHATTACHARYA S, HORGAN GW (2013). Gestational age, gender and parity specific centile charts for placental weight for singleton deliveries in Aberdeen, UK. *Placenta* 34: 269–274.
- WALLACE JM, HORGAN GW, BHATTACHARYA S (2012). Placental weight and efficiency in relation to maternal body mass index and the risk of pregnancy complications in women delivering singleton babies. *Placenta* 33: 611–8.
- WALLACE JM, REGNAULT TRH, LIMESAND SW, HAY WW, ANTHONY R V. (2005). Investigating the causes of low birth weight in contrasting ovine paradigms. J Physiol 565: 19–26.
- WANG HS, LIM J, ENGLISH J, IRVINE L, CHARD T (1991). The concentration of insulin-like growth factor-I and insulin-like growth factor-binding protein-1 in human umbilical cord serum at delivery: relation to fetal weight. *J Endocrinol* 129: 459–64.
- WARRANDER LK, BATRA G, BERNATAVICIUS G, GREENWOOD SL, DUTTON P, JONES RL, SIBLEY CP, HEAZELL AEP (2012). Maternal perception of reduced fetal movements is associated with altered placental structure and function. *PLoS One* 7: e34851.
- WATSON ED, CROSS JC (2005). Development of structures and transport functions in the mouse placenta. *Physiology (Bethesda)* 20: 180–93.
- WHITEHEAD CL, MCNAMARA H, WALKER SP, ALEXIADIS M, FULLER PJ, VICKERS DK, HANNAN NJ, HASTIE R, TUOHEY L, KAITU'U-LINO TJ, TONG S (2016). Identifying late-onset fetal growth restriction by measuring circulating placental RNA in the maternal blood at 28 weeks' gestation. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 214: 521.e1-521.e8.
- WINTERHAGER E, GELLHAUS A (2017). Transplacental Nutrient Transport Mechanisms of Intrauterine Growth Restriction in Rodent Models and Humans. *Front Physiol* 8: 951.
- WIZNITZER A, REECE E, HOMKO C, FURMAN B, MAZOR M, LEVY J (1998). Insulin-Like Growth Factors, Their Binding Proteins, and Fetal Macrosomia in Offspring of Nondiabetic Pregnant Women. *Am J Perinatol* 15: 23–28.
- WYRWOLL CS, HOLMES MC, SECKL JR (2011). 11β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenases and the brain: from zero to hero, a decade of progress. *Front Neuroendocrinol* 32: 265–86.
- WYRWOLL CS, SECKL JR, HOLMES MC (2009). Altered Placental Function of 11β-Hydroxysteroid Dehydrogenase 2 Knockout Mice. *Endocrinology* 150: 1287–1293.
- YAMAKAMI J, SAKURAI E, SAKURADA T, MAEDA K, HIKICHI N (1998). Stereoselective blood-brain barrier transport of histidine in rats. *Brain Res* 812: 105–12.
- YOUNG M, PRENTON MA (1969). Maternal and fetal plasma amino acid concentrations during gestation and in retarded fetal growth. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Commonw 76: 333–4.
- ZHAO Y, FU L, LI R, WANG LN, YANG Y, LIU NN, ZHANG CM, WANG Y, LIU P, TU B Bin, ZHANG X, QIAO J (2012). Metabolic profiles characterizing different phenotypes of polycystic ovary syndrome: Plasma metabolomics analysis. *BMC Med* 10.
- ZHENG X, LIANG Y, HE Q, YAO R, BAO W, BAO L, WANG Y, WANG Z (2014). Current models of mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1) activation by growth factors and amino acids. *Int J Mol Sci* 15: 20753–69.
- ZHOU F, XU W, HONG M, PAN Z, SINKO PJ, MA J, YOU G (2005). The Role of N-Linked Glycosylation in Protein Folding, Membrane Targeting, and Substrate Binding of Human Organic Anion Transporter hOAT4. *Mol Pharmacol* 67: 868–876.



9.1 Amino acid uptake in Na⁺-free conditions

Figure 64 Relationship between amino acid uptake in Na⁺-free buffer and fetal and placental measures There was no relationship between uptake in Na⁺-free buffer (plus specific inhibitors; as required) uptake of ¹⁴Cglutamine (purple symbols), ¹⁴C-glutamate (green) or ¹⁴C-MeAIB (red) at 90 min and trimmed placental weight, birth weight, fetal: placental weight (F:P) ratio or individualised birth weight ratio (IBR). Specific substrate inhibitors were histidine, serine and BCH for ¹⁴C-glutamine transporters and aspartate for ¹⁴C-glutamate transporters (n=18/19, Linear regression).

9.2 LAT2 antibody optimisation



Figure 65 Optimisation of LAT2 antibody

In an attempt to quantify LAT2 protein expression, several conditions were trialled. In the representative blots above, LAT2 was probed for in membrane-enriched human placental homogenates, MVM isolates and kidney. Blots were blocked in either 3% milk (left) or 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA, right). However, even when loading a high concentration of protein (50 µg), expression was faint and did not exist in MVM isolates. It was therefore not feasible to quantify LAT2 expression in these groups (male versus female, normal AGA pregnancy).

9.3 Protein expression in placentas from male and female normal birth weight (AGA) infants versus ¹⁴C-glutamine or ¹⁴C-glutamate uptake at 90 min in the same placentas



Figure 66 Transporter protein expression in placentas from male and female normal birth weight (AGA) infants plotted against ¹⁴C-glutamine or ¹⁴C-glutamate uptake at 90 min in the same placentas There was no significant relationship between expression of transporter proteins and amino acid (¹⁴C-glutamine or ¹⁴C-glutamate) uptake at 90 min in the same placentas when considering all the data, i.e. pooling data from

male and female infants. There was also no correlation if data of male or female infants alone were analysed. Hollow symbols represent placentas from males, solid symbols relate to placentas from females. n=13; n=6 male, n=4/7 female. Linear regression. 9.4 Amino acid uptake by placentas from normal (AGA) pregnancies and FGR split according to sex



Figure 67 Comparison of transporter-mediated amino acid uptake in placentas from normal (AGA) pregnancies and FGR Uptake of amino acids by placentas of FGR (hollow symbols) and normal birth weight (solid) infants (mean±SEM) that were male (A, C, E) and female (B, D, F). Uptake of ¹⁴C-glutamate (C) by male FGR placentas

was significantly lower compared with those of normal birth weight male infants. There were no other significant differences within sex between placentas of normal birth weight (AGA) and FGR infants. Male: AGA n=7, FGR n=3/4; Female: AGA n=11/12, FGR n=7 ** P < 0.01, Linear regression.


Figure 68: Amino acid uptake according to smoking status

Placental uptake of ¹⁴C-glutamine (A), ¹⁴C-glutamate (B), and ¹⁴C-MeAIB (C) according to smoking status. Solid symbols denote AGA placentas (none of which were smokers, n=19). Hollow, square symbols represent data from FGR infants whose mothers were non-smokers (n=8) whilst black, triangular symbols show placental amino acid uptake in smoking mothers who had an FGR infant (n=3). Numbers were too small to allow statistical analyses; however from these small numbers there is a trend to suggest that smoking negatively influences ¹⁴C-MeAIB uptake (C). Data are mean±SEM; Linear regression



Figure 69: Gestational age does not affect amino acid uptake

All placentas from AGA pregnancies were delivered after 259 days/37 weeks gestation. Within the FGR cohort, six deliveries were preterm (range: 204-247 days) and five were term (range: 260-284 days). Graphs A-C show amino acid uptake by placentas from normal (AGA) pregnancy (solid square symbols, n=19), preterm FGR (black triangle symbols, n=6) and term FGR (hollow square symbols, n=5). Gestational age does not appear to have a significant effect on amino acid uptake. Data are mean±SEM; Linear regression.

	Ma	ternal venous		Un	bilical venous		Umbilical arterial					
	AGA	FGR	P value	AGA	FGR	P value	AGA	FGR	<i>P</i> value			
Essential												
Isoleucine	41 [19-58]	42 [31-96]		60 [40-83]	55 [36-74]		61 [40-77]	54 [32-80]				
Leucine	92 [39-116]	104 [69-179]		132 [85-164]	135 [92-162]		130 [82-163]	136 [79-161]				
Methionine	21 [12-41]	34 [13-56]		35 [25-53]	29 [25-71]		30 [23-48]	42 [21-59]				
Phenylalanine	40 [37-52]	55 [29-89]	0.008	65 [54-81]	78 [54-115]	0.020	62 [52-84]	77 [57-98]	0.030			
Threonine	192 [95-250]	201 [150-373]		281 [20-417]	255 [170-524]		276 [146-400]	244 [138-516]				
Valine	149 [83-175]	158 [109-263]		221 [172-279]	206 [156-233]		218 [164-265]	185 [147-239]				
Non-essential												
Alanine	284 [232-439]	405 [275-790]	0.004	334 [192-451]	474 [320-1093]	< 0.001	291 [229-424]	458 [266-1094]	0.007			
Asparagine	49 [32-73]	50 [34-91]		50 [34-86]	54 [35-120]		47 [28-67]	49 [40-110]				
Aspartic acid	8 [6-11]	9 [7-23]		15 [8-48]	22 [9-164]		13 [10-48]	33 [12-197]	0.036			
Citrulline	15 [7-26]	18 [11-39]		16 [0-19]	14 [10-21]		14 [9-18]	14 [11-20]				
Cystine	29 [12-40]	24 [8-53]		30 [8-42]	33 [9-60]		32 [10-41]	20 [11-50]				
Glutamic acid	49 [23-70]	53 [19-82]		72 [27-128]	89 [43-390]		79 [60-140]	147 [42-640]	0.023			
Glutamine	428 [242-554]	477 [318-658]		505 [379-606]	553 [443-1070]		488 [425-573]	528 [409-1028]				
Glycine	129 [95-247]	148 [91-205]		250 [192-334]	285 [167-462]		259 [187-399]	253 [184-502]				
Serine	75 [48-128]	80 [64-117]	0.042	132 [110-175]	130 [95-192]		132 [108-157]	128 [106-186]				
Taurine	40 [28-78]	36 [17-131]		182 [89-368]	207 [98-892]		194 [134-310]	232 [91-1122]				
Tyrosine	44 [33-57]	60 [34-126]	0.047	69 [54-96]	89 [65-137]	0.044	72 [51-88]	86 [68-141]				
a-amino												
butyric acid	8 [0-19]	16 [0-25]	0.013	15 [0-28]	26 [0-59]		14 [0-23]	24 [8-58]	0.021			

9.6 Amino acid concentrations in maternal venous and fetal (umbilical) venous and arterial plasma in AGA and FGR pregnancies

Table 29 Amino acid concentrations in maternal venous and umbilical venous and arterial plasma from AGA and FGR pregnancies

Amino acid concentrations (μ mol/L) from AGA and FGR pregnancies. n=17 AGA, n=13 FGR, except for tyrosine and phenylalanine where n=7 AGA and n=12 FGR. Data are median [range]. *P* value is shown if differences between groups were significant (*P*<0.05 Mann Whitney test).

9.7 GC-MS data tables

																				OTH	2	2	
												øj.		2						id ^{n'}		ic scil	
				0	. ne						wic	<u> </u>	TIN	,,	ST	.0.	.8	0	aroici	, .N	.X2	no. NS	r
		iite		amine	Marmin	6.		fied	MSI	acido	Apur.	fied	mine	fied	e'	THISE	inc 3Che	TMSS	. GOCAN	xe 3.	0 ⁴ /0 ²	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	NS
		tabor	8	SUTAN' IN	droth ric	al. nil	e ider	er Vii	نور اع	ر» بر	1 ^{0'} , '9et	it. an	ole ider	I Leur	jir v	ine' ito	, ^{0,}	e' ter	or si	nio citi	Nol- e	onin, in	è` a
		We	*```	*4,	` ^ ^C	Alo.	~ <i>J</i> (,	131.	84	Ý	JU	4th	JULI	150	Jer J	*&~	CIA	*ົ	5µ0	***	111	Ser.	Jre
Group	Sample	Retention index				1142		1184	1178	1204		1256		1278	1298		1331				1372	1388	
AGA	UmA	Mean	0.112	6.407	30.479	0.133	0.020	2.403	0.081	0.152	2.028	9.157	0.038	0.401	0.276	0.019	0.082	3.950	8.854	0.019	0.604	0.042	0.666
FGR	UmA		0.105	5.612	43.464	0.219	0.020	2.138	0.129	0.215	1.725	8.159	0.038	0.397	0.262	0.017	0.085	5.325	8.987	0.023	0.608	0.040	1.031
		P value	0.352	0.142	0.061	0.012	0.948	0.220	0.059	0.446	0.035	0.113	0.949	0.949	0.666	0.239	0.575	0.077	0.903	0.315	0.961	0.716	0.067
		log2 fold change				0.727					-0.234												
		Fold change				1.7					0.9												
AGA	UmV	Mean	0.120	7.419	19.530	0.125	0.019	2.635	0.085	0.189	2.093	9.421	0.037	0.482	0.292	0.017	0.081	4.114	8.275	0.022	0.692	0.037	0.533
FGR	UmV		0.115	6.764	41.323	0.213	0.021	2.517	0.138	0.265	1.918	9.138	0.043	0.517	0.312	0.018	0.105	5.032	10.099	0.031	0.770	0.045	0.985
		P value	0.465	0.133	0.006	0.010	0.741	0.518	0.048	0.343	0.076	0.526	0.583	0.561	0.347	0.487	0.169	0.255	0.087	0.067	0.347	0.053	0.006
		log2 fold change			1.081	0.765			0.707														0.886
		Fold change			2.1	1.7			1.6														1.8

Table 30 GC-MS data table (continued overleaf)

Table of mean levels of identified metabolites from AGA and FGR pregnancies in umbilical arterial (UmA) and venous (UmV) samples. Data were analysed by Welch's t-test and considered significant with a P value of <0.05 (highlighted cells). Data from UmA and UmV samples were log₂ transformed to express as log₂ fold change and are highlighted on a red (-5 log₂ fold change) to green (5 log₂ fold change, yellow = no change, 0) scale, as in Figure 62. Fold change differences (case over control) are also presented, and are used to described changes in text. * indicates a metabolite whose identification has not been confirmed. ¹ refers to a metabolite that showed more than 20% variation across QC samples indicating that changes seen within this range may be due to inherent technical variation within the data set.

										bindro3	, bisterne	IN SHOW	tant'	â							Inst	of the state	S	TUMPE
		wetabolite	Berr	loicacid	anoicacid Balani	ne Unide	unidentification	ied * 213	HIFUTANONE Unider	tified Malic	acid Artwor	oxyprolines	ASPART	cacid' IMS	eonicacid	ionine *Ribitc	*++1111	ol ,Glutan	ine pyroe	utamicació	oglutaric N	Alalanine, Th	ie TMS2	ue fon Ct
Group	Sample	Retention index			1454						1550		1575		1618	1649	1652		1708	1750	1763	1766	1810	
AGA	UmA	Mean	0.039	4.063	0.107	2.298	1486.186	0.032	7.092	0.023	0.010	2.785	0.042	0.126	0.010	0.009	0.077	0.061	0.911	0.016	0.282	0.025	0.095	
FGR	UmA		0.039	4.612	0.096	1.955	1730.500	0.032	6.415	0.040	0.011	2.442	0.077	0.162	0.010	0.012	0.078	0.119	1.168	0.019	0.254	0.031	0.091	
		P value	0.709	0.189	0.094	0.019	0.214	0.997	0.089	0.116	0.547	0.046	0.260	0.086	0.980	0.172	0.939	0.199	0.094	0.169	0.292	0.328	0.826	
		log2 fold change				-0.234						-0.189												
		Fold change				0.9						0.9												
AGA	UmV	Mean	0.039	3.823	0.101	2.336	1576.579	0.031	7.745	0.019	0.008	2.788	0.027	0.113	0.008	0.005	0.069	0.021	0.814	0.010	0.292	0.017	0.080	
FGR	UmV		0.039	3.998	0.099	2.175	1629.133	0.041	7.144	0.037	0.011	2.594	0.061	0.146	0.010	0.007	0.076	0.049	1.257	0.013	0.283	0.027	0.114	
		P value	0.928	0.779	0.487	0.047	0.771	0.216	0.039	0.069	0.010	0.064	0.164	0.081	0.047	0.065	0.572	0.105	0.001	0.081	0.695	0.030	0.018	
		log2 fold change				-0.103			-0.117		0.491				0.285				0.628			0.690	0.510	
		Fold change				0.9			0.9		1.4				1.2				1.5			1.6	1.4	

		Necapolite	, Ma	Initol Fruct	oseloxime sorbit	ol calac	Glucose Glucose	loximel phos	phoethanol?	mine eATMS *Tett	sdecaroicaci	d 3TMSI GUCU	onicacid	nositol *Entri	WO RNO	mositol	Hiffed Sugar	Palnitic Palnitic	acid steam	ticos?	moicacid	ophan in the	e minor pez
Group	Sample	Retention index	1817	1825	1830	1834	1846	1848	1887		1900	1908	1934.6		1979		2070	2097	2296		2515	2554	2588
AGA	UmA	Mean	0.024	0.117	0.016	0.002	8.991	0.087	0.211	0.176	0.654	0.009	0.006	12.922	2.530	0.002	0.239	14.321	7.093	0.011	0.048	0.129	0.012
FGR	UmA		0.043	0.122	0.055	0.002	8.298	0.134	0.188	0.167	0.565	0.011	0.008	15.117	3.116	0.002	0.218	14.744	7.630	0.013	0.043	0.359	0.037
		P value	0.643	0.368	0.110	0.550	0.474	0.326	0.589	0.405	0.332	0.238	0.392	0.354	0.566	0.535	0.480	0.604	0.327	0.260	0.411	0.238	0.076
		log2 fold change																					
		Fold change																					
AGA	UmV	Mean	0.015	0.123	0.011	0.001	12.857	0.055	0.170	0.178	0.613	0.009	0.006	15.501	1.576	0.003	0.234	15.036	7.301	0.010	0.034	0.154	0.008
FGR	UmV		0.008	0.133	0.068	0.002	11.545	0.068	0.216	0.185	0.752	0.012	0.007	14.398	2.048	0.002	0.240	15.798	7.938	0.012	0.036	0.485	0.016
		P value	0.447	0.087	0.170	0.327	0.224	0.610	0.150	0.354	0.109	0.082	0.681	0.559	0.383	0.042	0.826	0.124	0.156	0.062	0.772	0.255	0.168
		log2 fold change														-0.505							
		Fold change														0.7	•						

9.8 ¹⁴C-glutamine, ¹⁴C-glutamate and ¹⁴C-MeAIB uptake by placentas from growth restricted (FGR) babies is significantly lower compared with infants with a normal birth weight, defined as an IBR between 20th-80th centiles



Figure 70 Transporter-mediated uptake by placentas from FGR (IBR <5th centile) and AGA (IBR 20th-80th centile) infants

Placental uptake of ¹⁴C-glutamine (A), ¹⁴C-glutamate (B) and ¹⁴C-MeAIB (A) was significantly lower in placentas from FGR babies (hollow symbols, n=10/11, n=3/4 male, n=7 female) compared with placentas from babies appropriately grown for gestational age, defined as an IBR between 20th-80th centile (solid symbols, n=13/14, n=7 male, n=6/7 female). Data are mean±SEM * *P*<0.05 Linear regression.

9.9 Protein expression in placentas from normal birth weight (AGA) and FGR infants versus ¹⁴C-glutamine or ¹⁴C-glutamate uptake at 90 min in the same placentas



Figure 71 Transporter protein expression in placentas from normal birth weight (AGA) and FGR infants plotted against ¹⁴C-glutamine or ¹⁴C-glutamate uptake at 90 min in the same placentas

There was no significant relationship between expression of transporter proteins and amino acid (¹⁴C-glutamine or ¹⁴C-glutamate) uptake at 90 min in the same placentas when were fitted to all the data, i.e. from both normal and FGR infants. There was also no correlation if data of normal or FGR infants alone were analysed. Hollow symbols represent placentas from FGR infants symbols, solid symbols relate to placentas from AGA infants. n=8/9/11 AGA, n=7/8/9 FGR. Linear regression.

9.10 Concentration of amino acids in the UmV of FGR and normal birth weight (AGA) infants as measured by HPLC



Figure 72 Concentration of amino acids in the UmV of FGR and normal birth weight (AGA) infants as measured by HPLC

Amino acid concentrations in the UmV from (A) AGA and (B) FGR pregnancies. Concentrations are ordered according to the most to least abundant concentrations in normal placentas, as determined by Philipps *et al.* (1978). The order of abundance of amino acids in placental tissues is not the same in the UmV. In addition, the range of values detected in the UmV of FGR infants is wider than those measured in the UmV of normal birth weight infants.

9.11 Western blot appendices

There are 4 powerpoint documents on a CD attached within the back cover of this thesis. The documents contain the full Western blots presented within this thesis. The first slide in each file contains a table of contents. The documents are labelled as follows:

- Chapter 3 Western blot Appendix
- Chapter 4 Western blot Appendix
- Chapter 5 Western blot Appendix
- Chapter 6 Western blot Appendix